

LSHTM Research Online

Etoori, D; (2020) A mixed methods study using linked demographic surveillance and health facility data to investigate and compare loss to follow-up among women living with HIV who initiated antiretroviral therapy during pregnancy under Option B+ in Agincourt, South Africa. PhD (research paper style) thesis, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04659330

Downloaded from: https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/id/eprint/4659330/

DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04659330

Usage Guidelines:

Please refer to usage guidelines at https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/policies.html or alternatively contact researchonline@lshtm.ac.uk.

Available under license. To note, 3rd party material is not necessarily covered under this license: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/



A mixed methods study using linked demographic surveillance and health facility data to investigate and compare loss to follow-up among women living with HIV who initiated antiretroviral therapy during pregnancy under Option B+ in Agincourt, South Africa

DAVID ETOORI

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

of the

University of London

SEPTEMBER 2020

Department of Population Health Faculty of Epidemiology & Population Health LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

Funded by: UK Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC), Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation grants to the ALPHA Network, and The MeSH consortium Research group affiliations: Population Studies Group (LSHTM), and MRC/WITS Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit (Agincourt, South Africa)



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

DECLARATION OF OWN WORK

All students are required to complete the following declaration when submitting their thesis.

Please note: Assessment misconduct includes any activity that compromises the integrity of your research or assessment of is will be considered under the Assessment Irregularity Policy. This includes plagiarism, cheating and failure to follow correct progression and examination procedures.

Please see the following documents for further guidance:

- Research Degrees Handbook
- Assessment Irregularities Policy

Supervisors should be consulted if there are any doubts about what is permissible.

1. STUDENT DETAILS

Student ID Number	1603703	Title	Mr
First Name(s)	David		
Surname/Family Name	Etoori		
Programme of Study	PhD Epidemiology and Population Health		
LSHTM Email (if this is no longer active, please provide an alternative)	david.etoori@lshtm.ac	z.uk	

2. TITLE OF THESIS

Title of Thesis	A mixed methods study using linked demographic surveillance and health facility data to investigate and compare loss to follow-up among women living with HIV who initiated antiretroviral therapy during pregnancy under Option B+ in
	Agincourt, South Africa

3. DECLARATION

I have read and understood the LSHTM's definition of plagiarism and cheating. I declare that this thesis is my own work, and that I have acknowledged all results and quotations from the published or unpublished work of other people.

I have read and understood the LSHTM's definition and policy on the use of third parties (either paid or unpaid) who have contributed to the preparation of this thesis by providing copy editing and, or, proof reading services. I declare that no changes to the intellectual content or substance of this thesis were made as a result of this advice, and, that I have fully acknowledged all such contributions.

I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law or infringe any third party's copyright or other intellectual property right.

	195	MD	
Student Signature			
Date	21/07/2020	der.	

.

Abstract

This thesis aims to investigate engagement in Option B+ (life-long antiretroviral therapy (ART) for all HIV-positive pregnant and breastfeeding women) among pregnant and postpartum women residing in Agincourt health and demographic surveillance system (HDSS) in north-east South Africa. Paper A describes outcomes for 1325 patients reported as lost to follow-up (LTFU) in routine clinic records showing that patients who were pregnant at ART initiation have differing outcomes including a lower risk of death. Paper B reports on the spatial distribution of 315 patient transfers between clinics and identifies risk factors for these transfers, showing that pregnant and postpartum women are more likely to transfer their treatment, more likely to not report their transfer to their origin clinic, and less likely to transfer to a clinic outside the study area, when compared to adults in the general population. Paper C evaluates the accuracy of mortality estimates provided through routine treatment records in TIER.Net (the national HIV database), by comparing them to data generated through the record review and patient tracing. The results suggest that TIER.Net underestimates mortality and overestimates programme attrition, with important consequences for treatment programme policy, planning, and monitoring and evaluation, and estimation of the UNAIDS 90-90-90 targets. Paper D draws on in-depth interview data with women living with HIV to explore the intersection between early infant diagnosis (EID) and maternal engagement in care, finding that continued engagement in care promotes utilisation of EID, but also that the EID result can undermine maternal engagement in care. Paper E documents the challenges faced by patient tracing programmes and the lessons learnt during the ascertainment of patient outcomes and gives recommendations for future practice.

The collective findings of this PhD research provide estimates of HIV patient outcomes after LTFU from prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (PMTCT) programmes and generate new insights into some of the underlying causes. This research demonstrates the feasibility of using multiple linked data sources to improve the ascertainment of these outcomes.

Dedication

They say the fixations of our childhood become the dogged pursuits of our adulthood...

I was born in 1987, at the dawn of what most people hoped would be the beginning of peace and prosperity. Uganda was just emerging from a long protracted civil war but unbeknownst to all there was a killer among us, one whose propagation we now know was aided by the war.

What followed was a decade of social devastation and upheaval. In 1991, that devastation visited my family when my cousin Natalie not yet a year old passed away. My young mind, barely able to contemplate death, was left with many questions. Questions that the adults were ill-equipped to answer. It visited again in 1992, this time taking my aunt, her mother. Throughout my childhood, HIV was my bogeyman. Like most kids I was afraid of vampires and werewolves, but I think that deep down inside I always knew those were not real. HIV on the other hand had had a tangible effect on my life. Unfortunately, in Uganda and Africa, my story is not unique.

A decade later, we were lulled into a false sense of security as antiretroviral medication became more widely available and the devastation of yesteryear was pushed into the deep recesses of our minds, and for many, soon forgotten.

In 2011, the devastation visited again claiming the life of my remaining paternal aunt. This event was a devastating reminder of many questions that had lain dormant within my mind for many years and led to a change in my life trajectory and goals.

My attempt at facing my bogeyman and hopefully coming out on the other side with some clarity and closure has ultimately culminated in this work. It is not lost on me that my topic focuses on women and children, the most affected population in Africa, as I can personally attest. It is not very often that you can say research has been therapeutic or helped to exorcise your demons. In many ways my life has come full circle, and this feels like a natural close to an important chapter of my life. I dedicate this work to my aunts Dorothy and Helen, and my cousins Natalie and Daniel whose lives were directly or indirectly cut short by HIV and the many people known to me who have succumbed to the virus.

Acknowledgements

"It takes a village to raise a child", I think this sentiment holds true for the completion of a thesis and so I would like to acknowledge the village that contributed to this work.

I would firstly like to thank my supervisors Alison Wringe and Georges Reniers for their time and dedication to my research. I would like to thank them for their encouragement and guidance over this four-year journey. I am particularly grateful to Alison for the multiple Skype and WhatsApp calls throughout the lockdown period which helped to keep me focused and motivated to complete this work.

I would also like to thank my other advisors, Jenny Renju, Francesc Xavier Gomez-Olive, Chodziwadziwa Kabudula, and Jim Todd for their inputs and feedback on my papers and for their help with editing my thesis chapters. I would especially like to thank Jenny whose help with the qualitative component of my fieldwork and thesis was invaluable in aiding my understanding of qualitative research and its implementation. I would also like to thank Brian Rice whose advice and feedback were an immense help in formulating some of my thoughts and analyses.

I am grateful to the staff at the MRC/WITS Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit in Agincourt, whose assistance with implementing my fieldwork was invaluable to its timely completion. I would like to thank Nkosinathi Masilela who took time out of his busy schedule to help me to get around early on in my fieldwork. I am indebted to the fieldworkers who helped with data collection for the quantitative component (Gladstone Shabangu, Sherly Ndubane, Nobuyiselo Sibuyi, and Boldwin Mkhawanazi) and qualitative component (Ella Sihlangu, Violet Ndhlovu, Sherly Ndubane, Meriam Maritze, and Princess Makhubela). I would especially like to thank Linda and Becca whose companionship and shenanigans made life in the field a lot more enjoyable.

To the many friends I have made at LSHTM and in London at large, your companionship has made what can sometimes feel like a very solitary endeavour a lot less so. To the many friends with whom I shared an office, who helped to break up the day-to-day mundanity with drink breaks and lunch time discussions in the common room I say thank you. To the "LSHTM crew", Anushé Hassan, Poppy Mallinson, Judy Lieber, Shammi Luhar, and Will Rudgard, the free therapy sessions in the form of commiseration over food and drinks as well as the multitude of solutions offered, helped me keep an even keel. I cannot forget to mention the daily zoom chats at the height of lockdown which were an ever-present reminder of the community and support I had around me and a great motivation to keep working even when all I wanted to do was stay in bed all day. To the friends outside LSHTM, I consider myself lucky to have you all in my life. Thank you for reminding me of my humanity when I sometimes felt alienated by my London experiences.

Finally, I would like to thank my family who have supported me through every challenge I have undertaken in my life, even if it meant putting up with me being so far away from home for so long. To my dad I say thank you. To my mum who has made many sacrifices for us and dedicated her life to making ours better, there are no words I can say that aptly convey my gratitude. To my siblings Deborah, Diana and Alex with whom I have shared many highs and lows and who challenge me to be better, your encouragement, humour and faith in me were succour. To the newest members of the family, my nieces and nephews who showed up at different points during my PhD and remind me to look at the bigger picture, I hope you get to grow up in a better and more egalitarian world.

Table of contents

Abstract	4
Acknowledgements	7
List of figures	15
List of tables	17
List of acronyms	19
1. Introduction	22
1.1. The global burden of vertical transmission	24
1.2. HIV in pregnant and postpartum women	26
1.3. HIV treatment guidelines for pregnant and postpartum women	26
1.4. The concepts of engagement in HIV care and loss to follow-up	28
1.4.1. Practice theory to explain engagement in care	33
1.5. Study Rationale	34
1.6. Aims and objectives	38
1.7. Research setting	40
1.8. Data sources	41
1.8.1. Record review and tracing study	41
1.9. Structure of the thesis	42
1.10. Role of the candidate	45
1.10.1. Overall design and planning	45
1.10.2. Quantitative data collection and analysis	45
1.10.3. Qualitative data collection and analysis	46
1.10.4. Post-graduate diploma	46
1.10.5. Dissemination	46
1.11. Ethical clearance	47
1.12. Funding	47
2. Literature review	48
2.1. Overview	48
2.1.1. Search strategy	48
2.2. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	51
2.2.1. A brief history of PMTCT efforts worldwide	51
2.2.2. The advent of Option B+ in sub-Saharan Africa	56
2.3. Engagement in care under Option B+	59

	2.3.1.	Retention in care following ART initiation	59
	2.3.2.	The Option B+ treatment cascade and points of high risk of	
	disenga	gement	60
	2.3.3.	Influences on engagement in care under Option B+	68
2	.4. Los	s to follow-up and maternal treatment outcomes	79
	2.4.1.	The problem of LTFU	79
	2.4.2.	Results from tracing studies	81
2	.5. Dat	a sources	82
	2.5.1. patients	The role of community cohorts in estimating outcomes among ART 83	•
2	.6. Sun	nmary	84
3.	Researc	h methods	94
3	.1. Con	itext	94
	3.1.1.	Overview of the study setting	94
	3.1.2.	Historic context	95
	3.1.3.	Current socioeconomic context	95
	3.1.4.	Health services overview	97
	3.1.5.	HIV services	100
	3.1.6.	MRC/Wits Agincourt unit activities	.112
3	.2. Fiel	dwork operations	.114
3	.3. Quant	itative research methods	115
	3.3.1.	Record review and tracing study	115
	3.3.2.	Statistical analysis methods	121
	3.3.3.	Ethical considerations	125
3	.4. Qua	litative research methods	126
	3.4.1.	Aims and overview	126
	3.4.2.	Objectives and design of the data collection tools	127
	3.4.3.	Fieldworker recruitment and training	128
	3.4.4.	Piloting	130
	3.4.5.	Sampling and recruitment	130
	3.4.6.	Data collection procedures	131
	3.4.7.	Data preparation and analysis	134
	3.4.8.	Ethical considerations for the qualitative research	135
4. pos	Paper Astronomy Paper Astronomy	Outcomes after being lost to follow-up differ for pregnant and women when compared to the general HIV treatment population in	107
rura		MITCa	140
- 4	.1. ADS	uau	. 140

4.2.	Introduction	n14	1
4.3.	Methods		12
4.3	1. Setting		12
4.3	2. Record	review and tracing study14	13
4.3	3. Definiti	ions14	15
4.3	4. Statisti	cal analyses14	16
4.3	5. Ethics		17
4.4.	Results		17
4.4	1. Populat	tion characteristics14	17
4.4	2. Sources	s of resolution15	51
4.4	3. Patient	outcomes15	51
4.4	4. Causes	of death15	58
4.4	5. Factors	associated with death15	8
4.5.	Discussion .		51
4.6.	Conclusions	316	55
5. Pap patients	er B: Getting considered l	on with their lives: Understanding clinic transfers among HIV ost to follow-up in rural South Africa16	7 56
5.1.	Abstract		;9
5.2.	Introduction	n17	0'
5.3.	Methods		'1
5.3	1. Setting		'1
5.3	2. Record	review and tracing study17	'2
5.3	3. Definiti	ions17	'3
5.3	4. Statisti	cal analyses17	'3
5.3	5. Ethics		'4
5.4.	Results		'4
5.4	1. Populat	tion characteristics17	'4
5.4	2. Transfe	er characteristics18	30
5.4	3. Factors	associated with transfer to another clinic18	35
5.5.	Discussion .		35
5.6.	Conclusions	5	38
6. Pap treatme	er C: Misrep nt database: (orting of patient outcomes in the South African national HIV consequences for programme planning, monitoring and	
evaluati	on		;9
6.1.	Abstract		12
6.2.	Introduction	n19)4
6.3.	Methods		96

6.3.1	. Setting	196
6.3.2	. Demographic surveillance	197
6.3.3	Point-of-contact interactive record linkage (PIRL)	197
6.3.4	. Record review and tracing study	197
6.3.5	. Statistical analyses	200
6.3.6	. Ethics	201
6.4.	Results	201
6.4.1	. Database population characteristics	201
6.4.2	. TIER.Net treatment status	204
6.4.3	. Outcomes after record review and tracing study	207
6.4.4	Differences between TIER.Net treatment status and Final o 209	utcomes
6.4.6	. Factors associated with misclassification	214
6.5.	Discussion	216
6.6.	Conclusions	219
7. Pape infant dia	r D: "If the results are negative, they motivate us." Experiences a gnosis of HIV and engagement in Option B+	of early 220
7.1.	Abstract	223
7.2.	Introduction	224
7.3.	Methods	226
7.3.1	. Study design and setting	226
7.3.2	. Sampling and recruitment	227
7.3.3	. Data analysis	228
7.3.4	. Ethics	228
7.4.	Results	228
7.4.1	. Theories of practice and early infant diagnosis of HIV	231
7.4.2	. Theories of practice and engagement in HIV care	232
7.4.3	. Maternal engagement in HIV care and its influence on EID	uptake.233
7.4.4	. Infant testing and its influence on maternal engagement in	care234
7.5.	Discussion	235
7.6.	Conclusions	239
8. Pa late for cl	per E: Challenges with tracing patients on antiretroviral therapy inic appointments in rural South Africa and recommendations f	v who are or future
practice.		240
8.1.	Abstract	243
8.2.	Introduction	244
8.3.	Methods	245

	8.3.3	1.	Setting	245
	8.3.:	2.	Study design	246
	8.3.	3.	Data collection	250
	8.3.4	4.	Definitions	250
	8.3.	5.	Data analysis	251
	8.4.	Res	ults	251
	8.4.	1.	Expected implementation of the routine tracing system	251
	8.4.: heal	2. th fa	Actual observed performance of the routine tracing system in the acilities	eight 253
	8.4.	3.	Challenges identified in implementing the routine tracing system	254
	8.5.	Rec	commendations for future practice	257
	8.5.2	1.	Improved linkages between clinics	257
	8.5.:	2.	Enhancements of recording systems	258
	8.5.;	3.	Training for lay community healthcare workers	259
	8.6.	Con	nclusions	259
9.	Disc	eussi	on	261
	9.1.	Intr	roduction	261
	9.2.	Syn	thesis of findings	261
	9.2.: initi	1. ate A	Objective 1: To investigate loss to follow-up among patients who ART under Option B+	264
	9.2.2 rete	2. ntio	Objective 2: To critique data sources and methods used to investig n in care following uptake of PMTCT services	;ate 267
	9.2.; and	3. infa	Objective 3: To explore the link between maternal engagement in nt outcomes	care 270
	9.2.4 rete	4. ntio	Objective 4: To identify and recommend strategies to improve n in PMTCT services	274
	9.3.	Pro	gramme and policy recommendations	275
	9.3. 1	1.	Policies to reduce patient drop out	275
	9.3.2	2.	Policies to improve tracking of patients who miss clinic appointme 281	ents
	9.3.	3.	Policies to improve EID uptake and infant outcomes	284
	9.4.	Rec	commendations for future research	287
	9.5.	Stre	engths and limitations	290
	9.5.1	1.	Strengths	290
	9.5.2	2.	Limitations	291
	9.6.	Diss	semination	293
	9.6.2	1.	Health workers, researchers and community members in Agincou	rt293

9.6.:	2. Right-to-Care	294
9.6.	3. Researchers – Academic conferences and publications	294
9.6.4	4. Feedback to funders	296
9.6.	5. Data sharing	296
9.7.	Conclusions	296
10. R	eferences	298
11. Aj	opendices	

List of figures

Figure 1.1: Prevalence of HIV infection among pregnant women in South Africa,	25
Figure 1.0: Evolution of DMTCT recommondations and guidelines	.23
Figure 1.2. Evolution of 1 MTC1 recommendations and guidennes	. Z / ว0
Figure 1.4: A framework for the relationship between APT adherence and retention	. 20 n
in care	
Figure 1.5: Engagement in care (retention and adherence over time)	. 30
Figure 1.6: A graphical representation of patients with known and unknown	
outcomes (LTFU)	.31
Figure 1.7: Summary of the practice theory framework	. 34
Figure 2.1: Recommended WHO PMTCT guidelines for maternal and infant	
treatment and prophylaxis (2010)	.56
Figure 2.2: The Option B+ treatment cascade	.61
Figure 2.3: The cascade for this thesis	.61
Figure 2.4: Conceptual model for the determinants of engagement in care for pregnant and postpartium women	.69
Figure 2.5: Determinants of engagement in care under Option B+	.78
Figure 2.6: South Africa's progress towards the UNAIDS 90-90-90 targets	.80
Figure 3.1: A map showing the regional location of the Agincourt health and	
demographic surveillance system	.95
Figure 3.2: Maps of Agincourt HDSS showing health facilities within the site and t	he
surrounding area	.98
Figure 3.3: Images of Bhubezi CHC	.99
Figure 3.4: Images of Xanthia PHC	.99
Figure 3.5: Algorithm for HTC using rapid antibody test for adolescents and adult	s
including pregnant and breastfeeding women	102
Figure 3.6: Testing algorithm for routine testing in children <18 months of age1	103
Figure 3.7: The South African National treatment programme timeline showing	
maior milestones	105
Figure 3.8: Algorithm for initiation of ART for HIV-positive ART-naive women1	107
Figure 3.9: Algorithm for the management of pregnant women already on ART for	r
>3 months	108
Figure 3.10: Images of Lillydale home-based carers compound situated opposite	
Shubezi CHC	110
Figure 3.11: Record review and tracing flow chart	117
Figure 3.12: Fieldworkers retrieving files from Belfast Clinic (left), Bhubezi CHC (centre), and Thulamahashe CHC (right)1	118
Figure 3.13: Images showing examples of forms used by community outreach tean	ns
like HBCs (these were from Lillydale HBC, Bhubezi CHC and Agincourt CHC) 1	119
Figure 3.14: Posters observed in one clinic campaigning against bottle-feeding1	128
Figure 3.15: Images showing fieldworker training	130
Figure 4.1: Record review and tracing flow chart	145
Figure 4.2: Number of patients that were eligible at each stage and the number of	-
patients excluded at each stage1	148
Figure 4.3: Histogram and kernel density plots of the distribution of days late for a	a
missed appointment disaggregated by pregnancy status at ART initiation1	149

Figure 4.4: Outcome estimates and confidence intervals disaggregated by pregr	iancy
status at ART initiation	152
Figure 4.5: Status of patients by baseline CD4 and years since their last clinic vi	sit
Eigune 4 (a Status of nation to be say programmy status at APT initiation and use	153
since their last clinic visit	15
Figure 4.7: Status of patients who were program at APT initiation stratified by	155
hasoline CD4 count and years since their last clinic visit	157
Figure 4.8: Status of non-pregnant female nations stratified by baseline CD4 of	137
and years since their last clinic visit	157
Figure 4.9: Timing of deaths disaggregated by sex and pregnancy status at ART	, ,
initiation	159
Figure 5.1: Stacked bar graphs for variables for which the proportion of patients	s that
transferred their care to another facility differs statistically	180
Figure 5.2: Maps of clinics attended for HIV care after transferring (A) near the	<u>)</u>
HDSS and (B) within South Africa	181
Figure 5.3: Circle plots to visualise patient transfers in the Agincourt HDSS	
disaggregated by pregnancy status at ART initiation (largest 50% for each grou	up)
	183
Figure 5.4: Circle plots to visualise patient transfers in the Agincourt HDSS	
disaggregated by type of transfer (largest 50% for each group)	184
Figure 5.5: Box plots of transfer distances disaggregated by ART initiation reaso	on,
pregnancy status at ART initiation, type of transfer, and year of ART initiation.	185
Figure 6.1: Numbers of patients that were eligible at each stage and the number	: of
patients excluded at each stage	202
Figure 6.2: TIER.Net treatment status by (a) ART initiation status and (b) time	since
The last clinic appointment	205
Figure 6.3: Outcomes ascertained through record review and tracing stratified i	oy (a)
Figure 6. 4: Outcomes acceptained through record review and tracing stratified l	208 htt
TIEP Not status	Jy 210
Figure 6 c : Final outcome by TIEP Not treatment status and (a) APT initiation	
status and (b) time since the last clinic appointment	211
Figure 6.6: Proportion of natients misclassified by TIFR Net disaggregated by f	inal
outcome, sex, and pregnancy status at ART initiation	214
Figure 7.1: Schematic illustration with quotations to show how practice theory of	can
be applied to explore the utilisation of early infant diagnosis	
Figure 7.2: Schematic illustration with quotations to show how practice theory	can
be applied to explore (dis)engagement with HIV services	232
Figure 7.3: Schematic representation of the complex relationship between EID	and
mothers' engagement in care	233
Figure 8.1: Tracing steps and personnel in charge of each step	252
Figure 8.2: Performance on specific indicators from the tracing cascade for eight	ıt
health facilities	254
Figure 9.1: The evolution of ART provision in sub-Saharan Africa	277
Figure 9.2: Models of care delivery and movements of patients	282

List of tables

Table 1.1: Research objectives with methods to address each objective

Table 1.2: List of papers with their objectives and data sources

Table 2.1: Key concepts and key terms used for the literature

Table 2.2: Key term combinations used in the literature review

Table 2.3: Manuscripts reviewed for retention and engagement in care statistics for pregnant and postpartum women

Table 3.1: Fieldwork trips

Table 3.2: Definition of terms used

Table 3.3: Summary of sample size and recruitment procedures for IDIs

Table 3.4: Summary of characteristics of participants and non-participants

Table 4.1: Patient demographic and clinical characteristics, and final outcomes disaggregated by pregnancy status at ART initiation

Table 4.2: Patient outcomes disaggregated by patient demographic and clinical characteristics

Table 4.3: Probable causes of death as indicated by verbal autopsy data

Table 4.4: Factors associated with death

Table 5.1: Baseline characteristics of patients lost to follow-up and those who transferred, and factors associated with transfer to another facility

Table 6. 1: Definitions of terms used

Table 6.2: Database population characteristics

Table 6.3: Disaggregated TIER.Net treatment status

Table 6.4: A cross-tabulation of TIER.Net treatment status and the final outcome

Table 6.5: Factors associated with being classified as LTFU in TIER.Net.

Table 6.6: Factors associated with TIER.Net misclassification

Table 7.1: Demographic and treatment characteristics of the participants and non-participants

Table 8.1: Selected characteristics of the eight clinics that serve the study area

Table 9.1: Summary of the main findings from the papers included in this thesis

List of acronyms

3TC	Lamivudine
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
ALPHA	Analysing Longitudinal Population-based HIV/AIDS data on Africa
ANC	Antenatal care
ART	Antiretroviral therapy
ARV	Antiretroviral drug
AZT	Zidovudine
CBR	Crude Birth Rate
CCMDD	Central Chronic Medicine Dispensing and Distribution
CDC	Centres for Disease Control and prevention
СНС	Community Health Centre
CHW	Community Health Worker
CICT	Client-Initiated Counselling and Testing
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DOT	Directly Observed Therapy
EFV	Efavirenz
EID	Early Infant Diagnosis
EMTCT	Elimination of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV
ESRC	Economic and Social Research Council
FDC	Fixed Dose Combination
FTC	Emtricitabine
GIS	Global Information System

GPS	Global Positioning System			
HAART	Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy			
HBC	Home-Based Carers			
HCW	Healthcare Worker			
HDSS	Health and Demographic Surveillance System			
HEI	HIV-Exposed Infant			
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus			
HRSA	Health Resources and Services Administration			
HTC	HIV Testing and Counselling			
IDI	In-depth Interview			
ICD	International Classification of Diseases			
LDC	Least Developed Countries			
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine			
LTFU	Loss/Lost to follow-up			
MeSH	Measurement and Surveillance of HIV epidemics			
MDC	Most Developed Countries			
MRC	Medical Research Council			
MSF	Médecins Sans Frontières			
MSM	Men who have sex with men			
NVP	Nevirapine			
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction			
PEPFAR	President's Emergency Plan For AIDS Relief			
РНС	Primary Healthcare			
PICT	Provider-Initiated Counselling and Testing			
PIRL	Point-of-contact Interactive Record Linkage			

PLHIV	People Living With HIV			
PMTCT	Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV			
PNC	Postnatal care			
RtC	Right to Care			
SAPRIN	South African Population Research Infrastructure Network			
SHAPE-UTT	Strengthening Health systems for the Application of Policy to Enable Test and Treat			
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa			
TAC	Treatment Action Campaign			
TDF	Tenofovir			
UN	The United Nations			
UNAIDS	The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS			
UNGASS	United Nations General Assembly Special Session			
VA	Verbal Autopsy			
VL	Viral Load			
WBOT	Ward-Based Outreach Team			
WITS	University of the Witwatersrand			
WHO	World Health Organisation			
WLHIV	Women Living With HIV			

1.Introduction

Advances in antiretroviral therapy (ART) have transformed the global HIV epidemic (1) and changed HIV infection from a terminal condition to a manageable chronic disease (2-4). Added to the individual benefits of ART is the reduced horizontal and vertical transmission as a result of reductions in individual and community viral load (5–7). Starting in 2001 the World Health Organisation (WHO) has recommended some form of antiretroviral drug (ARV) prophylaxis for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (PMTCT) starting with the first recommendation of single-dose and shortcourse ARV prophylaxis (8). Since 2015, the WHO treatment guidelines have recommended immediate lifelong ART for all pregnant and breastfeeding women regardless of disease stage in recognition of the health and preventative benefits of ART (9). This new policy also referred to as "Option B+" recommends continued testing throughout the pregnancy, postpartum and breastfeeding period with an immediate offer of ART for any women who test HIV positive, irrespective of CD4 count (a proxy for immunological status), or WHO stage (a proxy for disease progression) (10). It is hoped that this approach will contribute to the complete elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (EMTCT) worldwide (10).

However, poor engagement in care and low adherence to ART have begun to emerge as major hinderances to the achievement of PMTCT programme goals. Specifically, patients who become lost to follow-up (LTFU) are a concern and may curtail the major accomplishments to date, including increases in mothers' life expectancy and reductions in vertical transmission (11). Loss to follow-up has become a term that describes all patients who go a period without a clinic visit or are untraceable. Historically, treatment programmes were more concerned with patients who remained retained in care and patients who became LTFU were censored with the censoring assumed to be random or uninformative (12). At the advent of ART, LTFU was low and much of LTFU was attributable to mortality (13–15). However, as treatment guidelines have changed and more healthy people living with HIV (PLHIV) have become eligible for treatment, LTFU has begun to rise, and increasingly, less of LTFU can be attributed to mortality (16). This is particularly pertinent for women in "Option B+" programmes as they are often asymptomatic and healthy in terms of immunological status and disease progression. As such, loss to follow-up amalgamates a number of possible outcomes including death, undocumented transfers, and patients who have genuinely disengaged from care. However, studies of loss to follow-up have mostly ignored women who initiate ART for PMTCT, and few studies have investigated LTFU among women in "Option B+" programmes (17–19). This group differs significantly from the general treatment population due to changes during the pregnancy and postpartum period and in terms of disease progression and symptoms at ART initiation, and as such their outcomes after LTFU might differ as well. Understanding LTFU among women in "Option B+" programmes has also become more important with the advent of "Treat all" which extends universal ART coverage to all individuals diagnosed HIV positive (10). "Option B+" women represent the first iteration of universal treatment and as such, outcomes following LTFU for this group could represent what HIV treatment programmes can expect in terms of LTFU with the move to "Treat all", and the increase in the proportion of asymptomatic patients initiating treatment.

This thesis is a study of loss to follow-up among women who initiated ART under "Option B+" in rural north-eastern South Africa where "Option B+" became the national treatment guideline in 2015. Fieldwork was conducted between August 2017 and December 2018. This research is situated within the Agincourt health and demographic surveillance system (HDSS) which has been running since 1992 (20).

As part of this research, I ascertained the outcomes for patients considered to be LTFU by conducting a comprehensive record review and tracing study. Outcomes for "Option B+" women are compared to non-pregnant women and men living with HIV who initiated ART, in order to identify any differences between these groups. Additionally, in-depth interviews (IDIs) are utilised to explore engagement in care (broadly defined as the process of accessing HIV treatment and care services and remaining actively involved with regards to guidance given by service delivery personnel) for women under "Option B+" with the aim of understanding this process from the perspective of the participants.

In this chapter, I describe the burden of vertical transmission both globally and in South Africa, give a brief background and overview of the problem of HIV in pregnancy in sub-Saharan Africa including the problem of poor engagement in care. I give a brief overview of the change in treatment guidelines for pregnant women living with HIV including the implementation of "Option B+", an overview on definitions of engagement in care, and present the argument for utilising clinic visit logs to assess engagement in care. Finally, I formulate the rationale for conducting this PhD research, present the main aims and objectives of the study, give a brief description of the study setting, lay out the structure of the thesis and describe my role in completing this PhD research.

1.1. The global burden of vertical transmission

HIV remains a major contributor to the global burden of disease. In 2018, an estimated 37.9 million people were living with HIV, of whom 1.8 million were children (21,22). Furthermore, of an estimated 1.7 million new infections in that year, 160,000 were among children (22).

The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) estimates that about 1.5 million HIV-positive women give birth every year; a number that will only be exacerbated by the estimated 900,000 new annual infections among women of reproductive age (22). Encouragingly, 80% of HIV-positive pregnant women received ART to prevent vertical transmission globally in 2015 (21,22), representing a 60% increase since 2010. Although there was an almost threefold reduction in the mother-to-child transmission rate between 2010 and 2015, it was still estimated at 10% of all live births to HIV-infected women globally by 2015 (21). Worldwide HIV/AIDS accounted for 1.4% of all deaths among children aged 0-5 years old in 2015 (23). In sub-Saharan Africa, this proportion was estimated at 2.7%. Furthermore, among women aged 15-49 years old in this region, 11% of deaths in 2015 were attributable to HIV/AIDS (23).

In sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), women are disproportionately affected by the HIV epidemic. While 15% of the world's population lived in SSA in 2018, an

estimated 65% of 37.9 million people living with HIV worldwide, were living in SSA. This included 77% of all women living with HIV (24). In 2018, 59% of new infections in SSA occurred in women and about 90% of all pregnancies among women living with HIV occurred in this region (24). Promisingly, over 80% of pregnant women living with HIV in this region received ART for PMTCT in 2018, a figure that rises to 92% if only east and southern African countries are considered (24). However, there were still 142,000 new infections among children in SSA in 2018 (24).

In South Africa, the potential for vertical transmission is illustrated in Figure 1.1 which shows the rise of HIV prevalence in pregnant women since 1990 and its plateauing after 2005 (25). In 2013, an estimated 29.7% of women attending public sector health facilities were infected (25). In 2014, an estimated 240,000 HIV-positive women delivered in South Africa with >95% taking some form of ARV prophylaxis during their pregnancy (26). However, this was before the introduction of lifelong ART for prevention of vertical transmission (Option B+).

Figure 1.1: Prevalence of HIV infection among pregnant women in South Africa, 1990-2013(SA NDoH (25))



In South Africa, 9200 new-borns were perinatally infected in 2014, a 76% reduction in new infections since 2009, and 94% of HIV-exposed infants received an early infant diagnosis (EID) test by 2 months as recommended by the WHO (26,27); however, testing coverage at the end of the breastfeeding period is not as high (28). The transmission rate at 6 weeks postpartum was estimated to be 2% and increased to 4% when the breastfeeding period was included; a reduction from 15% in 2009 (26). In 2011, 70.4% of maternal

deaths and 50% of all deaths of children under five in South Africa were attributable to HIV infection (29,30).

1.2. HIV in pregnant and postpartum women

Among pregnant and postpartum women living with HIV, continued engagement in care has individual and population-level benefits (10). Firstly, ART reduces morbidity and mortality which has many benefits for these women and their immediate circle of family and friends (6). Secondly, it has the benefit of reducing the risk of vertical transmission to almost zero provided they remain virologically suppressed throughout the pregnancy and breastfeeding phase for both the current and future pregnancies (31). Finally, remaining engaged in care and virologically suppressed prevents transmission of HIV to HIV-uninfected sexual partners, a major reason underlying the change in guidance to test and treat all people who test positive for HIV (7,32,33).

Despite all the important benefits of continued engagement in care, data from PMTCT programmes and demonstration projects throughout SSA indicates that many women do not remain engaged in care and adherent to treatment (11). A systematic review in 2018 found that retention among pregnant and breastfeeding women living with HIV in Africa was as low as 42% after 12 months on ART (11). Long-term studies also had varying retention rates. For example, in Malawi, 70% of women were retained after three years on ART (34). While in Eswatini, only 53% of women were retained after two years on ART (35).

1.3. HIV treatment guidelines for pregnant and postpartum women

There has been a dramatic shift in the treatment guidelines for pregnant and postpartum women in SSA to a more holistic approach emphasising not just healthy babies but healthy mothers as well and recognising the value of HIV treatment on population health outcomes. This shift occurred concurrently with the shift in our understanding of HIV transmission and the role of ART. Global guidelines first recommended single-dose and short-course ARV prophylaxis for PMTCT in 2001 and have evolved to recommend lifelong ART for those meeting certain criteria, to finally recommending lifelong ART for all pregnant and breastfeeding women regardless of CD4 (Figure 1.2).

		A constraint of the second sec		Poreixen ()		
YEAR	2001	2004	2006	2010	2013	2015
РМТСТ	4 weeks AZT; AZT+3TC; single dose NVP	AZT from 28 weeks + single dose NVP	AZT from 28 weeks + single dose NVP + AZT/3TC for 7 days	Option A (maternal AZT + infant NVP to the end of breastfeeding) Option B (maternal triple ARVs to the end of breastfeeding)	Option B or B+ Moving to ART for all pregnant or breastfeeding women	TREAT ALL
ART	None	CD4<200	CD4<200	CD4≤350	CD4≤500	Test and treat all

Figure 1.2: Evolution of PMTCT recommendations and guidelines¹

Universal lifelong ART for pregnant and breastfeeding women, also referred to as "Option B+" was first implemented in Malawi in 2011 (36). This was due to a lack of the CD4 testing capacity to use CD4 as a criterion for treatment initiation and in recognition of the substantial burden and risk of drug resistance from stopping and restarting ART during subsequent pregnancies both for the women and the health system (37,38). Since its advent, it has become the standard of care in all countries in SSA (39). As a result, antenatal care (ANC) services have become a major entry point into lifelong ART programmes for women (40,41). HIV testing during pregnancy has become the norm in most SSA countries with testing coverage among pregnant women increasing steadily (41). The elimination of CD4 count as an initiation criterion has simplified treatment guidelines, streamlined the process and minimised delays in ART initiation during pregnancy and breastfeeding with same-day initiation becoming common in SSA (31,41-43). Despite all these achievements, the success of PMTCT programmes in SSA is threatened by persistent problems with women's poor long-term engagement in care (41).

¹ AZT – Zidovudine, 3TC – Lamivudine, NVP – Nevirapine

1.4. The concepts of engagement in HIV care and loss to follow-up

Engagement in care encompasses two main concepts, retention in care and adherence to ART which have been identified as significant barriers to achieving optimum outcomes in ART programmes (44) and these have been defined and conceptualised in myriad of ways.

Most studies usually present two statistics when reporting on engagement in Option B+. The proportion of women retained in care at a specific time point following ART initiation, or the proportion of women who drop out of a treatment programme at specific points on the treatment cascade (11,35). It has been argued that the cross-sectional nature of these metrics means they do not accurately present the complicated and cyclical nature of engagement in care (45).

Other authors present different ways of conceptualising engagement in HIV care (46–48). Gardner et al describe a spectrum of engagement in care (adopted from the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) continuum of engagement in ART care) according to which varies between an individual not knowing their status to being fully engaged in care, indicated by the achievement of viral suppression (46) (Figure 1.3).





Vrijens et al propose a framework where patients move through several stages, initiation, implementation, persistence and discontinuation. Initiation pertains to prescription of the first dose of ART, implementation to adherence and non-adherence, and persistence to how long patients remain on treatment as prescribed without discontinuing treatment (47).

Myer et al conceptualise engagement in care using the continuum of two metrics: retention in care and adherence (48). According to Myer, an individual who remains retained in care and properly adherent is defined as engaged in care (Figure 1.4).

Figure 1.4: A framework for the relationship between ART adherence and retention in care (Myer et al (48))



Adherence to ART

Furthermore, Myer proposes a time dimension when thinking of engagement. As such, all women might be fully engaged in care (retained and adherent) when they initiate treatment but as time passes, some women may become disengaged from care by either being retained but non-adherent or by no longer being retained in care (48) (Figure 1.5). **Figure 1.5: Engagement in care (retention and adherence over time)** (Hypothetical depiction from Myer et al (48))



■ Retained and adherent to ART II Retained but non-adherent ■ Non-retained (LTF)

This thesis focuses on retention in care and loss to follow-up after ART initiation. These two concepts (as well as adherence) are closely related, therefore I outline the differences here.

Retention in care refers to all patients who remain active within a programme and who are routinely visiting a clinic for ART refills. Most ART programmes including those for PMTCT report a composite unfavourable outcome for patients who are no longer retained in care and who have an unknown outcome usually called loss to follow-up (Figure 1.6).

Loss to follow-up is the antithesis of retention and may be a consequence of poor engagement in care. Loss to follow-up is a general term for the unknown outcomes of patients who do not return for an ART refill appointment at a particular clinic (50-52). This variable amalgamates patients that have transferred their treatment to another clinic without proper documentation of the transfer (also referred to as unknown transfers (52), undocumented transfers (53), 'silent' transfers (54), self-transfer (15), or receiving ART at another facility) (55), patients that have had a treatment interruption or that

have stopped taking ART (also referred to as unstructured treatment interruptions (56)), patients that have died (also referred to as unreported deaths (52), and unknown death), and patients that have been misclassified either because of poor record keeping or human error.

Figure 1.6: A graphical representation of patients with known and unknown outcomes (LTFU) (Adapted from WHO (51)).



Loss to follow-up is commonly defined as a period without a clinic visit, a number of days late for an appointment, a missed appointment, or even a situation where a patient is untraceable. A systematic review of retention in sub-Saharan ART programmes reported eight different LTFU definitions (57). Some sources did not include a definition of LTFU. How LTFU is defined can significantly impact patient outcomes (58). For example, a short window of no visits can increase the number of patient misclassifications (59,60).

As such, how a programme defines LTFU will have an impact on estimates of retention in care. By reducing loss to follow-up, programmes improve their retention statistics. The WHO defines LTFU (a general term for non-retention) as "patients receiving ART and not seen at the clinic or pharmacy for >90 days after the date of their last missed appointment or last missed drug pick-up and who are not known to have transferred or died" (51). Importantly, the WHO recommends that a distinction should be made between patients with an

unknown outcome (LTFU) and patients who cease to engage in the continuum of care because of their own wishes, beliefs or because of barriers to continued access to care (due to transportation, stigma, resources, etc), referring to the latter as disengagement from care (51).

Adherence is a marker that measures how well a patient is taking ART as prescribed in terms of correct times and frequencies. As such, in order to be adherent, a patient should have a constant supply of ART and must therefore be retained in care (61). However, a patient can be retained in care but nonadherent for example if they attend their clinic visits regularly and collect their treatment but do not take ART as prescribed. The WHO defines ART adherence as "the extent to which a person's behaviour corresponds with the agreed recommendations from a healthcare provider" (62). Adherence can be measured in myriad ways including objective measures such as directly observed therapy (DOT) (63), drug concentrations (64,65), pill counts (66,67), pharmacy refill data (68–70), and electronic pill monitoring systems (71); and subjective measures such as self-reported adherence (72-74). Increasingly, viral load is being used as a proxy marker for adherence as adherent patients should have an undetectable viral load, provided that they do not have drug resistant HIV (75,76). By the end of 2018, 60% of low- and middle-income countries had fully implemented viral load monitoring, but multiple obstacles still exist that curtail the optimum implementation of these programmes, particularly in SSA (39,77). Viral load monitoring has its weaknesses, principle among these is that it is only taken periodically and as such might not be very informative about patterns of adherence (64). Viral load is also to a lesser extent driven by other factors such as drug resistance and comorbidities (78,79). Therefore, other measures of engagement in care remain important to monitor ART programmes and evaluate their outcomes particularly in SSA where viral load testing is not yet fully implemented (41,44). While adherence is an important measure for evaluating the benefits of ART, this thesis does not specifically address adherence and its challenges.

Epidemiological assessment of engagement in care still has its merits. Consequently, for the purpose of this thesis, engagement in care will concentrate primarily on retention in care, specifically looking at clinic visit logs. Frequent viral load testing was not possible and viral load monitoring data was scant at the time of analysis but is being updated and provides potential future research directions. A patient was considered to be LTFU if they were >90 days late for a scheduled appointment keeping with the WHO definition. Patients that were LTFU could re-engage in care and so the Myer et al and Gardner et al definitions are also loosely considered.

Finally, it is important to consider that some facets of engagement in care may be non-quantifiable and as such might require other methods to assess them. Engagement in care is not as neat as cascade diagrams would have us believe and therefore there are merits of a social science approach to exploring engagement (45). The concept of engagement in care as a linear, unidirectional cascade or continuum in which patients initiate treatment and remain in care until a terminal event is narrowly focused. Measures of engagement in care such as retention and adherence (usually measured through a viral load) are not a goal to be achieved per se but a state that needs to be maintained over time. While important concepts, that are essential for surveillance and a good barometer with which different treatment programmes can compare and gauge their progress, they do not shed light on the lived experience of those in care. As such, social concepts within engagement that are difficult to quantify are therefore missed in quantitative explorations of engagement. Therefore, aspects such as social and structural features of engagement in care may be better investigated and understood using qualitative methods (45).

1.4.1. Practice theory to explain engagement in care

Practice theory is increasingly being used to understand engagement in HIV care in sub-Saharan African settings (80-82). Practice theorists treat practices – "the elements that shape our perceptions, interpretations and actions" (83,84) – as their primary units of enquiry and contend that people's practices can be explained by generic 'elements' which include materials or tools required to enact a practice, symbolic meanings associated with a practice, and competence and know-how to enact a practice (Figure 1.7). Each individual has a constellation of practices that they engage in, with some of these practices interacting either harmoniously or in conflict. Consequently, the enactment of one practice is likely to affect other practices (83,85-87). As

such, the impact of all these factors is likely to be dependent on individuals' unique constellations of practices and their perceptions about HIV and its treatment (83). This theory will feature prominently in my conceptualisation and explanations of engagement in care, especially pertaining to the qualitative component of my thesis.



Figure 1.7: Summary of the practice theory framework (Adapted from Skovdal et al (83))

1.5. Study Rationale

The overall rationale of this thesis follows from the global push to eliminate vertical transmission of HIV. This will only be possible if pregnant women living with HIV have access to services that enable the health system to identify them in a timely manner, refer them to the appropriate HIV care, keep them retained in care for life, and follow-up on their exposed infants adequately and appropriately. Many studies in sub-Saharan Africa have reported sub-optimal rates of retention in care (11,88,89), which threaten the success of the intervention. While more recent findings suggest that Option B+ women retained in care past the first and second year of ART are lost to follow-up at a similar rate to the general HIV treatment cohort (34), work still has to be done to understand why their retention rates are lower than the general HIV treatment cohort in the first two years. Research to improve the efficacy of Option B+ will remain an important area, in order to bring vertical transmission rates around the world close to zero.

Understanding the true outcomes of women who become LTFU after initiating ART through Option B+ will help to accurately monitor and report on indicators for national ART programmes and better target tracing efforts. LTFU can lead to underestimation of retention and deaths and is likely to overestimate attrition rates (90). Accurate mortality estimates are especially important as these are used as parameters for projections in software packages such as UNAIDS spectrum package (91,92). Understanding engagement in care for HIV-positive pregnant women who are often asymptomatic will also help to understand engagement in care for patients initiated under "treat all" initiatives which provide ART to HIV-positive individuals, irrespective of their immunological or clinical status (9,10,93–96). Furthermore, with the ambitious UNAIDS targets (97,98), ascertaining HIV patients' treatment outcomes is important especially to accurately measure the proportion of people diagnosed with HIV receiving sustained ART.

Many HIV treatment programmes in sub-Saharan Africa still rely heavily on paper-based registers which suffer from several problems including incompleteness, cumbersomeness that results from increasing patient numbers and length of patient follow-up, and a lack of unique identifiers (99– 101). The lack of unique identifiers in most programmes makes it impossible to link all pertinent patient data together especially for pregnant women who may attend a separate clinic for ANC and for HIV care and treatment. The lack of linkages between clinics also means that "silent transfers" (whereby patients change clinics informally, without accompanying documentation), are often missed (15,99,102). Furthermore, despite facing serious health challenges, many of these programmes lack high-quality data required to monitor and mitigate these challenges.

Long-term community cohorts (20) provide an opportunity to investigate the uptake and impact of Option B+ at a population level. These community cohorts collect demographic, behavioural and health information regularly and have unique identifiers for each individual. Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System (HDSS) in South Africa, run since 1992 by the MRC/WITS Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit under the University of Witwatersrand is one of these community cohorts(20).
In 2014, Agincourt HDSS also started an innovative procedure known as Point-of-contact interactive record linkage (PIRL) linking demographic and clinical data from nearby clinics (103,104). Given that most previous Option B+ retention studies have been conducted as clinical cohorts, this linkage of multiple data sources allows for the utilisation of data not captured at the clinic level such as socioeconomic status, changes in residence and marital status. Agincourt HDSS also conducts verbal autopsies (VA) which seek to ascertain probable causes of death for HDSS residents through a structured interview conducted with people closely related to or who took care of the deceased and can report on symptoms (105,106). With the availability of VA data, causes of death for all patients found to have passed away can give an indication of predominant causes of death in mothers LTFU. Such an endeavour will allow for accurate estimation of Option B+ coverage rates, undocumented transfers between clinics, deaths, outcome misclassifications and genuine ART discontinuation. It would also allow us to understand at which specific steps in the cascade most mothers are LTFU and thereby identify interventions to mitigate these leakages.

South Africa is one of the priority countries identified by UN Global Plan towards the elimination of new HIV infections among children. In 2019 South Africa had the highest number of HIV-positive pregnant women among the 21 priority countries (an estimated 310,000) (24) and had the second highest number of children acquiring HIV through vertical transmission in 2014, an estimated 29,100 (107). Whereas UNAIDS figures indicate that >95% of HIVpositive pregnant women received ART in South Africa in 2017, studies from the country have shown that attrition rates following ART initiation vary in this setting (43,102,108,109). Compared to other SSA countries, South Africa had higher ARV prophylaxis and ART coverage rates and lower vertical transmission rates with regards to Option A, likely due to a well-resourced healthcare system (110). However, they were late in implementing Option B+. This well-resourced healthcare system offers some advantages for research into engagement with Option B+ services, most especially a well-established electronic HIV patient monitoring system called TIER.Net. Global HIV/AIDS programmes and organisations including UNAIDS and WHO use routine data from national treatment programmes such as those produced by TIER.Net to measure progress and plan future targets. As a result, any biases in data from routine data systems have the potential to mislead national and international programmes and may lead to investment in the wrong areas. Coverage may be mis-estimated due to uncertainty in national estimates. Uncertainty arises because of (i) uncertainty around true outcomes following LTFU, (ii) human error in recording data into the system. This is discussed further in paper C. UNAIDS has called for improvements to collection and use of routine data in order to inform policy, planning and programming with the ultimate goal of improving health outcomes for HIVpositive patients including pregnant women and their infants (111). An evaluation of TIER.Net would therefore help to understand its biases and improve estimates generated from data obtained from it.

The aim of the quantitative analyses presented in this thesis is to describe HIV patient outcomes after they become lost to follow-up and to compare the outcomes of women who initiated treatment while pregnant (under Option B+) to those of the general population, more specifically non-pregnant women and men aged 18 years or older. Men in sub-Saharan Africa have been identified as a priority population, as several studies have shown them to be lagging behind women in many treatment indicators including timely ART initiation, and retention in care (112,113). As late presenters, they represent the proportion of the population that seek care later in the progression of HIV and give an indication of how effective treatment programmes may be for people who initiate treatment late. These analyses include in-depth investigations of mortality, re-engagement in care and transfers to other facilities. A second aim of the quantitative analyses is to evaluate TIER.Net in order to improve estimates generated from this system for planning and modelling purposes. Finally, qualitative methods aim to explore the intersection between EID and engagement in care further exploring factors that may influence women's decision to remain engaged in care. The mixed method approach used in this thesis will allow for a nuanced exploration of engagement in care and will help to provide recommendations for improving HIV services in this rural community, in South Africa and comparable settings.

1.6. Aims and objectives

The overall aim of this PhD research is to investigate HIV-positive women's treatment outcomes after loss to follow-up following uptake of PMTCT services and compare their outcomes to the general treatment cohort of HIV-positive patients in a rural community in north-eastern South Africa (Agincourt HDSS), in order to inform strategies to improve retention in the PMTCT programme.

The objectives are as follows:

- To investigate loss to follow-up among patients who initiated ART under Option B+ with the following specific objectives
 - a. To understand the outcomes of these patients after they become LTFU in South Africa (Agincourt HDSS)
 - b. To compare their outcomes to the general HIV patient treatment cohort
 - c. To explore factors associated with different outcomes following loss to follow-up
- 2. To critique data sources and methods typically used to investigate retention in care following uptake of PMTCT services
 - a. To critique routine tracing procedures and methods used to investigate attrition from HIV treatment in primary health care in rural South Africa (Agincourt HDSS)
 - b. To investigate discrepancies and biases in the official HIVpatient treatment statistics on retention rates, LTFU and mortality produced by TIER.Net, the South African HIV-patient electronic monitoring system.
- 3. To explore the link between maternal engagement in care and early infant diagnosis of HIV
- 4. To identify and recommend strategies to improve retention in PMTCT services

Table 1.1: Rese	earch objectives	with methods to	address e	each
objective	-			

RESEARCH OBJECTIVE	METHODS AND DATA SOURCES
To understand the outcomes of these	A review of published literature
patients after they become LTFU in	
South Africa (Agincourt)	A quantitative analysis of the outcomes of
	patients after they become LTFU using the
	PIRL dataset and record review and tracing
	data (Paper A)
To compare their outcomes to the	A spatial analysis of mobility and clinic
general HIV patient treatment cohort	switching after patients become LTFU
	using the PIRL dataset and record review
	and tracing data (Paper B)
	A quantitative analysis of the outcomes of
	patients after they become LTFU using the
	PIRL dataset and record review and tracing
	data (Paper A)
To explore factors associated with	A quantitative analysis of factors associated
different outcomes following loss to	with mortality after patients become LTFU
follow-up	using the PIRL dataset and record review
	and tracing data (Paper A)
	A quantitative analysis of factors associated
	with transfer to another facility after
	patients become LTFU using the PIRL
	dataset and record review and tracing data
	(Paper B)
To critique routine tracing	A critical assessment of the challenges with
procedures and methods used to	tracing patients who are late for clinic
investigate attrition from HIV	appointments in rural South Africa (Paper
treatment in South Africa (Agincourt)	E)
	Reflections, observations and informal
	discussions with local stake holders
	including healthcare workers and local
	researchers
To investigate discrepancies and	A quantitative analysis on misreporting of
biases in the official HIV-patient	patient outcomes in the South African
treatment statistics on retention	national treatment database, TIER.Net

rates, LTFU and mortality produced	using the PIRL dataset and record review	
by TIER.Net the South African HIV-	and tracing data (Paper C)	
patient electronic monitoring system		
To explore the link between maternal	A qualitative exploration of the intersection	
ngagement in care and early infant between women's experience of early in		
diagnosis of HIV	diagnosis and their engagement in care	
	using IDIs (Paper D)	
To identify and recommend	A review of published literature	
strategies to improve retention in		
PMTCT services	A critical assessment of the challenges with	
	tracing patients who are late for clinic	
	appointments in rural South Africa (Paper	
	E)	
	Discussions with local stakeholders	

1.7. Research setting

This PhD research took place in the Agincourt HDSS, a rural north-eastern area of South Africa located in the Bushbuckridge local municipality in Mpumalanga province. The study site is run under the MRC/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit, administrated by the School of Public Health at the University of Witwatersrand (WITS) and has been tracking demographic and health events in xiTsonga or Shangaan people since 1992 being the longest running community cohort study in South Africa and one of the oldest in Africa as a whole. The Agincourt HDSS study area covers 475 km² and the primary healthcare system is organised into three community health centres, five clinics, and three hospitals 25-60km away from the study site. As of 2014, the population was approximately 115,000 people living in 17,000 households spread over 30 villages (20). Agincourt is part of multiple global research networks including the INDEPTH network, Analysing Longitudinal Population-based HIV/AIDS data on Africa (ALPHA) network and the South African Population Research Infrastructure Network (SAPRIN).

In parallel to demographic surveillance, a key element of the data infrastructure for this research consists of HIV patient visit logs collected by a study fieldworker in the health facilities that provide ART in the area. This work started in April 2014 at seven government facilities and was extended in 2015 to include one additional health facility. In addition to logging patient visits, these records are linked to the Agincourt HDSS using a procedure known as Point-of-Contact Interactive Record Linkage (PIRL) (103,104). In brief, a fieldworker conducts a short uptake interview with patients in the waiting area of the clinic. Patients who consent are asked to declare a few personal identifiers that are used to search a local copy of the Agincourt HDSS database using a probabilistic algorithm. Matches are confirmed during interactions with the patients, and the names of other household members are used as a key attribute to adjudicate between possible matches (114).

Every HIV-positive patient in the eight health facilities included in record linkage has a clinical file that is updated at each clinic visit. Following the clinical visit, information from the patient file is entered into an electronic database called TIER.Net (National HIV patients' medical records electronic database). Two non-profit organisations (Home-Based Carers (HBC) and Right-to-care (RtC)) lead tracing activities in the region. RtC has provided tracing and technical assistance in the area since 2010.

Further details of record linkage, health facilities, study population and Agincourt research activities are provided in chapter 3.

1.8. Data sources

Data for this thesis were drawn from four sources (both primary and secondary): (i) an observational cohort study of PLHIV which involved a comprehensive record review and tracing to ascertain their treatment and vital status following reported disengagement from HIV services at eight facilities located in the Agincourt HDSS, (ii) secondary data routinely collected at the eight health facilities for all patients receiving HIV care and treatment, (iii) secondary data generated through annual demographic surveillance surveys in the Agincourt HDSS, and (iv) IDIs conducted with a sample of patients who had ever received care from any of the eight facilities in the Agincourt HDSS.

1.8.1. Record review and tracing study

All HIV-positive adults (18 years or older) who had declared residence in the Agincourt HDSS during record linkage and who had enrolled in HIV care since 2014 were eligible for the study. Using the PIRL database, patients who met the criteria for LTFU (>90 days late for a scheduled appointment) were identified. The current status of these patients was ascertained through a comprehensive record review that involved querying all available data sources in the clinics including (i) TIER.Net (the national electronic patient monitoring system) (ii) patient clinic files (iii) logbooks kept by all actors responsible for routine tracing. This was followed by a review of the PIRL database for duplicate patients (the same individual linked to multiple clinic records which probably indicated silent transfers) and a review of residency and vital status from the demographic surveillance data in the Agincourt HDSS database. A list of patients who did not have a final outcome following this process was handed over to the clinics for supplementary tracing through HBC.

These data sources are described in more detail in chapter 3.

1.9. Structure of the thesis

This thesis is presented in research paper style, including five published, in press, or submitted (and under review) publications in peer-reviewed journals (A-E), and four additional chapters including this introductory chapter.

Chapter 2 is the literature review and gives an in-depth account of the global interventions to curtail vertical transmission of HIV which culminated in the introduction of "Option B+". This chapter also collates information from published literature on the issues that have plagued the implementation of "Option B+" including poor retention in care and low uptake of early infant diagnosis. The chapter concludes by synthesising published knowledge on loss to follow-up, providing data on patient outcomes like mortality. This chapter serves as the launching pad for the investigation of engagement in care, loss to follow-up, and early infant diagnosis that follow in the results chapters.

Chapter 3 is the methodology chapter and provides details of the study setting, including local health facilities, as well as Agincourt HDSS activities. It also presents the methods used for quantitative analyses, including fieldwork undertaken to prepare databases and detailed statistical analysis methods used to analyse the data generated. The chapter concludes with an overview of the qualitative research methods and also provides full details of the qualitative fieldwork and all the analyses conducted on the data generated through this route.

Chapters 4, 5 and 6 present the results of quantitative analyses using linked demographic surveillance and clinic datasets. Chapter 4 is the first research paper (paper A), published in the Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (JAIDS), describing the true outcomes for patients who had been reported as LTFU from eight health facilities in the Agincourt HDSS. The paper compares outcomes for "Option B+" women to the general HIV patient treatment population in order to identify any differences. The paper also identifies factors associated with mortality following loss to follow-up. Chapter 5 is a research paper (Paper B) submitted to the Journal of AIDS Care and currently under review. This paper describes health facility transfers and mobility for patients reported as LTFU at the facility at which they initiated ART. Chapter 6 is a research paper (Paper C) published in Frontiers in Public Health, assessing the discrepancies and biases that would arise from relying solely on patient outcomes reported in TIER.Net compared to utilising outcomes ascertained through multiple data sources from the record review and supplementary tracing process.

Chapter 7 is a research paper (Paper D) presenting the findings from the exploration of the data generated through the qualitative fieldwork. This paper published in the Journal of Global Public Health, explores the relationship between pregnant and postpartum women's engagement in care and their experiences of early infant diagnosis of HIV and how these processes interact to either undermine or support each other.

Chapter 8 is a research paper (Paper E) published in Global Health Action (GHA), describing the challenges observed with routine tracing in the health facilities that serve the Agincourt HDSS.

The thesis concludes with a discussion (chapter 9) of overall findings drawing from each of the results papers, recommendations and areas of future research, as well as the strengths and limitations of the PhD research.

The appendix includes all the study tools, and other disseminated work, including posters and slides presented at international conferences.

Table 1.2: List of papers with their objectives and data sources

PAPER TITLE

SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES OF THE PAPER

			Routine Agincourt cohort data (demographic surveillance)	Routine health facility data from eight facilities in Agincourt	Data collected through the tracing study	Qualitative (IDIs and observations)
A	Outcomes after being lost to follow-up differ for pregnant and postpartum women when compared to the general HIV treatment population in rural South Africa (115).	To describe and measure outcomes for pregnant and postpartum women following loss to follow- up and compare these outcomes to the general HIV treatment population.		\checkmark	\checkmark	
B	Getting on with their lives: Understanding clinic transfers among HIV patients considered lost to follow-up in rural South Africa.	To investigate and describe health facility mobility of residents of the HDSS who initiated ART and who were recorded as LTFU.	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
C	 Misreporting of patient outcomes in the South African national HIV treatment database: Consequences for programme planning, monitoring, and evaluation (116). 	To assess misreporting in TIER.Net and potential biases in the national programme statistics reported from the TIER.Net database.		\checkmark	\checkmark	
Ľ	 "If the results are negative, they motivate us." Experiences of early infant diagnosis of HIV and engagement in Option B+ (117). 	To explore the nature of engagement in care for "Option B+" women and its relationship with experiences of early infant diagnosis of HIV.				\checkmark
F	Challenges with tracing patients on antiretroviral therapy who are late for clinic appointments in rural South Africa and recommendations for future practice (118).	To elicit challenges in the implementation of HIV patient tracing as described in the national policy by comparing it with actual implementation.		\checkmark	\checkmark	

1.10. Role of the candidate

1.10.1. Overall design and planning

I led the overall conceptualisation of this research. As this research was not part of an existing study, I submitted a funding application for my proposed topic to the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC). This included writing the research protocol for the funding application. I was also responsible for framing of the objectives and research questions and the design of the record review and tracing study, which is the primary source of data used in this research. I received academic support and feedback during this process from my supervisors Alison Wringe (AW) and Georges Reniers (GR). Technical support in the field and advice on the local setting was given by Francesc Xavier Gomez-Olive (FXGO) and Chodziwadziwa Kabudula (CK). I also designed the qualitative research component of my research with input from AW and Jenny Renju (JR). I prepared all ethics applications associated with my research project.

1.10.2. Quantitative data collection and analysis

My quantitative work in this thesis utilises secondary data generated through annual demographic surveillance surveys in Agincourt HDSS. I was not responsible for the design or management of these surveys.

For the comprehensive record review process of my fieldwork, I selected fieldworkers in collaboration with the human resources manager in Agincourt. I trained the chosen fieldworkers and designed the data entry tool in Microsoft Access (Appendix 11.3.1) to capture the data from the clinics. Data collected in this process included routine clinic data in patient files, data on TIER.Net and data captured in tracing logbooks kept by RtC and HBC. I spent a total of six months in Agincourt supervising fieldworkers and collecting some of this data myself.

I worked in collaboration with one fieldworker, FXGO, HBC and clinical staff to conduct the supplementary tracing for patients who did not have a final outcome following record review. Further details on this and the record review are discussed in chapter 3. I merged, cleaned and prepared the final database for analysis. I designed and carried out all the analyses with guidance from my supervisors, my advisory committee and other collaborators on my papers.

1.10.3. Qualitative data collection and analysis

For the qualitative component of this PhD, I designed the data collection tools, wrote the study protocols and constructed the sampling frame using secondary datasets. I worked closely with AW and FXGO in this process. I selected fieldworkers in collaboration with the human resources manager in Agincourt. I spent one month in Agincourt on the qualitative component. During this time, I trained the fieldworkers with remote assistance from JR and AW. I drove the fieldworkers to their interviews, supervised fieldwork activities and held debriefing discussions.

I conceived the idea for the qualitative paper presented in this thesis and performed the analyses. JR double-coded a portion of transcripts and AW and Shona Horter (SH) gave guidance on qualitative analysis methods.

1.10.4. Post-graduate diploma

As part of the four-year ESRC studentship, I was expected to complete the equivalent of 120 credit hours within my registered department. I took the following modules offered at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM): Demographic Methods, Population Studies, Population Dynamics and Projections, Analysing Survey and Population Data, Analysis of Hierarchical and other Dependent Data, Principals of Social Research, Generalised Linear Models, Modelling and Dynamics of infectious diseases, and Advanced Statistical Modelling.

1.10.5. Dissemination

I wrote all the papers and additional chapters which are presented in this PhD, incorporating feedback from co-authors and peer-reviewers for the published collaborative papers. I attended international conferences for poster and oral presentations of findings from my research and will also disseminate the findings locally (conference posters are included in Appendix 11.1 and dissemination efforts are discussed further in chapter 9).

1.11. Ethical clearance

Ethical approval for the research in this thesis was granted by the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (Ref: 14296, Appendix 11.2.2), the University of Witwatersrand human research ethics committee (Clearance certificate number M170850, Appendix 11.2.2) and the Mpumalanga Department of health research committee (Ref: MP_MP_201709_12, Appendix 11.2.2). Informed written consent to record, analyse and disseminate information from interviews was obtained from each participant (Appendix 11.3.2 and Appendix 11.3.3).

1.12. Funding

I was awarded a four year Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) studentship that covered all my research degree fees. The studentship was supplemented by an Advanced Quantitative Methods (AQM) stipend to encourage further training in AQM to be used in this research and beyond. The studentship also provided an annual stipend and covered all expenses for travel, accommodation, and sustenance at conferences through the Research Training Support Grant. The ESRC studentship also granted a one-time fieldwork travel grant through its Overseas Fieldwork grant which covered my first field visit. The majority of my fieldwork costs were covered by a Bill and Melinda Gates foundation grant to the Measurement and Surveillance of HIV Epidemics (MeSH) consortium (grant number: OPP1120138). Other costs were covered by a Medical Research Council (MRC) grant to the Strengthening Health systems for the Application of Policy to Enable Universal Test and Treat (SHAPE-UTT) study (grant number: MR/P014313/1) and a UNAIDS/BMF grant to the ALPHA network (grant number: OPP1164897). The ongoing Agincourt HDSS activities are supported by University of Witwatersrand, South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC), and Wellcome Trust grants (grant numbers: 058893/Z/99/A; 069683/Z/02/Z; 085477/Z/08/Z; 085477/B/08/Z).

2. Literature review

2.1. Overview

This literature review starts with a brief history of vertical transmission of HIV and its prevention both worldwide and specifically in sub-Saharan Africa, showing the great strides that have been made in the PMTCT and identifying paradigm shifts that helped to make this possible.

The review then summarises the published literature on engagement in HIV care for pregnant and post-partum women on ART, giving an overview of the evidence on maternal engagement, proposing key frameworks to consider when investigating maternal engagement in care, identifying barriers and facilitators of engagement, and reporting on outcomes among patients who are lost to follow-up.

This chapter also considers the multiple data sources and methods that have been used to measure engagement in care in Option B+ programmes, looking specifically at measures of adherence and retention in sub-Saharan African settings.

2.1.1. Search strategy

This review was undertaken by searching PubMed for literature on PMTCT, adherence or retention under Option B+ in sub-Saharan Africa, and outcomes after becoming lost to follow-up. It is not intended to be an exhaustive or systematic review but rather to present key aspects of published literature that are important to understand engagement in care under Option B+.

Nine key concepts were identified as important to the literature review and key terms for each concept were identified (Table 2.1).

Key concept	Key terms	
HIV/AIDS	Human immunodeficiency virus,	
	Acquired Immune Deficiency	
	Syndrome, Opportunistic infection*,	
	WHO stage, Viral*, OIs, Disease*,	
	HIV*, AIDS*, Virus*	
Prevention	Prevent*, Treat*, Medic*, Control*,	
	Eliminat*, Treatment as prevention,	
	Tasp	
Transmission	Transmiss*, Infect*, vertic*	
ART	Antiretroviral*, ARV*, Highly	
	active*, ART, HAART, AZT,	
	Zidovudine, Nevirapine, Retrovir*,	
	NVP	
Infants	Child*, Baby, Birth*, New-born,	
	Fetal*, Perinatal*, Premature*,	
	Infant*, Early infant diagnosis, EID,	
	DNA*, PCR, Polymerase chain	
	reaction, Replacement fe*, Mixed	
	fe*, Paediatric*, Pediatric*	
Mothers	Maternal*, Wom*, Parent*,	
	Female*, Patient*, Pregnancy*,	
	Prenatal*, Antenatal*, ANC*,	
	Adult*, Mother*, Breast*	
Mortality	Mortalit*, LTFU, Loss*, Dea*,	
	Fatal*, Retention*, Retain*, RIC*,	
	default*, engage*, disengage*	
РМТСТ	Option*, PMTCT*, B+	
Limited resource settings	Poor, Sub-Saharan*, Africa*,	
	Developing*, Constrain*, Resource*,	
	Limit*	

Table 2.1: Key concepts and key terms used for the literature

The search was first conducted in November 2016 using different query combinations (Table 2.2). The inclusion of the limited resource setting concept produced no results and so this was removed from all the queries.

Table 2.2: Key term combinations used in the literature review

Number	Key concept	combinations
Number	Key concept	compinations

1	HIV AND Prevention AND ART AND infant AND mother AND PMTCT
2	HIV AND Prevention AND Transmission AND ART AND infant AND
	mother AND PMTCT
3	HIV AND Prevention AND Transmission AND Mortality AND ART
	AND infant AND mother AND PMTCT
4	HIV AND [Prevention OR Transmission OR Mortality] AND ART AND
	[infant OR mother] AND PMTCT
5	[HIV OR ART] AND [Prevention OR Transmission OR Mortality] AND
	[infant OR mother] AND PMTCT
6	HIV AND [Prevention OR Transmission OR Mortality] AND [infant OR
	mother] AND [PMTCT OR ART]

Using combinations 1, 2, and 4, I identified 353 articles that warranted further investigation. Each article's abstract was individually reviewed with 85 articles chosen for full review. The reference lists of these 85 articles were also searched for any other pertinent publications.

Additionally, I set up three Google scholar alerts with the following search terms:

[[pregnancy]OR[infants]OR[neonat*]OR[child]]AND[[HIV]OR[AIDS]OR[A RT]OR["antiretroviral therapy"]]

[[LTFU]OR ["loss to follow up"]OR["loss to follow-up"]OR["lost from treatment"]]AND[[HIV]OR[AIDS]OR[ART]]

["prevention of mother to child transmission" OR [PMTCT]]

These alerts were reviewed until November 2019 with pertinent papers reviewed and their reference lists checked for any further publications of interest. This exercise identified a further 435 articles for review with 105 identified as relevant to this literature review.

Finally, I conducted a PubMed search in July 2020 using the following key terms and restricted to articles published within the last two and a half years.

(((((((Human immunodeficiency virus OR Acquired immune deficiency Syndrome OR Opportunistic infection* OR WHO stage OR Viral* OR OI* OR Disease* OR HIV* OR AIDS* OR Virus*)) AND ((Prevent* OR Treat* OR Medic* OR Control* OR Eliminat* OR Treatment as prevention OR Tasp))) AND ((Antiretroviral* OR ARV* OR Highly active* OR ART OR HAART OR AZT OR Zidovudine OR Nevirapine OR Retrovir* OR NVP))) AND ((Child* OR Baby OR Birth* OR New born OR Fetal* OR Foetal* OR Perinatal* OR Premature* OR Infant* Early infant diagnosis OR EID OR DNA* OR PCR OR Polymerase chain reaction OR Replacement f* OR Mixed f*))) AND ((Maternal* OR Wom* OR Parent* OR Female* OR Patient* OR Pregnancy* OR Prenatal* OR Antenatal* OR ANC* OR Adult* OR Mother* OR Breast*))) AND ((Option* OR PMTCT* OR B+ OR B plus))) AND ((Mortalit* OR LTFU OR Loss* OR Dea* OR Fatal* Retention* OR Retain* OR RIC* OR engage* OR dis-engage* OR default*))

This search yielded 250 further manuscripts to review with 79 ultimately chosen as pertinent to this literature review. The titles of these 79 articles were reviewed and 16 were chosen for perusal with their reference lists also checked.

2.2. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV **2.2.1.** A brief history of PMTCT efforts worldwide

Following the identification of the etiologic agent of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS) in 1983, many researchers proposed the possibility of perinatal transmission, as had been seen with other sexually transmitted infections (STIs). In 1984, Scott et al described AIDS in infants, finding that only one of fourteen infants had received a blood transfusion before development of clinical symptoms (119). As early as 1985, the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) published their recommendations for assisting in the prevention of perinatal transmission of human Tlymphotropic virus type III (HTLV-III)/lymphadenopathy-associated virus (LAV) – both early names of what would come to be known as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) – in their morbidity and mortality weekly report (120). They reported that 76% of cases of AIDS in children under 13 years of age reported as of 1 December, 1985 in the United States (US) had as the only risk factor a mother from a high-risk group – defined as intravenous drug users, female sex workers, women born in countries with high rates of heterosexual transmission, and sexual partners of men in high-risk groups which also included men who have sex with men (MSM). Even at this early stage, it was known that perinatal transmission was not automatic and was estimated at anywhere between 0-65% (120). There was concern over the increased risk of progression to full-blown AIDS from this transmission route (120).

The CDC's recommendations included: targeted counselling and testing for antibodies to HIV for pregnant women or those who may become pregnant who already had evidence of HIV infection, or who were intravenous drug users, women born in countries where there is a high rate of heterosexual transmission of HIV, female sex workers, or the sexual partners of men in high-risk groups (120). They suggested that such counselling and testing be made available through the settings that women at increased risk frequented, including drug abuse treatment programmes and clinics for sexually transmitted diseases. Other recommendations were (i) that infected women be advised to delay pregnancy until more was known about the perinatal transmission of HIV, (ii) pregnant infected women be closely monitored for the development of opportunistic infections as well as psychosocial difficulties, and (iii) that men who were infected with HIV also be counselled about risks of perinatal transmission (120). Programmes for the prevention of mother-tochild transmission of HIV evolved from these recommendations.

In 1986, Ando et al published findings that suggested that transmission of HTLV-I – a related virus with similar transmission dynamics – through breastmilk, could be mitigated by a freeze-thawing process (121). With the recognition that women and children were the fastest growing demographic of AIDS cases and new HIV infections (122,123), there was a growing need for acceleration of PMTCT endeavours. Most early interventions were concentrated on behaviour change (122), directed towards limiting pregnancy

among women living with HIV (WLHIV) and the prevention of infection of women of childbearing age (124).

In 1985, scientists found that Zidovudine (Azidothymidine) (AZT) had potent efficacy against HIV in vitro (125), and following human clinical trials, received US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for use against HIV and AIDS on March 20, 1987 (126). It took 25 months between the first demonstration that AZT was active against HIV in the laboratory and its approval, the shortest period of drug development, at the time (127). AZT was subsequently approved for use in infant and child treatment in 1990 (126,127). In 1994, CDC published preliminary findings from a randomized, multicentre, double-blinded clinical trial of AZT to prevent HIV transmission from mothers to their infants (AIDS Clinical Trials Group [ACTG] protocol 076), the first trial of its kind and the first proof of pre-exposure prophylaxis (128,129). With the rapidly changing antiretroviral drug (ARV) landscape, other PMTCT trials soon followed. The ACTG established nine Nevirapine (NVP) sites (ACTG 250) in the US and Puerto Rico in 1995 (130). Following the introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in 1996 after seminal work presented at the 11th International Conference on AIDS in Vancouver, British Columbia (131-133), there was an exponential growth in number of ARV trials and subsequently the number of available ARVs effective against HIV.

Over the past decade, significant progress has been made in PMTCT in sub-Saharan Africa. The first attempts to prevent vertical transmission in sub-Saharan Africa were randomised control trials to determine the effect of perinatal vaginal lavage on HIV transmission (134), shown to be an ineffective public health measure (134–136). These were followed by trials on vitamin supplements for prevention of vertical transmission (137,138) and presumptive treatment of STIs during pregnancy (139) which also proved futile. There were also multiple randomised control trials of antiretroviral drugs in the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in breastfeeding mothers in Africa with a myriad of intervention arms (140–147). These showed some promise with long term efficacy ranging from 7% to 66%.

In 2001, the WHO published its first recommendations on the use of ART for PMTCT (8) and it has since been promoted as a method of curtailing the HIV

epidemic. The first recommendations concluded that all regimens that had been shown to be effective in controlled clinical trials be recommended for use in these settings. These regimens include AZT alone, AZT plus lamivudine (3TC), and NVP alone. It was agreed that there was no longer any justification to limit these measures to research and pilot project settings (8).

In 2001, the United Nations General Assembly Special Session (UNGASS) on HIV/AIDS identified PMTCT as a priority need (148). One of the specific goals set for programmes was a 20% reduction in the proportion of infants infected with HIV by 2005 and a 50% reduction by 2010 (148). This gave many HIV/AIDS prevention programmes the impetus they needed to advocate for better PMTCT services. For example, in 2002, the South African high court ordered the government to make NVP available for PMTCT following legal action by the Treatment Action Campaign (TAC) (149). Whereas all the trials showed encouraging results, a major concern with the use of ARVs for PMTCT was the development of viral resistance (8,150) and loss of future ART regimens (151,152), with most of the ARV drugs used early on, particularly NVP, having a very low genetic barrier (153,154). Following mounting evidence on viral resistance for single drug prophylaxis (155,156) use of ARV drug combinations for PMTCT became commonplace (157,158). Dabis later proposed that the role of HAART in PMTCT be scientifically assessed (157) as NVP and AZT had little effect in prevention of transmission from mothers with advanced HIV infection (145,147).

Whereas many of the most developed countries (MDCs) had virtually eliminated perinatal HIV transmission by 2010, or were well on their way to its elimination (159), the least developed countries (LDCs) were lagging behind due to a number of factors including inequity in access to ART (160). From very early on in the HIV epidemic, sub-Saharan Africa had the fastest growing epidemic (161–163). Transmission by blood transfusions, contaminated injections and from mother to child was occurring more frequently than in Europe (164). Piot suggested that AIDS would probably have a profound impact on health care programmes and economic development in the continent – something that has since come to pass – and that its control should be a public health priority (164). Some aid agencies like Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF) had implemented pilot ART programmes, providing free treatment since 2001 (165,166). In 2003, several countries in SSA established national ART programmes (166), drawing impetus from the WHO/UNAIDS "3 by 5" initiative launched on World AIDS Day in 2003 to provide three million people living with HIV/AIDS in low- and middle-income countries with life-prolonging ART by the end of 2005 (167). This was principally due to the global AIDS advocacy movement and following the establishment of ambitious programmes funded by newly established donors such as the Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (166) and the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR). It is also noteworthy that the FDA played an important role in making ART affordable to LDCs by implementing a number of policies to enable distribution of ARVs to developing countries at low costs, even if there was still patent or market exclusivity protection for the ARVs in the USA (127).

These endeavours rapidly reduced AIDS-related mortality (2,168–174). The early impact of ART in sub-Saharan Africa was primarily because patients with more advanced disease, and most likely to die, were given priority in accessing treatment. This experience also showed that very sick patients could derive benefit from ART, even in the absence of advanced health care systems that were available in MDCs (127).

In 2004, the WHO published its first recommendations for PMTCT in resource constrained settings (175). Starting with Option A in 2006 (176), the guidelines were updated to recommend Option B in 2010 (177). In 2012, WHO released an update which while not an official guideline was considered an endorsement of Option B+ (178,179) and since 2015, have officially advocated for Option B+ (9) where all pregnant or breastfeeding WLHIV initiate ART for life (180) (Figure 2.1).

Figure 2.1: Recommended WHO PMTCT guidelines for maternal and infant treatment and prophylaxis (2010)

	Woman receives:		
	Treatment (for CD4 count ≤350 cells/mm ³)	Prophylaxis (for CD4 count >350 cells/mm³)	Infant receives:
Option A	Triple ART starting as soon as diagnosed, continued for life	Antepartum: AZT starting as early as 14 weeks gestation Intrapartum: at onset of labour, sdNVP and first dose of AZT/3TC Postpartum: daily AZT/3TC through 7 days postpartum	Daily NVP from birth through 1 week beyond complete cessation of breastfeeding or, if not breastfeeding or if mother is on treatment, through age 4-6 weeks
Option B	Same initial ARVs for both:		Daily NVP or AZT from birth through age 4-6 weeks
	Triple ART starting as soon as diagnosed, continued for life	Triple ART starting as early as 14 weeks gestation and continued intrapartum and through childbirth if not breastfeeding or until 1 week after cessation of all breastfeeding	regardless of infant feeding method
Option B+	Same for treatment and prophylaxis:		Daily NVP or AZT from birth through age 4-6 weeks regardless of infant feeding method
	Regardless of CD4 count, triple ART starting as soon as diagnosed, continued for life		

2.2.2. The advent of Option B+ in sub-Saharan Africa

In 2010, the Malawian government developed Option B+ because the prevailing WHO guidelines for PMTCT were not feasible in this setting. The WHO guidelines were reliant on availability of a CD4 count to determine ART eligibility and this was not practical in Malawi as CD4 machines were not available in most rural areas. The programme was rolled out in July 2011 following extensive training of health staff and quickly became the gold standard for PMTCT efforts globally (180-182). Also in 2011, UNAIDS launched a "Global plan" to reduce the number of vertical infections of HIV by 90% (183). The plan identified 22 priority countries - 21 of which are in sub-Saharan Africa – with the highest estimated numbers of pregnant WLHIV (183). These initiatives represented a paradigm shift away from just preventing vertical transmission, towards a more holistic goal of an HIV free infant and a healthy, living mother. In resource-limited settings, Option B+ represented an important change in messaging to patients, transitioning from advice to wait until they got sick or their CD4 counts were low to start treatment for their own health, to an immediate initiation of ART. This called for a massive sensitization and education campaign to help the population understand this shift. This was an enormous undertaking that was not feasible in most settings, presenting another potential problem for Option B+ programmes (184).

This new approach also represented a shift away from PMTCT goals being to eliminate vertical transmission to a strategy that was concerned with maternal health and survival (183,185,186), as well as prevention of transmission to uninfected partners (7,31,187,188) and PMTCT in subsequent pregnancies (7,36,180). It also simplified PMTCT guidelines, potentially improving access, feasibility, and acceptability (measured by uptake and retention) and generated excitement as the most promising approach to EMTCT. The implementation of Option B+ called for enhanced adherence support, increased funding, decentralisation of services as well as adoption of innovative service provision strategies like task-shifting of specific processes on the PMTCT continuum because of increased numbers of patients needing initiation into the programme (180,189), perhaps to a degree greater than current health systems could absorb (179).

Option B+ was initially met with resistance by some national programmes owing to perceived increased programme costs as well as a reluctance to taskshift ART initiation away from doctors, a prerequisite for a successful Option B+ programme (40,179,190). Option B+ was also met with reluctance by some public health practitioners because of the limited evidence on the effects of long-term exposure to ART in utero (31). Development of surveillance systems for birth defects and toxicity from ART exposure was proposed as a critical element of early Option B+ demonstration projects (31,178). In addition, questions were raised on the ethics of prioritization of healthy patients for early ART when there were many severely immunosuppressed patients, at high risk of death and in urgent need of treatment (179). The move to an ART eligibility threshold of a CD4 less than 500 copies/mL (177) meant that most pregnant women met the criteria to initiate ART. As such, PMTCT programmes would be expending considerable effort to find a minority of patients who would qualify for prophylaxis rather than ART (31), making Option B+ the obvious choice from an implementation perspective. Finally, the ethics of preferentially providing early ART to pregnant women rapidly lost

its relevance once the eligibility criteria were expanded to include all patients, following recommendations from WHO for "Treat All" which were released in 2015 (9).

Kenya was the next African country to implement Option B_+ , starting in 2011, although they chose a phased or piloting implementation strategy where specific sites employed Option B_+ to determine the feasibility of this approach in their setting (191). It was argued that phased implementation could lead to mothers potentially hearing mixed messages regarding ART eligibility as other strategies would still exist in parallel if there was not sufficient geographic distance between Option B_+ implementation sites and those following the national standard of care (184). By January 2013, 11 countries had endorsed Option B_+ for their national PMTCT programmes with six others actively costing and developing operational plans to switch over (31,191).

Option B+ was estimated to cost 2-2.5 times Option A or B over ten years in Malawi (192). However, it has also been shown to potentially increase maternal life expectancy by 1.12 years compared to Option B (31,193) and in general, health outcomes are much better with early treatment for individuals (194,195) and with Option B+ for mothers (31,192). As cost effectiveness analysis showed Option B+ to be a favourable policy option (192), and following WHO recommendation of Option B+ in its guidelines in 2015 (9) all sub-Saharan African countries had switched to Option B+ at the end of 2016 (196). With the widespread adoption of "Treat All" (39), as of 2018, 74% of HIV positive women of childbearing age in sub-Saharan Africa were receiving ART further improving PMTCT (24).

The early optimism and enthusiasm regarding Option B+ was tempered owing to a myriad of issues that were identified during demonstration projects and through routine programme data in sub-Saharan Africa (179). Principal among these is that several studies from sub-Saharan Africa showed that pregnant and postpartum women have poorer engagement in care than men and non-pregnant women (11,34,68,89). This forced PMTCT programmes to come to terms with how much financial and human resource investment would be needed to make this new endeavour viable and effective. Furthermore, much is still unknown about what happens after pregnant and postpartum women's treatment attrition and regarding the underlying mechanisms that drive this attrition (197). Although Option B+ is still recognised as the best method to achieve EMTCT, there are many programmatic gaps that still need to be addressed including low rates of repeat testing during the third trimester or during delivery for mothers who tested negative during the first trimester, low EID completion rates, and how to achieve optimum engagement in care for each patient (48,198).

2.3. Engagement in care under Option B+

As mentioned previously, engagement in Option B+ has been reported as lower than engagement for other adults on ART (11,199). Several hypotheses have been postulated for this lower engagement. This section looks at the Option B+ cascade of care identifying periods when women may be at higher risk of disengagement from care, summarising retention rates and identifying factors that influence engagement in Option B+ using a framework proposed by Myer et al (48) to summarise these factors.

2.3.1. Retention in care following ART initiation

Most studies on retention in care in Option B+ programmes in African settings have reported outcomes up to 12 months on ART (11,34,35,200-203). While the definition of retention varied widely between these studies, they reported retention rates 12 months after ART initiation ranging from 42% in Mozambique (204) to 97% in Malawi (70). In Malawi, more encouraging was the fact that excluding women who transferred their care to other facilities (9.7%), the 12-month retention in care rate was 77% similar to the rate for adults in the national ART programme (36). A 2018 meta-analysis reported a pooled retention estimate of 76% at 12 months (11). In comparison, this rate was slightly lower than the 81% reported for adults 12 months after ART initiation in Africa prior to the roll-out of universal ART (199). Some longerterm studies have more recently been published describing retention in care three to five years after ART initiation in the pregnancy and breastfeeding periods (34,35,202). With regards to long-term retention rates, these ranged from 41% in Malawi (200,201) to 77% in Ethiopia (203) after 24 months on ART. One study in Malawi showed that 70% of women remained retained in care after 3 years following ART initiation, which was similar to the adult treatment cohort, however, adequate adherence was below 30% (34). In Uganda, it was estimated that 68% of women were retained in care 4 years after ART initiation (202) (Table2.3). Most study estimates were well below the UNAIDS second 90 target of 90% of patients who know their status being on ART (97). As such, questions still remain regarding the factors driving long-term retention in care given that mothers are initiating ART while still asymptomatic and often times before they have had time to digest the news of their HIV diagnosis.

2.3.2. The Option B+ treatment cascade and points of high risk of disengagement

The HIV treatment cascade was first depicted in early PMTCT studies to describe the various steps in preventing vertical transmission (205-207) and has since been expanded to include other facets of HIV treatment most notably the challenge of loss to follow-up from treatment programmes (208-213) and the uptake of viral load testing (76). The cascade is usually used to depict the proportion of patients lost or not reached at each step, giving an easily understandable summary of the magnitude of attrition at each step and potentially where interventions are needed to improve engagement. For an Option B+ programme, understanding the levels of attrition at each stage of the cascade is particularly pertinent as mothers not on treatment are more likely to transmit HIV to their infants if this attrition happens at any point before breastfeeding cessation (214).

The stages of the cascade vary with different studies. However, the Option B+ cascade is often depicted as having five steps: at least one antenatal care visit; offer, acceptance, and reception of HIV testing and results; maternal antiretroviral therapy (ART) initiation and adherence; infant ART initiation for prophylaxis; and mothers following safe infant feeding practices (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2: The Option B+ treatment cascade

Certain steps in the cascade can be expanded or contracted and increasingly, more steps are being added to the cascade that deal with infants and their outcomes. For the purpose of this review, I will use a slightly altered cascade to better illustrate which parts of the cascade this review concentrates on (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3: The cascade for this thesis

The pregnancy and postpartum periods are times of change regardless of HIVstatus, especially for first-time mothers. The transition through pregnancy and into motherhood comes with multiple personal milestones and unique pressures which may be exacerbated by an HIV diagnosis. Women must navigate maternal and child health clinics in addition to HIV clinics as well as the economic, social, psychological, and physiological changes that women undergo during the pre- and postnatal period (215–217).

The prenatal period

<u>HIV testing</u>

The circumstances under which most pregnant women discover their HIV status differs from the general population. Pregnant women are encouraged to attend ANC clinics, the entry point into most PMTCT programmes and the first step in the PMTCT cascade. It is important to note that utilisation of ANC services is still an issue in multiple settings for many reasons including socioeconomic factors, lack of autonomy and agency, and long distance to health facilities (218–221). As part of ANC services, women are encouraged to test for HIV, something they may not have planned to do. Testing all pregnant women for HIV proved initially challenging for PMTCT programmes in sub-Saharan Africa with 51% pregnant women being tested in 2013, showing heterogeneity across the continent ranging from 35% in west and central Africa to 74% in east and southern Africa (222). However, most of these programmes are now testing more than 95% of pregnant women who attend ANC (26).

During pregnancy, women may be at higher risk for HIV seroconversion especially in areas with high population HIV prevalence (223). As such, for those pregnant women that test negative, repeat testing throughout the vertical transmission risk period is of paramount importance to identify any new seroconversions. To do this, repeat testing for HIV-negative pregnant women is recommended in the third trimester and again in the postpartum period in high prevalence settings (224). However, this has been implemented to varying degrees of success, with some countries doing better than others (225). The major barriers to achieving optimal levels of repeat testing include client-level barriers such as late presentation for ANC or low completion of recommended ANC visits. Provider-level barriers include heavy workloads, time limitations, and forgetting to check retest eligibility at every facility visit. Facility-level barriers include inconsistent volume of clients and lack of dedicated space for confidential HIV testing. Finally, health system barriers include test kit supply chain ruptures and the design of ANC patient registers (226). Repeat testing has been an issue for PMTCT programmes since their inception, but it has become more pronounced with the move to Option B+.

<u>ART initiation</u>

Once pregnant women have tested positive for HIV, current WHO recommendations suggest prompt initiation of ART and achievement of adherence to ensure virologic suppression by the time of delivery. In Malawi by 2012, a year into implementation of Option B+, quarterly ART initiations for pregnant and breastfeeding women jumped up by 748% (36). These high rates of uptake also reported by the Ministry of Health (227) were likely due to excellent sensitisation and mobilisation campaigns (184). Since then, several clinical cohorts of pregnant women who have tested positive for HIV have been followed with varying levels of ART initiation reported (11,228,229). These varying levels of initiation were likely due to health system barriers such as poor integration of ART and ANC services (230), and slow patient treatment preparation procedures (231,232), coupled with delayed presentation to ANC services (233), as well as psychosocial barriers including denial of HIV status and fear of disclosure (234).

Women diagnosed during pregnancy face a triple burden of the transition into pregnancy, acceptance of an HIV diagnosis and the requirement to initiate lifelong ART as soon as possible (232). Rapid ART initiation is one reason why messaging often focuses on protection of the unborn child as the principle reason for initiating ART, which potentially introduces ART adherence problems postpartum (235). The need to initiate ART quickly has led to most PMTCT programmes advocating for same-day ART initiation provided that the patient seems ready to start (and do not have tuberculosis or cryptococcal meningitis) which is also a WHO recommendation (236). The first part of the Option B+ treatment cascade i.e. the proportion of expectant mothers who attend ANC, consent to HIV testing and receive their results and are subsequently offered and initiate ART varies for different Option B+ programmes in sub-Saharan Africa. For example, while >95% of pregnant WLHIV receive ART for PMTCT in South Africa this proportion was estimated at 25% in Chad (26).

Early data from PMTCT programmes suggests that the major obstacle to achieving optimal PMTCT goals is not about convincing women to start but rather keeping them on treatment for life (36). Even with the need to protect their unborn child being a major motivating factor (237–240), ART initiation rates in PMTCT programmes vary in different settings (36,241). A first leakage in the PMTCT cascade is the small proportion of women who refuse treatment outright and women who accept treatment but never return for subsequent visits (11).

<u>ART adherence</u>

Following ART initiation, several studies have shown that the risk of disengagement from care is highest just after initiation and then reduces steadily the longer women remain in care (11,42). The biggest losses have been observed immediately after initiation with no further clinic visits following the ART initiation visit , with up to 46% of women never returning for another clinic visit following their initial ART initiation visit (11,42). In spite of several barriers including coming to terms with the reality of lifelong ART, many studies have reported higher levels of ART adherence and viral suppression during pregnancy compared to the postpartum period (68,242–244). This might be due to several reasons, for example, the expectation of regular attendance of a health facility makes it easier to explain monthly clinic visits for ART refills and the need to take daily medication (245).

<u>Delivery</u>

Women living with HIV are encouraged to deliver their child at a health facility as this allows for interventions to reduce the risk of transmission at birth (246). New-borns are also tested for HIV and can be initiated on ART at this point if necessary (224). Furthermore, for infants who test negative, mothers are provided with prophylaxis to further reduce the risk of transmission (9,177). While beyond the scope of this review, facility delivery is still a major hurdle in multiple settings with only 22% of deliveries occurring in a health facility in 29 sub-Saharan African countries with heterogeneity by region and socioeconomic status (247,248).

The postnatal period

<u>ART adherence</u>

Some studies have reported high risk of disengagement from care in the first year on ART often following delivery or breastfeeding cessation (203,249– 251). In the postpartum period, changes in motivation to continue treatment following delivery and weaning possibly contribute to women's disengagement (245,251,252).

The success of Option B+ in the antenatal period has meant that mother-tochild transmission of HIV is increasingly occurring through breastfeeding in the postpartum period (253). Provided that mothers remain adherent to ART, the risk of transmission through breastfeeding is negligible and is far outweighed by the benefits accrued from breastfeeding (253). In resource limited settings formula-feeding is less feasible owing to the economic burden this entails. Formula feeding also presents an increased risk of diarrhoeal diseases due to contamination (especially due to a lack of clean water sources). Given that diarrhoea and malnutrition are common causes of child mortality in these settings, the World Health Organisation (WHO) now recommends breastfeeding up to 24 months in low-income settings (254).

In the postpartum period, new mothers must navigate several activities or practices. In addition to remaining adherent to their own treatment, mothers must also administer antiretroviral prophylaxis to their infant and adhere to infant feeding recommendations, which can be a burden (197). If the risk of transmission through breastfeeding is understood by the mothers, then their motivation to stay in care for the health of their infant might still be high (252,255). However, relief at a negative HIV test result for the infant may be a barrier to their own continued engagement in care (252,255). The first 24 months of child-rearing still involve routine visits to the clinics for immunisation as well as early infant diagnosis. Women are assumed to have integrated into the adult ART population. Retention rates and reasons for treatment discontinuation during the period following breastfeeding cessation have not been well described, with most research focusing on the periods of pregnancy and breastfeeding. However, following delivery and breastfeeding cessation, women disengage from care at higher rates than the rest of the adult ART population (11,197). Whereas some PMTCT programmes provide integrated care throughout the breastfeeding period, in some settings, women are expected to transfer their care to an adult ART clinic (256,257) and this transfer may also undermine their continued engagement in care. This transition presents a new set of challenges. Women must find reasons other than the health of their infant to motivate themselves to continue adhering to treatment. This sometimes proves difficult given that most of them were asymptomatic when they initiated ART (258,259).

In regions with high fertility, women may move between pregnancy, breastfeeding, and post-breastfeeding periods throughout their reproductive years. It is important to integrate HIV services into these periods in order to improve maternal health and reduce the risk of mother-to-child transmission both for incident and subsequent pregnancies.

<u>Early infant diagnosis</u>

The major goal of PMTCT programmes is to reduce vertical transmission, and the global scale-up of ART has been the primary contributor to reduction in vertical transmission. Therefore, EID results are an important metric for assessing whether PMTCT efforts are being effective. As such, it is impossible to evaluate this goal without first achieving high EID testing coverage throughout the vertical transmission risk period. Serological assays used for adult testing are not reliable for infants given that maternal HIV antibodies can persist in infants up to 18 months. Therefore, EID seeks to establish the presence of HIV infection in children less than 18 months old through DNA polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing, and is critical to reduce infant morbidity and mortality through timely ART initiation for those infants that test positive (260–262). Early on, when ART was not provided to all women for life, research found that infants of mothers on ART were more likely to complete EID (263), it was therefore hoped that universal ART would translate to higher completion rates of EID but this has not materialised (198). It is imperative that there be high coverage of EID testing up to the end of the breastfeeding period for HIVexposed infants (HEI), however, testing rates remain low in the countries with the highest HIV-burden (198).

Most studies documenting uptake across the PMTCT cascade have been undertaken as cohort studies (11,228,229) of mothers without links to exposed infants. Many studies are implemented drawing on paper-based registers in which data are not consistently entered and which often lack unique identifiers meaning that not all available data can be utilised. Lack of links between mother-baby pairs also means that identifying exposed infants in child registers is impossible (99).

Ninety percent of HEI should be tested by eight weeks according to the World Health Organisation global targets, but EID uptake in many sub-Saharan African countries is suboptimal, with only half of HEI in 21 priority countries reported to have been tested in 2015 (26,110,198,227,264). Based on national data, only 35.1% of infected mothers intended to access EID services in South Africa (110). In Malawi, only 43% of exposed infants were enrolled in follow up before 2 months (227).

Retention of HEI in the postpartum period and ascertainment of HIV status at the end of their risk period remains a major gap for reasons including health system barriers that result in fragmented services for mother-baby pairs and a lack of focus on critical healthcare needs for HEI (265,266). Some authors point to concentration on the birth or 6-week EID test to the detriment of the rest of the risk period up to the end of breastfeeding (6-month and 18-month test which are just as important) as a major reason for this gap (28,264). Lack of knowledge regarding EID and infant ART, lack of psychosocial support, fear of disclosure of own and/or child's HIV status, the perception of health care workers as authority figures, and intent to shorten the life of the child have also emerged as reasons for low EID testing rates (267). One study found that counterintuitively longer distance from the clinic improved EID uptake but might be explained by the tendency of patients to seek care further away from home in order to avoid being recognised at clinics in their own neighbourhoods and the decreased fear of social stigma by seeking care outside of one's community (268). Another factor is emotional intimate partner violence which reduces the likelihood of EID completion (269). Maternal postpartum ART adherence continues to be a facilitator of high EID testing completion rates (268,269).

Innovations like point-of-care EID tests (270) and use of mobile technology interventions like the HITSystem (271,272) have significantly improved EID uptake and encouragingly, data from Zambia shows that EID completion rates have improved steadily between 2006 and 2016 probably due to increased attention and funding (273).

However, with more than 50% of infant HIV infections happening in the postpartum period (198), this reflects the relatively high coverage of interventions in the antenatal period and the need for greater attention to postpartum women and their exposed infants. Especially as HIV-exposed uninfected infants experience a myriad of challenges including higher mortality (274–276).

2.3.3. Influences on engagement in care under Option B+

Several authors have suggested ways to conceptualise adherence and engagement in care for pregnant and postpartum women (48,62). The WHO considers five dimensions that can help conceptualise the multiple factors at play for patient adherence, health system factors, socioeconomic factors, therapy-related factors, patient-related factors, and condition-related factors (62). Myer et al (48) suggest a framework for conceptualising pregnant and postpartum women's engagement in care which considers structural factors, social and economic conditions, health systems and services, individual-level factors and biological and medication conditions (Figure 2.4). I use this framework to collate the various influences on engagement in care for pregnant and postpartum women that have been reported in the published literature.

Figure 2.4: Conceptual model for the determinants of engagement in care for pregnant and postpartum women (Myer et al (48))



Structural, social, and/or economic contexts

These are factors that play a distal role as determinants of engagement and include factors such as mobility, poverty, gender, and societal norms. Male partner involvement in all the levels of the PMTCT cascade (especially ANC visits, HIV testing and treatment) has been identified as a potential barrier to women's long-term retention in care. This is particularly pertinent in patriarchal societies where women are heavily reliant on their partners for approval or financial support in order to attend health services (277–279).

More broadly, family and community have been identified as barriers to engagement in HIV care (280-283). Social support, infant testing and disclosure to a partner (284) have a positive effect on retention. Perceived and experienced stigma is still an issue (283,285) and often prevents disclosure (249,279,286,287) with An et al reporting that fear of a positive result is strong enough that some women opted out of ANC services altogether rather than know their status (288). Mothers also reported fear of stigma related to giving their child medication and from their status being disclosed if they did not breastfeed their infant (289). Women that disclose their HIV status receive more support and are better engaged in care (290). However, women are less likely to disclose in situations where disclosure is viewed as too risky with the potential repercussions including violence, segregation or loss of social support (249,279,286,287). Women who have not disclosed their HIV status might also find it harder to remain engaged in care in the postpartum period once the cover of frequent clinic visits for ANC ceases and the convenient explanation is no longer available to them (245).

Furthermore, clinics may not be well adapted for the increased mobility that often accompanies pregnancy (for example, in many countries expectant mothers move back to their natal home because of the help they can receive in early childcare but later move back to their own homes to resume their lives) (18,102). After delivery, many women return to previous economic activities and place of residence which may come with their own stresses which may undermine HIV care engagement. Some women report feeling overwhelmed in this period and may become too busy with other activities to remain engaged in care (245,251,252). In South Africa, where labour migration is very common, this might include moving to metropolitan areas either to find or to resume work.

Poverty also plays a major role in engagement in care (291–293). Several logistics are involved in continued engagement such as funds for transportation to the clinic, and availability of food to aid in taking medication. Studies have identified a lack of transport as a barrier to engagement in care (234,245,255,282–284,294). Moreover, as patients are usually advised to take their medication with food (10), some patients have reported a lack of food as

a significant barrier to adequate adherence and continued engagement in care (255).

Health systems and services

These are the factors that shape access to ART and include concepts such as access, availability, quality of care and model of care. Regarding the model of care, women must navigate ANC, and HIV clinics in settings where these are not fully or well-integrated (295). Moreover, even in settings with better integrated clinics, transitioning back into general population HIV clinics in the postpartum period can be challenging (296). Integration of ANC and HIV care significantly improves ART uptake during pregnancy and has become the standard of care in most of sub-Saharan Africa (297–301). Some countries continue integrated maternal and child healthcare into the postpartum period which has been shown to improve engagement in the postpartum period (302-304). However, there is a hurdle of moving mothers from PMTCT programmes to routine care postpartum and the potential LTFU during this transition period. There is little available evidence to guide decisions on when women should be transferred back to routine ART care. As a result, decisions in many countries are based on various other practices. In South Africa, this transition happens 6-10 weeks postpartum (256), in Malawi this ranges from 6 weeks to 12 months (17,257), while in Mozambique, the United Republic of Tanzania and Zimbabwe this transition occurs up to two years postpartum (296,305) showing the heterogeneity in country implementation. Some settings offer a one-stop shop where ANC, postnatal care (PNC), child health care, and ART services are provided at the same facility (249,306). However, while women may not have to transfer geographically, they may need to transfer to a different part of the same clinic (249,306). This transfer period may come with higher susceptibility to disengagement from care (256,307-309). Furthermore, if a child tests positive, mothers must navigate both their own and their infant's clinic visits. If child and maternal care are not integrated, then the difficulty of juggling multiple clinic appointments might undermine women's continued engagement in care (238,255).

Regarding access and availability, infrastructure plays a significant role in engagement in care. Settings where roads can be washed away or made
impassable by rain for example make engagement in care a trickier prospect. Stockouts of ARVs also significantly affects adherence and engagement in care and stockouts increased in some sites following Option B+ roll-out (296). Furthermore, where patients are expected to pay for some services at health facilities, this has been shown to be detrimental to engagement in care (282,283). Distance to the facility and related transportation costs also played a significant role in LTFU among pregnant women (234,245,255,282– 284,294).

Regarding quality of care, some studies have focused on the testing experience for pregnant women (288,310-312), including eliciting the contents of counselling sessions (310). Women appreciated the knowledge garnered from these HIV testing and counselling sessions (288). Healthcare workers (HCWs) also reported improved confidentiality as testing became routine which led to less stigma (288). One study also reported improved diffusion of the testing message for pregnant women into the community (288), as more mothers became knowledgeable and consequently shared this knowledge with other pregnant women. On the other hand, the routine nature of the HIV testing offer to pregnant women has also been identified as an early barrier to longterm engagement in care for some pregnant women. For example, some studies have shown that women may feel coerced to test, leading to subsequent disengagement from care for some of them in the future (288,310–312). Some mothers expressed discomfort in voicing their opinions regarding testing and counselling to practitioners (255,313). Several studies noted that the patientpractitioner relationship was not viewed as equal by patients or providers (288,294,313). Few women discussed health decisions in terms of exerting control over their own bodies and perceived the HCW as the health-related decision maker (288). A role HCWs may not relish but one which nonetheless has been thrust upon them by "a unilateral 'moral economy', which requires the compliance of patients who are newly initiated on treatment" (314–316). Many women reported feeling that testing was compulsory, sometimes interpreting the HIV test as an order from the Health Ministry (288). A supportive relationship with providers often translated to more autonomous decision making on the mothers' part (288). Maltreatment from clinic staff was a barrier to adherence and retention in care (237,317), suggesting, that the

patient-provider relationship plays a pivotal role in PMTCT service use (313). Omission of pre-test counselling also influenced women's ability to opt-out of HIV testing (313). With the need to initiate pregnant women on treatment immediately after they tested positive, feeling ready played a major role in acceptance of ART (237), with readiness influenced by previous knowledge of HIV status, patient-provider relationship and the partner relationship (237). Patients and HCWs expressed concerns with the speed of the initiation process which they feared would make it difficult for patients to digest a positive result (286). With regards to women who never returned for a clinic visit following ART initiation, some studies suggest that rapid ART initiation might leave patients overwhelmed and underprepared for the realities of lifelong treatment thereby making them less likely to return for follow-up clinic visits (239). In particular, studies have reported mixed results with regards to disengagement from care for women who initiate ART on the same day (42,43,203), with some women wanting to first discuss their diagnosis with their partner, get a CD4 count and get a confirmatory test at another facility. HCWs feared that some women were only initiating treatment to please them and that they would not take the treatment properly at home (239). Consequently, they were worried about LTFU and drug resistance. Fear of breach of confidentiality also played important roles in LTFU (286,313) with some women concerned about referrals to other facilities having established trust where they initiated ART (313). Facility type and size have also been reported as affecting engagement in care (318) although there have been mixed results with regards to facility size (249,318). Studies suggest that public facilities are a risk factor for disengagement compared to private facilities (318), hospitals have higher attrition than health centres (203), and urban facilities contribute to disengagement when compared to those located in rural settings (318). Finally, long lines, limited clinic hours and slow service contributing to long waiting times at the clinic have also been reported as barriers to engagement in care (245,319).

Other studies have identified several concerns throughout the Option B+ cascade. Specifically, there is fear of the potential adherence to old messaging around PMTCT and the subsequent problems that might arise as a result of starting ART with high CD4 (320). Postpartum women also need other

services including reproductive health services such as contraceptives for those not looking to get pregnant and safe conception for those who are. Unplanned pregnancy contributes to mother-to-child transmission and maternal engagement in care (321,322). Up to 70% of pregnancies between 2012 and 2016 were unplanned in African cohorts living with HIV (323–325). Multiple hypotheses have been postulated to explain better engagement during pregnancy compared to the postpartum period. Healthcare messaging on ART adherence has focused heavily on the health of the baby and prevention of transmission (235) and women report being motivated to remain in care and adherent for the sake of their unborn baby (237).

Many studies also found a significant number of mothers eligible under old guidelines who inexplicably slipped through the cracks (297,326-329) it is therefore plausible that this may also happen in Option B+ programmes. However, there were also good, contrasting results from South Africa (110) where a better resourced health care system likely played a role in the good performance of Option A compared to other countries. Questions remain regarding how a better resourced health system translates to an Option B+ programme. PMTCT is only effective if mothers and exposed infants remain in care and on therapy for the duration of MTCT risk (214) something more likely to happen with the simplified care continuum offered by Option B+ and supported by early findings from Malawi (36). Simplification of eligibility criteria could mean an improvement or, conversely, the increasing numbers of mothers being initiated could mean that more mothers slip through these cracks; supported by retention statistics from a number of studies showing that retention rates decline as Option B+ programmes age (34,36,227,318). Option B+ is a balancing act especially in scenarios in which poor adherence with consequent early virologic failure or high rates of loss to follow-up is common (193). 'Particularly pertinent consideration for resource-constrained nations that are balancing ART costs with other critical health expenditures' (31).

Individual-level factors

These include psychological, social, interpersonal, and economic factors that are proximal determinants of engagement in care among pregnant and

postpartum women. Young age is consistently reported as a risk factor for disengagement from care (69,249,305,317,330-332). Adolescents and young women have also been shown to have poorer adherence, worse HIV treatment outcomes, higher rates of vertical transmission LTFU and (11,17,50,203,333,334). This is possibly linked to poor health seeking behaviour as evidenced by late presentation at ANC and a higher likelihood of unplanned pregnancies (35,69,332,335). Young people may have lower impulse control (336), poorer grasp of the concept of actions and consequences, and poor ability for long-term risk benefit analyses (337) which also probably play an important role in this phenomenon.

Studies have also reported that several other individual level factors play an important role in engagement in care. The continuum of acceptance and denial plays a role in engagement in care (338). The process of acceptance of an HIV status is influenced by various events and experiences that are unique to each individual (338). Women who were newly diagnosed at their first ANC visit had worse adherence and treatment outcomes (66,331,332) with denial possibly partly explaining the mechanism of this observation. Women who had previous knowledge of their HIV status at their first ANC visit had had more time to move through the process of denial and acceptance (338). Women also spoke about feeling healthy when asked to initiate ART, with perceived lack of need for treatment undermining their engagement (239,339). Women with less education also had worse engagement in care (66,317). Some women attributed attrition to several factors including mothers' lack of knowledge regarding the benefits of ART for their own health, ignorance or irresponsibility, and that mothers only cared about the baby's health and not their own (245). Religious beliefs were also an important predictor of engagement in care (249). Mothers also expressed several motivating factors for remaining in care. Chief among these was the desire to have a healthy baby (238), mothers also wanted to remain healthy for themselves and in order to see their children grow up (239,240,251,319,340,341). Some women report that continuing on ART gives them hope for the future (280). Other motivators included stigma avoidance usually expressed as a desire to maintain their appearance, keep their status hidden and not be identifiable as HIV positive if their health deteriorated and they started to experience symptoms (239).

However, a fear of being seen at the clinic was a deterrent probably speaking to the setting with high social cohesion where social standing and social inclusion are often perceived as more important than individual wellbeing (342).

Regarding psychological factors, research is starting to emerge suggesting that postpartum depression is a risk factor for disengagement from care (343–345). Alcohol and substance abuse are also known to be associated with poor adherence and engagement and are prevalent among WLHIV (343–345). Other life stressors such as partner violence, crime, loss of employment, food and housing security can also disrupt treatment (17,346–348). Migration and travel can also disrupt treatment (349). This is particularly pertinent in South Africa where labour migration emerged due to the apartheid regime and quickly became an important source of income for families in the homelands and is still common even now (349,350). Furthermore, fitting clinic visits into their schedule when they were back at work was difficult as it often meant they had to disclose their HIV status to their employer (245).

Biological and medical considerations

This looks at factors related to physiologic changes associated with HIV and pregnancy, obstetric and medical conditions, and anything related to disease management including the use of ART. Late presenters who are at a more advanced disease stage when they first enter HIV treatment programmes are more vulnerable to disengagement usually because they are experiencing symptoms including physical wasting (250,282,351) and also have higher mortality risk (352). The proportion of people initiating ART at an advanced disease stage has declined since the advent of ART in sub-Saharan Africa (258). Furthermore, pregnant women are generally healthier and are usually asymptomatic when they initiate ART (258,259). Nonetheless, some studies have reported more advanced disease as a risk factor for disengagement with patients being too weak/sick to take ART or attend clinic visits. Feeling healthy has also been reported as a risk factor for disengagement from care (240,252,283). Readiness to start ART is a concept that features heavily with regards to engagement in care (237) and is influenced by many factors including coercive testing, and previous knowledge of HIV status.

Women who initiate ART during pregnancy have higher disengagement rates than women who initiate during the breastfeeding period (17,204,250,318). This may point to the multiple pregnancy related symptoms like nausea and fatigue which are similar to the profile of side effects that patients might experience once they initiate ART. This might also explain why primigravida mothers disengage from care more frequently than more experienced mothers (69). With the novelty of the transitions of a first pregnancy, mothers are perhaps more likely to mistake pregnancy symptoms for ART side effects. However, one study reported higher gravida as barrier to engagement in care (305). Apart from ART side effects (238,251,289,317,319,353,354), pill size (238), beliefs that ART is dangerous (355), a lack of understanding of HIV (17,341), and doubts about the effectiveness of ART (354) have also been reported as barriers to optimal engagement in care. There have been some contrasting findings, some women have reported feeling more motivated because of noticeable improvements in their health following ART initiation, for example one study reported optimal engagement where mothers perceived benefits of lifelong treatment including falling ill less frequently and prolonged life (289), findings echoed in another study, where women also felt that they would acclimatize to the treatment (239). Women who initiated ART late in pregnancy were also reported to have higher risk of attrition (69,317,332). Their late attendance of ANC probably speaks to poor seeking behaviour which has been reported as a risk factor for disengagement from care (35,69,332,335).

Finally, the role of pregnancy in motivating initiation was important as this played a part in postnatal attrition with some women reporting loss of motivation after protecting the baby (289). Some mothers also expressed challenges with postnatal adherence (245,289) with some mothers reporting the pregnancy was a way to hide their status as they could easily explain that the reason for all the medication and frequent clinic visits was the pregnancy, but this option disappeared once the baby was delivered (245,257). Some women also mentioned treatment fatigue (289) and grappling with the fact that ART was a lifelong commitment (239,255,339) as reasons for disengagement from care.

Figure 2.5: Determinants of engagement in care under Option B+

		👻 🖻 🍄	60 2 3
Structural, social, and	Health systems and	Individual-level	Biological and medical
economic contexts	services	proximal factors	considerations
 Male partner involvement Family support Community support Stigma Disclosure Mobility during pregnancy for social support in child rearing Poverty Cost of transport to and from clinics Availability of food to aid in medication taking Poor transport infractructure 	 Integrated versus non- integrated care Transition back into adult ART clinics ARV stockouts Free vs paid healthcare Distance to facilities Coercive testing practices Availability of counselling services Lack of confidentiality Patient-practitioner relationship Rapid ART initiation Facility type (level, private vs public, rural vs urban) Long lines at clinics Health system inefficiencies 	 Age Poor health seeking behaviour Acceptance and denial Newly diagnosed Feeling healthy (no perceived need for treatment) Education level Knowledge of ART and its benefits Religious beliefs Desire to have a healthy baby Desire to remain healthy ART gives hope for the future ART to maintain a healthy appearance Fear of being seen at the clinic Depression Alcohol and substance abuse Intimate partner violence Other life stressors (crime, loss of employment, housing insecurity) Migrant labour Fitting clinic visits into a busy Ufficience 	 More advanced disease at clinic presentation Readiness to start ART ART initiation during pregnancy vs breastfeeding ART side effects Pregnancy symptoms like nausea Pill size Belief that ART is dangerous or ineffective Perceived benefits of ART ART initiation late in pregnancy The role of the pregnancy in motivating ART initiation Treatment fatigue Grappling with the reality of lifelong ART

2.4. Loss to follow-up and maternal treatment outcomes **2.4.1.** The problem of LTFU

Usually, most HIV treatment programmes are most interested in retention and survival statistics. As such patients who become LTFU are censored and it is assumed that this censoring is uninformative and random (12,356). However, it is well established from early treatment programmes that this was not true (for example, patients LTFU had higher mortality). Therefore, the proportion of patients LTFU became an outcome of interest independent of retention and survival (58,61). As LTFU reflects patients not retained in care, it is increasingly used as a measure of the effectiveness on treatment programmes (57,61,165,357,358).

One study reported that the combination of outcomes that make up LTFU underestimate retention and death rates by as much as five-fold while default rates are overestimated (90). Understanding true outcomes among patients who are LTFU is important in order to accurately monitor and report on indicators for national ART programmes and better target tracing efforts. Accurate mortality estimates are also important as these are used as parameters for projections in software programmes such as the UNAIDS Spectrum package (91,92,359).

Furthermore, LTFU threatens the effectiveness of ART. A 2013 systematic review of ART patients in Africa estimated LTFU at 82%, 76%, 68% and 65% at 6, 12, 24, and 36 months respectively (199). While there was substantial variation in retention, given that ART is only effective if patients are retained and adherent, these numbers illustrate that retention is a substantial threat to ART effectiveness (61). For pregnant and breastfeeding women, this is two-fold as ART is not only for the health benefit to the mother but also a means to curtail vertical transmission.

Studies have reported increases in attrition as programmes expand and increasingly, more programme losses can be attributed to LTFU (13,57,360). One study reported an inverse relationship between LTFU rates and mortality, with the contribution of unascertained mortality decreasing as LTFU increased, and the proportion of attrition attributable to LTFU increasing with each additional year on ART (13). With estimates of programme attrition as

high as 40% after 3 years, LTFU is a considerable barrier to the achievement of the long-term goals of ART programmes (61).

Finally, in October 2017 the UNAIDS announced the 90-90-90 targets which aim to have 90% of people living with HIV know their status, 90% of those who know their status remain on ART, and 90% of those on ART achieving viral suppression by 2020 (41,97). As part of this initiative, improved HIV testing and linkage to care following an HIV diagnosis were identified as points of intervention. However, with this goal increasingly being met, programmes must now start looking at how best they can restructure themselves to allow patients to live productive lives. The gap in achieving the second 90 consists of people that do not link to care following an HIV diagnosis as well as people that initiate ART but are lost from care. In South Africa, it was estimated that in 2018 more than 50% of the diagnosed and untreated population had previously been on ART, a proportion which had been steadily increasing over the past few years (Johnson LF; SA AIDS conference, 2019) (Figure 2.6). Given the successes in testing and treatment scale-up as a result of universal ART combined with high rates of LTFU in most ART populations, understanding people who start ART but do not remain retained in care is of increasing importance to ART programmes. However, this group has received less attention than linkage to treatment in the context of the UNAIDS targets (41).



Figure 2.6: South Africa's progress towards the UNAIDS 90-90-90 targets (Johnson LF, SA AIDS conference, 2019).

2.4.2. Results from tracing studies

It is important to estimate the "true default" rate, which is loss to follow-up excluding those who have died or transferred out of the area and are receiving treatment in another health facility elsewhere. Most ART programmes do this by tracing patients lost to follow up. However, this is often done inconsistently more so in national governmental programmes (52,90,361) even with tracing policies in place. In addition, whereas some programmes try to trace all patients LTFU, some trace a random sample of patients and others trace a non-random sample (15). Wilkinson et al (15) in their systematic review of tracing studies reported a summary mortality estimate of 38.8% for patients LTFU, which was a reduction compared to a similar review done earlier by Brinkhof et al (14) which reported a summary mortality estimate of 42%. More recent studies have reported further reductions in mortality with Zürcher et al (16) finding that 32.4% of patients traced had died and Chammartin et al (362) reporting that 21.8% of patients that were LTFU had died four years after their last clinic visit.

Wilkinson et al also reported a summary estimate of 18.6% for self-transfers and 28.6% for patients that stopped ART ("true default") (15). Many of the studies included in these systematic reviews were done in the early stages of sub-Saharan African ART programmes when a large number of those initiating ART were much sicker. Scale up and decentralisation of these programmes also meant that ART could be provided closer to home (15) which potentially increased the rate of self-transfers in order to continue treatment at locations that were more convenient. This probably explains why LTFU is directly proportional to ART programme size (360) and may also explain why LTFU is higher at centralised health facilities compared to primary healthcare facilities (363). In 2017, Zürcher et al in their systematic review reported that 23.9% of LTFU patients successfully traced had transferred, representing an increase from the estimate reported by Wilkinson (16). However, an individual patient meta-analysis conducted in 2018 reported a reduction in both self-transfers and ART stoppage four years after a last clinic visit, with estimates of 14.8% and 22.6% respectively (362).

It is possible now that the percentage of those deceased has changed owing to growing ART access and coverage, leading to more healthy asymptomatic patients initiating ART. Wilkinson et al found a significant reduction in deaths - from 50% to 30% - identified by tracing studies when they compared studies before and after 2007 (15). Zürcher et al also reported that mortality following LTFU appeared to decrease each calendar year, while ART stoppage and selftransfer appeared to be increasing (16). One study reported that mortality associated with LTFU is inversely related to the proportion of patients lost (364). As the proportion of patients LTFU from a treatment programme increase, the proportion of LTFU attributable to mortality decreases. Furthermore, few studies have specifically traced mothers LTFU from PMTCT programmes (17,19,102). This population is different from the populations that have previously been traced in a number of ways; firstly, with Option B+, many mothers are initiating ART while asymptomatic which potentially increasing their risk of LTFU. In addition, adequate adherence drops postpartum (89) and childbirth can be a risk factor for default (365) which could be because of a myriad of reasons. For example, the added burden of travelling to the clinic with a young infant, postpartum depression or outreferral after delivery (245,257,366). Consider also that new mothers are often quite mobile (18,102). Because of this, we can postulate that they are more likely to self-transfer especially in situations where health facilities are not transfer friendly.

2.5. Data sources

The majority of PMTCT programmes and studies reviewed were implemented as clinical cohorts and relied heavily on paper-based registers and physical patient files (11,99,228,229). These paper-based registers suffer from several deficiencies. Firstly, these registers suffer from general data quality issues, such as incompleteness and duplicate records. These registers are also harder to store often getting lost or having torn or illegible pages. These issues limit the accuracy of results based on routinely collected data (99). Furthermore, the sheer number of registers complicate patient follow-up. In some settings, HIV test results, ART clinic visits, pregnancy data, and outcomes of tracing are recorded across several separate registers meaning information is often duplicated. Sometimes multiple versions of the same register exist at some

clinics which constitutes a high volume of paperwork and a significant workload for clinic staff, probably explaining the high levels of missing data. Finally, the lack of unique identifiers in these registers makes collating of all pertinent patient information difficult. Lack of unique identifiers also complicates tracking of women's outcomes throughout the PMTCT cascade. For example, it is hard to track patients as they move from one facility to another or in the case of postpartum women, when they transfer their treatment from ANC to the adult ART clinics. Some studies employed active patient tracing to mitigate loss to follow-up (201,367,368). However, this is also significantly impeded by data quality issues (17,369). Data linked across multiple clinics is recommended by the WHO (370) and could also help to catch silent transfers and identify patients who are highly mobile. However, these linked data systems are a rarity in sub-Saharan Africa (18,371). Investigating retention using other data sources is therefore an important consideration especially as data triangulation using multiple sources improves the accuracy of estimates and data quality as well (372).

2.5.1. The role of community cohorts in estimating outcomes among ART patients

Community cohort studies provide an opportunity to investigate engagement in Option B+ at a population level (20). These community cohorts collect demographic, behavioural and health information (including in and out migrations from the surveillance site) regularly using HDSS and have unique identifiers for each individual. Furthermore, they include information linking infants to their mothers making their identification simpler. Some of these community cohorts have also started linking clinical data from nearby clinics allowing the utilisation of more data (103,104). This linkage provides the opportunity to look at outcomes among mothers who are lost to follow-up from the HIV clinic where they initiated treatment, something which other clinicbased PMTCT cohort studies are unable to do (99). Finally, with the availability of verbal autopsies in some sites, presumptive causes of death for all patients found to have died can give an indication of predominant causes of death in mothers LTFU. Such an endeavour will allow for accurate estimation of Option B+ coverage rates in other settings with the availability of population-wide estimates on undocumented transfers between clinics, deaths, outcome misclassifications and genuine ART discontinuation.

2.6. Summary

Whereas PMTCT programmes in sub-Saharan have come a long way since their inception, there are still improvements that could be made to support maternal engagement in HIV care. Pregnant and postpartum women have worse engagement in care. However, little is known about what happens to these women after they become LTFU. Furthermore, given that many mothers report protecting their unborn child as a major contributing factor to their starting treatment (237,251,319,340), little research has investigated how infant outcomes affect mothers' continued engagement in care in the postpartum period (373). By contributing to these research gaps, the work of this thesis will improve our understanding of pregnant and postpartum women's engagement in HIV care and provide recommendations for future practice to improve engagement in care in this group.

Table 2.3: Manuscripts reviewed for retention and engagement in care statistics for pregnant and postpartumwomen

Study	Year	Country	Study design	Source of retention data	Retention definition	Ν	Percent retained
							(%)
Ahoua (374)	2020	Mozambique	Retrospective	Routine electronic	Facility visit 12 months after	31186	12mo: 60
			cohort	patient-level	ART initiation		
				databases			
Ahoua (375)	2020	Mozambique	Retrospective	ANC aggregated data	No facility visits for 30 days	31186	12mo: 74
			cohort		or more prior to expected		
					12-month visit date		
Chaka (376)	2019	Ethiopia	Retrospective	Individual medical	Not defined in paper	248	96
			cohort	records			
Pellowski	2019	South Africa	Prospective	Routine facility data	Not defined in paper	260	80
(108)			cohort	and self-report			
Cichowitz	2019	Tanzania	Retrospective	Electronic patient	No gap in care greater than	650	24mo: 41
(377)			cohort	medical records	90 days		

Watt (378)	2019	Tanzania	Prospective cohort	Routine facility level data and patient surveys	In care 6 months postpartum with a VL<200	200	6mo: 79
Etoori (35)	2018	Eswatini	Prospective cohort	Review of facility registers and patient files	No gap in visits of 4.5 months or more	496	1st appt: 91, 6mo: 80, 12mo: 71, 24mo:53
Hauser (379)	2018	Malawi	Retrospective cohort	Routine facility registers and patient files	No gap greater than 60 days following a missed appointment	490	3mo: 73
Langwenya (43)	2018	South Africa	Prospective cohort	Routinely collected clinic, pharmacy and laboratory records	VL within a week before or after delivery	628	68
Phillips (18)	2018	South Africa	Retrospective cohort	Routine electronic medical records	Any visit after leaving integrated PMTCT clinic postpartum	671	12mo:71, 24mo: 65
Kiwanuka (380)	2018	Uganda	Retrospective cohort	Routine facility data	No gap greater than 60 days following a missed appointment	518	24mo: 46

Atanga (249)	2017	Cameroon	Prospective cohort	Facility level data on refill appointments	No gap of 90 days or more following a missed appointment	277	1st appt: 92, 3mo: 88, 6mo: 85, 12mo: 77
Hoffman	2017	Malawi	Case-control	Review of facility	No gap of 60 days or more		
(317)				records	after a missed appointment		
Hosseinipour	2017	Malawi	Randomised	Record review of	No gap of 60 days or more	447	1st appt: 81,
(200)			control trial	facility registers and	after a missed appointment		6mo: 71,
				patient files			12mo: 60,
							24mo: 41
Mwapasa	2017	Malawi	Cluster	Record review of	No more than 14 days late	396	12mo: 69
(332)			randomised	facility registers and	for drug refills and attended		
			trial	patient files	12-month postpartum visit		
Phiri (201)	2017	Malawi	Randomised	Record review of	No gap of 60 days or more	1269	1st appt: 85,
			control trial	facility registers and	after a missed appointment		24mo: 65
				patient files			
Pfeiffer (381)	2017	Mozambique	Cluster	Routine patient	Medication refill +/- 5 days	761	3mo: 40
			randomised	registers and forms	of scheduled visit (30-day		
			trial		refills)		

Oyeledun (382)	2017	Nigeria	Cluster randomised trial	Record review of facility registers and patient files	Full: Attended six-month postpartum visit (±30 days) and did not missed any previous scheduled visit by more than 30 days; Partial: Attended six-month postpartum visit (±30 days) but missed ≥1 previous scheduled visit by more than 30 days	247	6mo: 68
Sam-Agudu (383)	2017	Nigeria	Prospective cohort	Record review of facility registers and patient files	At least 3 visits between delivery and 180 days postpartum (30-day schedule)	497	44
Guillaine (303)	2017	Rwanda	Retrospective cohort	Routine electronic medical records	Facility visit 15 months postpartum	185	18mo: 98
Clouse (102)	2017	South Africa	Observational cohort	National laboratory database	At least one CD4, VL, or lab record after being considered LTFU	788	62*
Gamell (384)	2017	Tanzania	Prospective cohort	Routine electronic medical records	No gap of 60 days or more after a missed appointment	45	73

Koss (202)	2017	Uganda	Cross-	Review of patient	Attended the clinic in the 90	200	48mo: 68
			sectional	records combined	days preceding the		
			follow-up of a	with patient	interview		
			random	interviews			
			sample of				
			women in a				
			randomised				
			trial				
Miller (385)	2017	Uganda	Retrospective	Record review of	At least one clinic visit 12	373	12mo: 84
			cohort	facility registers and	months after pregnancy		
				patient files	detection		
Muhumuza	2017	Uganda	Retrospective	Standardized facility-	No gap of 90 days or more	2169	6mo: 74,
(386)			cohort	based records	without a visit		12mo: 67,
							18mo: 62
Musomba	2017	Uganda	Retrospective	Routine electronic	No gap in visits of 3 months	856	92
(331)			cohort	medical records	or more		
Erlwanger	2017	Zimbabwe	Cluster	Routine facility	Medication possession ratio	1113	12mo: 68
(69)			randomised	registers and case	or exhausted pill supply		
			trial	report forms	following last visit		

Ford (330)	2017	Zimbabwe	Retrospective cohort	Record review of facility registers and patient files	No gap 90 days or more without a visit	386	1st appt: 97, 3mo: 92, 6mo: 86, 12mo: 85
Foster (387)	2017	Zimbabwe	Cluster randomised trial	Record review of facility registers and patient files	Visited the clinic at 12 months postpartum	348	12mo: 66
Joseph (388)	2017	Zimbabwe	Cluster randomised trial	Record review of facility registers and patient files	Having had an ART refill visit a minimum of 335 days post-ART initiation and on- time attendance (before, on or up to 14 days after the next scheduled date) for at least 75% of scheduled ART refill visits, up to and including the 12-month visit AND no gap in care >90 days.	547	1st appt: 96, 6mo: 69, 12mo: 63
Mitiku (203)	2016	Ethiopia	Retrospective cohort	Record review of facility registers and patient files	No gap of 90 days or more without a visit	346	1st appt: 95, 6mo: 88,

							12mo: 84,
							24mo: 77
Chan (42)	2016	Malawi	Retrospective	Record review of	Clinic visit within 2 months	813	1st appt: 56,
			cohort	facility registers and	of last dispensed drugs		3mo: 48,
				patient files	running out		6mo: 47
Haas (34)	2016	Malawi	Observational	Routine electronic	No gap greater than 60 days	29313	6mo: 83,
			cohort	medical records	following a missed		12mo: 77,
					appointment		24mo: 71,
							36mo: 70
Landes (250)	2016	Malawi	Retrospective	Review of standard	No gap of 60 days or more	2955	1st appt: 87,
			cohort	ART monitoring	after a missed appointment		3mo:85
				tools			
Auld (53)	2016	Mozambique	Observational	Routine electronic	60 days or more late for a	14397	6mo: 69
			cohort	programme data	scheduled appointment		
Llenas-	2016	Mozambique	Observational	Routine HIV	No gap in visits of 180 days	308	1st appt: 60,
Garcia (204)			cohort	programme data	or more		12mo: 42
Woelk (389)	2016	Rwanda	Retrospective	Record review of	At least one visit in each	457	1st appt:
			cohort	facility registers and	period 6wk, 3, 6, 9, and 12		67*, 3mo:
				patient files	months postpartum		67*, 6mo:
							64*, 9mo:

							62*, 12mo:
							58*
Myer	2016	South Africa	Prospective	Combination of	VL around time of delivery	620	94*
(244,390)			cohort	routine electronic			
				HIV databases			
Schnack (66)	2016	Uganda	Observational	Facility level data on		124	1st appt: 64
			cohort	refill appointments			
				and pill counts			
Dzangare	2016	Zimbabwe	Retrospective	Record review of	Not defined in paper	148	1st appt: 93,
(305)			cohort	facility registers and			6mo: 77
				patient files			
Kim (391)	2015	Malawi	Quasi-	Routine facility level	Not defined in paper	810	6mo: 80
			experimental	data			
Schwartz	2015	South Africa	Pilot	Record review of	No gap of more than 6	50	12mo: 76
(109)			intervention	facility registers and	weeks after a missed		
				patient files	appointment		
Kamuyango	2014	Malawi	Retrospective	Record review of	No gap of 60 days or more	190	12mo:97
(70)			cohort	facility registers and	after a missed appointment		
				patient files			
Koole (392)	2014	Malawi	Retrospective	Record review of	No gap of 60 days or more	586	6mo: 85
			cohort	facility registers and	after a missed appointment		

				patient records plus			
				patient interviews			
Price (354)	2014	Malawi	Retrospective cohort	Record review of facility registers and self-reported	On ART at the time of the interview	63	1st appt: 67, 6mo: 60
Tenthani (318)	2014	Malawi	Retrospective cohort	Review of facility records aggregated for routine monitoring and evaluation, Routine electronic medical records	No gap of 60 days or more after a missed appointment	5357	6mo: 76
Tweya (17)	2014	Malawi	Retrospective cohort	Routine electronic medical records	No gap of 3 weeks or more after a missed appointment	2930	1st appt: 91, 3mo: 87, 9mo: 83
Van Lettow (257)	2014	Malawi	Observational cohort	Routine facility cohort reports	No gap of 2 months or more without ART	18207	6mo: 84, 12mo: 81
Kiweewa (393)	2013	Uganda	Randomised control trial	Record review of facility registers and patient files	VL 6-12 months post ART initiation	85	89*

(* Cohort may contain some pregnant and breastfeeding WLHIV who initiated ART under Option B or A)

3. Research methods

This chapter begins by introducing the context for this PhD research, including an overview of the study setting, details of the MRC/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit activities in the Agincourt HDSS and details of the health services offered in the HDSS. Methods for the collection of quantitative data and other specific information about the datasets are outlined. Statistical analysis methods are then presented. The second part of this chapter describes the methods used during the implementation of a qualitative study that I designed and implemented in in the second year of my research. I describe the data collection procedures and outline the methods used to analyse the data generated.

3.1. Context

3.1.1. Overview of the study setting

The research for this PhD was conducted in the Agincourt sub-district located in Bushbuckridge local municipality of Ehlanzeni district in the Mpumalanga province, in rural north-east South Africa. The Agincourt HDSS located in this area is run by the MRC/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit under the auspices of the School of Public Health at the University of the Witwatersrand. The HDSS has been tracking demographic and health events in the Tsonga or Shangaan people since 1992. Mozambicans comprise about 30% of the population and have culturally assimilated, primarily speaking Shangaan. They arrived as refugees in South Africa in the 1980s following the Mozambican National Resistance (RENAMO) -Mozambique Liberation Front (FRELIMO) civil war in Mozambique (350). At the time of this study, the HDSS covered an area of approximately 475 square kilometres, with an approximate population of 115,000 people living in 17,000 households located in 31 contiguous villages (394). The Agincourt HDSS is bordered by Kruger National Park to the east and is adjacent to the Mozambique border (Figure 3.1).

Figure 3.1: A map showing the regional location of the Agincourt health and demographic surveillance system (Source: Kahn et al (395))



3.1.2. Historic context

It is important to consider the historical context in order to better understand the nature of the HIV epidemic and national responses to it in a given setting. In South Africa, the National Party government introduced apartheid in 1948. As part of this system, legislation was enacted that included forced resettlement, movement restrictions for black South Africans, and separate development with the establishment of "homelands" or "Bantustans". Restriction of access to land, together with forced resettlement resulted in black South African settlements that were densely populated, but agriculturally and economically inhospitable (396). As a result, many of the inhabitants of these settlements were forced to migrate for work. Various laws were passed to restrict their movement. The pass system, for example, restricted free movement to those with employment, entrenching the separation of families because women and children often did not have the legal right to travel with their partners (396).

Gazankulu was a homeland situated in northeast South Africa. The Agincourt sub-district is situated in what was formally Mhala district of Gazankulu, the inhabitants of which belong to the Shangaan-speaking Tsonga ethnic group (396).

3.1.3. Current socioeconomic context

Located within a former Bantustan, the area still carries remnants of the Apartheid legacy of underdevelopment and inadequate education. Despite improvements in the social situation following the collapse of Apartheid, and the move to more democratic governance, there are still issues with access to electricity, water and tarred roads (20). Because homelands were often found in areas of little industrial and agricultural activity or potential, lack of gainful employment opportunities has led to high unemployment rates. As a result, there are high rates of labour migration with reliance on remittances as an important income source (350). Formal employment involves mostly migrant men working in the mining sector, in construction and security firms in larger towns and on nearby agricultural and game farms (350). For many families, social benefits/allowances are a crucial source of income especially the "old age" pension and the "child support grant".

This political history has influenced current demographic patterns, including migration, that influence ART access patterns today. Whereas it was hoped that black South Africans would move and assimilate into economic centres and cities following the end of Apartheid, labour migration has remained the norm for most. Continued separation due to labour migration has had severe psycho-social impacts, especially with regards to alcoholism and violence (350). Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) are also highly prevalent and have been proliferated by behavioural traits that are more commonly found among migrant communities, such as the development of sexual networks at workplaces due to spousal separation. This has been exacerbated by the intersection of a weak health system and other social conditions like poverty in which HIV/AIDS thrived and became entrenched, bred by protracted colonialism and Apartheid, which a social and political transition period was unable to curtail.

The Agincourt HDSS had an estimated population of 115,000 residents in 2018, with 52% of them being female. Children under 5 years of age accounted for 10% of the population, with children and young adults 5-19 years of age making up 31% of the population. There were 2042 births recorded in 2017 and the crude birth rate (CBR) was estimated at 18 live births per 1000 people. The age-specific fertility rate was estimated at 60 births per 1000 women aged 15-19 and peaked at approximately 90 births per 1000 women in the 25-29 years age group. There were 542 deaths (52.3% males) recorded in the

Agincourt HDSS in 2017, giving a crude death rate of 6 deaths per 1000 people. The Agincourt HDSS recorded 3049 total in-migrations and 4533 total outmigrations in 2017 (397).

Antenatal care (ANC) attendance is estimated at >95%. Estimates of HIV seroprevalence in antenatal clinics in the province rose from 2% in 1992 to 35% in 2005 (396). In 2010, HIV prevalence among people 15 years of age or older was estimated at 19.4% in the Agincourt HDSS. Prevalence was characterised by a large gender difference (10.6% for men and 23.9% for women) and peaked at ages 35-39 among both men (45.3%) and women (46.1%), with 5.5% of women 15-19 years old estimated to be HIV infected (398).

3.1.4. Health services overview

The Agincourt HDSS includes eight government-run health facilities within its borders. Five of these facilities are primary healthcare (PHC) clinics and three are designated as community health centres (CHCs). These centres act primarily as referral centres for patients that require specialised healthcare services. The objective of this is two-fold, to make modern healthcare services available to rural populations and to reduce overcrowding at regional and district hospitals. The clinics offer ANC services, delivery, and child clinic services as well as offering STIs and tuberculosis screening and treatment. The facilities also offer HIV counselling and testing services, PMTCT and HIV care and treatment services for PLHIV. There has also been a push by the Department of Health to improve health services for other chronic diseases such as diabetes and hypertension and these services are now being implemented in most clinics. There are three government hospitals located near the Agincourt HDSS, Matikwana and Mapulaneng hospitals located about 5 kilometres outside the HDSS, and Tintswalo hospital located approximately 24 kilometres away (Figure 3.2).

Figure 3.2: Maps of Agincourt HDSS showing health facilities within the site and the surrounding area (Source: Lippman et al (399))



Note: Lillydale clinic and Bhubezi CHC merged in 2016, Thulamahashe is now designated as a CHC.



Agincourt Study Site and Surrounding Area

Figure 3.3: Images of Bhubezi CHC



Figure 3.4: Images of Xanthia PHC





3.1.5. HIV services

HIV counselling and testing

The HIV/AIDS and STI national strategic plan of 2007 emphasised a push to establish "a national culture in which all people in South Africa regularly seek voluntary testing and counselling for HIV" (400). The plan proposed interventions including the development of high-profile campaigns utilising peer influence to promote testing and disclosure, expansion of access to HIV testing beyond formal healthcare settings, and development of clear, consistent HIV prevention messaging. In 2009, as part of his World AIDS day address, President Jacob Zuma launched a new HIV counselling and testing (HTC) campaign. As part of the HTC campaign, the President publicly tested for HIV, being among 20 million South Africans to learn their status over the next 20 months (401). This represented a substantial increase in national testing rates (402).

In line with national policy on provider-initiated counselling and testing (PICT), facilities in Agincourt offer HCT to adults who do not know their HIV status if they have not tested in the past year, as part of any clinical care or screening, in cases of sexual assault or domestic violence, and as part of medical male circumcision. This is repeated annually for those who were HIV negative when they last tested, with more frequent testing for those with new sexual partners or those engaging in unprotected sex (402). HCT should be offered to all pregnant and breastfeeding women with unknown HIV status or those who tested HIV-negative 3 or more months prior. Children aged 12 years or older may consent to a test if they are considered by the health worker as sufficiently mature to understand the benefits, risks, and social implications of the HIV test result. In all other cases, a parent or caregiver must give consent.

The policy also stipulates that all patients receiving PICT or client-initiated counselling and testing (CICT) should provide verbal consent for HIV testing. HCT follows the Department of Health testing algorithm (Figure 3.5). A group session outlines the benefits of HCT to the patient, including in the context of PMTCT, if the patient is pregnant. Individual sessions should include an assessment of whether the information communicated in the group session

was understood, answering any questions, clarifying any misunderstanding, and addressing any concerns. Pregnant and breastfeeding women who test negative are considered part of the PMTCT programme and should retest every 3 months until breastfeeding cessation, unless HIV infection is diagnosed. All patients receive post-test counselling regardless of their result, which covers risks for HIV transmission, safe sex and condom use, contraception and family planning, HIV testing for sexual partners and children, repeat HIV testing for those who are HIV-negative, and PMTCT including safe infant feeding and infant prophylaxis. All patients who test for HIV are recorded in the HCT register. For those who test positive, details including full names, age, sex, and address are recorded in the pre-ART register to enable tracking of linkage to care.

Figure 3.5: Algorithm for HTC using rapid antibody test for adolescents and adults including pregnant and breastfeeding women (Source: National consolidated guidelines (402))



As part of PICT, all HIV-exposed neonates should receive an HIV polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test at birth, ten and eighteen weeks, and a rapid HIV antibody test at 18 months or older (Figure 3.6). Children should also be tested if they present with severe illness, are suspected to be HIV infected, are diagnosed with tuberculosis (TB), the mother's HIV status is unknown, the father or sibling tests HIV-positive, the mother, father or sibling dies, they are a suspected victim of sexual assault and if they are being considered for fostering or adoption. Parents can also request for the child to be tested.

Figure 3.6: Testing algorithm for routine testing in children <18 months of age



Depending on the size of the facility, testing is done in a separate room in the same building or in a different building within the clinic compound. However, for pregnant women, HCT is integrated into ANC.

Antiretroviral therapy (ART)

A national HIV treatment programme was first proposed in South Africa in late 1999 by the National Department of Health but did not materialise until 2004 following legal action by the Treatment Action Campaign (TAC) against the South African government (403). In November 2003, the South African Department of health proposed a plan to provide HIV/AIDS care and treatment in at least one service point in every health district in 2004, with the aim to expand the programme and achieve equitable access within local municipal areas by 2008. In total, 22500 new health workers would be

recruited over the five-year period, including 1100 new doctors (404). To begin with, ART was only offered to those with a CD4 count less than or equal to 200 cells/µl with the aim of achieving universal treatment coverage for all new AIDS cases by the end of 2008. By March 2005, the target of at least one service point per district had been met, but ART was largely provided through hospitals, most of which were tertiary facilities. On 1 December 2009, World AIDS day, then president Jacob Zuma announced new interventions to improve ART access to all HIV-positive infants, pregnant women, people with TB and HIV co-infection and PLHIV with CD4 counts less than or equal to 350 cells/µl (402). With the launch of a massive HIV counselling and testing campaign, and in anticipation of large numbers of new patients identified by the campaign, it was also announced that accreditation would be abandoned and that all public healthcare facilities would be equipped to provide ART. In 2013, a fixed-dose combination (FDC) of tenofovir (TDF), emtricitabine (FTC)/lamivudine (3TC), and efavirenz (EFV) was introduced to simplify and streamline ART (402). On July 23, 2014, the Minister of Health announced the threshold for ART initiation would increase to CD4 less than or equal to 500 cells/µl (402). This came into effect in January 2015. Furthermore in 2015, use of viral load for monitoring treatment success and early identification of treatment failure became the standard treatment and thirdline drugs were introduced for patients failing second-line regimens. On 22 August 2016, all health facilities were instructed to move to universal test and treat starting on the 1st of September 2016 (93) (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7: The South African National treatment programme timeline showing major milestones

Most health facilities in Agincourt have been providing ART since 2010 (405). Patients who test HIV-positive are now eligible to initiate ART as soon as they are ready (402). According to national guidelines, at the time of diagnosis, the healthcare provider should involve the patient in the decision-making process regarding ART initiation and explain the entire treatment plan (402). In the case of pregnant women, they can initiate ART during ANC, usually on the same day. Non-pregnant patients are referred to HIV/ART services. Services are usually provided at the same facility but in some cases, the patient can be referred to another facility on request. In such instances, the sending facility makes an appointment directly with the receiving facility on behalf of the patient and provides the patient with an appointment date and referral letter. Most patients receive FDC as their first ART regimen. If FDC is contraindicated for pregnant women, they are considered high-risk pregnancies and are referred to HIV/ART services where they are usually offered AZT twice daily until a three-drug ART regimen can be initiated.

Patients should receive a viral load (VL) test at 6 and 12 months after ART initiation and annually thereafter (10). Pregnant women should receive VL tests more frequently usually every 3 months until breastfeeding cessation. Patients with suspected non -adherence (e.g. multiple missed appointments) or treatment failure (VL>1000 copies/mL) should receive step-up adherence counselling. This includes re-education about the importance of adherence, evaluation of support structures, advice on methods to improve adherence like pillboxes, encouragement to participate in a support group, a mental health assessment and in some cases home visits where spot pill counts can be done. Clinically stable patients defined as those receiving ART for at least one year, with no adverse drug reactions requiring monitoring, no current illnesses or pregnancy, a good understanding of lifelong adherence, and two consecutive undetectable viral load results are offered differentiated models of care (10). These include greater spacing between pill refill visits of up to 6 months, "fasttrack" appointments, health worker run adherence clubs and Central Chronic Medicines Dispensing and Distribution programme (CCMDD) which allows patients to collect their treatment at multiple distribution points.

Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV

On July 23, 2014, the Minister of health announced that the PMTCT programme would adopt the Option B+ approach and this was implemented from January 2015. The PMTCT programme should be fully integrated into ANC. HIV testing, ART, HIV care and treatment, labour and skilled delivery services should all be offered through a one-stop shop approach.

In South Africa, 4% of pregnant women who test negative at their first ANC visit seroconvert during the pregnancy (402). Women newly diagnosed with HIV receive several tests including CD4 count, Hepatitis B antigen, haemoglobin, creatinine and are assessed for ART eligibility and readiness. They are initiated on treatment following a specific treatment initiation algorithm (Figure 3.8).

Figure 3.8: Algorithm for initiation of ART for HIV-positive ARTnaive women


For women already on ART with a confirmed pregnancy, a VL test should be done at the same visit of the confirmed pregnancy, with the results of the VL test used to indicate which interventions the mother requires (Figure 3.9).

Figure 3.9: Algorithm for the management of pregnant women already on ART for >3 months



All HIV-positive pregnant and breastfeeding women should receive a VL test every 3 months until breastfeeding cessation. All pregnant women are encouraged to deliver their baby at a health facility.

HIV-exposed infants for mothers on ART also receive nevirapine (NVP) at birth and then daily for 6 weeks. Infants whose mother did not receive ART are given NVP as soon as possible and then daily until the mother has been on ART for 12 weeks. Infants whose mother is diagnosed with HIV while breastfeeding or whose mother had their latest VL>1000 copies/mL receive NVP and AZT immediately. If the infant then tests HIV-negative by PCR, AZT is stopped and NVP continued until the mother has been on ART for 12 weeks. All infants who test HIV-positive are initiated on ART immediately.

Home-Based Carers organisations

Community home-based care for people who had advanced AIDS was first proposed in an effort to mitigate the impact of the HIV epidemic. In 2000, home-based carers were recognised as de facto healthcare sector labour force with the government initiating a non-governmental organisation-based contracting system to provide community-based services (406). In 2010, in order to formalise the community-based care sector, home-based care was recognised by the South African National Department of Health as a primary healthcare strategy to reduce pressures on hospitals and other healthcare resources (407). Under a programme to re-engineer primary healthcare, home-based care was expanded (408). Since it was first proposed, many of these volunteer caregivers have organised themselves into non-profit organisations that are affiliated with specific villages. They recruit and train community health workers to assist families with homecare, participate in income-generating activities including agriculture (Figure 3.10) and receive donations from various charities (409,410). Home-Based Carers are sometimes HIV-positive patients themselves, with experience of engaging with HIV services (usually referred to as "expert clients"), these groups are seen to have their hand on the pulse of their community and to be most knowledgeable about most inhabitants of their villages.

These organisations provide comprehensive services ranging from health education to palliative care. Home-based care also includes preventative, therapeutic, rehabilitative, long-term maintenance, and other social services with the aim of empowering patients to take ownership of their health. In some clinics, home-based care workers are utilised in routine tracing and adherence monitoring through pills counts and direct observation of treatment taking. These organisations are not formally employed healthcare cadres and receive a stipend rather than remuneration from the Department of Health (411). There were sixteen home-based carer organisations operating in the Agincourt HDSS at the time of this research.

Figure 3.10: Images of Lillydale home-based carers compound situated opposite Bhubezi CHC



Routine patient tracing

All health facilities in Agincourt routinely trace HIV patients who are LTFU, defined in this setting as being more than 90 days late for a scheduled appointment in accordance with national policy (412). In practice, each health facility manager is responsible for ensuring that there is a functioning paper-

based or electronic appointment system, such that clinical files for patients who are expected the following day are retrieved from the filing room. Files for patients who do not attend a scheduled visit should be kept aside for further action. A list of patients who did not attend a scheduled appointment should be generated every week, either through the facility's appointment register or through querying the facility-level electronic database (TIER.Net). If a patient has not attended the facility within 5 working days to follow-up on a missed scheduled appointment, the patient's name should be registered in the facility tracing register to be traced.

This list is signed off by the facility manager and transferred to the person responsible for tracing patients, usually a designated nurse, community health worker (CHW) or the ward-based outreach team (WBOT) lead. The delegated nominee will extract contact information including addresses and telephone numbers (which should be updated at every clinic visit) of the individuals on the list (and their treatment supporter where available) from the patient files and enter this information into the facility tracing register. The facility telephone is then used to contact all the individuals who were added to the tracing register that week, with the date the phone call was attempted and the outcome of the phone call, and patient outcomes recorded in the register when obtained. Six facilities receive assistance with telephone tracing from a nonprofit organisation called Right-to-Care (RtC)². Three calls should be attempted within 14 days after each patient's missed visit. Patients who are alive, and who have not transferred to another clinic are encouraged to return to treatment. Self-transfers are further investigated usually through a phone call to the facility they have transferred to. The names of patients who cannot be reached after three attempts by phone are transferred to a list of those to be traced through outreach and home visits.

Patient consent for a home visit should be verified in the patient file. WBOTs, CHWs and home-based carers (HBCs) linked to the facility are involved to physically trace defaulters. Details of each home visit, including the outcome of the visit, are reported to the facility manager. Each outreach tracing effort

² See <u>https://www.righttocare.org/</u> [accessed 27 August 2020]

should be marked in the facility tracing register, indicating the date and outcome of the tracing visit.

Patients who return to the facility after tracing are actively referred for psychosocial support to either a social worker, psychologist, peer support or other support groups. Patients in differentiated care models are returned to normal care if they cannot be found after 30 days of tracing. They can return to differentiated care if they meet the criteria in the future.

Patients who have not reported back to the clinic for 90 days since their last scheduled visit and do not have a tracing outcome e.g. transferred out, died or stopped treatment are registered as LTFU. Before this entry is made, one more attempt at phoning or visiting the patient should be made. Information from this entire exercise is in principle fed back into the patients' electronic record.

3.1.6. MRC/Wits Agincourt unit activities

Annual demographic surveillance

The Agincourt HDSS was initiated in 1992. A baseline census was conducted in 20 villages chosen for their rural living conditions, limited access to public services, underperforming primary care clinics and communities of Mozambican refugees displaced by the civil war (413,414). Following the baseline demographic surveillance survey and three update rounds that occurred up to 1998, the site has conducted annual surveys since 1999. An annual update of the HDSS household rosters is made of every birth, death and migration within the HDSS households. A household roster showing current members (based on the previous year's census) is printed onto each census form before the annual update. Trained fieldworkers visit each household and interview the most knowledgeable adult available. During the visit, individual-level information on all household members is checked and updated and any events that have occurred since the last census round are recorded. Fieldworkers also record maternity histories of all in-migrant women aged 15-55 years, as well as residence histories and other pertinent data modules built into the census. Census updates are supported by geographic information system (GIS) based maps to guarantee that every

household is covered. Maps are kept updated by recording global positioning system (GPS) coordinates for every new dwelling each year.

For each death, a verbal autopsy should be conducted to establish a probable cause of death. A structured interview is conducted with people who were closely related to or cared for the deceased during the final illness and could report on symptoms and signs they observed during this period. The interview is conducted using a World Health Organisation validated tool, in the local language. Until 2010, two medical doctors independently reviewed the data to assign a cause of death based on international classification of diseases (ICD-10) conventions (415), with a third doctor used in the event of a lack of consensus. The cause was coded 'undetermined' if this failed to yield any agreement (20,416). Since 2011, causes of death are assigned using the InterVA-4 probabilistic model (106). The database is stored in Microsoft SQL server in a relational database. Starting in 2017, the HDSS migrated from paper-based census forms to electronic forms administered on tablets.

Ethics approval was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical) of the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa, for surveillance activities in the Agincourt HDSS (Appendix 11.2.1). Informed verbal consent is obtained at every surveillance visit from the household head or another eligible adult present (417). The person giving consent is noted in the household roster, with pertinent details and the date recorded by the fieldworker.

Point-of-contact Interactive Record Linkage (PIRL)

In parallel to demographic surveillance, chronic care HIV patient visit logs are collected by study fieldworkers in the eight health facilities that provide ART in the HDSS area. Fieldworkers also log other chronic care (diabetes and hypertension) patient visits. This work started in April 2014 at seven government facilities and was extended in 2015 to include one additional health facility. In addition to logging patient visits, these records are linked to the Agincourt HDSS demographic surveillance records using a procedure named Point-of-contact Interactive Record Linkage (PIRL) (103,104).

This approach uses a probabilistic search algorithm to identify possible matches in the HDSS database for patients who visit any of the clinics. Possible

matches are subjected to a review in the presence of the patients whose records are being linked. This allows for any uncertainty to be resolved during a brief interaction where names of other household members or other unique information is used as a key attribute to adjudicate between possible matches. This also allows for ethical and privacy concerns to be addressed as informed consent is sought at the time of record linkage and given their participation in the process, individuals become fully aware of how their data are being used and can have any issues clarified.

Ethics approval was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical) of the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa, for linkage of Agincourt HDSS demographic surveillance records and individual clinic records (Appendix 11.2.1). Informed written consent is obtained at every record linkage event from the individual whose records are being linked.

3.2. Fieldwork operations

Between August 2017 and December 2018, I undertook fieldwork in the Agincourt HDSS that aimed to determine the true outcomes of patients that had disengaged from HIV care and explore their experiences with HIV treatment in this setting through IDIs. As part of this fieldwork, I recruited and trained two teams of fieldworkers (quantitative team of four fieldworkers and a qualitative team of five fieldworkers). The quantitative team was trained on the aims of the study, the data that were required from the clinics, how to approach clinic staff during fieldwork, and data entry procedures. The qualitative team was trained on how to approach potential study participants, obtain informed consent, and conduct interviews using the study topic guide.

The fieldwork was split into three different trips equating to approximately 6 months (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1: Fieldwork trips

Trip number	Date of arrival	Duration of stay	Achievements
1	19/08/2017	4 months	 Interviewed, hired, and trained four quantitative fieldworkers to perform the comprehensive record review Created a Microsoft Access database to capture data from the record review Liaised with clinics, RtC and HBCs to gain access to pertinent data Supervised the collection of all data from the comprehensive record review in 8 clinics
2	05/01/2018	1 month	 Interviewed, hired and trained five qualitative fieldworkers Handed lists of patients requiring supplementary tracing to the respective clinics Supervised 31 IDIs. This involved daily debriefings to gain an understanding of the fieldworkers experiences each day
3	25/11/2018	1 month	• Revisited all the clinics to check TIER.Net, speak to RtC representatives and HBCs in an attempt to locate a last group of patients who remained LTFU after supplementary tracing.

3.3. Quantitative research methods

This section provides an overview of the quantitative research methods used. It includes information on the record review and tracing study (through which most of the data used in this research were generated) as well design of data collection tools, fieldworker recruitment and training, data collection and management, preparation of the data, ethical considerations for this work and analysis methods.

3.3.1. Record review and tracing study *Study design*

The study was an observational cohort study of PLHIV who initiated ART after record linkage began in 2014 and were considered LTFU on August 15, 2017 to ascertain their treatment and vital status following disengagement from HIV services at eight clinics located within the Agincourt HDSS. All HIVpositive adults (18 years or older³) who had declared residency in the HDSS

³ Girls aged 14-17 were excluded due to ethical concerns as they are minors under South African law

and who had enrolled in HIV care since record linkage began in 2014 were eligible for the study. I only considered patients who had enrolled after record linkage began to account for survivor bias. Considering patients who initiated treatment before record linkage began would include only patients who had survived up to that point and exclude patients who had died, a group that would have different characteristics that merit investigation.

Loss to follow-up was defined using the South African definition which is all patients who are more than 90 days late for a scheduled clinic appointment (412). For those without the date of the next scheduled clinic visit documented in their file, they were assumed to be on a month-long refill schedule and their next scheduled visit was set to 28 days after their last actual clinic visit. I used the PIRL database to identify and extract a list of patients who met the eligibility criteria and were more than 90 days late for a scheduled clinic appointment as of August 15, 2017 (the date of data extraction). These patients were recruited into a cohort and followed up until December 2018 to ascertain their treatment and vital status (Figure 3.11).

The treatment and vital status of patients deemed LTFU was ascertained via:

- Record review: I recruited, trained and supervised fieldworkers who compared the lists of patients LTFU against (a) TIER.Net (b) patient clinic files, (c) logbooks kept by RtC and HBCs. I then reviewed the PIRL database for duplicate patients (the same HDSS resident linked to multiple clinic records, which probably indicated a silent transfer). Finally, I reviewed residency and vital status from the demographic surveillance data collected by the HDSS. This was done on a case-by-case basis.
- (ii) Supplementary tracing: For all patients for whom a satisfactory outcome could not be established, I conducted additional tracing in collaboration with HBCs. List of these patients were separated by clinic and given to the sisters-in-charge at each clinic. The sisters then liaised with HBCs to conduct physical tracing.
- (iii) A final attempt was made to search TIER.Net at clinics in the vicinity of patient's homes to find any that might have transferred unofficially and who the record review and supplementary tracing had missed.



Figure 3.11: Record review and tracing flow chart

Data collection

All the data were entered either at the clinic or at the HBC compound. Fieldworkers worked in a room within the clinic designated by the clinic staff as available and without disruptions to their work. In order to collect data from clinic files, the fieldworkers retrieved individual files from the filing rooms at each clinic, with the permission of clinic staff (Figure 3.12). Files were returned to their rightful place once the pertinent data had been retrieved and entered. In order to collect data from TIER.Net, fieldworkers had to work around the schedule of the clinic data clerk in order not to disrupt their work. Fieldworkers received instructions on how to query the database and then were signed into the database as a visitor with read-only rights. Permission to access RtC data was obtained from the province programme manager. Fieldworkers queried logbooks kept by RtC linkage officers.

Figure 3.12: Fieldworkers retrieving files from Belfast Clinic (left), Bhubezi CHC (centre), and Thulamahashe CHC (right)



At each clinic, I obtained permission from the sister-in-charge before we commenced work. The fieldworkers worked in pairs. For the first 1-3 days at each clinic, one pair retrieved data from TIER.Net while the other pair

retrieved data from physical patient files. After this was completed, the fieldworkers reviewed RtC logbooks kept by RtC linkage officers if there was a RtC presence in the clinic (not all clinics were assisted by RtC). Finally, the fieldworkers reviewed HBC logbooks as well as physical tracing forms (Figure 3.13) if these were available.

Figure 3.13: Images showing examples of forms used by community outreach teams like HBCs (these were from Lillydale HBC, Bhubezi CHC and Agincourt CHC)

HTJAH JANOITAN USAID CaSIP®



Back-referral Form Provider to Outreach T

Data entry and management

I designed a Microsoft Access database to collect data from the record review. This database contained a table for each data source (TIER.Net, patient clinic files, HBC, RtC). Each table had a Visual Basic front-end data entry form (Appendix 11.3.1). The forms included skip patterns and basic data checks like date validity and consistency (for example the tracing date could not happen before the last visit date in the PIRL database) to streamline data entry and make it more intuitive. Each clinic had a separate database. I recruited and trained four fieldworkers on how to use the database for data entry.

I populated the tables and forms with the Patient IDs, file numbers, health facility, date of HIV diagnosis, ART initiation date, and the last visit date according to the PIRL database for all the patients that were LTFU. Additionally, fieldworkers received a list containing the patient ID, file number, first name, last name and date of birth of these patients. Names were not added to the database to ensure the data remained anonymised. The name lists were given to the fieldworkers at the beginning of the day and retrieved at the end of each workday. I personally kept the name lists during fieldwork and these lists were shredded at the end of the fieldwork.

All eight health facility databases were stored on password-protected fieldwork laptops. At the end of each day, these laptops remained in either my possession or that of the Agincourt data supervisor until the next workday. Once data collection had ended at a clinic, the databases for that clinic (TIER.Net, patient files, RtC, and HBC) were transferred to my password protected laptop and deleted from the fieldwork laptops. I applied edit checks on the data. These included checks for missing data and any other inconsistencies. Where these were identified, I retrieved and entered the data into the database on my computer.

At the end of data entry, I extracted the tables from each database and imported them into Stata. I then merged data from the different tables into one dataset for each clinic. All eight clinic datasets were then appended to form one dataset for analysis.

3.3.2. Statistical analysis methods

All statistical analyses were conducted in Stata 15 (418) and R (419). Analyses for paper C included all patients who were more than 90 days late for a scheduled clinic appointment as well as a sample of patients recorded as still in care to act as a comparison group. Paper A and B included all patients that were LTFU excluding 57 patients who did not have an ART initiation date. Patients who had not yet initiated ART were excluded from analyses as they often did not have a next scheduled visit specified and as such it was impossible to determine whether they were LTFU or just visited the clinics less frequently. Furthermore, this population would not be comparable to patients who had potentially accrued some benefits from taking ART in terms of reductions in morbidity and mortality.

The linkage rate for clinic and HDSS records for our cohort of patients was 88%. The probabilistic algorithm for finding matches is not perfect and unfortunately in 12% of cases, even in the presence of the patient, the records of those reporting residence in the HDSS could not be linked to the HDSS dataset. There are various reasons that could explain this. It is possible that patients misunderstood the question regarding their residency, or that they thought that there might be some incentives for answering in the affirmative, or that they were genuine residents whose record could not be retrieved for a myriad of reasons including differently spelled names, or they had migrated into the HDSS after the last census round. It is impossible to differentiate the different groups, so to minimise bias, patients whose records had not been linked were included in all analyses. The implications of this choice are considered in further detail in the discussion chapter.

All CD4 data were retrieved from patient clinic records (TIER.Net or patient files). All other clinical data were retrieved from the PIRL database, if any data were missing, this was cross-checked in the clinic records. Demographic data such as age and sex were retrieved from the PIRL database and cross-checked in the clinic and HDSS records. All socioeconomic data were retrieved from the HDSS records.

Table 3.2: Definition of terms used

Term	Definition
The last appointment	The last scheduled appointment for each patient as of August 15, 2017, when we generated the list of patients deemed LTFU.
TIER.Net treatment status	The treatment status of the patient as recorded in TIER.Net during the comprehensive record review.
The final outcome	The outcome ascertained for each patient through the record review and tracing process.
Data error	A situation in which a patient was found still in care and <90 days late for their last appointment. Some data errors occurred because visit dates had not been properly entered in the PIRL database. Patients categorised as a data error were excluded from our analyses.
Deceased	A patient was considered to have died if they were reported as deceased in their patient file or in TIER.Net or if they were reported to have died through HDSS surveillance data.
Re-engagement	A patient was considered to have re-engaged in care if they were found to be still in care at the same clinic where they initiated treatment but were >90 days late for their last appointment (had previously been LTFU).
Transfer out	A patient was considered to have transferred if they had either reported taking treatment at another clinic (for clinics outside the Agincourt HDSS), if their ART initiation clinic had communicated with and ascertained their transfer to another clinic, or if there was record of them collecting treatment at another clinic within the Agincourt HDSS.
Migration	A patient was classified as having migrated out of the study site if they were recorded as having migrated through the Agincourt HDSS demographic surveillance, this migration event happened after their last clinic visit date and there was no proof that they were taking treatment at another facility.
Stopped ART	A patient was considered alive and not on ART if they had been found and had reported that they had stopped ART, denied their HIV status or refused to return to the clinic.
Alive with ART status unknown	A patient was considered alive with ART status unknown if additional tracing yielded no definitive outcome, but they were found to still be alive through the most recent Agincourt HDSS demographic surveillance, with a surveillance date after their last clinic visit and there was no proof that they were taking treatment at any facility.

Source of resolution	A source of resolution was the data source from which the final outcome for each patient was ascertained.
Origin health facility	The health facility at which a patient initiated ART and was recorded as LTFU
Destination health facility	The health facility to which a patient transferred their care after being recorded as lost to follow-up

A descriptive analysis of outcomes following loss to follow-up was conducted for paper A, with outcomes stratified by sex, clinic variables such as baseline CD4 and pregnancy status at ART initiation in order to compare Option B+ women to the rest of the treatment population. With regards to the reasons for ART initiation, whereas specific reasons for ART initiation such as CD4 and presence of opportunistic infections were listed for the general population, this was not always consistently done and so non-PMTCT patients were all grouped together. A descriptive analysis of sources of resolution was also conducted with possible sources being through record review, through demographic surveillance data (migrations, deaths, alive with treatment status unknown), through subsequent updates to visit data in the PIRL database, through supplementary tracing, identification as duplicates in the PIRL database (one person matching to multiple clinic records), and through a search of patient records in clinics in close proximity to the patient's residence. A descriptive analysis for causes of death was conducted for all patients for whom verbal autopsy data was available.

For paper A, competing risk survival analysis methods were used to estimate the cumulative incidence of death, transfer, migration, ART stoppage and reengagement following LTFU. As we suspected that many deaths leading to loss to follow-up would occur closely after a last clinic visit, follow-up time began on the date of each patient's last recorded clinic visit to account for any outcomes that might have occurred before patients would have been categorised as LTFU. These cumulative probabilities were used to produce status plots stratified by sex, pregnancy status at ART initiation and baseline CD4.

Factors associated with mortality following LTFU were determined using a Cox regression model with all other outcomes considered as right censored. All models accounted for clustering at the clinic level with robust standard errors. Bivariate analyses were conducted using an a priori list of variables, with all variables with p<0.1 included in the multivariable model. A parsimonious model was achieved using Wald tests. A similar analysis was conducted in paper B for factors associated with transferring to another facility following LTFU. However, in this model all variables with p<0.2 were included in the multivariable model.

For paper C, to assess the degree and direction of misreporting of patient outcomes in TIER.Net, each patient was assigned a treatment status based on their current TIER.Net status (still in care, deceased, transferred out, lost to follow-up) and this was compared to their final outcome. A misclassification was defined as any instance where the patient's TIER.Net treatment status did not match their final outcome. The variables produced from these two sources were cross-tabulated. A Pearson's chi-square test was used to compare whether TIER.Net treatment status and the final outcome varied by age, sex, pregnancy status at ART initiation, ART initiation year, baseline CD4, time on ART, clinic visit schedule (used as a proxy for patient stability), health facility, and time since the patient's last scheduled visit.

To visualise this data, TIER.Net treatment status and the final outcome were aggregated by ART initiation status and reason, and time since the last missed appointment using the *collapse* command in Stata. These collapsed datasets were imported into R where the *ggplot* package was used to plot bar graphs of these data.

As patients recorded as LTFU in TIER.Net were the most likely to be misclassified, a binary outcome variable was created to identify whether a patient was recorded as LTFU in TIER.Net. Logistic regression was used to assess the factors associated with being recorded as LTFU in TIER.Net. Logistic regression was also used to assess the factors associated with being misclassified in TIER.Net, with a binary outcome variable being created to indicate whether TIER.Net had misclassified a patient's treatment status. Because we could not find a TIER.Net record for every patient, all cases where an electronic record could not be found were excluded from these analyses.

For paper B, an undocumented transfer was defined as one where the origin health facility was unaware and therefore did not have this recorded as a patient outcome within its system. Patients' village of residence was ascertained through health facility and Agincourt HDSS records. A mid-point GPS coordinate of the village was used as each patient's residence. I also obtained decimal degree coordinates for origin and destination health facilities by querying Google Maps. Geographic distances were calculated (i) between patients' residence and both their origin and destination health facility, and (ii) between the origin and destination clinic. Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare median distances disaggregated by age, sex, pregnancy status at ART initiation, type of transfer (documented or undocumented), ART initiation year, baseline CD4 count, time on ART, clinic visit schedule, health facility, and time since the patient's last scheduled visit. Using ArcMap® 10.3.1 (420), the health facility coordinates were imported to shapefiles with a WGS 1984 coordinate system. I then used ArcMap to spatially visualise the locations of destination health facilities.

The Circlize package in R (419,421) was also used to visualise the main corridors of movement between facilities. I created a matrix containing the transfer flow data with the input data calculated using Stata. Separate flow matrices were created for Option B+ women, other women, and men's transfers as well as for documented and undocumented transfers. Each health facility was then allocated a circle segment with all transfers outside the HDSS aggregated under other facilities. I then created a data frame to store information on each segment of the circle plot. The *circlize* command was then used to plot the circle plots.

3.3.3. Ethical considerations

Permissions were obtained from the Mpumalanga Department of Health to collect and process data from the clinics. The district manager sent a letter to the PHC manager for the Bushbuckridge Department of Health. The PHC manager then sent a letter to each clinic explaining the study and its aims and objectives and authorising the data collection process. Ethical approval was obtained for the LSHTM, the University of Witwatersrand and the Mpumalanga department of health ethical review boards for the collection and use of these quantitative datasets (Appendix 11.2.2).

Fieldworkers who entered the clinic data were trained on the importance of protecting patient confidentiality.

The name lists did not contain any sensitive information about HIV status or receipt of ART in case they inadvertently fell into the wrong hands. Separate lists were generated for each clinic, handed to fieldworkers at the beginning of a workday and retrieved at the end of the day. All lists remained in my possession throughout the duration of fieldwork. The database used for data collection as well as datasets generated from these databases only included ID numbers (Patient ID, file number) without names. During fieldwork, the databases were stored on password-protected laptops which were kept by me or the Agincourt data supervisor at the end of each workday. At the end of data collection these databases and datasets generated from them were stored in independent files on a secure laptop with password restricted access and deleted from the fieldwork laptops. All name lists were shredded at the end of data collection.

The supplementary tracing component was intentionally nested into routine care as patients must give consent to be physically traced at their homes. As such, HBCs would have first consulted patient files to make sure they had consented to tracing before a supplementary tracing visit was attempted.

3.4. Qualitative research methods

This section provides an overview of the aims of the qualitative research and methods used, the objectives and design of the data collection tools, fieldwork recruitment and training, piloting, sampling and recruitment, data collection, preparation of the data and analysis of results.

3.4.1. Aims and overview

The overall aim of the qualitative study conducted for this thesis was to investigate patients experiences of HCT, HIV treatment including interruptions and re-engagement in care, and pregnant and breastfeeding women's experiences with infant testing with a view to understanding if any of their experiences with HIV care and treatment were linked to interruptions or re-engagement in care. Data were generated through IDIs with HIV-positive patients and structured observations of public areas at health facilities in the Agincourt HDSS to achieve this aim.

The use of qualitative methods in this thesis allowed for a broader understanding of engagement in care in this setting. Fieldwork took place from January to February 2018. The design of data collection tools, fieldwork procedures and final analysis of results was done in collaboration with local fieldworkers and scientists. The fieldworkers helped to improve the data collection tools based their knowledge of the context which enhanced the relevance of the work. For example, they played a role in translating the IDI topic guide into Shangaan.

3.4.2. Objectives and design of the data collection tools

In-depth interviews

In-depth interviews were chosen as a data collection method to enable a private and detailed discussion of their personal experiences of the HIV care and treatment programme. This allowed us to explore personal challenges faced while using the programme, barriers and motivators to remaining engaged with the programme. Interviews with non-pregnant women and men aimed to explore their HIV testing experience, ART treatment and follow-up, and any interruptions during treatment. I also aimed to understand reengagement in care in this setting to get a better understanding of the barriers and facilitators to re-engagement in care following treatment interruptions. These interviews were undertaken to understand how experiences among pregnant and breastfeeding women differed from those of PHIV who received their services outside of PMTCT. For pregnant and breastfeeding women infant testing was explored as an additional topic. Since research has shown that many pregnant women initiate ART for the sake of the baby(237), I hypothesised that infant testing and the results from infant testing could play a major role in their disengagement from care.

The topic guide (Appendix 11.3.4) for the IDIs was divided into six sections reflecting the study objectives: life history (serving as an 'ice-breaker' and a way to build rapport), testing experience, ART treatment and follow-up, loss to follow-up, re-engagement in care, and infant testing. Fieldworkers were

encouraged to ask questions in the third person to ease anxiety around the discussion of sensitive topics.

Observations

Observations were conducted to enhance my understanding of how the health system may potentially affect participants engagement in care. Observations also helped me to understand how programmes actually operate in relation to standard operating procedures, guidelines and protocols issued by the national Department of Health. Furthermore, observations also helped to improve the IDI topic guide. For example, some questions about attitudes towards breastfeeding were added to the IDI topic guide after observing aggressive campaign posters against bottle-feeding in one clinic (Figure 3.14).

Observations were recorded in a fieldwork notebook and in some cases, photographs were taken with the permission of clinic staff.

Figure 3.14: Posters observed in one clinic campaigning against bottle-feeding





3.4.3. Fieldworker recruitment and training

Five Shangaan-speaking female fieldworkers were recruited. These fieldworkers were recruited from an existing pool of qualitative fieldworkers who were usually contractually employed by the Agincourt HDSS. There were no men available at the time of fieldwork. Four of the selected fieldworkers had prior experience of conducting qualitative research in the Agincourt HDSS and this mostly included IDIs (the fifth had prior quantitative fieldwork experience). Fieldworkers had some knowledge of the HIV care and treatment services available in the clinics, but training revised the basics of HIV transmission, prevention, care and treatment.

Training was conducted over a week and included a discussion on the aims of the study, discussions on approaching potential participants for the study, how to ensure that participants' consent was truly informed, protecting anonymity and confidentiality, other ethical concerns (Figure 3.15). The training approaches included practical sessions and group discussions to facilitate learning. I designed all the fieldwork training tools which included PowerPoint slides, printing information sheets, and exercises to improve interviewing techniques. I also delivered the training sessions. Training sessions were interactive, and fieldworkers were encouraged to be at ease and to share their experiences from other projects. The fieldworker with no prior qualitative experience benefitted a lot from these sessions giving her an idea of what to expect and how to handle different scenarios during the interview process.

All the data collection tools, and the information sheet (Appendix 11.3.3 and Appendix 11.3.4) were translated by the fieldworkers. This allowed them to become more familiar with the tools and gave them a chance to practice what translation would best be suited to asking the questions so that respondents clearly understood them. Translations were shared with the Agincourt HDSS translator in order to verify their integrity.

Figure 3.15: Images showing fieldworker training



3.4.4. Piloting

One day of training included the review, practice, and piloting of the topic guide. One fieldworker interviewed another while the rest watched with feedback being shared throughout the process. I observed these sessions and discussed difficulties encountered and potential refinements with the team.

3.4.5. Sampling and recruitment

Participants were recruited purposively for interview from the Agincourt HDSS community by fieldworkers to ensure a sample of patients with varying engagement in care profiles. For example, patients might have recently transferred their care to a new health facility, might have recently re-engaged in care, or might have currently been disengaged from care. The sample was chosen to ensure that patients with all these different treatment outcomes were included. In order to recruit patients who were currently disengaged from

care or who had previously disengaged from care, I utilised the PIRL database to identify patients that met these criteria.

It was expected that patients currently disengaged from care would be hard to recruit as other studies have demonstrated previously (422). Many of these patients have been lost to the health system and are difficult to locate through the clinics. Furthermore, it was feared that an approach from the clinic could influence participation, firstly if potential participants mistook the researchers for clinic or healthcare system staff, secondly if they feared that this was an attempt to coerce or re-engage them into care and they were not ready, and finally if clinic staff were biased in who they approached to participate. These were people whose experiences I was particularly interested in eliciting because they have been under-represented in research on HIV treatment experiences. Therefore, I decided to utilise all data available through the potential participants' HDSS records. Potential recruits' HDSS records were used to retrieve the location of their home which was then located on maps showing all the dwellings in the HDSS. They were then contacted and were informed of the aims of the study and asked if they would be willing to participate. They were not coerced to participate but given an opportunity to share their opinions. The study was not framed as an HIV study but more as one to understand their experiences with using the healthcare system. If they agreed to participate, an appointment would then be scheduled.

3.4.6. Data collection procedures

In-depth interviews

Thirty-one IDIs were conducted in total: 20 with women who were pregnant or breastfeeding when they initiated ART, 6 with non-pregnant women, and 5 with men. A summary of the IDI sample size and recruitment procedures is provided in table 3.3 and basic demographic characteristics of all the participants recruited are shown in table 3.4.

Method	Total sample size	Respondent type and numbers	Recruitment
IDIs	20	HIV+ women who were pregnant or gave birth since 2015 (Option B+)	Purposive to ensure diversity in terms of age, parity, clinic attended, and treatment outcomes (11 reengaged, 3 transferred, 6 not in care). All community recruits.
IDIs	6	HIV+ women who had not been pregnant since 2015	Purposive to include as many treatment outcomes as possible (2 reengaged, 4 transferred). All community recruits.
IDIs	5	HIV+ men	Purposive to include as many treatment outcomes as possible (2 reengaged, 3 transferred). All community recruits.

Table 3.3: Summary of sample size and recruitment proceduresfor IDIs

All interviews were conducted in Shangaan. All IDIs were audio-recorded following written consent from each participant. To begin with, three IDIs were conducted and transcribed into English. These three transcripts were manually open coded by myself with regular discussions with my supervisor (AW), and advisor (JR) to get a sense of the data that was being generated. Information garnered from this process was used to improve the topic guide and brief/support the fieldworkers in order to improve their interviewing technique. After each IDI, I held a debriefing session with the fieldworker involved to discuss how the interview went and identify any obstacles or ways to improve the process. Fieldworkers also made detailed field notes about the IDIs and these were reviewed at the end of each IDI.

Table 3.4: Summary of characteristics of participants and r	ion-
participants	

Characteristic	Participants (n=31)		Non-participants (n=29)			
	Option	Non-	Men	Option	Non-	Men
	B+	pregnant		B+	pregnant	
		women			women	
	20	6	5	12	10	8
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Age						
19-24	7 (35.0)	1 (16.7)	1 (20.0)	5 (41.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (12.5)
25-29	6 (30.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	4 (33.3)	2 (20.0)	2 (25.0)
30-34	5 (25.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (16.7)	3 (30.0)	0 (0.0)
35+	2 (10.0)	5 (83.3)	4 (80.0)	1 (8.3)	5 (50.0)	5 (62.5)
Mean (range)	28 (21-37)	45.2 (23-	37.4 (23-	26.5	39.7 (25-	38.2
		59)	43)	(19-43)	91)	(24-59)
Marital Status						
Single	3 (15.0)	1 (16.7)	4 (80.0)	7 (58.3)	3 (30.0)	3 (37.5)
Married	4 (20.0)	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)	1 (10.0)	0 (0.0)
Informal	12 (60.0)	1 (16.7)	1 (20.0)	1 (8.3)	2 (20.0)	2 (25.0)
Separated or Divorced	1 (5.0)	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)	1 (10.0)	3 (37.5))
Widowed	0 (0.0)	2 (33.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (20.0)	0 (0.0)
Unknown	0 (0.0)	0 (0)	0 (0.0)	2 (16.7)	1 (10.0)	0 (0.0)
Education status						
No formal education	0 (0.0)	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)	1 (10.0)	0 (0.0)
Primary	3 (15.0)	2 (33.3)	2 (40.0)	6 (50.0)	4 (40.0)	6 (75.0)
Secondary	15 (75.0)	1 (16.7)	3 (60.0)	2 (16.7)	3 (30.0)	1 (12.5)
Tertiary	2 (10.0)	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Unknown	0 (0.0)	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (16.7)	2 (20.0)	1 (12.5)
Parity						
0	0 (0.0)	1 (16.7)				
1 to 2	17 (85.0)	0 (0.0)	_			
3 to 4	3 (15.0)	2 (33.3)	_			
5+	0 (0)	3 (50.0)				
Self-reported treatment	status					
In care	13 (65.0)	5 (83.3)	4 (80.0)			
Not in care	7 (35.0)	1 (16.7)	1 (20.0)	_		
Clinic treatment status						
Re-engaged	11 (55.0)	3 (50.0)	2 (40.0)	5 (41.7)	3 (30.0)	1 (12.5)
Transferred	3 (15.0)	3 (50.0)	3 (60.0)	2 (16.7)	7 (70.0)	6 (75.0)
Not in care	6 (30.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	5 (41.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (12.5)

Timing of HIV diagnosis						
Newly diagnosed	12 (60.0)	5 (83.3)	2 (40.0)	5 (41.7)	6 (60.0)	8
						(100.0)
Previously diagnosed	8 (40.0)	1 (16.7)	3 (60.0)	7 (58.3)	4 (40.0)	0 (0.0)
EID done						
Yes	14 (70.0)	_	_			
No	4 (20.0)	_	_		_	
Incomplete (<18 months)	2 (10.0)					
Infant's HIV status at the time of the interview						
Negative	15 (75.0)	_	_			
Positive	1 (5.0)	_			_	
Unknown	4 (20.0)	_				
Reason for non-participa	tion					
Not at home	_	_		3 (25.0)	3 (30.0)	5 (62.5)
Migrated	_	_		5 (41.7)	5 (50.0)	2 (25.0)
Could not be found				1 (8.3)	1 (10.0)	0 (0.0)
Refusal	_	_	_	3 (25.0)	1 (10.0)	1 (12.5)

Observations

I conducted observations at all the clinics and at some of the HBC compounds. In instances where I was observing HBCs, I was accompanied by a fieldworker who was fluent in Shangaan to assist with translating questions and answers. I kept fieldnotes and in some instances with the permission of clinic staff or HBCs also took some photographs. Observations did not follow any systematic or predetermined format but were done informally, and all observation notes were recorded in English.

3.4.7. Data preparation and analysis

Audio recordings from IDIs were translated and transcribed directly into English by the qualitative fieldworkers. The translated transcripts were uploaded to Nvivo11.

Preliminary analysis was conducted in the field to identify emerging themes from the data generated. Information from the debriefing sessions and fieldworker notes was used to modify the remaining interviews with probes added to add more clarity or to explore new emerging concepts. Probes included questions on infant testing counselling sessions at the clinics including when during the pregnancy these sessions occurred and the content of these sessions.

The final analysis stage aimed to explore maternal engagement in care and infant outcomes in detail. Only the 20 IDIs conducted with HIV+ women who had given birth since 2015 were extensively analysed (while the IDIs conducted with men and non-pregnant women generated interesting findings, the themes did not align with my objectives and were therefore excluded). I analysed the data generated thematically drawing on the principles of inductive coding to identify themes. I coded all the transcripts with the aid of Nvivo11. The coding framework was continually refined as more transcripts were analysed to capture new codes as they emerged. Codes were then grouped and conceptualised to identify themes. Two themes were considered for further analysis those relating to women's engagement in care and those relating to infant testing. As mentioned in chapter two, practice theory (83,85,87) was identified as an appropriate theoretical framework with which to present and relate the findings. Participants' accounts and social practices were presented in relation to engagement in care and infant testing, the main social practices of interest. Interpretations were built by exploring relationships between the engagement in care, infant testing and other social practices mentioned by the participants and considering the meanings they gave to these practices and the competences they described in relation to enacting them.

3.4.8. Ethical considerations for the qualitative research

Ethical approval for the qualitative study was received from the LSHTM, the University of Witwatersrand and the Mpumalanga Department of Health ethical review boards (Appendix 11.2.2). Members of the HDSS give consent to be approached at home using contact information provided to the HDSS team and to be invited to participate in relevant studies with the understanding that they have the right to refuse to participate. As the population of the HDSS is studied all year round, it was not unusual for HDSS staff to approach participants at the homes and as a result of this, patient confidentiality was kept. Interviews took place in private at a location of the participant's choosing. All IDI participants were informed about the study before commencing the interviews. They were informed of their right to refuse to participate and that their refusal would not affect the services they received through the healthcare system or result in any loss of benefits regarding medical treatment. They were also advised that all discussions were confidential and that they could refuse to answer any questions or leave the interview at any time. Written informed consent was obtained for all the IDIs.

Interviews were transcribed on password protected fieldwork computers. All transcripts were also individually password protected. All documentation was labelled with codes. Interviews were labelled with a number, followed by the status of the patient, the initial of the first name of the fieldworker and the date of the interview. For example, the fourth interview was with a patient who had re-engaged in care and the label was 04RE24/01/2018. The list of all people that were approached to participate as well as all participants was kept in a password protected Excel spreadsheet on my personal laptop which also has password-restricted access. Published quotations by participants. Audio recordings were stored on a secured Agincourt HDSS server and deleted from the recorders after transcription. Translations, notes and other outputs were also stored on the secure server. I also kept transcripts and fieldnotes on my personal laptop which has password-restricted access.

4. Paper A: Outcomes after being lost to follow-up differ for pregnant and postpartum women when compared to the general HIV treatment population in rural South Africa

Introduction to the paper:

This paper (A) utilises data from the record review and tracing study described in chapter 3 to investigate objective 1. The paper provides estimates of the outcomes for patients that were considered to be lost to follow-up through the linked clinic-HDSS dataset. This paper was conceived as a means to explore LTFU among pregnant WLHIV (particularly under Option B+) which has not been widely researched. As such, outcomes are disaggregated by sex and pregnancy status at ART initiation. I disaggregated the outcomes in order to compare these groups with the rationale that any differences observed might explain why pregnant and postpartum women disengage from care at higher rates than other adults on ART.



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student ID Number	1603703	Title	Mr
First Name(s)	David		
Surname/Family Name	ne Etoori		
Thesis Title	A mixed methods stud and health facility data follow-up among wor antiretroviral therapy of Agincourt, South Afric	y using linked demog to investigate and co ten living with HIV v luring pregnancy und ca	graphic surveillance ompare loss to who initiated er Option B+ in
Primary Supervisor	Alison Wringe		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	JAIDS		
When was the work published?	2020		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	No		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
---	--

Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

SECTION E

Student Signature	
Date	14/07/2020

Supervisor Signature	
Date	14/07/2020

)

4.1. Abstract

Background: Undetermined attrition prohibits a full understanding of the coverage and effectiveness of HIV programmes. Outcomes following loss to follow-up (LTFU) among antiretroviral therapy (ART) patients may differ according to their reasons for ART initiation.

Setting: We compare the true outcomes of adult patients previously identified as LTFU by reason for ART initiation in eight health facilities in north eastern South Africa.

Methods: Adult HIV patient records were linked to health and demographic surveillance system (HDSS) data from 2014 to 2017.

Outcomes of adults categorised as LTFU (>90 days late for the last scheduled clinic visit) were determined through clinic and routine tracing record reviews, consultation of HDSS data, and supplementary tracing.

We calculated the proportion of patients per outcome category and performed competing risk survival analysis to estimate the cumulative incidence of death, transfer, migration, ART interruption and re-engagement following LTFU.

Results: Of 895/1017 patients LTFU with an outcome ascertained, 120 (13.4%) had died, 225 (25.1%) re-engaged, 50 (5.6%) migrated out of the HDSS, 75 (8.4%) were alive and not on treatment, and 315 (35.1%) transferred their treatment. These outcomes varied by sex and pregnancy status at ART initiation. Mortality was less likely among pregnant women, patients with higher baseline CD4, and more likely among older patients.

Conclusion: Patient survival and transfers to other facilities are considerably higher than those suggested in earlier studies. Outcomes differ for women who were pregnant or postpartum when initiating ART, with this population less likely to have died and more likely to have migrated out of the HDSS.

4.2. Introduction

As HIV programmes in sub-Saharan Africa have expanded, emphasis has been put on initiating patients on antiretroviral therapy (ART) as early as possible in the course of HIV infection (5,6). Eligibility for ART has changed since the adoption of Option B+ which made all pregnant and postpartum women eligible for ART as soon as they tested HIV positive and "Treat all" which extended this eligibility to all people living with HIV (PLHIV) (9). Although ART initiation rates among people diagnosed with HIV have increased (360,423,424), many programmes have experienced high attrition rates, especially among women who initiate ART for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (PMTCT) (11). Many of these patients are classified as lost to follow-up (LTFU), a general term for unknown outcomes of patients who have not returned for a scheduled clinic visit. LTFU is often an amalgamation of "silent" (undocumented) clinic transfers, treatment interruptions or stoppages, and deaths (15,51,52,55,56), which are challenging to accurately document using routine reporting mechanism (16,102,367).

Misclassification of patients as being LTFU can lead to as much as a five-fold underestimation of retention and deaths (425). Understanding true outcomes among patients who are reported as LTFU is important in order to accurately monitor and report on indicators for national ART programmes and better target tracing efforts (52). Accurate mortality estimates are also important for parameterising epidemic projections in software programmes such as the UNAIDS Spectrum package (91).

A systematic review of HIV patient tracing studies conducted in sub-Saharan Africa from 2001 to 2012 reported that 39% of patients documented as LTFU in clinic records had died, 18.6% had self-transferred to other HIV clinics, and 28.6% had stopped ART but were still alive (15). An earlier review covering studies in sub-Saharan Africa undertaken between 2004 and 2008 reported that 42% of patients documented as LTFU in HIV clinics had died (14).

These two reviews were conducted in the earlier stages of sub-Saharan African ART programmes when ART patient profiles included a higher proportion with severe immunosuppression at treatment initiation and before universal ART for HIV positive pregnant women (Option B+) had been introduced (259). In addition, decentralisation of ART programmes means ART can be provided closer to patients' homes (15), which may have increased the number of "silent" transfers taking place within these programmes. Furthermore, the proportion of pregnant and postpartum women in ART programmes has increased since the adoption of Option B+. This population differs from the general adult population on ART in several ways that are likely to impact the true outcomes among those LTFU, yet few studies have traced women LTFU from PMTCT programmes (17). Firstly, ART initiation eligibility criteria for pregnant women have included higher CD4 counts in many settings over the past decade, such that on average they are more likely to initiate treatment while still asymptomatic (258). In addition, childbirth is a risk factor for default from treatment programmes (89,365) for reasons including postpartum depression or out-referral from PMTCT programmes after delivery (245,257,366).

With recent randomised control trials of universal test and treat showing modest and mixed results regarding reducing HIV incidence (94,96,426), it is imperative that we understand outcomes among non-adherent patients including those LTFU. This will help to develop and direct innovative ways to identify and reach those who have truly disengaged from care. In this context, we conducted a tracing study in Agincourt in rural north-eastern South Africa to ascertain the true outcomes of patients who were LTFU, disaggregated by whether they were pregnant or postpartum when initiating ART (PMTCT) or not, to better understand the outcomes of this group and compare them to the adult ART population who met other criteria for ART initiation.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Setting

The Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System (HDSS) is located in Mpumalanga province in rural north-eastern South Africa. Established in 1992, the site is approximately 475 square kilometres and has conducted annual demographic surveys within the HDSS population to capture births, deaths and migrations since 1999 (20,413). In 2013, HIV prevalence in the HDSS population aged 15 years or older was estimated at 19.4% (398).

The HDSS also collects verbal autopsy (VA) data to ascertain probable causes of death (105). In brief, a structured interview was conducted with people who were closely related to or cared for the deceased during the final illness and could report on symptoms and signs they observed during this period. The interview was conducted using a locally validated tool, in the local language. Until 2010, two medical doctors independently reviewed the data to assign a cause of death based on international classification of diseases (ICD-10) conventions (415), with a third doctor used in the event of a lack of consensus. The cause was coded 'undetermined' if this failed to yield any agreement (20,416). Since 2011, causes of death are assigned using the InterVA-4 probabilistic model (106).

There are five primary health facilities and three secondary community health centres located within the Agincourt HDSS, all of which offer HIV services including testing and treatment. All health facilities routinely trace patients that are late for a scheduled appointment, with some clinics receiving tracing support from two non-profit organisations, Right-to-Care (RtC) (6 facilities) and Home-Based Carers (HBC) (7 facilities). Routine tracing is described in detail elsewhere (412). Briefly, tracing procedures are triggered once a patient is more than five working days late for a scheduled visit and usually involves two steps, three phone calls and a home visit if the phone calls do not yield a satisfactory outcome. Patients are considered LTFU if they have not returned to the clinic 90 days after their scheduled visit.

In 2014, an initiative was started to identify registered HDSS residents when they visited local health facilities. The point-of-contact interactive record linkage (PIRL) matches chronic care (HIV, diabetic and hypertensive) patient information at the health facility to their HDSS record. This is done in the presence of the patient to resolve any indecision about their identity in the event of multiple resident matches (104).

4.3.2. Record review and tracing study

Using the PIRL database, we identified patients who were more than 90 days late for a scheduled HIV clinic appointment on August 15, 2017 at any of the
eight health facilities located in the Agincourt HDSS. Patients were included in the cohort if they were 18 years or older, had ever declared residency in the HDSS, and had enrolled in HIV treatment after PIRL was established at the health facilities.

Patients who had not yet initiated ART were excluded from our analyses as they did not have a next scheduled visit and as such it was impossible to determine whether they were LTFU or just visited the clinics less frequently. Furthermore, this population would not be comparable to patients who had potentially accrued some benefits from taking ART.

Patients were followed up to ascertain whether they were still alive and still on treatment. Trained fieldworkers conducted a thorough record review, on a case-by-case basis, to resolve each patient outcome by comparing the list of patients LTFU against (i) TIER.Net (the electronic medical records database for health facilities in South Africa) (100) (ii) paper-based patient clinic files, and (iii) logbooks kept by RtC and HBC. The PIRL database was also reviewed for duplicate patients who were then considered silent transfers. Residency and vital status were also checked in the HDSS demographic surveillance database.

Home-Based Carers conducted a further home visit for all patients without an outcome resolution (i.e. no definitive outcome after the record review and for whom routine tracing had not previously been done). For all patients remaining LTFU, searches were undertaken in TIER.Net databases of clinics in close proximity to their residence to capture any further silent transfers (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1: Record review and tracing flow chart

4.3.3. Definitions

A patient was considered to have <u>died</u> if they were reported as deceased in their patient file or in TIER.Net or if they were reported to have died through HDSS surveillance data.

A patient was considered to have <u>re-engaged</u> in care if they were found to still be in care at the same clinic where they initiated treatment but were >90 days late for their last appointment. A patient was defined as having <u>transferred</u> if they had either reported taking treatment at another clinic, if the clinic at which they initiated ART had communicated with and ascertained their transfer to another clinic, or if there was a record of them collecting treatment from another clinic within the Agincourt HDSS.

Patients were defined as having <u>migrated</u> if they were recorded as such (movement outside the study area) through the HDSS, the migration event happened after their last clinic visit and there was no evidence of them taking treatment at another clinic.

A patient had <u>stopped ART</u> if they had been found and reported that they stopped ART, denied their HIV status or refused to return to the clinic.

A patient was <u>alive with ART status unknown</u> if additional tracing yielded no definitive outcome, but they were found to still be alive through the most recent demographic surveillance round, with a surveillance date after their last clinic visit.

A <u>data error</u> was a situation where a patient was <90 days late for their next scheduled appointment but was erroneously classified as LTFU.

4.3.4. Statistical analyses

Counts and proportions were calculated for socio-demographic, baseline clinical characteristics, patient tracing outcomes, and verbal autopsy causes of death. A Pearson's chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables.

Competing risk survival analysis methods were used to estimate the cumulative incidence of death, transfer, migration, ART stoppage and reengagement following loss to follow-up (LTFU). Follow-up time began on the date of each patient's last recorded clinic visit as we suspected that some outcomes especially deaths would occur closely following a last visit and before patients would have been categorised as LTFU. Using these cumulative probabilities, status plots were produced stratified by sex, pregnancy status at ART initiation and baseline CD4.

A Cox regression model was used to determine the factors associated with death, with all other outcomes considered to be right-censored. Bi-variate

analyses were conducted with a priori selected variables that had been shown to be associated with death in previous studies (14,427–429). All variables with p<0.1 were included in the multivariable Cox regression model. A parsimonious model was achieved using Wald tests. All analyses were conducted using Stata 15 (418). All models accounted for clustering at the clinic level and utilised robust standard errors.

4.3.5. Ethics

Ethical approval was obtained from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, the University of Witwatersrand and the Mpumalanga Department of Health.

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Population characteristics

Over the study period, 4089 patients were added to the PIRL database and met the inclusion criteria. Of these 4089, 1325 (32.4%) met the LTFU criteria and were eligible for inclusion in the record review and tracing study. Of these 1325 patients, 166 (12.5%) did not have an ART initiation date. Further investigation of these 166 patients found 46 (27.7%) had initiated ART after record linkage, 59 (35.5%) had not yet initiated ART and 61(36.7%) had initiated ART before record linkage began. These 61 patients and the 59 non-ART patients were excluded from further analyses. Of the remaining 1205 patients, 188 (15.6%) were misclassified as LTFU due to data errors (missed clinic visits in the PIRL database) and were excluded from further analysis (Figure 4.2).

Figure 4.2: Number of patients that were eligible at each stage and the number of patients excluded at each stage



Of 188 patients who were categorised as data errors, 39 (20.7%) returned early (before their next scheduled visit), 58 (30.9%) returned on the exact date of their next scheduled visit, 30 (16.0%) were between 1 to 7 days late for their next scheduled visit, and 61 (32.4%) were more than 7 days late for their next scheduled visit and were a median of 43 days late (IQR: 27, 58). These 61 probably indicate the utility of routine tracing as tracing procedures would have in theory been performed for them. The 91 patients that were late for their scheduled visit, were late for a median of 27 days (IQR: 6, 55). The remaining 1017 patients were 91 to 1188 days late (Figure 4.3).

Figure 4.3: Histogram and kernel density plots of the distribution of days late for a missed appointment disaggregated by pregnancy status at ART initiation



Of the 1017 remaining patients, 280 (27.5%) initiated ART for PMTCT, 767 (75.4%) were females and 849 (83.5%) linked to an HDSS record (Table 4.1). Pregnant women were younger with a median age of 29 years (IQR: 25, 33) compared to non-pregnant women, 33 years (IQR: 28, 42) and men, 41 years (IQR: 34, 48). Of 280 patients who initiated ART for PMTCT, 52 (18.6%) had a baseline CD4 <200 cells/ μ L compared with 193 of 487 (39.6%) non-pregnant women and 146 of 250 (58.4%) men. None of the patients who initiated ART for PMTCT with baseline CD4 <200 cells/ μ L were categorised as WHO stage III/IV compared to 53 of 193 (27.5%) non-pregnant women and 45 of 146 (30.8%) men. Furthermore, 5.0% of women who initiated treatment for PMTCT had a CD4 less than 100 cells/ μ L compared to 21.8% of non-pregnant women and 34.4% of men. The main reason for ART initiation for non-pregnant patients was CD4 count criteria (74.5%) (Table 4.1).

Table 4.1: Patient demographic and clinical characteristics, and final outcomes disaggregated by pregnancy status at ART initiation

	LTFU	Pregnant	Non-pregnant women	Men
	1017	280	487	250
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Age				
18-29	333 (32.7)	150 (53.6)	157 (32.2)	26 (10.4)
30-44	484 (47.6)	124 (44.3)	226 (46.4)	134 (53.6)
45-59	141 (13.9)	6 (2.1)	70 (14.4)	65 (26.0)
60+	58 (5.7)	0 (0)	33 (6.8)	25 (10.0)
Missing	1 (0.1)	0 (0)	1 (0.2)	0 (0)
ART reason				
CD4	549 (54.0)	0 (0)	376 (77.2)	173 (69.2)
PMTCT	280 (27.5)	280 (100.0)	0 (0)	0(0)
WHO stage	77 (7.6)	0 (0)	45 (9.2)	32 (12.8)
Test and treat	43 (4.2)	0 (0)	23 (4.7)	20 (8.0)
ТВ	39 (3.8)	0 (0)	17 (3.5)	22 (8.8)
Missing	29 (2.9)	0 (0)	26 (5.3)	3 (1.2)
ART start year				
2014	211 (20.8)	58 (20.7)	101 (20.7)	52 (20.8)
2015	414 (40.7)	105 (37.5)	212 (43.5)	97 (38.8)
2016	350 (34.4)	107 (38.2)	157 (32.2)	86 (34.4)
2017	42 (4.1)	10 (3.6)	17 (3.5)	15 (6.0)
Time on ART				
≤3 months	325 (32.0)	89 (31.8)	136 (27.9)	100 (40.0)
3-6 months	190 (18.7)	70 (25.0)	88 (18.1)	32 (12.8)
6-12 months	228 (22.4)	70 (25.0)	114 (23.4)	44 (17.6)
12-24 months	219 (21.5)	39 (13.9)	120 (24.6)	60 (24.0)
>24 months	55 (5.4)	12 (4.3)	29 (6.0)	14 (5.6)
Baseline CD4				
<100	206 (20.2)	14 (5.0)	106 (21.8)	86 (34.4)
100-199	185 (18.2)	38 (13.6)	87 (17.9)	60 (24.0)
200-349	261 (25.7)	71 (25.4)	129 (26.5)	61 (24.4)
350-499	193 (19.0)	74 (26.4)	95 (19.5)	24 (9.6)
500+	145 (14.3)	64 (22.9)	64 (13.1)	17 (6.8)
Missing	27 (2.6)	19 (6.8)	6 (1.2)	2 (0.8)
Baseline WHO s	tage			
Ι	722 (71.9)	261 (93.2)	329 (67.6)	132 (52.8)
II	143 (14.1)	17 (6.1)	73 (15.0)	53 (21.2)
III	129 (12.7)	2 (0.7)	70 (14.4)	57 (22.8)
IV	10 (1.0)	0 (0)	6 (1.2)	4 (1.6)
Missing	13 (1.3)	0 (0)	9 (1.8)	4 (1.6)
Refill schedule				
1 month	672 (66.1)	188 (67.1)	322 (66.1)	162 (64.8)
2 months	233 (22.9)	68 (24.3)	102 (20.9)	63 (25.2)
3 months	79 (7.8)	20 (7.1)	44 (9.0)	15 (6.0)

>3 months	33 (3.2)	4 (1.4)	19 (3.9)	10 (4.0)
Health Facility				
Agincourt	272 (26.7)	74 (26.4)	141 (28.9)	57 (22.8)
Belfast	186 (18.3)	64 (22.9)	80 (16.4)	42 (16.8)
Cunningmore	58 (5.7)	16 (5.7)	32 (6.6)	10 (4.0)
Justicia	120 (11.8)	42 (15.0)	42 (8.6)	36 (14.4)
Kildare	117 (11.5)	25 (8.9)	62 (12.7)	30 (12.0)
Lillydale	166 (16.3)	32 (11.4)	81 (16.6)	53 (21.2)
Thulamahashe	25 (2.5)	9 (3.2)	12 (2.5)	4 (1.6)
Xanthia	73 (7.2)	18 (6.4)	32 (7.6)	18 (7.2)
Time since last a	appointment			
≤1 year	526 (51.7)	130 (46.4)	255 (52.4)	141 (56.4)
1-2 years	369 (36.3)	117 (41.8)	176 (36.1)	76 (30.4)
>2 years	122 (12.0)	33 (11.8)	56 (11.5)	33 (13.2)
AHDSS outcome	9			
Still in HDSS	505 (49.7)	142 (50.7)	237 (48.7)	126 (50.4)
Deceased	74 (7.3)	6 (2.1)	42 (8.6)	26 (10.4)
Migrated	270 (26.5)	99 (35.4)	125 (25.7)	46 (18.4)
Not linked	168 (16.5)	33 (11.8)	83 (17.0)	52 (20.8)
Final Outcome				
Deceased	120 (11.8)	10 (3.6)	60 (12.3)	50 (20.0)
Transferred out	315 (31.0)	82 (29.3)	176 (36.1)	57 (22.8)
Stopped ART	75 (7.4)	28 (10.0)	20 (4.1)	27 (10.8)
Migrated	49 (4.8)	21 (7.5)	22 (4.5)	6 (2.4)
Reengaged	225 (22.1)	54 (19.3)	110 (22.6)	61 (24.4)
Alive: ART unknown	111 (10.9)	45 (16.1)	45 (9.2)	21 (8.4)
LTFU	122 (12.0)	40 (14.3)	54 (11.1)	28 11.2)

4.4.2. Sources of resolution

Of the 1017 patients LTFU, 895 (88.0%) were resolved, with 536 (59.9%) of these occurring through record review, 155 (17.3%) through demographic surveillance data (23 migrations, 21 deaths, 111 alive), 72 (8.0%) through subsequent visit data in the PIRL database, 53 (5.9%) through supplementary tracing, 57 (6.4%) identified as duplicates in the PIRL database (one person matching to multiple clinic records), and 22 (2.5%) through a search of patient records in clinics in close proximity to the patient's residence.

4.4.3. Patient outcomes

Of 1017 patients LTFU, 120 (11.8%, 95% C.I: 9.9-13.9) had died , 315 (31.0%, C.I: 28.1-33.9) had transferred to another facility, 75 (7.4%, C.I: 5.8-9.1) had stopped ART, 49 (4.8%, C.I: 3.6-6.3) had migrated, 225 (22.1%, C.I: 19.6-24.8) re-engaged in care, 111 (10.9%, C.I: 9.1-13.0) were alive with an unknown

treatment status and 122 (12.0%) remained LTFU. These outcomes differed (all p<0.001) by sex, age, baseline CD4 count, time on ART, clinic visit schedule, health facility, time since a missed appointment, and ART initiation reason. Women who initiated treatment while pregnant or postpartum were less likely to have died (3.6% (C.I: 1.7-6.5) compared to 14.9% (C.I: 12.4-17.7)) and more likely to have migrated (7.5% (C.I: 4.7-11.2) compared to 3.8% (C.I: 2.5-5.4)), to be alive with their ART status unknown (16.1% (C.I: 12.0-20.9) compared to 8.9% (C.I: 7.0-11.2)) or stopped ART (10.0% (C.I: 6.7-14.1) compared to 6.4% (C.I: 4.7-8.4)) (Table 4.2 & Figure 4.4).

Figure 4.4: Outcome estimates and confidence intervals disaggregated by pregnancy status at ART initiation



Most deaths occurred in the groups where baseline CD4<200 cells/ μ L (Figure 4.5). Men were at highest risk of mortality, and pregnant women were at the lowest risk (Figure 4.6). Men and pregnant women also had higher risks of being alive and not in care compared to non-pregnant women (Figure 4.6). The mortality risk appeared to be similar for all CD4 categories for pregnant women unlike for non-pregnant women (Figure 4.7 and 4.8).

Figure 4.5: Status of patients by baseline CD4 and years since their last clinic visit



Figure 4.6: Status of patients by sex, pregnancy status at ART initiation and years since their last clinic visit



				Outcome				Total
	Deceased	Transferred out	Stopped ART	Migrated	Reengaged	Alive: ART unknown	Still LTFU	All LTFU
	120	315	75	49	225	111	122	1017
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
Sex (p<0.001)								
Female	70 (9.1)	258 (33.6)	48 (6.3)	43 (5.6)	164 (21.4)	90 (11.7)	94 (12.2)	767 (75.4)
Male	50 (20.0)	57 (22.8)	27 (10.8)	6 (2.4)	61 (24.4)	21 (8.4)	28 (11.2)	250 (24.6)
Age (p<0.001)								
18-29	17 (5.1)	117 (35.1)	24 (7.2)	25 (7.5)	61 (18.3)	46 (13.8)	43 (12.9)	333 (32.7)
30-44	55 (11.4)	147 (30.4)	37 (7.6)	21 (4.3)	116 (24.0)	50 (10.3)	58 (12.0)	484 (47.6)
45-59	27 (19.1)	38 (26.9)	11 (7.8)	2 (1.4)	35 (24.8)	13 (9.2)	15 (10.6)	141 (13.9)
60+	21 (36.2)	13 (22.4)	3 (5.2)	1 (1.7)	12 (20.7)	2 (3.4)	6 (10.3)	58 (5.7)
Missing	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.1)
ART reason (p<0.001)								
Non-PMTCT	110 (14.9)	233 (31.6)	47 (6.4)	28 (3.8)	171 (23.2)	66 (8.9)	82 (11.1)	737 (72.5)
PMTCT	10 (3.6)	82 (29.3)	28 (10.0)	21 (7.5)	54 (19.3)	45 (16.1)	40 (14.3)	280 (27.5)
ART start year (p=0.251)								
2014	28 (13.3)	58 (27.5)	14 (6.6)	18 (8.5)	50 (23.7)	19 (9.0)	24 (11.4)	211 (20.7)
2015	41 (9.9)	149 (36.0)	33 (8.0)	16 (3.9)	82 (19.8)	44 (10.6)	49 (11.8)	414 (40.7)
2016	46 (13.1)	100 (28.6)	24 (6.9)	14 (4.0)	82 (23.4)	41 (11.7)	43 (12.3)	350 (34.4)
2017	5 (11.9)	8 (19.0)	4 (9.5)	1 (2.4)	11 (26.2)	7 (16.7)	6 (14.3)	42 (4.1)
Time on ART (p<0.001)								
≤3 months	54 (16.6)	89 (27.3)	29 (8.9)	13 (4.0)	47 (14.5)	41 (12.6)	52 (16.0)	325 (32.0)
3-6 months	18 (9.5)	62 (32.6)	13 (6.8)	8 (4.2)	31 (16.3)	30 (15.8)	28 (14.7)	190 (18.7)
6-12 months	25 (11.0)	79 (34.6)	12 (5.3)	17 (7.5)	42 (18.4)	25 (11.0)	28 (12.3)	228 (22.4)
12-24 months	16 (7.3)	76 (34.7)	17 (7.8)	9 (4.1)	75 (34.2)	13 (5.9)	13 (5.9)	219 (21.5)

Table 4.2: Patient outcomes disaggregated by patient demographic and clinical characteristics

>24 months	7 (12.7)	9 (16.4)	4 (7.3)	2 (3.6)	30 (54.5)	2 (3.6)	1 (1.8)	55 (5.4)
Baseline CD4 (p<0.001)								
<100	50 (24.3)	64 (31.1)	8 (3.9)	4 (1.9)	38 (18.4)	13 (6.3)	29 (14.1)	206 (20.2)
100-199	32 (17.3)	46 (24.9)	16 (8.6)	8 (4.3)	41 (22.2)	19 (10.3)	23 (12.4)	185 (18.2)
200-349	19 (7.3)	69 (26.4)	23 (8.8)	12 (4.6)	63 (24.1)	43 (16.5)	32 (12.3)	261 (25.7)
350-499	11 (5.7)	72 (37.3)	16 (8.3)	14 (7.3)	36 (18.6)	20 (10.4)	24 (12.4)	193 (19.0)
500+	8 (5.5)	53 (36.5)	11 (7.6)	10 (6.9)	41 (28.3)	12 (8.3)	10 (6.9)	145 (14.3)
Missing	0 (0)	11 (40.7)	1 (3.7)	1 (3.7)	6 (22.2)	4 (14.8)	4 (14.8)	27 (2.6)
Baseline WHO stage (p=	0.017)							
Ι	65 (9.0)	230 (31.8)	55 (7.6)	38 (5.3)	159 (22.0)	88 (12.2)	87 (12.0)	722 (71.0)
II	21 (14.7)	42 (29.4)	12 (8.4)	6 (4.2)	34 (23.8)	11 (7.7)	17 (11.9)	143 (14.1)
III	26 (20.1)	39 (30.2)	7 (5.4)	4 (3.1)	28 (21.7)	9 (7.0)	16 (12.4)	129 (12.7)
IV	5 (50.0)	1 (10.0)	1 (10.0)	0 (0)	2 (20.0)	0 (0)	1 (10.0)	10 (1.0)
Missing	3 (23.1)	3 (23.1)	0 (0)	1 (7.7)	2 (15.4)	3 (23.1)	1 (7.7)	13 (1.3)
Refill schedule (p<0.001))							
1 month	84 (12.5)	210 (31.2)	48 (7.1)	30 (4.5)	143 (21.3)	77 (11.4)	80 (11.9)	672 (66.1)
2 months	24 (10.3)	71 (30.5)	21 (9.0)	14 (6.0)	43 (18.4)	24 (10.3)	36 (15.5)	233 (22.9)
3 months	9 (11.4)	30 (38.0)	3 (3.8)	5 (6.3)	18 (22.8)	9 (11.4)	5 (6.3)	79 (7.8)
>3 months	3 (9.1)	4 (12.1)	3 (9.1)	0 (0)	21 (63.6)	1 (3.0)	1 (3.0)	33 (3.2)
Health Facility (p<0.001))							
Agincourt	27 (9.9)	66 (24.3)	15 (5.5)	11 (4.0)	110 (37.1)	21 (7.7)	22 (8.1)	272 (26.7)
Belfast	16 (8.6)	52 (28.0)	13 (7.0)	12 (6.4)	32 (17.2)	29 (15.6)	32 (17.2)	186 (18.3)
Cunningmore	11 (19.0)	21 (36.2)	8 (13.8)	1 (1.7)	7 (12.1)	5 (8.6)	5 (8.6)	58 (5.7)
Justicia	20 (16.7)	30 (25.0)	13 (10.8)	7 (5.8)	14 (11.7)	11 (9.2)	25 (20.8)	120 (11.8)
Kildare	16 (13.7)	50 (42.7)	10 (8.5)	8 (6.8)	14 (12.0)	9 (7.7)	10 (8.5)	117 (11.5)
Lillydale	19 (11.4)	51 (30.7)	9 (5.4)	7 (4.2)	37 (22.3)	24 (14.5)	19 (11.4)	166 (16.3)
Thulamahashe	3 (12.0)	4 (16.0)	1 (4.0)	0 (0)	7 (28.0)	6 (24.0)	4 (16.0)	25 (2.4)
Xanthia	9 (12.2)	41 (55.4)	6 (8.1)	3 (4.0)	4 (5.4)	6 (8.1)	5 (6.8)	74 (7.3)

	(P 1010 0 -)							
≤1 year	48 (9.1)	146 (27.8)	40 (7.6)	16 (3.0)	171 (32.5)	51 (9.7)	54 (10.3)	526 (51.7)
1-2 years	53 (14.4)	134 (36.3)	26 (7.0)	19 (5.1)	46 (12.5)	44 (11.9)	47 (12.7)	369 (36.3)
>2 years	19 (15.6)	35 (28.7)	9 (7.4)	14 (11.5)	8 (6.6)	16 (13.1)	21 (17.2)	122 (12.0)
AHDSS outcome (p<0.00	01)							
Still in HDSS	17 (3.4)	177 (35.0)	52 (10.3)	7 (1.4)	141 (27.9)	111 (22.0)	0 (0)	505 (49.7)
Deceased	70 (94.6)	4 (5.4)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	74 (7.3)
Migrated	22 (8.1)	86 (31.8)	19 (7.0)	34 (12.6)	58 (21.5)	0 (0)	51 (18.9)	270 (26.5)
Not linked	11 (6.5)	48 (28.6)	4 (2.4)	8 (4.8)	26 (15.5)	0 (0)	71 (42.3)	168 (16.5)

Time since last appointment (p<0.001)

Figure 4.7: Status of patients who were pregnant at ART initiation stratified by baseline CD4 count and years since their last clinic visit



Figure 4.8: Status of non-pregnant female patients stratified by baseline CD4 count and years since their last clinic visit



4.4.4. Causes of death

We managed to ascertain the probable cause of death for 58 (48.3%) of 120 deaths through verbal autopsy data from the HDSS. HIV/AIDS was indicated as the main cause of death for 10 (17.2%) deaths and acute respiratory infection for 11 (19.0%) deaths. Other causes included tuberculosis, malaria, cardiovascular disease, and neoplasms. These causes of death varied by ART initiation reason (Table 4.3).

	Pregnant women	Non-pregnant women	Men	Total
Primary cause	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Acute respiratory infection (including pneumonia)	2 (20.0)	6 (10.0)	3 (6.0)	11 (9.2)
HIV/AIDS related death	0 (0)	8 (13.3)	2 (4.0)	10 (8.3)
Pulmonary tuberculosis	1 (10.0)	0 (0)	4 (8.0)	5 (4.2)
Malaria	0 (0)	3 (5.0)	0 (0)	3 (2.5)
Oral neoplasms	0 (0)	0 (0)	1(2.0)	1 (0.8)
Digestive neoplasms	1 (10.0)	0 (0)	4 (8.0)	5 (4.2)
Reproductive neoplasms	0 (0)	2 (3.3)	0 (0)	2 (1.7)
Severe malnutrition	0 (0)	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.8)
Diabetes mellitus	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (4.0)	2 (1.7)
Acute cardiac disease	0 (0)	1 (1.7)	3 (6.0)	4 (3.3)
Stroke	0 (0)	2 (3.3)	0 (0)	2 (1.7)
Other and unspecified cardiac disease	0 (0)	2 (3.3)	1 (2.0)	3 (2.5)
Asthma	0 (0)	2 (3.3)	0 (0)	2 (1.7)
Acute abdominal condition	0 (0)	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.8)
Pregnancy induced hypertension	0 (0)	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.8)
Obstetric haemorrhage	1 (10.0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.8)
Pregnancy related sepsis	0 (0)	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.8)
Anaemia of pregnancy	1 (10.0)	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	2 (1.7)
Accidental exposure to smoke fire and flames	0 (0)	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.8)
No verbal autopsy data	4 (40.0)	28 (46.7)	30 (60.0)	62 (51.7)
Total	10	60	50	120

 Table 4.3: Probable causes of death as indicated by verbal autopsy data

4.4.5. Factors associated with death

Of 120 deaths, 48 (37.2%) occurred before the patient's next visit date, 42 (32.6%) occurred after the patient's next scheduled visit date but before they would have met the criteria for LTFU, 30 (23.3%) occurred after the patient had met the criteria for LTFU, and 9 (7.0%) had a missing date of death (Figure 4.9).

Figure 4.9: Timing of deaths disaggregated by sex and pregnancy status at ART initiation



In multivariable competing risk regression, being pregnant at ART initiation (aHR: 0.36, 95% C.I: 0.15-0.87), and longer time on ART (12-24 months aHR: 0.44, 0.23-0.85) were associated with lower hazard of death following LTFU. Older age (\geq 60 years aHR: 8.86, 3.90-20.14) and lower CD4 at ART initiation (<100 cells/µL aHR: 3.77, 2.31-6.15; 100-199 cells/µL aHR: 2.35, 1.49-3.69) were associated with a higher hazard of death (Table 4.4).

	HR (95% CI)	p-value	aHR (95% CI) n=932	p-value
Sex				
Female	Reference			
Male	2.10 (1.57, 2.81)	<0.001		
Age				
18-29	Reference		Reference	
30-44	2.68 (1.30, 5.51)	0.007	2.37 (0.98, 5.75)	0.056
45-59	4.73 (3.13, 7.15)	<0.001	2.96 (1.44, 6.08)	0.003
60+	11.31 (5.32, 24.06)	<0.001	8.86 (3.90, 20.14)	<0.001
ART reason				
Non-PMTCT	Reference	_	Reference	
PMTCT	0.17 (0.07, 0.43)	<0.001	0.36 (0.15, 0.87)	0.022
ART start year				
2014	1.29 (0.82, 2.04)	0.268		
2015	Reference	_		
2016	1.20 (0.67, 2.14)	0.536		
2017	1.28 (0.83, 1.97)	0.258		
Time on ART				
≤3 months	Reference	_	Reference	
3-6 months	0.56 (0.31, 0.99)	0.048	0.76 (0.46, 1.25)	0.276
6-12 months	0.74 (0.49, 1.13)	0.167	0.82 (0.56, 1.20)	0.307
12-24 months	0.53 (0.31, 0.91)	0.023	0.44 (0.23, 0.85)	0.015
>24 months	0.91 (0.41, 2.05)	0.828	0.60 (0.23, 1.56)	0.297
Baseline CD4				
<100	4.26 (3.11, 5.82)	<0.001	3.77 (2.31, 6.15)	<0.001
100-199	2.57 (1.60, 4.12)	<0.001	2.35 (1.49, 3.69)	<0.001
200-349	Reference		Reference	
350-499	0.78 (0.39, 1.55)	0.483	1.11 (0.53, 2.36)	0.776
500+	0.82 (0.24, 2.79)	0.756	1.13 (0.35, 3.67)	0.840
Baseline WHO stage				
I	Reference		Reference	
II	1.71 (0.98, 3.00)	0.061	0.86 (0.40, 1.86)	0.706
III	2.70 (1.77, 4.14)	<0.001	1.36 (0.94, 1.96)	0.102
IV	6.64 (3.08, 14.32)	<0.001	3.14 (1.14, 8.59)	0.026
Refill schedule				
1 month	Reference	_		
2 months	0.83 (0.37, 1.86)	0.647		
3 months	0.93 (0.49, 1.75)	0.824		
>3 months	0.74 (0.22, 2.42)	0.615		
Health Facility				
Agincourt	Reference		Reference	
Belfast	1.03 (0.97, 1.09)	0.345	0.80 (0.61, 1.05)	0.108
Cunningmore	3.14 (2.98, 3.31)	<0.001	3.39 (2.92, 3.94)	<0.001
Justicia	2.10 (1.98, 2.24)	<0.001	1.70 (1.55, 1.86)	<0.001
Kildare	1.90 (1.84, 1.95)	<0.001	1.08 (0.78, 1.50)	0.639
Bhubezi	1.26 (1.19, 1.34)	< 0.001	0.96 (0.73, 1.28)	0.810

Table 4.4: Factors associated with death

Thulamahashe	0.93 (0.91, 0.95)	<0.001	1.59 (1.15, 2.22)	0.005
Xanthia	1.75 (0.70, 1.80)	<0.001	1.98 (1.64, 2.38)	<0.001
Time since last appointment				
≤1 year	Reference	_	Reference	
1-2 years	1.57 (1.03, 2.39)	0.037	1.75 (1.10, 2.78)	0.018
>2 years	1.65 (0.73, 3.75)	0.228	0.81 (0.39, 1.67)	0.564

4.5. Discussion

We describe the treatment outcomes of HIV patients enrolled in care between April 2014 and August 2017 who had become LTFU in a rural South African setting as determined through a comprehensive record review and tracing study. Using multiple data sources and methods, we managed to ascertain the outcomes of 88% of the patients LTFU, a figure that is higher than most studies included in a recent systematic review of tracing studies in sub-Saharan Africa (15). We found that 31% of patients LTFU had transferred to another facility, 22% had re-engaged in care, and 12% of patients had died. These percentages varied by sex, reason for ART initiation and baseline CD4 cell count. The differences for pregnant and postpartum women are particularly pertinent given that they represent the first iterations of treatment as prevention and could provide an indication for what to expect with the move to test and treat for all PLHIV.

The proportion of patients reported as LTFU who had died in our study was substantially lower than the 42% and 39% reported in earlier systematic reviews of tracing studies from sub-Saharan Africa (14,15). Even if all the patients remaining LTFU after record review and tracing had died, mortality in our study would only rise to 24%. This lower percentage of deaths compared to the previous reviews is likely to be due to a healthier cohort of patients initiating treatment. We found that pregnant women were less likely to have died, an encouraging trend if it does translate to the general ART treatment population as less immunocompromised people begin to initiate ART. Mortality following LTFU may decrease further as universal test and treat policies result in growing proportions of asymptomatic patients initiating ART.

In competing risk survival analysis, being pregnant at ART initiation, higher baseline CD4 and longer time on ART were protective against death, while older age was found to be associated with a higher hazard of death following LTFU. Our findings suggest baseline CD4 cell count, WHO stage, and older age remain accurate measures for determining which patients are at highest risk for death (357,429,430), and these characteristics could be used to help prioritise tracing interventions. Whereas mortality risk appeared to wane with increasing CD4 at baseline for non-pregnant women and men, mortality appeared to be similar for all CD4 categories for women who initiated treatment for PMTCT. This may reflect the fact that their mortality risk was more influenced by other factors such as pregnancy related complications than by HIV (431,432). This could also be due to the fact that pregnant women were healthier in terms of WHO staging compared to non-pregnant women and men, given the same CD4 at baseline, also reflected by the lower proportion of pregnant patients with a baseline CD4 <100 cells/ μ L. This discrepancy could also be related to temporary declines in CD4 count during pregnancy (433).

Patients lost early on in treatment were at higher risk of death and this remained statistically significant even when controlling for baseline CD4, indicating that a longer duration on ART prior to attrition may reduce the risk of death. This protective effect appeared to be strongest for those who had been on ART 12-24 months before they became LTFU. This suggests that in settings with limited resources, tracing should be considered most urgent for newly ART-initiated patients who drop out of care. On the other hand, it might also indicate that some patients are still initiating treatment too late. In this study, 11% of non-pregnant patients had a CD4 cell count >500 cells/ μ L (compared to 23% of pregnant women), reflecting the fact that universal test and treat was not adopted in South Africa until September 2016 (93,434). Men were disproportionately over-represented in the <200 cells/µL baseline CD4 category despite South African guidelines for ART initiation with CD4<500 cells/ μ L having been in effect since January 2015 (435). Men especially appear to be harder to reach and come into care later, similar to findings from other studies (13,436–438), and emphasises the need to reach men earlier with ART (112,439,440).

However, as the proportion of LTFU attributable to mortality dwindles, other outcomes are likely to become more prevalent. In our study, transfer to another facility accounted for 31% of patients who were reported as LTFU, which is higher than a previous systematic review (15). Other studies have suggested transfers become more common as programmes expand and offer ART closer to patients' homes (15,441,442). Women were more likely to have transferred their care to another clinic. For pregnant women, this could reflect the higher mobility common during pregnancy and childbirth (102,443,444). Furthermore, given that the majority of these transfers were not reported to the sending facility similar to previous studies (15,16), these types of transfers could potentially lead to the spread of drug resistance in situations where ART experienced patients are offered regimens that have lost any therapeutic value due to drug resistance (445). Silent transfers may also lead to over-estimates of the number of people newly initiating ART and the number of people who have ever initiated ART. The current system of transferring patients could be improved by better referral systems, patient education, regular information exchange between clinics, and provider training (364).

We found that 7.4% of patients had stopped treatment, with this being more common for women who initiated ART while pregnant, which adds to findings from previous studies that suggest that feeling healthy contributes to attrition for pregnant women (240,339). This figure is lower than the 28.6% of treatment interruptions reported in a recent systematic review (15). This may suggest that interventions to reduce interruptions, including routine tracing, are working well in this setting, further supported by the number of reengagements in care that were observed in our study.

Our data showed that pregnant women and the general treatment cohort still differ significantly especially with regards to immune system markers such as CD4. However, with the advent of test and treat, these groups may increasingly become similar in this regard and hence outcomes for pregnant women living with HIV could represent what treatment programmes may expect to see in the future with regards to patients that become LTFU especially those of a similar age. With ART programmes in sub-Saharan Africa maturing, and with less immunologically compromised patients initiating ART, patients that become LTFU will be less likely to have died, while ART cessation or interruption and re-engagement in care are likely to become more common. Treatment programmes will increasingly need to reallocate resources to deal with improving the clinic transfer process and invest in tracing and psychosocial support to get patients back in care or else risk having high community viral load which may increase the probability of onward transmission. We showed that 6% of patients who were late for a scheduled appointment returned before they officially became categorised as LTFU. These patients in theory would have received the routine tracing intervention offering further evidence of its utility, in line with a previous study that has highlighted how early active tracing of patients LTFU may improve patient outcomes and retention in care (55).

Furthermore, given that most resolutions came through record review of tracing logbooks and clinic records, this study demonstrates that routine patient tracing still has utility for improving the completeness and accuracy of patient records. The availability of these data within the clinics suggests that routinely-collected data, especially those from the two organisations that assist in patient tracing needs to be better collated, integrated and recorded in order to ensure that patient outcomes are reflected in their clinic files and on TIER.Net. This study also demonstrates the utility of other data sources such as HDSS data. Given the push to integrate national ID numbers in patient profiles, clinics operating within similar health and demographic surveillance sites should consider liaising with these sites to improve the capture of deaths and migrations. Policy makers should also consider using South Africa's national death registry within clinics as this has been shown to be useful in other studies (446,447).

This study had several limitations. Firstly, the record review was crosssectional; we only consulted clinic records at one point in time, whereas, some of these records might have subsequently been updated. Furthermore, we only consulted HBC and RtC logbooks that were afforded to us and it is possible that we might have missed some with information on patients we were trying to find. The observational nature of the study limited our ability to assess predictive factors and causality. We failed to ascertain the outcomes for 12% of our cohort and this might introduce some downward bias to our estimates. Finally, as we only resolved cause of death in 48.3% of patients found to have died, this data should be interpreted with caution. As we attempted to trace all adult patients LTFU, rather than a sample, these results are likely to be generalisable to other rural sub-Saharan settings. A strength of this study is the utilisation of multiple data sources.

4.6. Conclusions

Our study offers evidence for the growing utility for routine patient tracing. The different distribution of outcomes among Option B+ women suggests that different programme mortality and attrition correction factors will be needed as universal test and treat becomes more established. Higher mortality among men emphasises the importance of programmatic efforts to reach men earlier and treatment programmes need to improve transfer procedures to make it more conducive for patients to move between clinics.

5. Paper B: Getting on with their lives: Understanding clinic transfers among HIV patients considered lost to follow-up in rural South Africa

Introduction to chapter:

This paper (B) utilises data from the record review and tracing study described in chapter 3 to examine objective 1. In this chapter, I comprehensively investigate transfer of care to another facility following LTFU. Transfers represented the most common outcome for patients considered LTFU through the PIRL database. The paper includes comparisons by sex and pregnancy status at ART initiation in order to examine transfers for Option B+ women in comparison to other adults on ART. The paper also presents factors that contribute to transfer of care following LTFU.



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student ID Number	1603703	Title	Mr		
First Name(s)	David	di.	(8)		
Surname/Family Name	Etoori				
Thesis Title	A mixed methods stud and health facility data follow-up among won antiretroviral therapy of Agincourt, South Afri	ly using linked demog a to investigate and co nen living with HIV v during pregnancy und ca	graphic surveillance ompare loss to vho initiated ler Option B+ in		
Primary Supervisor	Alison Wringe				

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?			
When was the work published?			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	-		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item.

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	AIDS Care
--	-----------

Improving health worldwide

Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	David Etoori, Chodziwadziwa Whiteson Kabudula, Alison Wringe, Brian Rice, Jenny Renju, Francesc Xavier Gomez- Olive, Georges Reniers
Stage of publication	Submitted

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of	I conceived the study, planned and executed the
your role in the research included in the	fieldwork. Supervised data collection in the field. I
paper and in the preparation of the paper.	conducted all the pertinent analyses and interpreted the
(Attach a further sheet if necessary)	findings. I drafted the manuscript.

SECTION E

Г

Student Signature		
Date	14/07/2020	

Supervisor Signature		
Date	14/07/2020	

٦

5.1. Abstract

Investigating transfers is important for accurate estimates of retention and informing interventions to support patients. We investigate clinic transfers for adults lost to follow-up (LTFU) from eight HIV care facilities in the Agincourt health and demographic surveillance system (HDSS), South Africa.

Using linked clinic and HDSS records, outcomes of adults more than 90 days late for their last scheduled clinic visit were determined through clinic and routine tracing record reviews, HDSS data, and supplementary tracing. Factors associated with transferring to another clinic were determined through Cox regression models. We also graphically and geospatially visualise these transfers.

Transfers were more common for women, patients living further from the clinic, and patients with higher baseline CD4. Transfers to clinics within the HDSS were more likely to be undocumented and were more common for women pregnant at ART initiation. Transfers outside the HDSS appeared to cluster around economic hubs, suggesting labour migration.

Patients transferring to health facilities within the HDSS may be shopping for better or more convenient care, whereas those who transfer out of the HDSS may be migrating for work. Treatment programmes should facilitate transfer processes for patients, ensure continuity of care among those migrating, and improve tracking of undocumented transfers.

5.2. Introduction

In 2016, the South African government launched the "test and treat" strategy providing antiretroviral therapy (ART) to all people living with HIV (PLHIV) regardless of CD4 count (93,95). By 2018, approximately 68% of the estimated 7.2 million PLHIV in South Africa were on ART (24,448).

Although ART expansion has improved life expectancy (174,449), several ART programmes in sub-Saharan Africa have reported higher rates of loss to follow-up (LTFU) among patients who initiated ART in more recent years (114,450,451). Increasing patient numbers have placed pressure on health systems, leading to longer waiting times and shorter counselling consultations for patients, which may increase LTFU (102,452). Asymptomatic or less severely ill patients initiating ART may not see the merits of remaining engaged in care (452,453), and higher rates of asymptomatic disease are linked to increased LTFU among women who initiate ART for prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) compared to the general population (89,454). High rates of LTFU present multiple challenges, including mortality and HIV transmission risk (56,455–457).

Misclassification of patients as LTFU may lead to biased estimates of death and retention. One study reported a five-fold underestimation of death and retention rates and an overestimation of attrition due to LTFU (425). As more healthy people initiate ART, less LTFU will be attributable to mortality (14,15). "Silent transfers" whereby sending facilities are unaware of the transfer, so it is unreported, majorly contribute to LTFU (15,90). This is exacerbated by decentralised ART provision in sub-Saharan Africa, reliance on paper-based registers, a lack of unique identifiers and poorly implemented electronic databases, making patients' movement between clinics difficult to track and document (99). Silent transfers might also be driven by patient practices, such as "clinic shopping" as programmes expand, and ART becomes increasingly available (15,53). One South African study reported an increase in transfers from 1.4% among patients enrolled in care between 2002-2004 to 8.9% for patients enrolled in 2009, following ART expansion (442).

Previous studies reported high mortality immediately following clinic transfers and return migration, attributed to patients with severe illness moving closer to home to be cared for in the expectation of death (405,428,458–460), or to better equipped facilities which could handle severely ill patients (428). However, evidence now shows a reduction in mortality for migrants following ART rollout (460). A similar trend may occur for clinic transfers more broadly. Patients can actively seek better quality care, hoping for improved outcomes (428,461). Whereas historically, migration selection effect has favoured participation of healthy individuals (462), studies are reporting increased participation in migration by physically healthier PLHIV (463). This has important implications for their continuity of care and consequently the potential transmission of HIV (464–466).

Recent research into patient mobility shows evidence of continued HIV care among patients considered LTFU after ART initiation (18,102). However, it is pertinent to understand how this mobility affects retention and the preventative benefits of ART (467), and contributes to silent transfers and over-estimation of LTFU.

We undertook a record review and patient tracing study in rural north-eastern South Africa to understand the outcomes of patients considered LTFU, from a network of eight public sector ART facilities. We utilised routinely collected data from the Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System (HDSS), linked to patient records from health facilities, to track patients' movement between health facilities. In this paper, we describe mobility of residents of the HDSS who initiated ART and who were recorded as LTFU, using geographic information system (GIS) mapping techniques and circular migration plots.

5.3. Methods

5.3.1. Setting

The Agincourt HDSS comprises 115,000 residents in 31 villages, located in Mpumalanga province, South Africa where HIV prevalence is 14.1% across all ages (20,468,469).

There are five primary health facilities (Belfast, Cunningmore, Justicia, Kildare and Xanthia) and three secondary community health centres (Agincourt, Bhubezi and Thulamahashe) within the HDSS. All health facilities routinely trace patients who are late for a scheduled clinic appointment, in conjunction with two non-profit organisations, Right to Care (RtC) and Home-Based Carers (HBC). Health facility staff contact patients by phone, with a home visit organised if necessary. Patients are classified LTFU 90 days after their scheduled visit if they have not returned or do not have an outcome ascertained through tracing.

Demographic surveillance

Fertility, mortality and migration data are collected annually from residents, based on a comprehensive household registration system, in operation since 1992 (20,413,414,470). Fieldworkers visit each household and interview the most knowledgeable adult available to obtain information on demographic events occurring since the last census (471).

Point-of-contact interactive record linkage (PIRL)

Since 2014, HIV patient visits to ART clinics in the area are logged by fieldworkers and linked to the HDSS using Point-of-Contact Interactive Record Linkage (PIRL) (103,104). In brief, a fieldworker conducts a short uptake interview with patients in the clinic waiting area. Consenting patients are asked for personal identifiers, used to search the HDSS database using a probabilistic algorithm. Matches are confirmed in interaction with the patients, and names of household members are used as a key attribute to adjudicate between possible matches.

5.3.2. Record review and tracing study

Through the PIRL database, we identified HDSS residents aged 18 years or older, enrolled after record linkage was established and more than 90 days late for a scheduled ART clinic appointment (LTFU) on August 15, 2017 (data extraction date).

Trained fieldworkers conducted a thorough record review on a case-by-case basis, comparing LTFU patients (against (a) TIER.Net (the South African national HIV treatment electronic database (100)) (b) patient clinic files, and (c) logbooks kept by RtC and HBC. The PIRL database was reviewed for duplicate patients (different clinical records linking to the same individual in the HDSS database, which was taken as evidence of silent transfers), and residency and vital status were extracted from the HDSS database. This was supplemented by an HBC home visit if no outcome could be ascertained and a further TIER.Net search at clinics close to patients' residences to capture further silent transfer. Data collection concluded in December 2018.

5.3.3. Definitions

A patient was defined as having transferred if they had reported taking treatment at another health facility, if the health facility at which they initiated ART had communicated with and ascertained their transfer to another health facility, or if there was a record of them collecting treatment from another health facility within the HDSS. An undocumented transfer was defined as one where the sending (origin) health facility was unaware and therefore did not have this recorded as a patient outcome within its system.

Socioeconomic status is an assets-based indicator constructed using household assets data collected by the HDSS (469).

5.3.4. Statistical analyses

Patient characteristics were summarised using counts and proportions for categorical variables and medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) for continuous variables. A Pearson's chi-square test was used to test for differences in categorical variables, while a rank sum test was used for continuous variables.

A Cox regression model was used to determine the factors associated with transfer to another health facility, with all other outcomes treated as right censored. Bi-variate analyses were conducted with variables that were hypothesised to have a relationship with health facility transfer. All variables with p<0.2 were included in the multivariable Cox regression model. A parsimonious model was achieved using Wald tests. All analyses accounted for clustering at the clinic level with robust standard errors. These analyses were performed in Stata 15 (418).

Patients' village of residence was ascertained through health facility and Agincourt HDSS records. A mid-point Global Positioning System (GPS) coordinate of the village was used to calculate the distance between patients' residence and the health facility where they initiated ART. To assess the patterns of movement between health facilities, we obtained decimal degree coordinates for origin and destination health facilities by querying Google Maps. Using ArcMap® 10.3.1 (420), the coordinates were imported to shapefiles with a WGS 1984 coordinate system. We then used ArcMap to spatially visualise the movements between health facilities.

We calculated geographical distances between the GPS coordinates for sending and destination health facilities. We compared the median transfer distances using the Kruskal-Wallis test for the equality of populations.

To visualise movements between health facilities within Agincourt HDSS, we used the Circlize package in R (419,421). A matrix of the volume of movements between health facilities was calculated for all transfers, stratified by the type of transfer (documented versus undocumented), and sex and pregnancy status at the time of ART initiation. These matrices were used to visualise flows between health facilities.

5.3.5. Ethics

Ethical approval was obtained from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, the University of Witwatersrand and the Mpumalanga Department of Health.

5.4. Results

5.4.1. Population characteristics

Over the study period, 1017 patients met the LTFU criteria and were eligible for inclusion. Of these 1017 patients, 280 (27.5%) initiated ART for PMTCT, 737 (72.5%) met the ART initiation criteria for non-pregnant adults. 767 (75.4%) were females and 307 (30.2%) had ever migrated out of the HDSS (Table 5.1). Table 5.1: Baseline characteristics of patients lost to follow-up and those who transferred, and factors associatedwith transfer to another facility

	LTFU	Transfers				
	1017	315			n=902	
DEMOGRAPHIC AND CLINIC	N (%)	N (%)	HR (95% CI)	p-values	aHR (95% CI)	p-values
VARIABLES						
Sex						
Female	767 (75.4)	258 (81.9)	Reference		Reference	
Male	250 (24.6)	57 (18.1)	0.64 (0.43, 0.94)	0.024	0.76 (0.56, 1.03)	0.078
Age ⁴						
18-29	333 (32.7)	117 (37.1)	1.18 (1.02, 1.37)	0.027		
30-44	484 (47.6)	147 (46.7)	Reference			
45-59	141 (13.9)	38 (12.1)	0.89 (0.50, 1.58)	0.681		
60+	58 (5.7)	13 (4.1)	0.84 (0.52, 1.34)	0.457		
Missing	1 (0.1)	0 (0)	_			
ART reason						
Non-PMTCT	737 (72.5)	233 (74.0)	Reference			
РМТСТ	280 (27.5)	82 (26.0)	0.79 (0.50, 1.26)	0.325		
ART start year						
2014	211 (20.8)	58 (18.4)	0.71 (0.46, 1.09)	0.122	0.80 (0.55, 1.15)	0.229
2015	414 (40.7)	149 (47.3)	Reference		Reference	

⁴ Age was assessed on August 15, 2017 the date that data was extracted from the PIRL database

2016	350 (34.4)	100 (31.7)	0.85(0.72, 1.01)	0.072	1.02 (0.82, 1.28)	0.827
2017	42 (4.1)	8 (2.5)	0.47 (0.23, 0.97)	0.042	0.49 (0.22, 1.10)	0.083
Time on ART						
≤3 months	325 (32.0)	89 (28.2)	Reference		Reference	
3-6 months	190 (18.7)	62 (19.7)	1.18 (0.84, 1.66)	0.337	1.25 (0.83, 1.89)	0.275
6-12 months	228 (22.4)	79 (25.1)	1.37 (1.11, 1.70)	0.004	1.31 (1.04, 1.66)	0.024
12-24 months	219 (21.5)	76 (24.1)	1.54 (1.26, 1.87)	<0.001	1.73 (1.46, 2.06)	<0.001
>24 months	55 (5.4)	9 (2.9)	0.83 (0.38, 1.79)	0.637	0.98 (0.46, 2.08)	0.96
Baseline CD4 ⁵						
<100	206 (20.2)	64 (20.3)	1.29 (1.07, 1.56)	0.008	1.43 (1.15, 1.77)	0.001
100-199	185 (18.2)	46 (14.6)	0.94 (0.74, 1.18)	0.581	1.02 (0.84, 1.24)	0.857
200-349	261 (25.7)	69 (21.9)	Reference		Reference	
350-499	193 (19.0)	72 (22.9)	1.51 (1.04, 2.19)	0.03	1.52 (1.03, 2.24)	0.037
500+	145 (14.3)	53 (16.8)	1.55 (1.12, 2.13)	0.007	1.57 (1.23, 2.01)	<0.001
Missing	27 (2.6)	11 (3.5)				
Baseline WHO stage						
Ι	722 (71.9)	230 (73.0)	Reference			
II	143 (14.1)	42 (13.3)	0.94 (0.73, 1.22)	0.651		
III	129 (12.7)	39 (12.4)	1.02 (0.68, 1.52)	0.924		
IV	10 (1.0)	1 (0.3)	0.36 (0.37, 3.56)	0.386		
Missing	13 (1.3)	3 (0.9)				
Refill schedule						

⁵ Blood for a baseline CD4 was drawn on the date of HIV diagnosis

1 month	672 (66.1)	210 (66.7)	Reference			
2 months	233 (22.9)	71 (22.5)	0.94 (0.78, 1.13)	0.49		
3 months	79 (7.8)	30 (9.5)	1.30 (0.88, 1.93)	0.185		
>3 months	33 (3.2)	4 (1.3)	0.46 (0.17, 1.22)	0.117		
Health Facility						
Agincourt	272 (26.7)	66 (20.9)	Reference		Reference	_
Belfast	186 (18.3)	52 (16.5)	1.01 (0.97, 1.05)	0.573	1.18 (1.03, 1.35)	0.015
Cunningmore	58 (5.7)	21 (6.7)	1.71 (1.66, 1.76)	<0.001	2.04 (1.75, 2.37)	<0.001
Justicia	120 (11.8)	30 (9.5)	0.86 (0.83, 0.89)	<0.001	1.06 (0.86, 1.30)	0.594
Kildare	117 (11.5)	50 (15.9)	1.80 (1.76, 1.84)	<0.001	2.14 (1.92, 2.38)	<0.001
Bhubezi	166 (16.3)	51 (16.2)	1.08 (1.05, 1.12)	<0.001	1.55 (1.40, 1.72)	<0.001
Thulamahashe	25 (2.5)	4 (1.3)	0.62 (0.60, 0.63)	<0.001	0.62 (0.54, 0.71)	<0.001
Xanthia	73 (7.2)	41 (13.0)	2.61 (2.53, 2.68)	<0.001	3.12 (2.96, 3.27)	<0.001
Time since last appointment						
≤1 year	526 (51.7)	146 (46.3)	Reference			
1-2 years	369 (36.3)	134 (42.5)	1.18 (1.00, 1.40)	0.051		
>2 years	122 (12.0)	35 (11.1)	0.70 (0.43, 1.14)	0.156		
Ever been late for a scheduled clinic	visit					
No	603 (59.3)	184 (58.4)	Reference			
Yes	414 (40.7)	131 (41.6)	1.12 (0.88, 1.41)	0.348		
	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)				
Distance to the clinic (KM) ⁶	3.91 (1.06, 6.36)	4.16 (0.65, 7.78)	1.03 (0.99, 1.08)	0.169	1.04 (1.01, 1.08)	0.019

⁶ Distance to the clinic is calculated using GPS coordinates for the clinic and GPS coordinates of the centre of the village of residence

SOCIO-ECONOMIC	VARIABLES
----------------	-----------

Ever migrated outside the HDSS				
Permanent resident	710 (69.8)	208 (66.0)	Reference	_
Migrant	307 (30.2)	107 (34.0)	1.17 (0.96, 1.43)	0.127
Education				
No formal education	47 (4.6)	13 (4.1)	1.19 (0.64, 2.22)	0.58
Some primary	240 (23.6)	76 (24.1)	Reference	_
Completed primary	79 (7.8)	29 (9.2)	1.26 (0.76, 2.09)	0.365
Some secondary	5 (0.5)	2 (0.6)	2.27 (0.44, 11.71)	0.329
Completed secondary	204 (20.1)	63 (20.0)	1.09 (0.89, 1.33)	0.397
Completed tertiary	19 (1.9)	6 (1.9)	0.88 (0.38, 2.06)	0.773
Missing	423 (41.6)	126 (40.0)	_	_
Marital status				
Single	385 (37.9)	132 (41.9)	Reference	_
Married	56 (5.5)	13 (4.1)	0.61 (0.46, 0.81)	0.001
Separated	75 (7.4)	19 (6.0)	0.64 (0.36, 1.13)	0.125
Informal union	83 (8.2)	27 (8.6)	0.85 (0.58, 1.26)	0.42
Divorced	29 (2.8)	11 (3.5)	1.28 (0.60, 2.71)	0.521
Widowed	46 (4.5)	11 (3.5)	0.85 (0.35, 2.04)	0.711
Missing	343 (33.7)	102 (32.4)	_	_
SES quintile ⁷				
1	134 (13.2)	35 (11.1)	Reference	<u> </u>

⁷ SES quintile is an assets-based measure calculated at household level in the Agincourt HDSS

2	137 (13.5)	49 (15.6)	1.43 (0.97, 2.11)	0.068
3	129 (12.7)	39 (12.4)	1.28 (0.82, 2.02)	0.275
4	136 (13.4)	40 (12.7)	1.19 (0.82, 1.73)	0.358
5	103 (10.1)	33 (10.5)	1.31 (0.93, 1.85)	0.121
Missing	378 (37.2)	119 (37.8)		
5.4.2. Transfer characteristics

Of 1017 patients LTFU, 315 (31.0%) had transferred to another facility. The proportion of transfers differed by sex (p=0.001), ART initiation year (p=0.02), time on ART (p=0.032), baseline CD4 (p=0.027), health facility (p<0.001), and time since last clinic appointment (p=0.021) (Figure 5.1).

Figure 5.1: Stacked bar graphs for variables for which the proportion of patients that transferred their care to another facility differs statistically



Of 315 transfers, 133 (42.2%) were documented at the sending health facility, 35 (11.1%) silent transfers were eventually reported to the sending health facility, and 147 (46.7%) remained undocumented at the sending health facility. Women were more likely to have transferred, with 82 of 280 (29%) women who initiated ART for PMTCT, and 176 of 487 (36%) non-pregnant women having transferred compared to 570f 250 (23%) men (p<0.001). Undocumented transfers were more common among women who initiated ART for PMTCT (69.5%, n=82), compared to (54.0%, n=176) for non-pregnant

women and (52.6%, n=57) for men (p=0.043). Undocumented transfers were more common among patients on shorter ART refill schedules (a proxy for care stability, p=0.043). One hundred forty-nine (47.3%) transfers occurred on or before the next scheduled clinical appointment, 43 (13.7%) occurred after the next scheduled appointment, but before the patient would have been considered LTFU, 111 (35.2%) happened after the patient would have been considered LTFU, and 12 (3.8%) were missing a transfer date.

One hundred thirty-one patients (41.6%) transferred to facilities within the HDSS, 89 (28.3%) to other health facilities in Mpumalanga province, 37 (11.8%) to Gauteng province, 25 (7.9%) to other provinces, 7 (2.2%) out of Mpumalanga province but with no new facility specified, 23 (7.3%) had transferred without any indication of their final destination, and 2 (0.6%) had transferred out of the country (1 to Mozambique and 1 to Zimbabwe). Transfers outside the HDSS were to economic hubs (Figure 5.2).

Figure 5.2: Maps of clinics attended for HIV care after transferring (A) near the HDSS and (B) within South Africa



Men were most likely to transfer to facilities outside the HDSS with 39/57 (68.4%) transferring to an outside facility, compared to 109/176 (61.9%) nonpregnant women, and 36/82 (43.9%) women who initiated treatment for PMTCT (p=0.006) (Figure 5.3). Undocumented transfers were more common for transfers within the HDSS 105/131 (80.1%) compared to 77/184 (41.8%) transfers outside the HDSS (p<0.001) (Figure 5.4). The proportion of undocumented transfers reduced for transfers in provinces further away with transfers to the Eastern Cape, Western cape, Northern Cape, and North West provinces all being documented.

Patients were out of care for a median of 22.5 days (IQR: 1, 245). Women who initiated treatment for PMTCT were out of care for a median of 129 days (IQR: 1, 324), compared to 8 days (IQR: 1, 183) for non-pregnant women and 33 days (IQR: 1, 313) for men (p=0.0014). Patients who transferred to a health facility within the HDSS were out of care a median of 206 days (IQR: 8, 437) compared to 1 day (IQR: 1, 63.5) for those who transferred to health facilities outside the HDSS (p=0.0001). Undocumented transfers were out of care longer than documented transfers (p=0.0001).

The median transfer distance was 13.73 kilometres (IQR: 8.97, 88.29). This differed statistically by reason for ART initiation (p=0.0392), with women who initiated ART for PMTCT having a median transfer distance of 9.99 kilometres (IQR: 8.97, 59.47) compared to 17.02 kilometres (IQR: 9.22, 99.99) for non-PMTCT patients. Median transfer distance also differed by sex (p=0.0414) with men transferring further away, ART initiation year (p=0.0087), type of transfer (p=0.0001), and health facility (p=0.0001) (Figure 5.5). The transfer distance was weakly negatively correlated with health facility distance (between village of residence and origin health facility) (coefficient = -0.0718) and time spent out of care (coefficient=-0.2457). The median health facility distance to those outside the HDSS (p=0.0001). Distance to the origin and destination health facilities was weakly negatively correlated for all transfers (coefficient=-0.0803) and transfers to health facilities within the HDSS (coefficient=-0.1774).

Figure 5.3: Circle plots to visualise patient transfers in the Agincourt HDSS disaggregated by pregnancy status at ART initiation (largest 50% for each group)



*The origins and destinations of transfers are represented by the colour-coded circle segments. The length of each segment represents all the movements in and out of the particular health facility and therefore longer circle segments represent higher number of transfers to and from that clinic. The inner segment represents movements out of a clinic. Segments closer together represent clinics that are geographically close to each other (within reason). The volume of movements is indicated by the width of the flow and the direction of the flow is encoded by the sending facility colour.

Figure 5.4: Circle plots to visualise patient transfers in the Agincourt HDSS disaggregated by type of transfer (largest 50% for each group)



Figure 5.5: Box plots of transfer distances disaggregated by ART initiation reason, pregnancy status at ART initiation, type of transfer, and year of ART initiation



5.4.3. Factors associated with transfer to another clinic

In multivariable Cox regression, patients on ART for 12-24 months when they became LTFU (aHR: 1.73, 95% CI: 1.46-2.06), and patients with baseline CD4 (<100 cells/µL aHR: 1.43, 1.15, 1.77; 350-499 cells/µL aHR: 1.52, 1.03-2.24; \geq 500 cells/µL aHR: 1.57, 1.23-2.01) were more likely to have transferred to another health facility. The hazard of transfer increased with increasing distance between a patient's village of residence and their health facility (aHR: 1.04, 1.01-1.08) (Table 5.1).

5.5. Discussion

Within a cohort of South African patients who had been categorised as LTFU, we found evidence of HIV care continuation, with 31% transferring their care to another facility. Similar to other studies (15,102), we found high levels of undocumented transfer. Women were more likely than men to transfer their care, with women who initiated treatment for PMTCT the least likely to have their transfer documented at the health facility where they initiated treatment, and the most likely to transfer to a health facility within the study area.

Mobility during pregnancy and after childbirth are high (102,443,444,456), and transfer patterns may reflect this. Longer time on ART, higher baseline CD4 and further distance to the health facility from patient residences were associated with higher risk of transferring to another facility.

Most transfers outside the HDSS study area were to economic hubs, including agricultural and mining towns, suggesting that these transfers were due to labour migration which is common in South Africa (472). As earlier studies suggested that PLHIV were moving back home to die (459,473), this migration is encouraging, suggesting that PLHIV feel healthy enough to work, and countering challenges early in the epidemic, when HIV mortality and morbidity disproportionately affected people of working-age (474). In our study, patients who initiated ART in later years transferred further away, suggesting programme expansion has led to healthier PLHIV initiating treatment, who may be more mobile. However, given that patients with CD4<100 cells/ μ L were more likely to transfer this might also show that there is still a substantial cohort of sicker patients moving back home to die.

The weak negative correlation between origin health facility distance and transfer distance may suggest "clinic shopping" (102), as patients who transferred to another health facility within the HDSS attended an origin health facility further from their village of residence. It might also reflect a rational decision to move to a closer facility as scale-up increases options. However, as patients who transferred to health facilities within the study area were more likely to be undocumented and were out of care longer than those who transferred outside the HDSS, other mechanisms such as stigma, fear of accidental disclosure, fear of healthcare worker reactions on reengaging at the same health facility, and a desire for anonymity may influence patients' decision to "shop" around local health facilities (102,245,283,285,289,329). Furthermore, as undocumented transfers were out of care longer, they may represent a loss of motivation to stay engaged in care. Women who initiated treatment for PMTCT were out of care longer, more likely to transfer to a health facility within the HDSS and healthier in terms of baseline CD4 and WHO staging, therefore "clinic shopping" might be more common for healthier, asymptomatic patients or women with young children may be less

inclined to migrate outside the HDSS. Longer time out of care could pose higher risks for mortality, vertical and horizontal transmission (187,456,457), suggesting the need for tailored interventions to address treatment interruptions among this population (475,476).

Undocumented transfers were common, especially for women who initiated treatment for PMTCT, less stable patients and transfers to health facilities within the HDSS. Undocumented transfers present several problems including the risk of amplification and transmission of HIV drug resistance when experienced patients are offered regimens with no therapeutic benefit (445). Furthermore, this can lead to over-estimation of the number of people newly initiated on ART and ever initiated on ART, biasing ART programme indicators. Finally, these undocumented outcomes affect estimations of retention in HIV care (15).

This study adds to extant evidence examining continued care among individuals considered LTFU after ART initiation in sub-Saharan Africa (14,17,54,477), and particularly transfer to other facilities (18,102). We provide detailed comparisons of transfers by reason for ART initiation, on types of transfers and factors associated with transferring to another facility. Our use of linked demographic surveillance and clinical data to ascertain outcomes for patients considered LTFU allowed us to utilise unique HDSS identifiers to follow patients between health facilities. However, not all clinic records were linked to a demographic surveillance record, which is a limitation to our analyses. Although unique identifiers are recommended by the World Health Organisation, these are not feasible in many settings (370). Facility-linked data improves the ability to follow patients and to monitor their long-term outcomes (18,371). Transfers to health facilities further away from the HDSS were more likely to be documented. However, we could only check the records of health facilities within the study area and might have missed undocumented transfers to health facilities outside the HDSS, potentially introducing bias. Undocumented transfers should become less prevalent with increased use of national IDs at health facilities and as TIER.Net becomes fully networked. The use of a centre point for each village to represent residence may introduce some bias to our findings. Furthermore, searching for patient outcomes

involved time consuming manual procedures and is more feasible as a research exercise than within routine clinical follow-up. Other data sources like the national reference lab database might improve ascertainment of transfers and has been shown to be feasible (102). Finally, given the small numbers, these results should be interpreted with caution.

5.6. Conclusions

Our findings suggest that an HIV diagnosis may no longer be viewed as a major impediment and people are getting on with their lives, with many transfers appearing linked to labour migration. We highlight the importance of ascertaining undocumented transfers as these individuals stay longer out of care, which has implications for onward transmission. As ART programmes continue to expand in sub-Saharan Africa, nationally linked treatment databases would improve the capture of transfers in highly mobile populations, to enable those who wish to transfer to do so, and to ensure continuity of care among migrants.

6. Paper C: Misreporting of patient outcomes in the South African national HIV treatment database: consequences for programme planning, monitoring and evaluation

Introduction to chapter:

This paper (C) uses data from the record review and tracing study described in chapter 3 to investigate objective 2. This paper was conceived as a means to appraise the performance of routine data sources (represented by electronic medical records) in accurately reporting patient treatment outcomes. The paper compares treatment outcomes ascertained through the record review and tracing study to outcomes reported in TIER.Net (South Africa's national HIV treatment database). The rationale for this exercise is to measure the bias of relying solely on one data source to measure retention in care. I also compare the magnitude of misclassification of treatment outcomes by sex and pregnancy status at ART initiation in order to explore whether misclassification differs significantly for pregnant and postpartum WLHIV compared to other adults on ART.



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.ishtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student ID Number	1603703	Title	Mr		
First Name(s)	David	\$9.	***E-		
Surname/Family Name	Etoori				
Thesis Title	A mixed methods stud and health facility data follow-up among won antiretroviral therapy Agincourt, South Afri	ly using linked demog a to investigate and co nen living with HIV w during pregnancy und ca	raphic surveillance mpare loss to who initiated er Option B+ in		
Primary Supervisor	Alison Wringe				

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Frontiers in Public Health			
When was the work published?	2020			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	No			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes	

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
--	--

Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of	I conceived the study, planned and executed the
your role in the research included in the	fieldwork. Supervised data collection in the field. I
paper and in the preparation of the paper.	conducted all the pertinent analyses and interpreted the
(Attach a further sheet if necessary)	findings. I drafted the manuscript.

SECTION E

Student Signature		
Date	14/07/2020	

 \sim

Supervisor Signature		
Date	14/07/2020	

6.1. Abstract

Background: Monitoring progress toward global treatment targets using HIV programme data in sub-Saharan Africa has proved challenging. Constraints in routine data collection and reporting can lead to biased estimates of treatment outcomes. In 2010, South Africa introduced an electronic patient monitoring system for HIV patient visits, TIER.Net. We compare treatment status and outcomes recorded in TIER.Net to outcomes ascertained through detailed record review and tracing in order to assess discrepancies and biases in retention and mortality rates.

Methods: The Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System (HDSS) in north-eastern South Africa is served by eight public primary healthcare facilities. Since 2014, HIV patient visits are logged electronically at these clinics, with patient records individually linked to their HDSS record. These data were used to generate a list of patients >90 days late for their last scheduled clinic visit and deemed lost to follow-up (LTFU). Patient outcomes were ascertained through a review of the TIER.Net database, physical patient files, registers kept by two non-government organisations that assist with patient tracing, cross-referencing with the HDSS records and supplementary physical tracing. Descriptive statistics were used to compare patient outcomes reported in TIER.Net to their outcome ascertained in the study.

Results: Of 1074 patients that were eligible for this analysis, TIER.Net classified 533 (49.6%) as LTFU, 80 (7.4%) as deceased, and 186 (17.3%) as transferred out. TIER.Net misclassified 36% of patient outcomes, overestimating LTFU and underestimating mortality and transfers out. TIER.Net missed 40% of deaths and 43% of transfers out. Patients categorized as LTFU in TIER.Net were more likely to be misclassified than patients classified as deceased or transferred out.

Discussion: Misclassification of patient outcomes in TIER.Net has consequences for programme forecasting, monitoring and evaluation. Undocumented transfers accounted for the majority of misclassification, suggesting that the transfer process between clinics should be improved for more accurate reporting of patient outcomes. Processes that lead to correct classification of patient status including patient tracing should be strengthened. Clinics could cross-check all available data sources before classifying patients as LTFU. Programme evaluators and modelers could consider using correction factors to improve estimates of outcomes from TIER.Net.

6.2. Introduction

At the end of 2017, it was estimated that there were 36.9 million people living with HIV (PLHIV) worldwide, with 70% of the disease burden situated in sub-Saharan Africa (24,448). The World Health Organisation's (WHO) revised HIV treatment guidelines in 2015 call for immediate provision of lifelong antiretroviral therapy (ART) to all people testing positive for HIV. By the end of 2017, 60% of PLHIV in sub-Saharan Africa were on ART (24,448). Whilst ART initiation rates have been increasing over time, in order to reduce HIV transmission rates and achieve 90-90-90 AIDS elimination goals, there is a need for accelerated increases in treatment adherence and retention in care (98,478,479). South Africa has the largest population of PLHIV worldwide, with an estimated 18.8% of the adult population aged 15-49 years old living with HIV, representing 7.2 million people (24,448). By the end of 2018, an estimated 68% of PLHIV in South Africa were on ART (24,448).

The rapid growth in access to ART has accentuated the need for an affordable and accurate way to monitor and evaluate treatment programmes (480–482), including documenting the number of people alive and on treatment, and programme impact on mortality. In the past, the progress of patients on ART was mainly monitored through patient cohorts (483) and tallying numbers of services rendered to inform resource allocation (482). However, evaluation of HIV programmes has proved challenging due to multiple data constraints. These include concerns about data reliability (482), and continued use of paper registers which often lack unique identifiers, suffer from incompleteness (99), and are cumbersome to use with increasing patient numbers and length of patient follow-up (100,101). Another major concern is "silent transfers" whereby patients change clinics informally and without accompanying documentation, a phenomenon which has become more prevalent with the expansion of ART programmes (15,484). As a result, there is concern that many high-burden countries are ill-equipped to report on the outcomes of patients in care and on treatment (480,481,485–487).

In order to address these concerns, many countries are scaling-up the use of electronic patient registers (100). However, challenges persist including insufficient linkages between clinics (99), insufficient training of staff who are responsible for entering this information (99), and staff shortages (488–491), resulting in some staff responsible for data management being stretched across multiple roles (492). This sometimes leads to poor workflow, and staff resistance which results in poor change management. Privacy and security issues (492) are also a major concern.

In 2010, South Africa adopted TIER.Net, a three-tiered monitoring approach involving paper registers (TIER 1 – recommended for facilities with less than 500 patients), an offline electronic register (TIER 2 – recommended for facilities with 500-2000 patients) and networked electronic medical records (TIER 3 – recommended for facilities with more than 2000 patients) (100). This allowed for different tiers to be implemented in each facility based on the context and resources available at the time of implementation and typically involved a phased evolution, beginning with preparation for TIER.Net, installation and training, back capturing, live capturing and finally a live site able to produce monthly and quarterly reports with staff on-site to manage it. In 2014, an estimated 3000 out of 4000 public sector clinics in South Africa were using TIER.Net (493,494) in one of the three phases of implementation. As of 2017, TIER 3 was still in its pilot phase (495).

ART patient outcomes have evolved since the start of national HIV treatment programmes. In several cohort studies of ART programmes in sub-Saharan Africa, there have been reports of higher rates of LTFU among patients who initiated ART in later years compared to earlier years (114,450,451). This may be explained by patients increasingly initiating treatment while less severely ill (453), as well as a negative consequence of patient numbers increasing such as facility workloads (452), raising concerns about the sustainability of these programmes. Some systematic reviews have shown that the percentage of patients LTFU who have died has decreased in later years as eligibility criteria have evolved to include less immunologically compromised patients, and as the proportion of patients LTFU has increased (14,15). Furthermore, scale-up and decentralisation of these programmes means ART can be offered at clinics closer to patients' homes, which may serve as an incentive to self-transfer in order to continue treatment at more convenient locations (15,53). Unpublished TIER.Net analyses from 2018 showed LTFU rates to range from 11%-15% in the first three months and from 27%-34% in the first year of ART (Y.Pillay, HIV Think-tank update, March 19, 2019). The high percentages of LTFU present many issues. Firstly, if these patients have really stopped ART then they have a higher mortality risk (56,455,496), and are more likely to transmit HIV (48,187,456,457). Given that patients that are LTFU have poorer outcomes, LTFU can also through misclassification bias event rates such as mortality downwards (497), leading to biased performance indicators for ART programmes. Accurate mortality rates are also important as they are used as parameters for projections such as in the UNAIDS spectrum package (498,499).

We compare patient outcomes recorded in TIER.Net to the outcomes ascertained through a record review and tracing study for patients deemed lost to follow-up in eight public sector health facilities in rural north-eastern South Africa. We aimed to assess misreporting in TIER.Net and potential biases in the national programme statistics reported from the TIER.Net database.

6.3. Methods

6.3.1. Setting

The Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System (Agincourt HDSS) is located in rural north-eastern South Africa, in Mpumalanga province which has the second highest prevalence of HIV at 14.1% (468). HIV prevalence among people 15 years of age or older in the HDSS was estimated at 19.4% in 2010 (398). The Agincourt HDSS comprises of 31 villages covering an area of 475 square kilometres with an estimated population of 115,000 people (20,469).

There are five primary health facilities and three secondary community health centres located within the Agincourt HDSS. Every HIV-positive patient has a clinical file that is opened when they first register at an ART clinic and updated at each clinic visit. Following the clinic visit, visit-level information from the patient file is entered into the national electronic database, TIER.Net. All health facilities routinely trace patients that are late for a scheduled clinic appointment. This tracing is done in conjunction with two non-profit organisations, Right to Care (RtC) and Home-Based Carers (HBC). Clinic staff must contact all patients first by phone and if this does not yield a satisfactory outcome, a home visit is organised. Patients are classified as lost to follow-up (LTFU) if they have not returned 90 days after their scheduled visit.

6.3.2. Demographic surveillance

Data collection aims to capture all demographic events for the Agincourt HDSS population. Fertility, mortality and migration data are based on a comprehensive household registration system that has been in operation since 1992. Following the baseline demographic surveillance survey in 1992 and three update rounds until 1998, the site has conducted annual surveys since 1999 (20,413,414,470). Trained fieldworkers visit each household and interview the most knowledgeable adult available. During the visit, individual-level information on all household members is checked and updated and any events that have occurred since the last census round are recorded. Starting in 2017, data have been collected utilising an electronic data collection system using tablets (471).

6.3.3. Point-of-contact interactive record linkage (PIRL)

A key element of the data infrastructure for this study consists of HIV patient visit logs collected by a study fieldworker in the health facilities that provide ART in the area. This work started in April 2014 at seven government facilities and was extended in 2016 to include one additional health facility. In addition to logging patient visits, these records are linked to the Agincourt HDSS using a procedure that we have previously described as Point-of-Contact Interactive Record Linkage (PIRL) (103,104). In brief, a fieldworker conducts a short uptake interview with patients in the waiting area of the clinic. Patients who consent are asked to declare a few personal identifiers that are used to search a local copy of the Agincourt HDSS database using a probabilistic algorithm. Matches are confirmed in interaction with the patients, and the names of other household members are used as a key attribute to adjudicate between possible matches.

6.3.4. Record review and tracing study

Through the PIRL database, we identified patients who were more than 90 days late for a scheduled clinic appointment from HIV services on August 15, 2017 (the date of data extraction) at any of the eight health facilities located in

the Agincourt HDSS area. These patients were recruited into a cohort and followed up to ascertain their treatment and vital status i.e. whether they were still alive.

All PLHIV aged 18 years or over, who had ever declared residency in Agincourt HDSS, and had enrolled in the HIV treatment and care programme since 2014 (after the Agincourt HDSS record linkage was established at the health facilities) were eligible for inclusion in the study.

Trained and supervised fieldworkers conducted a thorough record review, comparing the list of patients LTFU against (a) TIER.Net (b) patient clinic files, and (c) logbooks kept by the RtC and the HBC. The PIRL database was also reviewed for duplicate patients (different clinical records linking to the same individual in the Agincourt HDSS database, which was taken as evidence of silent transfers), and residency and vital status were extracted from the Agincourt HDSS database. This was done on a case-by-case basis.

HBC conducted a visit to the households of all patients for whom a definitive outcome (defined as death, transfer out, stopped ART, migrated, re-engaged in care, and alive with ART status unknown) could not be established, or for whom routine patient tracing was not done. Finally, all patients who remained LTFU after the HBC visit, were searched for in TIER.Net databases at clinics in close proximity to their home residence to capture any further silent transfers.

We also reviewed the records for a stratified random sample of 162 patient records who were not LTFU as of August 15, 2017, in order to assess whether TIER.Net misclassified any patients that were still in care. This sample was chosen to include 18 patients from every clinic (6 men, 6 non-pregnant women and 6 women who initiated ART while pregnant) with the exception of one clinic which had recently merged with another, and from which we sampled 18 patients who had enrolled whilst in each of the clinics prior to the merger.

Table 6. 1: Definitions of terms used

Term	Definition
The last	The last scheduled appointment for each patient as of
appointment	August 15, 2017, when we generated the list of patients
	deemed LTFU.
TIER.Net	The treatment status of the patient as recorded in
treatment	TIER.Net during the comprehensive record review.
status	
The final	The outcome ascertained for each patient through the
outcome	record review and tracing process.
Data error	A situation in which a patient was found still in care and
	<90 days late for their last appointment. Some data
	errors occurred because visit dates had not been
	properly entered in the PIRL database. Patients
	categorised as a data error were excluded from our
	analyses.
Re-	A patient was considered to have re-engaged in care if
engagement	they were found to be still in care at the same clinic
	where they initiated treatment but were >90 days late
	for their last appointment (had been LTFU).
Transfer out	A patient was considered to have transferred if they had
	either reported taking treatment at another clinic (for
	clinics outside the Agincourt HDSS), if their ART
	initiation clinic had communicated with and ascertained
	their transfer to another clinic, or if there was record of
	them collecting treatment at another clinic within the
	Agincourt HDSS.
Migration	A patient was classified as having migrated out of the
	study site if they were recorded as having migrated
	through the Agincourt HDSS demographic surveillance,
	this migration event happened after their last clinic visit
	date and there was no proof that they were taking
	treatment at another facility.

Alive and not	A patient was considered alive and not on ART if they				
on ART	had been found and had said they had stopped ART,				
	denied their HIV status or refused to return to the clinic.				
Alive with	A patient was considered alive with ART status				
ART status	unknown if they were found to still be alive through the				
unknown	most recent Agincourt HDSS demographic surveillance,				
	with a surveillance date after their last clinic visit and				
	there was no proof that they were taking treatment at				
	any facility.				

6.3.5. Statistical analyses

For patients included in the record review and tracing study, we calculated counts and proportions for socio-demographic and baseline clinical characteristics, TIER.Net treatment status, the final outcome, and crosstabulated TIER.Net status and the final outcome.

To assess the degree and direction of misreporting of patient outcomes in TIER.Net, we graphically present TIER.Net treatment status and the final outcome proportions by some selected patient characteristics. A Pearson's chisquare test was used to compare whether TIER.Net treatment status and the final outcome varied by all the categorical variables. We also present a cross-tabulation of patient outcomes from the two sources.

A binary outcome variable was created to indicate whether TIER.Net had misclassified a patient's treatment status, with a second outcome created to identify whether the patient was recorded as LTFU in TIER.Net. All cases where an electronic record could not be found were removed from further analysis.

To explore factors associated with misclassification in TIER.Net, we ran bivariate analyses with patient-level treatment characteristics, demographic characteristics and facility-level characteristics. All variables with p<0.1 were included in the multivariable logistic regression model. A parsimonious model was achieved using Wald tests. This same procedure was followed in order to understand what factors were associated with being reported LTFU in TIER.Net. All analyses were conducted in Stata 15 (418) and all data visualisation was done using R (419).

6.3.6. Ethics

Ethical approval was obtained from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, the University of Witwatersrand and the Mpumalanga Department of health.

6.4. Results

6.4.1. Database population characteristics

Over the study period, 4089 patients were added to the PIRL database and met the inclusion criteria. Of these 4089, 1325 (32.4%) met the LTFU criteria and were eligible for inclusion into the record review and tracing study. Of these 1325 patients, 166 (12.5%) did not have an ART initiation date and were assumed to be pre-ART. Further investigation of these 166 patients found 46 (27.7%) had initiated ART after record linkage, 59 (35.5%) were genuine pre-ART patients and 61(36.7%) had initiated ART before record linkage began. These 61 patients were excluded from further analyses. Of the remaining 1264 patients, 190 (15.0%) were found to have data errors (mostly due to missing clinic visits in the PIRL database) and were excluded from further analysis (Figure 6.1).

Figure 6.1: Numbers of patients that were eligible at each stage and the number of patients excluded at each stage



Of 1074 remaining patients, 280 (26.1%) initiated ART for prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT), 737 (68.6%) met the ART initiation criteria for non-pregnant adults, and 57 (5.3%) had not initiated ART yet (pre-ART).

Thirteen (8.0%) of the 162 patients still in care were excluded from the analysis because they had not declared residency in the HDSS. The remaining 149 from the random sample of patients still in care were also assessed to see if misclassification also occurred for those who remained engaged in care (Table 6.2).

	Not in sample		Sample	
	Still in care	Still in care	LTFU	Data error
	2615	149	1074	190
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Sex				
Female	2016 (77.1)	94 (63.1)	807 (75.1)	147 (77.4)
Male	599 (22.9)	55 (36.9)	266 (24.8)	42 (22.1)
Missing	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.1)	1 (0.5)
Age				
18-29	559 (21.4)	18 (12.1)	350 (32.6)	39 (20.5)
30-44	1298 (49.6)	76 (51.0)	509 (47.4)	102 (53.7)
45-59	544 (20.8)	36 (24.2)	152 (14.1)	38 (20.0)
60+	212 (8.1)	19 (12.7)	60 (5.6)	10 (5.3)
Missing	2 (0.1)	0 (0)	3 (0.3)	1 (0.5)
ART reason				
Non-PMTCT women	1533 (58.6)	54 (36.2)	487 (45.3)	101 (53.1)
PMTCT women	431 (16.5)	40 (26.9)	280 (26.1)	45 (23.7)
Men	598 (22.9)	55 (36.9)	250 (23.3)	42 (22.1)
Pre-ART	0 (0)	0 (0)	57 (5.3)	2 (1.1)
Missing	53 (2.0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
ART start year				
2014	320 (12.2)	62 (41.6)	211 (19.6)	41 (21.6)
2015	773 (29.6)	42 (28.2)	414 (38.6)	84 (44.2)
2016	951 (36.4)	32 (21.5)	350 (32.6)	54 (28.4)
2017	571 (21.8)	13 (8.7)	42 (3.9)	9 (4.7)
Missing	0 (0)	0 (0)	57 (5.3)	2 (1.1)
Time on ART				
<=3 months	190 (7.3)	10 (6.7)	325 (30.3)	15 (7.9)
3-6 months	260 (9.9)	2 (1.3)	190 (17.7)	9 (4.7)
6-12 months	560 (21.4)	23 (15.4)	228 (21.2)	41 (21.6)
12-24 months	842 (32.2)	40 (26.8)	219 (20.4)	75 (39.5)
>24 months	763 (29.2)	74 (49.7)	55 (5.1)	48 (25.3)
Missing	0 (0)	0 (0)	57 (5.3)	2 (1.1)
Baseline CD4				
<100	468 (17.9)	25 (16.8)	220 (20.5)	20 (10.5)
100-199	476 (18.2)	18 (12.1)	193 (18.0)	37 (19.5)
200-349	656 (25.1)	40 (26.9)	267 (24.9)	50 (26.3)
350-499	464 (17.7)	34 (22.8)	198 (18.4)	50 (26.3)
500+	455 (17.4)	30 920.1)	164 (15.3)	33 (17.4)
Missing	96 (3.7)	2 (1.3)	32 (3.0)	0 (0)
Refill schedule				
1 month	1056 (40.4)	38 (25.5)	714 (66.5)	72 (37.9)
2 months	1016 (38.8)	77 (33.7)	240 (22.3)	64 (33.7)

Table 6.2: Database population characteristics

3 months	314 (12.0)	26 (17.4)	86 (8.0)	17 (8.9)
>3 months	229 (8.8)	8 (5.4)	34 (3.2)	37 (19.5)
Health Facility				
Agincourt	540 (20.6)	18 (12.1)	282 (26.3)	160 (84.2)
Belfast	379 (14.5)	16 (10.7)	191 (17.8)	2 (1.0)
Cunningmore	227 (8.7)	15 (10.1)	74 (6.9)	0 (0)
Justicia	284 (10.9)	18 (12.1)	122 (11.4)	3 (1.6)
Kildare	462 (17.7)	18 (12.1)	120 (11.1)	6 (3.2)
Lillydale/Bhubezi	487 (18.6)	35 (23.5)	181 (16.8)	11 (5.8)
Thulamahashe	89 (3.4)	14 (9.4)	27 (2.5)	8 (4.2)
Xanthia	147 (5.6)	15 (10.1)	77 (7.2)	0 (0)
Agincourt HDSS outcome				
Still in HDSS	1827 (69.9)	107 (71.8)	530 (49.3)	122 (64.2)
Deceased	2 (0.1)	0 (0)	83 (7.7)	1 (0.5)
Migrated	503 (19.2)	37 (24.8)	282 (26.3)	56 (29.5)
Not linked	283 (10.8)	5 (3.4)	179 (16.7)	11 (5.8)
Time since last appointment	•			
<=1 year			539 (50.2)	
1-2 years	—		392 (36.5)	
>2 years			143 (13.3)	

Not in sample: All patients eligible for the study but not LTFU in the PIRL database and not included in the still in care sample; **Sample:** All patients included in the study (149 still in care, 1264 LTFU=1074 really LTFU + 190 data errors); **Data error:** Patients included as LTFU but found to be still in care and <90 days late for their last appointment; For ART start year data from 2017 reflects number of ART initiations up to mid-August when data extraction occurred

6.4.2. TIER.Net treatment status

Of the 1074 patients who remained eligible for this analysis, 533 (49.6%) were categorized as LTFU, 222 (20.7%) as still in care, 186 (17.3%) as transferred out, 80 (7.5%) as deceased, and 53 (4.9%) could not be found in the TIER.Net database (Table 6.3).

There was a statistically significant difference (all p<0.001) in the TIER.Net treatment status by sex, age, ART initiation status and reason, year of ART initiation, baseline CD4 count, time on ART, clinic visit schedule, health facility, and time since a missed appointment (Figure 6.2). Women who initiated ART for PMTCT were less likely to be categorized as deceased and more likely to be LTFU. All 149 patients sampled as still in care were also reported as still in care in TIER.Net.

Table 6.3: Disaggregated TIER.Net treatment status

			TIER.Net status			
	LTFU	Deceased	Transferred	Still in care	Not found	Total
	533	80	186	222	53	1074
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Age						
18-29	191 (54.6)	8 (2.3)	60 (17.1)	74 (21.1)	17 (4.9)	350
30-44	253 (49.7)	41 (8.1)	88 (17.3)	103 (20.2)	24 (4.7)	509
45-59	66 (43.4)	18 (11.8)	28 (18.4)	32 (21.0)	8 (5.3)	152
60+	23 (38.3)	13 (21.7)	9 (15.0)	12 (20.0)	3 (5.0)	60
Missing	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	3
ART initiation						
Pregnant women	172 (61.4)	5 (1.8)	41 (14.6)	54 (19.3)	8 (2.9)	280
Non-pregnant women	217 (44.6)	36 (7.4)	106 (21.8)	112 (23.0)	16 (3.3)	487
Men	124 (49.6)	35 (14.0)	34 (13.6)	52 (20.8)	5 (2.0)	250
Pre-ART	20 (35.1)	4 (7.0)	5 (8.8)	4 (7.0)	24 (42.1)	57
ART start year						
2014	108 (51.2)	25 (11.8)	30 (14.2)	41 (19.4)	7 (3.3)	211
2015	213 (51.4)	27 (6.5)	85 (20.5)	76 (18.4)	13 (3.1)	414
2016	179 (51.1)	20 (5.7)	62 (17.7)	81 (23.1)	8 (2.3)	350
2017	13 (30.9)	4 (9.5)	4 (9.5)	20 (47.6)	1 (2.4)	42
Missing	20 (35.1)	4 (7.0)	5 (8.8)	4 (7.0)	24 (42.1)	57
Time on ART						
<=3 months	184 (56.6)	34 (10.5)	49 (15.1)	46 (14.1)	12 (3.7)	325
3-6 months	115 (60.5)	8 (4.2)	34 (17.9)	26 (13.7)	7 (3.7)	190
6-12 months	116 (50.9)	16 (7.0)	50 (21.9)	42 (18.4)	4 (1.7)	228
12-24 months	82 (37.4)	12 (5.5)	45 (20.5)	76 (34.7)	4 (1.8)	219
>24 months	16 (29.1)	6 (10.9)	3 (5.4)	28 (50.9)	2 (3.6)	55
Missing	20 (35.1)	4 (7.0)	5 (8.8)	4 (7.0)	24 (42.1)	57
Baseline CD4						
<100	92 (41.8)	42 (19.1)	43 (19.5)	33 (15.0)	10 (4.5)	220
100-199	108 (56.0)	15 (7.8)	28 (14.5)	37 (19.2)	5 (2.6)	193
200-349	147 (55.1)	11 (4.1)	42 (15.7)	58 (21.7)	9 (3.4)	267
350-499	96 (48.5)	6 (3.0)	43 (21.7)	45 (22.7)	8 (4.0)	198
500+	70 (42.7)	5 (3.0)	28 (17.1)	46 (28.0)	15 (9.1)	164
Missing	20 (62.5)	1 (3.1)	2 (6.2)	3 (9.4)	6 (18.7)	32
Time since last appoi	intment					
<=1 year	223 (41.4)	29 (5.4)	86 (16.0)	187 (34.7)	14 (2.6)	539
1-2 years	228 (58.2)	34 (8.7)	75 (19.1)	30 (7.6)	25 (6.4)	392
>2 years	82 (57.3)	17 (11.9)	25 (17.5)	5 (3.5)	14 (9.8)	143



Figure 6.2: TIER.Net treatment status by (a) ART initiation status and (b) time since the last clinic appointment

PMTCT (pregnant women) less likely to have died and more likely to be LTFU. Men most likely to have died, second most likely to be LTFU. Pre-ART more likely not to have an electronic record. Not found is mostly pre-ART patients. Might be an electronic record was never started for them. It might also be that they got a new file number once they initiated ART. Percentage deceased and LTFU increases the longer a patient has not been seen at the clinic.

6.4.3. Outcomes after record review and tracing study

Of the 1074 patients who remained eligible for this analysis, 326 (30.3%) were found to have transferred to another clinic, 234 (21.8%) to have re-engaged in care, 132 (12.3%) were deceased, 117 (10.9%) were alive with ART status unknown, 81 (7.5%) were alive but not on treatment, 53 (4.9%) had migrated to another place of residence, and 131 (12.2%) were still LTFU (Table 6.4). These outcomes differed (all p<0.001) by sex, age, ART initiation status and reason, baseline CD4 count, time on ART, clinic visit schedule, health facility, whether the patient record was successfully linked to an Agincourt HDSS record, and time since a missed appointment (some selected variables illustrated in Figure 6.3).

Table 6.4: A cross-tabulation of TIER.Net treatment status and the final outcome

TIER.Net status						
	Deceased	Lost to follow-	Not	Still in	Transferred	Total
		up	found	care	out	
Final Outcome	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
LTFU	0 (0)	112 (21.0)	9 (17.0)	10 (4.5)	0 (0)	131 (12.2)
Deceased	80 (100)	38 (7.1)	8 (15.1)	6 (2.7)	0 (0)	132 (12.3)
Alive/Not on	0 (0)	70 (13.1)	3 (5.7)	8 (3.6)	0 (0)	81 (7.5)
ART						
Migrated	0 (0)	47 (8.8)	5 (9.4)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	53 (4.9)
Transferred	0 (0)	116 (21.8)	8 (15.1)	16 (7.2)	186 (100)	326 (30.4)
Re-engaged	0 (0)	56 (10.5)	9 (17.0)	169 (76.1)	0 (0)	234 (21.8)
Alive/ART	0 (0)	94 (17.6)	11 (20.8)	12 (5.4)	0 (0)	117 (10.9)
unknown						
Total	80	533	53	222	186	1074



Figure 6.3: Outcomes ascertained through record review and tracing stratified by (a) ART initiation status and (b) time since the last clinic appointment

likely to still be LTFU. Pre-ART and men more likely to have died.

someone has been disengaged.

6.4.4. Differences between TIER.Net treatment status and Final outcomes

Records of patients who had died or transferred out documented in TIER.Net aligned with patients' final outcome (i.e. no inaccuracies found for these two statuses). However, TIER.Net misclassified 52 (39.4%) of 132 deaths. Of these 52, 38 (73.1%) were classified as LTFU, 6 (11.5%) as still in care, and 8 (15.4%) were not found in the system at all.

TIER.Net also misclassified 53 patients as still in care. Of these, 10 (18.9%) were found to be LTFU, 16 (30.2%) to have transferred, 12 (22.6%) as alive with unknown ART status, 8 (15.1%) alive but not on treatment, 6 (11.3%) to have died, and 1 (1.9%) to have migrated to another place of residence. TIER.Net correctly captured 186 (57.1%) of 326 transfers.

Of 533 patients classified as LTFU by TIER.Net, 116 (21.8%) were found to have transferred to another clinic, 70 (13.1%) to be alive but not on treatment, 47 (8.8%) to have migrated to another place of residence, 38 (7.1%) to have died, and 56 (10.5%) to have re-engaged in care (38 of whom were resolved by new visit data in the PIRL database and so it is possible that their TIER.Net status could have also changed back to still in care) (Figure 6.4 & Figure 6.5).

Figure 6.4: Outcomes ascertained through record review and tracing stratified by TIER.Net status



A deceased or transferred status in TIER.Net is accurate. There are inaccuracies in the LTFU and still in care categories. Some patients categorised as still in care are LTFU, not currently on treatment, transfers out or dead.





As patients classified as LTFU in TIER.Net were more likely to be misclassified we report on the factors associated with being classified as LTFU in TIER.Net.

6.4.5. Factors associated with being categorised as LTFU in TIER.Net

In the multivariable model (Table 6.5), initiating ART for PMTCT (OR: 1.69, p=0.004) and baseline CD4 between 100-349 (CD4 100-199 OR: 1.76, p=0.012, CD4 200-349 OR: 1.72, p=0.01) were associated with higher odds of being categorised as LTFU in TIER.Net. Older age (age 30-44 OR; 0.71, p=0.042), later ART initiation date (2016 OR: 0.43, p<0.001, 2017 OR: 0.12, p<0.001), and longer time on ART (6-12 months OR: 0.61, p=0.015, 12-24 months OR:0.35, p<0.001, >24 months OR: 0.20, p<0.001) were associated with lower odds of being categorised as LTFU in TIER.Net. Likelihood of being categorised as LTFU also varied by health facility with Belfast (OR: 3.11, p<0.001), Justicia (OR: 2.54, p<0.001) and Bhubezi (OR: 3.82, p<0.001) more likely to classify patients as LTFU when compared to Agincourt clinic.

	cOR (95%CI)	p- value	aOR (95% CI) (n=963)	p- value
Sex				
Female	Reference			
Male	0.92 (0.69 to 1.22)	0.554		
Age				
18-29	Reference		Reference	
30-44	0.81 (0.61 to 1.07)	0.143	0.71 (0.51 to 0.99)	0.042
45-59	0.63 (0.42 to 0.93)	0.021	0.64 (0.39 to 1.03)	0.065
60+	0.50 (0.28 to 0.89)	0.019	0.53 (0.28 to 1.02)	0.059
ART reason				
Non-PMTCT women	Reference		Reference	
Pregnant women	2.01 (1.48 to 2.73)	< 0.001	1.69 (1.18 to 2.43)	0.004
Men	1.20 (0.88 to 1.63)	0.249	1.24 (0.88 to 1.76)	0.219
Pre-ART	1.80 (0.88 to 3.70)	0.11		
ART start year				
2014	Reference		Reference	
2015	1.01 (0.71 to 1.41)	0.967	0.77 (0.51 to 1.16)	0.209
2016	0.98 (0.69 to 1.38)	0.892	0.43 (0.27 to 0.68)	< 0.001
2017	0.41 (0.20 to 0.84)	0.015	0.12 (0.05 to 0.31)	< 0.001
Baseline CD4		Ŭ		
<100	Reference		Reference	
100-199	1.73 (1.16 to 2.58)	0.007	1.76 (1.13 to 2.73)	0.012
200-349	1.70(1.17 to 2.45)	0.005	1.72(1.14 to 2.59)	0.01
350-499	1.31(0.88 to 1.94)	0.179	1.22(0.77 to 1.93)	0.4
>=500	1.14(0.74 to 1.73)	0.552	0.99(0.60 to 1.64)	0.96
Health Facility		0.00-		01)0
Agincourt	Reference		Reference	
Belfast	3.28 (2.21 to 4.86)	< 0.001	3.11(2.02 to 4.79)	< 0.001
Cunningmore	2.00(1.17 to 3.43)	0.012	1.64 (0.89 to 3.05)	0.114
Justicia	2.90(1.86 to 4.52)	< 0.001	2.54(1.56 to 4.13)	< 0.001
Kildare	1.63(1.05 to 2.53)	0.020	1.56(0.07 to 2.50)	0.067
Lillvdale/Bhubezi	2.70(2.51 to 5.72)	<0.029	2.82(2.40 to 6.06)	<0.007
Thulamahashe	1.11(0.48 to 2.55)	0.805	0.00(0.25 to 2.24)	0.82
Xanthia	1.06(0.62 to 1.80)	0.834	1.00(0.56 to 1.77)	0.087
PIRL linkage	1.00 (0.02 to 1.00)	0.004	1.00 (0.00 to 1.//)	0.907
Not linked	Reference			
Linked	0.81(0.58 to 1.12)	0.218		
Time since missed ann	ointment	0.210		
< 1 vear	Reference			
1-2 years	222(160 to 202)	< 0.001		
>2 years	2.22(1.09 to 2.92) 2.26(1.50 to 2.52)	<0.001		
Clinic visit schedule	2.30 (1.39 to 3.32)	(0.001		
1 month	Reference			
2 months	1 14 (0.84 to 1.52)	0.204		
2 months	1.14(0.04(0.1.05))	0.394		
> months	0.90(0.37 to 1.44)	0.009		
Time on ART	0.30 (0.13 to 0.00)	0.004		
<=2 months	Reference		Reference	
2-6 months	1 10 (0.81 to 1.70)	0.979	0.01(0.60 to 1.00)	0.661
5-0 months	0.75(0.01(01./2))	0.3/3	0.91(0.00(01.39))	0.001
12-12 months	0.75(0.53(01.00))	C0 001	0.01(0.41(0.0.91))	CO 001
>24 months	0.40 (0.30 (0.02))	<0.001	0.30 (0.22 to 0.54)	<0.001
~24 monuis	0.30(0.1000.5))	100.07	0.20(0.09(0.043))	<0.001

Table 6.5: Factors associated with being classified as LTFU in TIER.Net.

Figure 6.6: Proportion of patients misclassified by TIER.Net disaggregated by final outcome, sex, and pregnancy status at ART initiation



6.4.6. Factors associated with misclassification

In the multivariable model (Table 6.6), men (OR: 1.47, p=0.021) had higher odds of misclassification when compared to women who initiated ART for non-PMTCT reasons (CD4, WHO stage, tuberculosis coinfection). Higher baseline CD4 (CD4 100-199 OR: 1.95. p=0.002, CD4 \geq 500 OR: 1.81, p=0.014) was also associated with higher odds of misclassification when compared to patients who initiated treatment with CD4<100. Health facility also remained statistically significant suggesting that facility level variability plays a role in misclassification. Patients who were linked to an Agincourt HDSS record in the PIRL database (OR: 2.09, p<0.001) were more likely to be misclassified. Finally, patients who were between 1 to 2 years late (OR: 1.62, p=0.001) were more likely to be misclassified. Older age (30-44 years OR: 0.73, p=0.046, 45-59 years OR: 0.63, p=0.046) was associated with lower odds of misclassification and patients on longer refill schedules (>3 months OR: 0.31, p=0.009) were less likely to be misclassified.

Table 6.6: Factors associated with	n TIER.Net misclassification
------------------------------------	------------------------------

	cOR (95%CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value
			(n=1074)	
Sex				
Female	Reference			
Male	1.08 (0.82 to 1.43)	0.584		
Age				
18-29	Reference			
30-44	0.81 (0.62 to 1.07)	0.141	0.73 (0.54 to 0.99)	0.046
45-59	0.62 (0.41 to 0.92)	0.017	0.63 (0.40 to 0.98)	0.041
60+	0.72 (0.40 to 1.27)	0.253	0.70 (0.37 to 1.33)	0.279
ART reason				
Non-PMTCT women	Reference		Reference	
Pregnant women	1.64 (1.22 to 2.20)	0.001	1.28 (0.92 to 1.78)	0.142
Men	1.34 (0.98 to 1.82)	0.063	1.47 (1.06 to 2.06)	0.021
Pre-ART	1.69 (0.83 to 3.47)	0.149	1.26 (0.57 to 2.78)	0.568
ART start year				
2014	Reference			
2015	1.11 (0.79 to 1.54)	0.556		
2016	1.08 (0.76 to 1.52)	0.671		
2017	0.92 (0.47 to 1.80)	0.8		
Baseline CD4				
<100	Reference		Reference	
100-199	1.83 (1.22 to 2.74)	0.003	1.95 (1.28 to 2.97)	0.002
200-349	1.29 (0.87 to 1.90)	0.201	1.45 (0.96 to 2.19)	0.074
350-499	1.32 (0.88 to 1.99)	0.183	1.52 (0.98 to 2.37)	0.063
>=500	1.62 (1.05 to 2.49)	0.029	1.81 (1.12 to 2.91)	0.014
Health Facility				
Agincourt	Reference		Reference	
Belfast	2.42 (1.66 to 3.52)	<0.001	1.97 (1.30 to 2.97)	0.001
Cunningmore	2.01 (1.16 to 3.49)	0.013	1.64 (0.91 to 2.96)	0.101
Justicia	2.25 (1.46 to 3.47)	<0.001	1.96 (1.21 to 3.17)	0.006
Kildare	1.74 (1.12 to 2.71)	0.015	1.42 (0.89 to 2.28)	0.14
Bhubezi	2.53 (1.73 to 3.71)	< 0.001	2.26 (1.50 to 3.41)	<0.001
Thulamahashe	1.14 (0.50 to 2.60)	0.762	1.47 (0.64 to 3.36)	0.363
Xanthia	1.74 (1.01 to 2.98)	0.045	1.86 (1.07 to 3.24)	0.028
PIRL linkage				
Not linked	Reference		Reference	
Linked	1.59 (1.10 to 2.29)	0.014	2.09 (1.41 to 3.10)	<0.001
Time since missed	appointment			
< 1 year	Reference		Reference	
1-2 years	1.89 (1.44 to 2.46)	<0.001	1.62 (1.21 to 2.17)	0.001
>2 years	1.58 (1.06 to 2.34)	0.025	1.34 (0.87 to 2.07)	0.181
Clinic visit schedul	e			
1 month	Reference		Reference	
--------------	------------------------	--------	---------------------	-------
2 months	0.96 (0.72 to 1.28)	0.793	0.97 (0.71 to 1.34)	0.872
3 months	1.00 (0.64 to 1.57)	0.99	0.95 (0.59 to 1.52)	0.832
>3 months	0.19 (0.08 to 0.44)	<0.001	0.31 (0.13 to 0.74)	0.009
Time on ART				
<=3 months	Reference			
3-6 months	0.83 (0.57 to 1.20)	0.314		
6-12 months	0.72 (0.51 to 1.01)	0.055		
12-24 months	0.59 (0.42 to 0.83)	0.003		
>24 months	0.32 (0.18 to 0.56)	<0.001		

6.5. Discussion

In this paper, we described the discrepancies between the treatment, vital and residency status of HIV patients enrolled in care between April 2014 and August 2017 in a rural South African setting as recorded in the national treatment database (TIER.Net) and their treatment outcome following a comprehensive record review and tracing study.

We found that TIER.Net misclassified 36% of the patient outcomes. ART initiation reason, baseline CD4, health facility attended, PIRL linkage, time since the last appointment, age, and ART refill schedule were all found to be significantly associated with misclassification. TIER.Net underestimated mortality and overestimated the number of patients who were LTFU. Seventynine percent of patients classified as LTFU in TIER.Net had a final outcome ascertained, mirroring findings from a systematic review of low and middle income country ART programmes which found that tracing generated higher estimates of mortality and lower estimates of LTFU (52). Our findings show that LTFU is still an important problem in ART programmes in this setting, even with routine patient tracing in place. TIER.Net also missed 43% of transfers with these silent transfers being the biggest contributor to misclassification among those documented as LTFU. We also found that 21.8% of patients had re-engaged in care, a phenomenon that was previously not well understood, but which is now increasingly recognised as becoming a common feature of ART programmes (52). Using our findings to revise LTFU figures to reflect re-engagement may help improve programme evaluation and forecasting.

In our study, we found that 40% of deaths were missed by TIER.Net, indicating that mortality of ART patients would be underestimated if relying on this data source. Given the role that national statistics play in HIV/AIDS projections (498–500), our findings suggest a need for correction factors for the estimates of the effect of ART on mortality. Although South Africa has a good vital registration system in place (501), these data are not currently linked to clinic-based information. However, with the move to registering patient national ID numbers, clinics should consider matching patients that are LTFU to the national death registry and other available databases such as the national health laboratory services database to ascertain vital status as this has proved useful in other studies in South Africa (102,446,447). Clinics in the Agincourt HDSS study area and other HDSS sites could also consider using vital status data from annual demographic surveillance to ascertain vital status for all patients.

The number of patient transfers to another clinic that were missed in TIER.Net suggests that communication between clinics is sub-optimal and that the current system for transferring patients between clinics can be improved. With studies reporting patient fear and concern about provider reactions if they return to care after a treatment interruption (367,502) it is possible that some patients considered it less stressful to self-transfer or restart treatment at another nearby clinic, rather than returning to the facility where they had initiated treatment. These silent transfers could lead to double counting of patients currently on treatment, the second of the 90-90-90 targets, potentially suggesting that the programme is performing better than it is. Furthermore, given that the national treatment programme relies on data from TIER.Net to plan and procure ART based on active patient numbers, misclassification in the database, and more specifically double-counting due to silent transfers may lead to inaccurate drug forecasts and misestimation of medicines and other commodities at the national level. This bias will only increase as the South African ART programme expands with more patients potentially moving into new clinics closer to their homes and more people initiate ART with the move to test and treat. Future work will consider how application of correction factors from this research would change programme statistics and drug forecasts.

It is also important to consider the risk that silent transfers pose with regards to drug resistance, as this misclassifies treatment experienced patients as treatment naïve and may lead to patients being offered regimens that have lost their optimal therapeutic benefit. This is particularly concerning because resistance testing is not commonly used in these settings, and can potentially lead to increases in levels of transmitted drug resistance (445). Better referral systems, patient education, regular information exchange between clinics, and provider training (364), could improve recording of transfers and clinic staff attitudes towards less adherent patients. The WHO also recommends enforcement of unique identifiers as paramount to improve patient safety, improve the efficient use of programme resources by reducing duplications, and to improve programme monitoring and evaluation (370). With national IDs becoming mandatory at clinic registration, information exchange could prove useful in identifying silent transfers. This should also become less of an issue when TIER.Net is upgraded to a fully networked database.

We found several factors to be associated with misclassification of outcome in TIER.Net, with older age and longer ART refill schedules found to be protective factors. Older patients were less likely to be classified as LTFU in TIER.Net which probably explains why they were subsequently less likely to be misclassified. Given that longer ART refill schedules are synonymous with previous good adherence (503), these patients accounted for 11% of the patients LTFU and were also more likely to have re-engaged in care, a category that contributed very little to misclassification. Patients whose clinic record was successfully linked to an Agincourt HDSS record in the PIRL database were more likely to be misclassified. They were also more likely to have been resolved which could explain this association. Health facilities were also positively associated with misclassification, with the facilities with the highest proportion of patients classified as LTFU in TIER.Net being more likely to misclassify patients. Two of these clinics also had issues with routine tracing, with one clinic not undertaking any physical tracing at all, emphasising an additional benefit of routine tracing. Finally, patients who had been LTFU for a longer duration were more likely to be classified as LTFU in TIER.Net, more likely to have transferred to another clinic, and less likely to have re-engaged in care which probably explains their higher likelihood of misclassification.

This analysis has several limitations. Firstly, TIER.Net was only consulted at a specific point in time. The cross-sectional nature of TIER.Net outcomes means that some may have changed, but we would have no way to ascertain this. We checked TIER.Net 12 months after the initial record review for all patients whose outcome after record review and tracing was still LTFU and 85% of the outcomes had not changed. However, for patients whose final outcome was resolved through new visit data in the PIRL database, it is likely that their TIER.Net outcome also changed. It is also possible that some of the patients categorised as LTFU in TIER.Net are due to the rigidity of the system as TIER.Net only allows for four possible outcomes; still in care, transferred out, LTFU and deceased (100,504,505). It is possible that for some patients, their outcomes were ascertained, but the rigidity meant that they could not be recorded in the database and may call for the inclusion of other possible outcomes in the database. The exclusion of patients for whom an electronic record could not be found from the multivariable analyses might bias our findings. However, given the relatively small number we expect that this bias is fairly small. Finally, we did not adjudicate causes of death, so it is possible that patients died from causes other than those related to HIV/AIDS. A strength of this study is that we attempted to trace all patients that were LTFU and not a sample. Therefore, the findings might be more generalisable to other settings. The multiple methods, data sources and levels of follow-up used to trace patients are also a strength.

6.6. Conclusions

Although TIER.Net misclassified 36% of patient outcomes, this reflects the various challenges with the processes and upstream factors that lead to this misclassification and calls for their improvement rather than the utility of the database itself, as patients classified as LTFU were most likely to be misclassified. Clinics should consider training staff about ascertaining patient outcomes, putting more emphasis into patient tracing and using other data sources such as the national death register to improve ascertainment of patient treatment outcomes. For policy and planning purposes, programme evaluators should consider using correction factors to improve the accuracy of estimates from TIER.Net.

7. Paper D: "If the results are negative, they motivate us." Experiences of early infant diagnosis of HIV and engagement in Option B+.

Introduction to chapter:

This paper (D) utilises data collected through the in-depth interviews to explore objective 3. Many qualitative papers cited in the literature review have considered factors ranging from biomedical, to individual, and structural to explain maternal engagement in care. During the conception phase of this research, some published literature described the importance of pregnancy in fostering engagement in care by giving women a legitimate explanation for the need to take their medication and attend the clinic. However, no published literature had explored infant characteristics and outcomes and their association with engagement in care for the mother in the postpartum period. Given that protecting the child is a major motivating factor for ART initiation, this was an important literature gap that needed exploration.

Initial exploration of the data generated through the IDIs showed EID to be an important thematic area. This paper was conceived as a means to explore the interaction between postpartum women's experiences of EID and their engagement in care. This paper also provides a way to conceptualise this interaction. The rationale for this paper is to encourage the inclusion of the pregnancy and its outcomes in the exploration of maternal outcomes as maternal engagement in care is additionally complicated by the needs of the infant. The mother and infant are a dyad. Failure to recognise this fact is detrimental to both the mother and the infant.



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student ID Number	1603703	Title	Mr
First Name(s)	David		
Surname/Family Name	Etoori		
Thesis Title	A mixed methods stud and health facility data follow-up among won antiretroviral therapy Agincourt, South Afri	y using linked demog to investigate and co ten living with HIV w during pregnancy und ca	graphic surveillance ompare loss to who initiated er Option B+ in
Primary Supervisor	Alison Wringe		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Global Public Health			
When was the work published?	2020			2.4
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	No			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes	

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?
--

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

SECTION E

		A10	
Student Signature			
Date	14/07/2020		

Supervisor Signature		
Date	14/07/2020	

7.1. Abstract

Few studies have explored the relationship between early infant diagnosis (EID) of HIV and mothers' engagement in care under Option B+. We conducted in-depth interviews with 20 women who initiated antiretroviral therapy (ART) under Option B+ in rural South Africa to explore the interactions between EID and maternal care engagement. Drawing on practice theory, we identified themes relating to Option B+ care engagement and EID.

Women's practice of engagement with HIV care shaped their decision-making around EID. Mothers who disengaged from care during pregnancy were less inclined to utilise EID as they lacked information about its availability and benefits. For some mothers, tensions between wanting to breastfeed and perceptions that it could facilitate transmission led to repeated utilisation of EID as reassurance that the child remained negative.

Some mothers used their child's negative result as a proxy for their status, subsequently disengaging from care. For some participants, an HIV diagnosis of their infant and the subsequent double burden of treatment visits for themselves and their infant, contributed to their disengagement.

Women's care-seeking practices for themselves and their infants work in a symbiotic ecosystem and should be viewed interdependently to tailor interventions to improve EID uptake and Option B+ care engagement.

7.2. Introduction

By 2015, Option B+, which involves initiating all HIV positive pregnant women on antiretroviral therapy (ART) regardless of immunological stage (9) and testing all exposed infants (183) had been adopted as national policy for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (PMTCT) programmes in the majority of sub-Saharan African countries, including South Africa (402). Option B+ has dramatically increased the number of pregnant women initiating ART, however retention has been challenging, particularly in the postnatal period and after breastfeeding cessation (69,241,305,318). Attrition from Option B+ programmes contributes to morbidity and mortality linked to ART cessation (56,455,496). Furthermore, if the women are not virally suppressed it increases their potential onward transmission both horizontally and vertically (in their current or subsequent pregnancies) (456,457,506). In addition, for PMTCT programmes to be effective, mothers need to attend services to receive prophylaxis for new-borns, test their infants (early infant diagnosis (EID)) and for those who test positive, initiate them onto lifelong ART.

Serological assays used for adult testing are not reliable for infants given that maternal HIV antibodies can persist in infants up to 18 months. EID seeks to establish the presence of HIV infection in children less than 18 months old through DNA polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing. EID allows for HIV-infected infants to be linked to care and treatment early, which reduces infant morbidity and mortality (260,262,507). Ninety percent of HIV exposed infants (HEI) should be tested by eight weeks according to the World Health Organisation global targets, but EID uptake in many sub-Saharan African countries is suboptimal (110,227,264), with only half of HEI in 21 priority countries reported to have been tested in 2015 (26).

A growing body of qualitative research has explored underlying reasons for poor retention across the Option B+ cascade (237,241,245,249). Many of these reasons mirror those identified among the general population on ART, including stigma, grappling with the lifelong commitment of daily treatment-taking (255,339), denial of HIV status (240,245,319,355), and treatment side effects (251,289,353,508). Other reasons that are specific to Option B+

included still feeling healthy, and lack of readiness to start ART when still coming to terms with a recent positive diagnosis (237,286), especially in settings where same-day ART initiation is offered and expected (239). Disengagement from care following transfer from PMTCT programmes to routine care can occur if women have to attend different HIV clinics for themselves and their child (257), or if they have not yet disclosed to anyone, and post pregnancy they no longer have an easy explanation to attend HIV clinics or take daily medication (245), or they do not have anyone they can leave the baby with (289). Some post-partum women feel their babies are no longer at risk of HIV transmission and no longer feel the need to take medication (289), while others who experience post-partum depression may also struggle to remain engaged in care (366).

An infant's engagement in care is inextricably linked to that of the mother, however EID rates are lower than maternal care engagement (35,509), suggesting additional factors drive this poor uptake. Poor quality counselling, fear of stigma, fear of disclosure, costs of multiple clinic visits, and a lack of service integration have been highlighted as barriers to achieving optimal EID coverage (263,326,510–513). The stressfulness of EID for the mother, lack of knowledge regarding EID and infant ART, the perception of health care workers as authority figures, fear of disclosure of own and/or child's HIV status, lack of psychosocial support, and intent to shorten the life of the child have also been shown to be significant barriers and facilitators of EID (267,514). However, few studies have investigated how experiences with EID may influence a mother's engagement and retention in care. Given that one key motivation for mothers to start ART is to prevent transmission to their baby (237), a positive EID result for example could be a direct cause of disengagement.

Practice theory is increasingly being used to understand HIV engagement in sub-Saharan African settings (80-82). Practice theorists treat practices – the elements that shape our perceptions, interpretations and actions – as their primary units of enquiry and contend that people's practices can be explained by generic 'elements' which include materials or tools required to enact a practice, symbolic meanings associated with a practice, and competence and

know-how to enact a practice. Each individual has a constellation of practices that they engage in, with some of these practices interacting either harmoniously or in conflict. Consequently, the enactment of one practice is likely to affect other practices (83,85–87). Shove (87) and Schatki et al (86) speak of "bundles of practices" to describe such a grouping of inter-reliant practices and encourage the understanding of how these bundles evolve, share and compete for resources through their connections.

We draw on theories of practice in our analysis to explore how the practices of engaging in HIV care and utilising EID are socially situated, being shaped by the materials, competences and meanings in the lives of women offered Option B+ in a rural South African setting.

7.3. Methods

7.3.1. Study design and setting

Data for this analysis are part of a larger mixed methods study which aimed to ascertain patients' treatment outcomes after they become lost to follow-up and to explore experiences of HIV services, disengagement and re-engagement in care from the perspective of people living with HIV living in Agincourt in rural South Africa. The larger parent study (not included in these analyses) involved a comprehensive record review of clinic records of patients meeting the LTFU criteria, as well as supplementary tracing by community healthcare workers (HCWs) (116).As part of this larger parent study, we conducted thirty-two IDIs between January and February 2018 (20 Option B+ women, 7 non-Option B+ women, and 5 men).

The qualitative sub-study presented here includes the IDIs conducted with Option B+ women living with HIV (n=20, 7 not engaged in care) who had given birth since 2015 and who resided in the area covered by the Agincourt health and demographic surveillance system (AHDSS) in rural Bushbuckridge, Mpumalanga province, north-eastern South Africa in 2017 (20).

The AHDSS has been tracking demographic and health events in Tsonga or Shangaan people since 1992. The populace of approximately 115,000 people spread over 30 villages is served by eight government health facilities: five clinics and three community health centres. PMTCT services have been offered in all facilities since 2004, with Option B+ starting in 2015. Participants in the AHDSS who attend health facilities in the study area give consent to have their clinic records linked to their demographic surveillance data.

7.3.2. Sampling and recruitment

We drew up a sampling frame using the linked AHDSS and clinic database of all patients who initiated ART during pregnancy since 2015. We then recruited participants purposively to ensure diversity in terms of age, parity, clinic attended, and current treatment status. We utilised home Global Positioning System (GPS) coordinates collected routinely by the AHDSS to locate potential participants including those currently disengaged from care, many of whom have been lost to the health system and as a result are under-represented in research (422). Avoiding recruitment through health services was also to help limit bias that may arise from refusals that might result from participants' perceptions that recruitment was an attempt to re-engage them in care.

Participants were approached and invited by a fieldworker who explained the study. This population is routinely studied through demographic surveillance and participants give permission to be contacted at home for further research, so contact with fieldworkers is not unusual and would not inadvertently breach their privacy. Participants received an information sheet with study details and contact information and were asked to give written informed consent prior to the interview.

The first author, a male PhD student, trained and supervised five female fieldworkers who conducted the interviews, four of whom had previous experience with conducting IDIs. The research team emphasised their role as researchers to participants to minimise the power dynamics that may be associated with patient provider interactions.

Trained fieldworkers that were previously unknown to the participants conducted IDIs in Shangaan language based on a topic guide. Interviews were conducted in a private location of the patient's choice. Interviews lasted approximately 60-90 minutes, and participants were encouraged to speak candidly as their accounts would only be reported anonymously. The topic guide covered experiences using HIV care and treatment services, including EID services, and episodes of engagement and dis-engagement from care. Field notes were taken and all IDIs were audio-recorded and transcribed directly into English. Transcripts were anonymised, password-protected and stored on a non-networked password-protected hard-drive.

7.3.3. Data analysis

We analysed the data generated thematically drawing on the principles of inductive coding to construct themes. Three initial interviews were transcribed and manually open coded by the lead author to identify emerging themes, refine the topic guide and develop the coding framework. We held debriefing sessions with fieldworkers to provide an opportunity to reflect on the interviews, refine the topic guides and provide guidance on interviewing techniques. All the transcripts were then coded with the aid of Nvivo11. The coding framework was continually refined as more transcripts were analysed to capture new codes as they emerged. Codes were then grouped and conceptualised to identify themes and considered in relation to the main social practices of interest. Interpretations were built by exploring relationships between the social practices mentioned by the participants and considering the meanings they gave to these practices and the competences they described in relation to enacting them. We drew quotations from individuals that exemplify the findings to highlight certain thematic areas and to allow greater depth of exploration (participant quotations are presented in Figures 7.1 and 7.2 and numbered for easy reference, for example (Figure 7.1, 1) refers to quote 1 in Figure 7.1).

7.3.4. Ethics

This study received ethics clearance from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, the University of Witwatersrand and the Mpumalanga department of health. All participants provided their written informed consent for the study in addition to the consent they had already provided as participants of the AHDSS. They were informed that their participation was voluntary and that their refusal would not affect the services they received through the healthcare system or result in any loss of benefits pertaining to medical treatment.

7.4. Results

Overall, 32 Option B+ women were sampled to participate and 20 were interviewed (three were not at home, five had migrated temporarily or

permanently, one could not be found, and three refused to participate). Participants' ages ranged from 19 to 37 years. Most participants were in informal relationships (12) and had some secondary school education (15) (Table 7.1). Participants came from 11 villages.

The focus of this analysis is the interrelatedness of the practices of undertaking EID and maternal engagement with HIV services. The different elements of practice theory were seen to underly the enactment or impediment of both EID and engagement in HIV care throughout participants' narratives and accounts.

Figure 7.1: Schematic illustration with quotations to show how practice theory can be applied to explore the utilisation of early infant diagnosis



*Blue quotes represent positive aspects of the elements of the practice which might facilitate its enactment while red quotes represent negative aspects which might impede its enactment

Table 7.1: Demographic and treatment characteristics of the participants and non-participants

		Age in y	ears		
	19-24	25-29	30-34	35+	Total
Participants	7	6	5	2	20
Marital Status					
Single	1	1	1	0	3
Married	0	2	2	0	4
Informal	6	3	2	1	12
Separated	0	0	0	1	1
Education status					
Primary	0	2	1	0	3
Secondary	5	4	4	2	15
Tertiary	2	0	0	0	2
Parity					
1-2	7	5	4	1	17
3-4	0	1	1	1	3
Self-reported treatment status					
In care	4	4	4	1	13
Not in care	3	2	1	1	7
Clinic treatment status					
Re-engaged	3	4	3	1	11
Transferred	1	1	1	0	3
Not in care	3	1	1	1	6
Timing of HIV diagnosis					
Newly diagnosed	3	3	4	2	12
Previously diagnosed	4	3	1	0	8
EID done					
Yes	4	4	5	1	14
No	1	2	0	1	4
Incomplete (child<18 months old)	2	0	0	0	2
Infant's HIV status at the time	of the inter	view			
Negative	6	4	4	1	15
Positive	0	0	1	0	1
Unknown	1	2	0	1	4
Non-participants	5	4	2	1	12
Clinic treatment status					
In care	2	3	1	1	7
Not in care	3	1	1	0	5

Theories of practice and early infant diagnosis of HIV 7.4.1. Materials and tools were necessary for EID often reflecting the level of HIV care infrastructure. For example, one participant mentioned that EID samples were collected at a specific time each day and if mothers brought their infants to test after this time, they would be asked to come back the next day (Figure 7.1, 1) which could have major implications for whether EID was performed. One advantage of dried blood spots is their stability at room temperature and might indicate a lack of understanding from the clinic staff which speaks to competence and know-how constellation of practice theory. Competence is further elucidated with some participants mentioning the HCWs' prioritisation of breastfed infants over those that were bottle-fed (Figure 7.1, 2). Competence could be gained through interactions with HCWs (Figure 7.1,3) or from other family members (Figure 7.1, 4). Furthermore, if mothers placed some meaning on EID, usually manifested as the need to diagnose their infants expeditiously, they appeared to be more likely to utilise EID (Figure 7.1, 6). Finally, maternal engagement in care and breastfeeding emerged as other practices that might help or hinder the utilisation of EID (Figure 7.1, 7 & 8).

Figure 7.2: Schematic illustration with quotations to show how practice theory can be applied to explore (dis)engagement with HIV services



*Orange quotes represent what could be interpreted as either positive or negative aspects of an element of a practice which might facilitate or impede its enactment

7.4.2. Theories of practice and engagement in HIV care

Materials and tools were equally important for engagement in HIV care. Lack of funds required for the logistics of remaining engaged in care for example to cover transports costs to the clinic were mentioned by some participants (Figure 7.2,1). Competence was acquired through HCWs and expert clients who helped with counselling patients and equipping them with the tools needed to navigate a life of daily treatment taking, regular clinic visits and stigma management. Where participants accepted this new normal, they were more likely to remain engaged in care (Figure 7.2,2). The meaning participants placed on remaining engaged in care could also help or hinder their continued engagement in care and this meaning could be derived from other practices that were enacted (Figure 7.2, 5). Early infant diagnosis emerged as another practice that could affect engagement in care (Figure 7.2, 8).

We found that mothers' continued engagement in care could be undermined by EID especially in instances where the EID experience fostered denial or complicated clinic visits (usually due to scheduling conflicts regarding their infant and their own clinic visits). It could also foster engagement in care by facilitating the acceptance process. Continued engagement in care was of paramount significance in the utilisation of EID (Figure 7.3).

Figure 7.3: Schematic representation of the complex relationship between EID and mothers' engagement in care



7.4.3. Maternal engagement in HIV care and its influence on EID uptake

Engagement with HIV services encouraged uptake of EID by giving it meaning and improving women's competence and know-how regarding EID. The need for EID was not common knowledge to all the participants at their first antenatal care (ANC) visit, particularly those who were newly diagnosed, younger, or primigravida. However, information and counselling sessions throughout the ANC period ensured that most participants were aware of infant testing by the time of delivery. Consequently, women who disengaged from care early on in their pregnancy missed opportunities to learn about the procedures and benefits of EID (Figure 7.1,5).

Interactions with HCWs (an element associated with engagement in care) provided opportunities to learn about EID and HCWs influenced mothers'

decision to test their infants with some mothers expressing subservience or suggesting they did not have a choice in the matter. In other cases, HCWs were, according to patients, too busy and mothers missed opportunities to undergo EID (Figure 7.1,8). Some mothers felt that priority for EID was given to mothers who breastfed their babies reinforcing their perception that this mode of feeding was riskier than bottle-feeding (Figure 7.1,7), subsequently driving EID uptake.

7.4.4. Infant testing and its influence on maternal engagement in care

The practice of undergoing EID for their babies, and mothers' responses to the results of the tests, had consequences for their own engagement with HIV care. In most cases, mothers expressed an initial fear of testing their infant, which they had overcome through the desire to know their infant's HIV status so that they could decide the next appropriate steps to sustain their child's health. However, a positive infant HIV test result was often met with fear, with little knowledge about the next steps and fear that the child would die if they did not receive proper treatment. Conversely, many women reported that a negative result for their child encouraged them to adhere to their own ART, because they wanted to live long lives to see their children grow up (Figure 7.2,8).

For some mothers who had not fully accepted their own HIV status, the infant test could be seen as proxy for their own HIV status (Figure 7.2,3). However, discordant results for the mother and child often caused confusion and could hinder the acceptance process, or even reinforce denial (Figure 7.2,4). In this example in Figure 2 the participant's confusion was exacerbated by the fact that the negative HIV status of her child did not correspond with her expectations of it being positive because she had not adhered to HCWs' advice about taking ART. The use of the child's status as evidence for the necessity of ART was also seen among some other mothers, for whom the negative HIV status of their child was proof of their own regular treatment-taking. One participant who suggested that she had problems with proving to HCWs that she was taking treatment as prescribed mentioned that the negative result for her infant proved once and for all that she was taking treatment properly. For some mothers, a confluence of issues relating to EID and the subsequent practice of linking their child to care worked together to undermine their own engagement in care. One participant described how her second born fell ill, was hospitalised, and tested positive while she was in Gauteng province. She moved back to Agincourt and twice attempted to initiate her child on treatment but was unsuccessful because she did not have the child's paperwork. She also anticipated stigma and maltreatment by the clinic staff at her nearest clinic, but she did not have the finances to travel to a further clinic (Figure 7.2,1). She only wanted to start treatment after she had *"sorted"* herself out but suggested that she felt far from achieving this. The confusing and difficult time she had with initiating her second born child on ART undermined her trust in the HCWs and undergoing EID this time around (Figure 7.2,5). This late seroconversion undermined her own engagement in care and was reinforced by her fear that her other children might also have HIV and the double burden this would entail (Figure 7.2,7).

Subsequent uptake of infant treatment, for those who tested positive, could interfere with engagement in care for some mothers, especially if they were expected to visit the clinic on separate occasions for their own treatment and that of their infant. Some mothers expressed fatigue at this dual burden of appointments for themselves and their child, which resulted in them prioritising their infant's treatment over their own, and in some of these cases, the mother stopped going to the clinic all together (Figure 7.2,6).

7.5. Discussion

In this study with mothers living with HIV in north-eastern South Africa, we explored the interplay between mothers' engagement in HIV care and EID, highlighting its complexity and bi-directional nature (Figure 7.3).

Our findings build on those from previous studies which have shown that mothers who remained engaged in HIV care were more likely to access EID (263,511), by describing the aetiology of this relationship. Mothers' practice of continued engagement in care facilitated EID uptake through improved knowledge about the availability of EID and risk factors for transmission like breastfeeding, and also increased the influence of HCWs over mothers regarding their decision to undergo EID. However, a lack of understanding of vertical transmission for some mothers could also reflect a failing of the HCWs who might either not understand it themselves or might not have taken the appropriate time to communicate effectively with the mothers for a myriad reasons and could reflect an over-burdened system. This highlights the need to consider more innovative solutions to deliver the multiple facets of care like ongoing counselling using lay HCWs (515).

Other studies suggest that HCWs are often perceived as authority figures by mothers, leading to mothers' subservience towards them in the clinic setting (267). Whilst mothers who were engaged in care benefited from multiple interactions with HCWs, which often included encouragement to undergo EID, others may have felt pressured to test their infants. Other researchers have noted that the hierarchies of power that are implicitly present in patientprovider relationships can enable potentially coercive practices to increase HIV testing rates among pregnant women (288,310–312), with unintended consequences for women's disengagement from care in the longer term (516), and similar risks of disengagement should be considered for mothers who feel pressured to test their infants before they feel ready to receive the results. Health workers' apparent prioritisation of EID for breastfed babies shows that this practice was not solely dependent on the competence of mothers but also that of HCWs. The consequences of this may include missed opportunities for infant testing, as well as driving concern among breastfeeding mothers about HIV transmission risks.

Blue et al (85) suggest that the requisite elements necessary for a practice to be enacted are not evenly distributed within society. This coupled with how these practices are reproduced, synchronised, and coordinated in daily life and become more deeply embedded than others, helps to explain why some women utilised EID while others did not. Our findings suggest that the practice of EID is linked to other practices such as breastfeeding and immunisation. Conversely, engagement in care is linked to EID and other practices such as maternal testing, with counselling playing a role in how the two practices interact by providing meaning and supporting competencies among women who are enrolled in Option B+. We found that for some mothers who had not accepted their HIV status, the practice of EID could prove detrimental to continued engagement in care especially in the case of a discordant result with the infant. This suggests the need for a better understanding of the ecosystem of practices in which EID and engagement in care are enacted, and how they interact, in order to effectively intervene to improve both the utilisation of EID and engagement with HIV services.

Women responded to EID results in different ways. The process of acceptance of an HIV status is influenced by various events and experiences that are unique to each individual (338). Our findings suggest that receiving EID results can feed into this process by either helping to confirm or challenge mothers' beliefs about their own HIV status. Similarly, other studies have also shown how denial of HIV status can manifest itself in repeat testing (516) or use of a partner's results as a confirmatory test (517), highlighting the fluid and protracted nature of the acceptance process for some persons living with HIV and the need for ongoing counselling to help some mothers to accept their own status, particularly if it differs from that of their child.

EID facilitated mothers' engagement in care in many ways. Mothers desired to stay healthy and raise their children, expressing an innate maternal desire to protect their children and mirroring findings around women's motivation to initiate ART in PMTCT programmes (237,245). When an infant's HIV results were concordant with their own, EID could also act as an important aid in the mothers' acceptance process of her own HIV status.

Conversely, for other mothers, a negative result for her infant was seen as proof of their own adherence to treatment, recalling Vale's notion of the blood "panopticon" whereby blood test results can be a powerful disciplining tool to ensure patients' continued compliance to health provider rules and expectations, but may also serve to reinforce the patient's version of their adherence history (518).

Our findings also highlight the importance of testing mothers throughout the MTCT risk period including breastfeeding, given the additional challenges that mothers may face in accepting their own and their child's seroconversion after earlier HIV negative results. Country policies regarding postnatal testing for negative mothers vary (519,520) and are linked to the infant immunisation

schedule, although challenges with implementation include other caregivers bringing the infant for immunisation. Nevertheless, given the significant HIV incidence in the postnatal period and the high vertical transmission risk linked to this (521), more emphasis should be placed on testing during the breastfeeding period.

Conflicting scheduling of clinic visits for mothers and HIV-infected babies led to disengagement from care with mothers prioritising their infant's visits over their own, in line with results from studies in Malawi and Mozambique (326,510), highlighting an urgent need for longer-term integrated and coordinated maternal and infant HIV services beyond 6-10 weeks postpartum as one strategy to keep more HIV-infected mothers engaged in care.

Our findings highlighted some important areas for further research. As HIV programmes expand, and more pregnant women living with HIV have initiated ART prior to pregnancy or during past pregnancies, it will be important to explore how experiences and responses to EID utilisation vary between newly diagnosed and experienced ART patients with a view to optimising the timing and frequency of EID counselling for different patients. Future research should also consider adolescent mothers, who often have poorer engagement in HIV care, as their experiences may differ from those of women represented here.

A strength of this study was our ability to include women that were not currently in care, a group that has been underrepresented in previous studies. Nevertheless, their response rate was lower, and it is plausible that some of the women who chose not to be interviewed could have had deferring views from the included participants. Other limitations include the fact that we interviewed participants once, making it difficult to get a sense of the fluidity of their views regarding EID or their engagement in care over time. One-time interviews also meant less time to develop rapport with these women which may have resulted in them speaking less candidly about their experiences in relation to EID and care engagement.

Furthermore, although they did not emerge as findings in our study, other factors have been shown to affect women's engagement in care which might also influence EID utilisation in other settings, including clinic factors such as stock-outs and disclosure status (235,284). This is perhaps because these were not important issues in this setting or because we did not probe about them. Finally, while the women interviewed for this research share similarities with other sub-Saharan settings, they represent a specific population and findings and conclusions drawn from this research should be interpreted with this in mind.

7.6. Conclusions

We found that practice of engagement with HIV care under Option B+ shaped their decision-making around EID. Engagement in care, EID and other practices that patients enact need to be viewed and researched as an interdependent system. A failure to recognise this interconnectedness may lead to outcomes that are counter to expectations. Furthermore, since one size does not fit all with regards to HIV care and treatment, a more practicecentred, differentiated care approach might enable HIV programmes to better serve women living with HIV and their children in the future.

8. Paper E: Challenges with tracing patients on antiretroviral therapy who are late for clinic appointments in rural South Africa and recommendations for future practice.

Introduction to chapter

This paper (E) uses data from the record review and tracing study, observations of health facility procedures and tools during the data collection process, and conversations with health facility staff to investigate objectives 2 and 4. Most HIV programmes in sub-Saharan Africa implement some form of routine tracing for patients who do not return for scheduled clinic visits. However, this is inconsistently done and fraught with issues resulting in many patients becoming lost to the system. This paper was conceived as a means to evaluate and critique the implementation of patient tracing procedures in the health facilities that serve the Agincourt HDSS. I report on gaps identified as well as offer recommendations to improve routine tracing in South Africa and similar settings.



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student ID Number	1603703	Title	Mr
First Name(s)	David	3.40	Marine Carlos
Surname/Family Name	Etoori		
Thesis Title	A mixed methods stud and health facility data follow-up among worn antiretroviral therapy of Agincourt, South Afric	y using linked demog to investigate and co ten living with HIV w during pregnancy und ca	graphic surveillance ompare loss to who initiated er Option B+ in
Primary Supervisor	Alison Wringe		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Global Health Action			
When was the work published?	2020			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	No			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes	

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?
--

Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of	I conceived the study, planned and executed the
your role in the research included in the	fieldwork. Supervised data collection in the field. I
paper and in the preparation of the paper.	conducted all the pertinent analyses and interpreted the
(Attach a further sheet if necessary)	findings. I drafted the manuscript.

SECTION E

	22	440	
Student Signature			R.
Date	14/07/2020		

Supervisor Signature		
Date	14/07/2020	

2

-

8.1. Abstract

Background: It is common practice for HIV programmes to routinely trace patients who are late for a scheduled clinic visit to ensure continued care engagement. In South Africa, patients who are late for a scheduled visit are identified from clinic registers and called by telephone up to three times by designated clinic staff, with home visits conducted for those who are unreachable by phone. It is important to understand outcomes among late patients in order to have accurate mortality data, identify defaulters to attempt to re-engage them into care, and have accurate estimates of patients still in care for planning purposes.

Objective: We conducted a study to assess whether tracing of HIV patients in clinics in rural north-eastern South Africa was implemented in line with national policies.

Methods: Thirty-three person-day of observations took place during multiple visits to eight facilities between October 2017 and January 2018 during which clinic tracing processes were captured. The facility level implementation processes were compared to the intended tracing process and gaps and challenges were identified.

Results: Challenges to implementing effective tracing procedures fell into three broad categories: i) facility-level barriers, ii) issues relating to data, documentation and record-keeping, and iii) challenges relating to the roles and responsibilities of the different actors in the tracing cascade.

We recommend improving linkages between clinics, improving recordkeeping systems, and regular training of community health workers involved in tracing activities. Improved links between clinics would reduce the chance of patients being lost between clinics. Record-keeping systems could be improved through motivating health workers to take ownership of their data and training them on the importance of complete data. Finally, training of community health workers may improve sustained motivation, and improve their ability to respond appropriately to their clients' needs.

Conclusions: Substantial investment in data infrastructure and healthcare staff training is needed to improve routine tracing.

8.2. Introduction

At the end of 2017, it was estimated that 34.6 million adults aged 15 years and older were infected with HIV worldwide, 70% of whom resided in sub-Saharan Africa (24). New treatment guidelines calling for immediate lifelong treatment for everybody testing positive for HIV (known as "Test and Treat") resulted in 15.4 million individuals initiating antiretroviral therapy (ART) by the end of 2017, representing 60% of all people living with HIV (PLHIV) in sub-Saharan Africa (24). By the end of 2015, South Africa had the largest ART programme in the world (21,107). In 2016 South Africa adopted the "Test and Treat" policy which translated to even more people being eligible for treatment (93,95). By the end of 2018, an estimated 68% of the 7.2 million PLHIV in South Africa were on ART (24,448).

PLHIV who are taking lifelong ART who are late for scheduled clinic appointments are labelled as lost to follow-up (LTFU), a general term that amalgamates several possible outcomes including death, default, and selftransfer to another clinic (14,15,55). Failure to account for the true outcomes of patients deemed LTFU leads to as much as five-fold underestimation of retention because silent (undocumented) transfers are not taken into account (425). Similarly, default rates are over estimated as all patients that are LTFU are assumed to have stopped taking treatment (52,425). Furthermore, if only deaths reported to the clinic are included in mortality estimates this results in them being underestimated. Inaccuracies in calculating the actual number of people alive and on ART has implications in the estimation of national ART coverage and corresponding ART programme budgets. Silent transfers can lead to double counting of the number of people who have ever initiated ART which could lead to overestimates of ART supplies needed, and over-estimates of ART programme coverage in national evaluations which could result in a reduced focus on reaching coverage targets (367). Finally, misclassification of patients who are alive and on ART elsewhere as LTFU underestimates the impact of ART on mortality (52,522) which is an important statistic for programme monitoring as well as for informing HIV modelling and projections by UNAIDS (498,499,523).

Effective tracing programmes are likely to become increasingly important in the context of "Test and Treat" strategy as more asymptomatic patients are initiating ART and may have higher rates of LTFU (524). Tracing is effective at improving engagement with studies showing that as many as 86% of patients who had defaulted from care reengage in care following tracing (55,525,526) and that active tracing significantly reduces attrition (52,527). Moreover, continued retention is crucial to mitigate the risk of development of resistance in patients who do not adhere correctly to ART (78,79,528,529)

Previous studies have documented some challenges related to tracing patients in HIV programmes in sub-Saharan Africa including organisational challenges, health worker shortages, and high costs which continue to limit the ability of HIV programmes to trace patients who are missing or LTFU (361,368), but few recommendations are made to mitigate these challenges.

This paper describes the challenges that were observed with routine tracing in the primary health care system in north-eastern South Africa, comparing policy to actual implementation. The observations were made whilst undertaking a study to consolidate routine tracing information and conduct supplementary tracing for PLHIV who were LTFU in a decentralised HIV treatment programme in the same setting. Recommendations to address these challenges are made to improve the implementation of tracing systems in this setting and beyond.

8.3. Methods

8.3.1. Setting

The clinics included in the broader tracing outcomes study were those serving the population of the Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System (HDSS). The HDSS study area covers 475 km² in Bushbuckridge, Mpumalanga province, north-eastern South Africa. Agincourt HDSS has been tracking demographic and health events (i.e. births, deaths and migration) in Tsonga or Shangaan people since 1992 (20,414). By 2014, the population was approximately 115,000 people living in 17,000 households spread over 30 villages (20). The study site is run under the auspices of the Medical Research Council (MRC)/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions research unit, administrated by the School of Public Health at the University of Witwatersrand (WITS). Agincourt HDSS population is served by six primary health clinics and three secondary community health centres. Every HIV-positive patient has a clinical file that is established when they first register at the ART clinic and updated at each clinic visit. Following the clinic visit, visit-level information from the patient file is entered into the national electronic database, TIER.Net. Since 2014, Agincourt HDSS has undertaken an exercise called Point-of-contact Interactive Record Linkage (PIRL) (104) where chronic care patient visits in the clinics have been recorded and linked to the patient's HDSS record, provided that they ever lived in the HDSS.

8.3.2. Study design

The challenges and recommendations presented in this paper are based on 33 person days of observations in eight primary healthcare facilities (Table 8.1) in the Bushbuckridge sub-district between October 2017 and January 2018. Clinics were chosen because they were located within the HDSS. Each clinic was visited at least three times over this period to ascertain tracing outcomes for patients that were believed to be LTFU (more than 90 days late for a schedule clinic appointment). Briefly, this mixed methods study involved a comprehensive review of available clinic records documented through TIER.Net (the national electronic HIV patient monitoring database) and paper-based patient clinic files. We also consulted logbooks from Right-to-Care (RtC) and Home-Based Carers (HBC), two non-profit organisations that assist with tracing HIV patients LTFU through telephone calls and household visits respectively (Box 1).

Box 1: Description of the organisations that assist with tracing in Agincourt

Right-to-care:

- Founded in 2001
- Non-profit organisation who provide prevention, care and treatment for HIV and associated diseases (tuberculosis, cervical cancer, and other STIs)
- Work with government and communities to find solutions to build and strengthen public health care
- In Agincourt, this constitutes assistance with tracing usually through assistance with telephone tracing

Home-Based Carers:

- · Started in the late 1980s in rural villages of the Limpopo region
- Introduced as a way of improving healthcare practices to promote health through population sensitisation around aspects including child care, nutrition, and personal hygiene
- In recent years they have become more structured and are at the forefront of healthcare service delivery including delivery of treatment, care and support for people living with HIV
- In Agincourt they assist with healthcare promotion and physical tracing of people living with HIV who are late for their scheduled clinic visits

We then worked with these organisations to conduct a further home visit for all patients for whom routine tracing had not previously been undertaken, or for those without a definitive outcome after record review. Observations of how the tracing systems operated were captured in logbooks. Primary healthcare facility managers usually a sister-in-charge (nurse) were informally consulted for further clarification of how the implementation took place in practice. In cases where the sister-in-charge was unavailable, RtC officers, clinic data typists or other nurses were consulted. We also visited ten HBC organisations to document how their work intersected with that of the clinics' tracing system. Additionally we reviewed one national policy document(412), which detailed how tracing should take place and had further conversations with other stakeholders and key actors.

Clinic	Туре	Number of HDSS residents 18+ years that initiated ART between 2014-2017	Right to care presence	Personnel consulted	Number of days of observations
Agincourt	Public	975	Yes	Ward Based Outreach Team	6
health centre				(Sister-in-charge), Home Based Carers, Right-to-Care linkage officer, community health worker	
Belfast clinic	Public	582	Yes (started July 2017)	Data typist, Right-to-Care linkage officer, Home Based Carers	4
Bhubezi community health centre	Public (originally private, merged with Lillydale clinic a public facility, in 2016)	689	Yes	Home Based Carers, 2 Data typists, Right-to-Care linkage officer, Right-to-Care supervisor	5
Cunningmore clinic	Public	300	No (Linkage officer resigned in 2016)	Data typist, 2 staff nurses, Home Based Carers, Right-to-Care supervisor	3

Table 8.1: Selected characteristics of the eight clinics that serve the study area

Justicia clinic	Public	423	No	Data typist, Home Based Carers, staff nurse	4
Kildare clinic	Public	586	Yes	Facility manager, data typist, Right-to-Care linkage officer, Home Based Carers	5
Thulamahashe community health centre	Public	133	Attached (same linkage officer works in Belfast and Bhubezi)	Data typist, Right-to-Care linkage officer	3
Xanthia clinic	Public	235	Attached (same linkage officer works in Agincourt)	Data typist, Home Based Carers, Right-to-Care linkage officer	3

8.3.3. Data collection

As part of the comprehensive clinic record review, we collected data from TIER.Net and patient files for 1325 patients that met the LTFU criteria on August 15, 2017. Data included information on the patient's treatment status (i.e. still in care, deceased, transferred out) and whether they had received a tracing intervention (typically a comment in their record about telephone or physical tracing). From RtC and HBC, we asked to view their tracing logs and collected data on any telephone or physical tracing interventions for each LTFU patient and the outcome of this tracing. Data were entered into a Microsoft access database. Discussions with HBCs centred around how physical tracing was performed in practice, and their interactions with clinic staff and patients.

In each clinic, through discussions with the staff, we identified the most knowledgeable person regarding each step and where possible asked for an explanation of how tracing typically occurred. We also asked to view all data collection instruments used in the tracing process including late patient lists and the tracing registers. Data were entered into an Excel spreadsheet.

8.3.4. Definitions

Implementation of tracing was defined as being optimal if lists of late patients, tracing registers, telephone and physical tracing were used as intended in policy and well documented with clinic staff able to produce these instruments when requested. Tracing implementation was defined as "inconsistent" if it did not align with policy or was not well documented. In the case of telephone and physical tracing inconsistency could also mean that these steps were not well documented, but we found evidence of telephone and physical tracing in patient files or TIER.Net. Tracing implementation was classified as "not observed" where clinic staff could not produce these instruments when requested and we could not find evidence of any intervention in patient files, TIER.Net, or any documentation kept by RtC and HBC and was classified as "not done" where clinic staff admitted that an intervention was not performed.

8.3.5. Data analysis

Data from the clinic record review was exported to Stata 14 for analysis. We produced a checklist for each clinic to determine whether each tracing step was optimally used, inconsistent, not observed or not done. Data were then summarised using proportions and frequencies.

8.4. Results

8.4.1. Expected implementation of the routine tracing system

In all of the clinics in this study setting LTFU was defined as being more than 90 days late for a scheduled appointment in accordance with national policy (412). All health facilities routinely traced HIV patients who were LTFU (Figure 8.1). Each health facility manager is responsible for ensuring that there is a functioning paper-based or electronic appointment system such that clinical files for patients who are expected the following day are retrieved from the filing room. Files for patients who do not attend a scheduled visit should be kept aside for further action. A list of patients who did not attend a scheduled appointment register or through querying the facility-level electronic database (TIER.Net). If a patient has not attended the facility within five working days to follow-up on a missed scheduled appointment, the patient's name should be registered in the facility tracing register to be traced.
Figure 8.1: Tracing steps and personnel in charge of each step



This list should be signed off by the facility manager and transferred to the person responsible for tracing patients, usually a designated nurse, community health worker (CHW) or the ward-based outreach team (WBOT) lead. The delegated nominee should extract contact information including addresses and telephone numbers (which should be updated at every clinic visit) of the individuals on the list (and their treatment supporter where available) from the patient files and enter this information into the facility tracing register. The facility telephone should then be used to contact all the individuals who were added to the tracing register that week, with the date the phone call was attempted and the outcome of the phone call, and patient outcomes recorded in the register when obtained. Three calls should be attempted within 14 days after each patient's missed visit. Patients found to be alive, and who have not transferred to another clinic should be encouraged to return to treatment. Self-transfers should be further investigated usually through a phone call to the facility they have transferred to (Six facilities receive assistance with telephone tracing from RtC). The names of patients who cannot be reached after three attempts by phone should be transferred to a list of those to be traced through outreach and home visits. Patient consent for a home visit should be verified in the patient file before HBC attempt household visits.

WBOTs, CHWs and HBC linked to the facility should be involved to physically trace defaulters. Details of each home visit, including the outcome of the visit, should be reported to the facility manager. Each outreach tracing effort should be marked in the facility tracing register, indicating the date and outcome of the tracing visit.

Patients who have not reported back to the clinic for 90 days since their last scheduled visit and do not have a tracing outcome e.g. transferred out, died, or stopped treatment are then in principle registered as LTFU. Before this entry is made, one more attempt at phoning or visiting the patient should be made. Information from this entire exercise should then be documented into the patients' electronic record.

8.4.2. Actual observed performance of the routine tracing system in the eight health facilities

Overall, none of the eight clinics had optimal performance with regards to all of the indicators (Figure 8.2). Optimal use of late patient lists was observed in 3 (37.5%) clinics, was inconsistent in 3 (37.5%) clinics and was not observed in 2 (25.0%) clinics. Similarly, tracing registers were inconsistently used in 4 (50.0%) clinics and not observed in 4 (50.0%) clinics. Phone calls were optimally used and consistently documented in 2 (25.0%) clinics, inconsistent in 5 (62.5%) clinics and not observed in 1 (12.5%) clinic. Finally, physical tracing was optimally used and documented in 1 (12.5%) clinic, inconsistent (usually due to poor documentation) in 5 (62.5%) clinics, not observed in 1 (12.5%) clinic, and was not done in 1 (12.5%) clinic. In both clinics, HBC and other community health workers were not engaged in the tracing procedures.

Figure 8.2: Performance on specific indicators from the tracing cascade for eight health facilities



8.4.3. Challenges identified in implementing the routine tracing system

Through the data collected, conversations with stakeholders and observations, we identified three major types of challenges to the optimal implementation of tracing in the eight facilities: facility-level barriers; challenges relating to data, documentation and record-keeping; and challenges relating to the roles of tracing personnel.

Diversity in clinic procedures

Whilst all the clinics drew guidance on patient tracing procedures from the same national guidelines and documents, in practice, their implementation of these guidelines varied. For example, each clinic that conducted routine tracing employed a different filing system and process for generating patient identification (ID) numbers. In some cases, these were based on patient characteristics such as birth dates, whereas in others, they were generated using sequential numbers. In one clinic, two different patient ID systems had been implemented, and while one had been discontinued in favour of another, both types of patient IDs remained in operation. The way in which files were stored was also different across the clinics, with some of them cataloguing and indexing files while others did not have any discernible filing system. Tracing procedures were also not consistent between clinics with different across involved, and in some cases, certain tracing steps were not performed.

Furthermore, each clinic used TIER.Net independently with no links between the different clinic databases. This meant that if patients chose to move between clinics there was no clear way of identifying them as patients who were already in care elsewhere and a new file was opened in the receiving clinic. Moreover, the limited communication between clinics affected the efficiency and coverage of tracing activities. For example, if patients resided outside the catchment area of the HBC organisations attached to the clinic they were using, they would not be physically traced, as this would need the involvement of HBC from another clinic.

Data, documentation, and record-keeping challenges

Weekly lists of patients late for a scheduled clinic visit were always manually generated from TIER.Net by data managers. We observed that this was prone to human error with some patients who should have been categorised as late for a scheduled appointment being missed completely and not receiving any tracing interventions. In five clinics, a total of fifty-three patients who had not visited the clinic for more than 90 days were recorded as being still in care and had been missed by the data manager when the LTFU lists were generated. Additionally, whilst national tracing guidelines indicate that every clinic must keep a facility tracing register for planning, monitoring and research purposes, in most clinics, these registers could not be found and appeared not to be part of routine tracing practice. Furthermore, both TIER.Net and patient files did not have a dedicated space or module for capturing tracing outcomes. In some clinics, these outcomes were sometimes entered into the comments section, but this was not consistently done. Patients in some differentiated care models, including adherence groups and fast-track treatment collection appointments visited their clinic less frequently and, in some cases, do not have to interact with clinic staff when they pick up refills. However, TIER.Net and patient files did not always reflect this information about patients. This meant that some patients were erroneously categorised as LTFU, whereas they were still in care through differentiated models.

Whilst both RtC and HBC organisations were active patient tracing partners, they did not always keep records of their work. In one clinic, an HBC volunteer admitted that they traced patients, but did not document the tracing, likely due to a myriad of reasons including a lack of training, a lack of understanding of the importance of documenting their work, and stationery shortages. Also, standardised tracing forms were often unavailable, or unused in practice, and some HBC being apparently unaware of them. In some clinics, supplies of tracing forms were expected to be generated by photocopying an existing form, but the equipment to do this was not always available or functioning. This led to staff utilising logbooks or exercise books for record keeping, or in the worst case, not documenting their work at all. Impromptu logbooks often had incomplete data and, in some cases, had been lost. HCWs struggled to capture quality data accurately and consistently as they prioritised their clinical work.

Additionally, tracing could only be performed if correct patient telephone numbers and addresses were available in their file. Also, for some patients the telephone number used by the clinic was only effective the first time as once patients recognised the clinic telephone number, they would not respond to any further calls received from it.

Challenges relating to roles and responsibilities of personnel involved in the tracing system

The number of actors involved in routine tracing varied between clinics, and we observed duplication of work or transfer of tasks and responsibilities from one actor to another. For example, as the list of patients who are LTFU is generated from TIER.Net, it is the responsibility of the data manager to crosscheck the LTFU list with physical files to confirm that no patient visit was missed and not entered into the database. However, in one of the clinics, this duty had been shifted to the WBOT nurse, meaning she dedicated less time to her clinical work. In some clinics, the different actors were not aware of each other's roles, meaning that work was duplicated, or that in other cases some patients did not receive all the tracing interventions because some actors did not receive their information. In one clinic, the HBC and RtC personnel had never communicated, culminating in some patients never being discussed nor physically traced. Also, whereas tracing organisations said they informed data managers about tracing done, this was not always reflected in TIER.Net.

Finally, we heard of various challenges within the different home-based care organisations. Many of the HBC felt that they were under-funded, and that

because of this HBC staff worked on a voluntary basis, only receiving a small stipend from the health department and some non-monetary incentives. Some expressed a loss of motivation to do their work which was fostered by their dissatisfaction with this system. Furthermore, HBC had not received formal training which could in some way explain the patients concerns over conduct, particularly in terms of maintaining confidentiality when they attempted to trace them. Further issues included cases whereby the HBC asked family members or friends of the patient why they had not attended the clinic, thereby inadvertently disclosing their HIV status. However, where HBC were active and motivated, they were more likely to become aware of a patient missing an appointment before they were contacted by the clinic. In one clinic, HBCs routinely visited patients ranking them by a colour system as stable (green – seen every 1-2 months) or volatile (yellow – seen fortnightly or red – seen weekly). If they suspected that a patient was LTFU they then confirmed this at the clinic, later going back to try to reengage the patient into care. This was a more practical system, relying less on communication between actors and less prone to errors due to miscommunication.

8.5. Recommendations for future practice

We found that most clinics had a system in place to identify and trace patients that had missed a scheduled clinic appointment. However, in practice, these procedures were heterogeneous and often led to gaps, leakages and missed opportunities within the tracing system. Ultimately this meant that tracing efforts were inconsistent and probably inefficient. We identified three main areas of challenges with routine tracing activities related to facility-level barriers; data, documentation, and record-keeping challenges; and the roles and responsibilities of the different actors.

8.5.1. Improved linkages between clinics

Each clinic in Agincourt HDSS has a catchment area that includes one or more villages within its vicinity. Home-based carers from the villages in this catchment area are attached to the clinic. However, many patients choose to initiate treatment at a clinic that does not correspond to their home village (530–532). In such instances, the current tracing strategy is significantly constrained due to a lack of linkages between clinics. Such challenges are further perpetuated by the way in which clinics are driven to achieve national

targets. National clinic evaluation meetings often present clinic targets in a way that fosters competition amongst clinics, putting unnecessary pressure on HCW to meet these targets (314). This competition might improve some targets (e.g. number of patients tested or initiated on ART) but undermine the general effectiveness of tracing endeavours.

Clinics should be encouraged to coordinate efforts working together to trace patients. In cases where a patient is under the jurisdiction of HBC not attached to a given clinic, there should be procedures that allow for the clinic to communicate with the HBCs to facilitate tracing. This would have to be coupled with significant patient education and sensitisation about the system to make sure they do not feel that their confidentiality has been breached. Patients should also be sensitised on the importance of declaring prior medical history when presenting at a new facility. Long term, linkages between the different clinic electronic recording systems and better implementation of unique patient identification numbers would also help to identify silent transfers.

8.5.2. Enhancements of recording systems

Data quality issues including incompleteness have been reported as a problem for tracing in other HIV treatment programmes (15). Studies suggest that data quality issues can be attributed to limited engagement of HCWs with the data for their own planning, research, and monitoring and evaluation purposes (99) as well as a lack of resources (e.g. logbooks). Insufficient training of HCWs responsible for recording information and inadequate auditing procedures to ensure that incomplete records are identified and rectified in a timely manner further exacerbates this issue (99). Healthcare workers need to balance different priorities with data entry often seen as less important.

Large investments have been made in establishing electronic medical records at all the clinics and each clinic has a dedicated data typist for TIER.Net, solely responsible for electronic data entry. However, the system still exists in an adhoc fashion (the data typist copying information from paper records) and is not fully integrated into medical practice (i.e. healthcare providers directly entering information into the system). Efforts are needed to fully integrate data entry into good clinical practice and clinic staff should be trained on the importance of recording all patients' outcomes. Furthermore, efforts should be made to motivate HCWs to take ownership of and utilise their data for monitoring and evaluation. Whilst a dedicated module for tracing might be unrealistic in the near future, additional training on basic data analysis, provision of mentorship opportunities, as well as training on auditing records could lead to improvements in data completeness. Development of standard operating procedures for data entry and training on these could further improve data completeness.

8.5.3. Training for lay community healthcare workers

The inadequate healthcare workforce in sub-Saharan Africa has been well documented (533,534), and task shifting has been widely recommended and implemented as an efficient and sustainable strategy to expand HIV treatment programmes in this setting (535,536). However, we observed that the voluntary nature of HBCs, and the non-transparent recruitment strategies (537) can be problematic. These cadres are expected to be part of the health system, but not necessarily part of its organisation. They have shorter training than professional healthcare workers, and they require minimal qualifications (536). We observed concerns around their ability to handle confidential information. Over thirty years ago, Walt (538) identified several challenges to the success of HBC including lack of remuneration, insufficient training, poor management, and lack of supervision and logistical support which we found to still be prevalent in this setting.

HBCs should receive specific training in conducting tracing activities as this has been associated with sustained motivation, as well as with improving their ability to respond appropriately to their clients' needs (539) and could reduce issues related to breaches of confidentiality which undermine tracing efforts. Training could also contribute to furthering the legitimacy of HBC among patients and formal health workers (540,541). Future research should take a more in-depth consideration of the patient perspective with regards to routine tracing and its challenges.

8.6. Conclusions

Strengthening the recording and routine use of tracing data will capitalise on this source of information for patient monitoring at the facility level and improve the accuracy of estimates of true outcomes for patients who become LTFU. This will necessitate significant investments in the health system, in the training of healthcare workers, and enhancements in data infrastructure. It is important that tracing systems and the data they generate keep abreast with evolving guidelines and rapidly shifting health service delivery.

9. Discussion

9.1. Introduction

This chapter collates the main findings from each paper presented within this thesis. Rather than repeating the detailed findings and conclusions from each paper, this chapter will serve as an opportunity to highlight the "big picture", drawing from the different analyses undertaken and discussing any contradictions or findings that might seem counterintuitive. Programme and policy recommendations will be given, followed by a discussion of the strengths and limitations of the methods and data sources used. I also reflect on dilemmas and challenges encountered while conducting this research, how I addressed them, and how my choices might have influenced my findings, especially with regards to the qualitative research. I will also summarise efforts to disseminate findings from the research, and finally, I will present the overarching conclusions of this PhD thesis.

9.2. Synthesis of findings

Table 9.1 gives a summary of the main findings from each paper. This section will synthesise these findings in relation to the overall aim of this thesis: 'to investigate women's treatment outcomes after they become lost to follow-up following uptake of PMTCT services and compare their outcomes to the general treatment cohort in a rural community in north-eastern South Africa'.

The overall aim led to the following objectives

- 1. To investigate loss to follow-up among patients who initiated ART under Option B+
 - a. To understand the outcomes of these patients once they become LTFU in South Africa (Agincourt)
 - b. To compare their outcomes to the general HIV patient treatment cohort
 - c. To explore factors associated with different outcomes following loss to follow-up
- 2. To review and critique data sources and methods used to investigate retention in care following uptake of PMTCT services

- a. To critique routine tracing procedures and methods used to investigate attrition from HIV treatment in South Africa (Agincourt)
- b. To investigate discrepancies and biases in the official HIVpatient treatment statistics on retention rates, LTFU and mortality produced by TIER.Net the South African HIV-patient electronic monitoring system.
- 3. To explore the link between maternal engagement in care and early infant diagnosis of HIV
- 4. To identify and recommend strategies to improve women's retention in PMTCT services

The format will be guided by the specific objectives of the thesis and findings will be structured as they relate to these objectives.

Table 9.1: Summary of t	he main findings from th	ne papers included in this thesis
rubic gill Summing of		ie pupers merudeu in enis enesis

Paper	Paper title	Publication	Methods	Thesis Objective	Main findings
A (Chapter 4)	Outcomes after being lost to follow-up differ for pregnant and postpartum women when compared to the general HIV treatment population in rural South Africa.	Published JAIDS, 2020(115)	Quantitative longitudinal analysis	1	Using multiple data sources and methods, we managed to ascertain the outcomes of 88% of the patients LTFU. I found that 31% of patients LTFU had transferred to another facility, 22% had re-engaged in care at the same facility, and 12% of patients had died. Outcomes for Option B+ women differed significantly from those of the general ART population, with these women less likely to have died and more likely to have stopped treatment or migrated. Age, pregnancy status at ART initiation, baseline CD4, and duration on ART predict mortality.
B (Chapter 5)	Getting on with their lives: Understanding clinic transfers among HIV patients considered lost to follow-up in rural South Africa.	Submitted, AIDS care, 2020	Quantitative analysis	1	Transfers to another facility accounted for 31% of patients LTFU. Women are more likely to transfer with Option B+ women the least likely to have a transfer documented. Option B+ women mostly transfer between clinics in the study area, while transfers out of the study area appear to be driven by labour migration.
C (Chapter 6)	Misreporting of patient outcomes in the South African national HIV treatment database: Consequences for programme planning, monitoring, and evaluation.	Published Frontiers in public health, 2020(116)	Quantitative analysis	1&2	Seventy-nine percent of patients classified as LTFU in TIER.Net had an outcome ascertained. TIER.Net misclassified 36% of the patient outcomes, with reason for ART initiation, baseline CD4, health facility attended, PIRL linkage, time since the last appointment, age, and ART refill schedule significantly associated with misclassification. TIER.Net underestimated mortality by 39% and overestimated LTFU by 62%. TIER.Net also missed 43% of transfers with silent transfers being the biggest contributor to misclassification
D (Chapter 7)	"If the results are negative, they motivate us." Experiences of early infant diagnosis of HIV and engagement in Option B+.	Published Global Public Health, 2020(117)	Qualitative analysis	3	Use and experiences of EID and maternal engagement in HIV care are inextricably intertwined. Engagement in care facilitated EID through increased HCW influence, improved knowledge about the availability of EID and risk factors for transmission. EID can either facilitate or hinder continued engagement for mothers by affecting the process of acceptance of HIV status.
E (Chapter 8)	Challenges with tracing patients on antiretroviral therapy who are late for clinic appointments in rural South Africa and recommendations for future practice.	Published Global Health Action, 2020(118)	Reflection on quantitative data collection	2&4	Challenges identified included facility-level barriers such as heterogeneity in procedures; challenges relating to data, documentation and record- keeping; and challenges relating to the roles of tracing personnel. These must be overcome in order to improve routine patient tracing and capitalise on this source of information for patient monitoring.

9.2.1. Objective 1: To investigate loss to follow-up among patients who initiate ART under Option B+

Loss to follow-up among pregnant and postpartum women living with HIV who enrol in Option B+ has not been widely researched in sub-Saharan African settings (17,18,102). There is a wealth of information on ART initiation rates and outcomes for women who remain retained in care, as well as on discontinuation rates and barriers and facilitators to engagement in care (both retention and adherence) (241,283). However, there is little information on those women who become lost to follow-up from the facility at which they initiated treatment. This is in part due to the relative novelty of the Option B+ approach which was first recommended by WHO in 2013. However, this is not the only reason; in-depth investigation into LTFU of pregnant women is hindered by weak healthcare infrastructure like data systems and personnel (99), as well as factors related to the population of pregnant and postpartum women such as their higher mobility which makes locating them after they stop attending their clinic visits significantly more difficult (18,102). Before 2015, most Option B+ programmes existed as implementation research projects, with the major aim of demonstrating the feasibility of this approach. As such, most early research focused on acceptability of the approach as well as uptake, specifically in terms of ART initiation (31,189). There has been a relatively high coverage of research and intervention in the antenatal period(241), which often coincides with high motivation to remain on treatment and therefore fewer problems with retention in care (542).

Objective 1 aimed to address this knowledge gap, and was further split into three sub-objectives namely, (i) to understand the true outcomes of PMTCT patients once they become LTFU in Agincourt, South Africa, (ii), to explore factors associated with different outcomes following loss to follow-up, and (iii) to compare the outcomes of PMTCT patients to the general HIV patient treatment cohort. The rationale for the comparisons with the general treatment cohort was that differences in outcomes could potentially explain why pregnant and postpartum women disengaged from HIV care and treatment at higher rates than other adults on treatment (89,543).

Paper A showed that women who initiated ART while pregnant or breastfeeding had statistically significant different outcomes than the general ART treatment cohort once they became LTFU. Firstly, Option B+ women were 4 times less likely to have died. As many other researchers have speculated previously, this may be explained by the fact that they often initiate treatment while less immunosuppressed (mirrored by baseline CD4 counts in this study), and often before they have experienced any symptoms of infection (240,252,283). This was further supported by the fact that Option B+ women were more likely to be alive with ART status unknown even though they were less likely to have their clinic record linked to an HDSS record. Risk of death overall in the cohort appeared to be highest immediately following a final visit and reduced temporally as has previously been reported by other studies (447,544). However, when this was stratified by reason for ART initiation, this pattern was not observed for Option B+ women, with deaths distributed almost evenly between the time immediately following a last visit, after the next scheduled visit, and after becoming LTFU, giving further evidence that mortality is not a major driver of LTFU for this group. We attempted to ascertain the cause of each death, however, 51.7% of 120 total deaths had no verbal autopsy data. Nonetheless, of the causes ascertained for Option B+ women (6 out of 10 deaths), no deaths were attributable to HIV.

This paper also showed that Option B+ women were as likely as other adults on ART to have transferred to another health facility. Option B+ women were 1.5 times more likely to have transferred to a clinic within the HDSS, but their transfers were 1.3 times more likely to be undocumented. The findings suggest that postpartum women's mobility may not be over distances as long as other women or men. However, given that we could only investigate transfers using data from the clinics within the study area, the transfer data is one-sided, as we could not check data from clinics outside the HDSS. Consequently, it is likely that we missed many undocumented transfers to clinics outside the Agincourt HDSS. This is supported by comparisons between the transfer distances for documented and silent transfers. The distances for silent transfers (median (IQR): 9.99km (8.97,18.32)) were significantly shorter than those for documented transfers (median (IQR): 38.03km (14.66, 329.16)). Nonetheless, the geographic spread of transfer facilities indicated PLHIV in the HDSS are very mobile. South Africa's Apartheid history, where the black populace had to migrate to economic hubs for work while still being expected to reside in rural areas likely still contributes to this phenomenon. Following the end of Apartheid, people move around freely but still maintain links to the area they grew up. Other studies have documented that mobility can have a detrimental impact on engagement in care (349,545), and that patients considered LTFU may be receiving care at another ART facility by utilising national reference lab databases (18,102). This mobility may also be detrimental for PMTCT as it is associated with higher risk of vertical transmission (546). Furthermore, this mobility may indicate changing priorities and preferences for Option B+ women who may choose a clinic for ANC based on convenience and proximity but may prioritise confidentiality or anonymity following delivery and hence choose to switch clinics (285,547).

Estimates of ART stoppage and migration were also higher among Option B+ women. The estimated rate of re-engagement in care was lower for Option B+ women, however, given that it was second only to transfers, it appears that reengagement in care contributes significantly to outcomes following LTFU, further supporting calls to stop conceptualising engagement in care as a linear phenomenon (45). However, while re-engagement in care may be viewed as a positive outcome given that people are returning to care, it means that these patients had at least three months where they were not taking ART. Transfers also potentially mean patients have gaps in treatment if they transfer their care well after a final visit to an initiating facility. These lapses in treatment are associated with higher risk of mortality and onward transmission, and the development of drug resistance (38,48,56,456,457,506). These gaps in treatment are particularly worrying for women who may still be within the risk period of vertical transmission as it puts their infant at risk of HIV acquisition. Secondly, these gaps have a negative effect on maternal health which has a domino effect on infant survival independent of HIV transmission (274-276). With the substantial success of ART for PMTCT, vertical transmission has dropped dramatically (21,548), however, the majority of infant transmission is now occurring in the postpartum period through breastfeeding (198,253).

These results begin to explain the disparity between retention in care for Option B+ women when compared to the general ART treatment cohort. Considering that most programmes report facility specific retention and that individuals with a documented transfer are often treated as retained in care, right-censored at the time of the transfer, or excluded from analyses (199,305), the higher propensity to transfer without documentation for pregnant and postpartum women reported in paper B explains some of the higher LTFU rates. Furthermore, paper C evaluated the national HIV treatment database, showing that it misclassified 36% of outcomes following LTFU. Option B+ women's outcomes were more likely to be misclassified in TIER.Net.

The high proportion of LTFU attributable to transfers is encouraging as it shows that these women are not completely stopping ART and therefore are still accruing the benefits of treatment. However, it suggests that ascertaining patient outcomes using data from a single facility may not be prudent.

Universal ART had just started being implemented in Agincourt when this research was conducted, and the clinical profile of patients on ART will evolve over time such that it might start to resemble pregnant women in terms of baseline CD4, WHO staging, and having no history of HIV symptoms. Given that higher baseline CD4 has been shown to be associated with higher risk of LTFU (549), the outcomes of the general ART cohort may start to resemble those of pregnant women. As such, in future cohorts, mortality might account for a lower proportion of LTFU and outcomes such as ART stoppage and silent transfers may become more prevalent. However, there are still some important differences between pregnant women and the general population cohorts pertaining to pregnancy, childbirth, and child rearing which may influence retention in care. I conducted the qualitative component of my research as a preliminary enquiry to tackle some of these differences and report on the findings from this exercise as part of objective three.

9.2.2. Objective 2: To critique data sources and methods used to investigate retention in care following uptake of PMTCT services

Given that the results from paper A cast doubt on the utility of measuring retention in care using only the data from the facility where ART was initiated, this objective aimed to critically evaluate the data sources from the initiating facility. The research questions were (i) how do we know whether a patient is retained in care or LTFU? and (ii) how reliable is the method we use to ascertain this? My interests were in first of all measuring the size and direction of bias in utilising just one data source from the initiating clinic (in this case TIER.Net) versus relying on multiple data sources to measure retention in care with the aim of providing correction factors for similar ART programmes. Secondly, having measured this error, I hoped to identify practices that could reduce the occurrence of LTFU, whilst also improving the measurement of retention in care at a single facility. I hoped to achieve this by making the data on patient outcomes more accurate through reducing the instances of patients being recorded as LTFU in TIER.Net.

Paper C showed that LTFU contributed the most to misclassification of patient outcomes in TIER.Net. Conservative estimates showed that 39.4% of patients classified as LTFU in TIER.Net were misclassified, a number that could rise as high as 87%. Consequently, the methods and procedures used to determine patient outcomes needed to be scrutinised. The results from Paper A showed that many patients had transferred to clinics within the region emphasising the need for some form of linkage and communication between clinics and a data infrastructure that can catch these silent transfers. The PIRL database provided a unique method to collate data from different facilities in order to track movements between facilities. Even though data aggregation was not in real-time, there was still utility to this method. It allowed me to resolve multiple patient outcomes retrospectively using data from other clinics.

The availability of unique identifiers in the PIRL database also allowed me to follow individual patients and identify multiple patterns of engagement in care. For example, some patients collected treatment from multiple health facilities simultaneously (possibly to accumulate a cache of medication), often in preparation for travel. This suggests multiple barriers to optimal engagement, for example this patient might feel that the system is too rigid to cater to their specific need or may not be aware of the availability of longer pill refills as an option for travel. In a case where this patient stopped attending their visits, they would be assumed to have disengaged at both clinics but would still in theory have enough medication available to them. As such, this also raises questions about how we define and conceptualise optimal engagement. While an exception and not a rule, we may have to consider that patients can be adherent, but not retained in care. It also means that assessing retention in care solely using the initial/initiation facility might not be very informative. Furthermore, it shows that LTFU is a complex phenomenon which will require better data to advance investigations into understanding it. For example, while individual clinics export a copy of TIER.Net and send it to the Ministry of Health where it is aggregated in order to produce reports on specific indicators for the national treatment programme, unique identifiers are not consistently entered into TIER.Net. This makes it hard to replicate an exercise similar to the one I was able conduct using the PIRL database. Consequently, an intervention that makes unique identifiers like a national identification number a mandatory field in TIER.Net would go a long way to helping improve retention estimates generated from this source.

The PIRL database was not perfect either as 190 (15%) of 1264 patients classified as LTFU were in fact not LTFU and shows how relying on one data source could give inaccurate outcomes for patients. The PIRL database erroneously categorised 97 (9.5%) patients with documented transfers as LTFU. Furthermore, many patients in differentiated care models (65 (34.2%) of 190 misclassifications) were also misclassified as LTFU as well. By triangulating facility data with the PIRL data I managed to arrive at more accurate estimates for the various outcomes.

Mothers may have different priorities when choosing which clinic to attend in the prenatal versus the postnatal period. Some clinics may have better child health services or conversely better antenatal care than others. While the clinics in this research catered to both pregnant women, children and nonpregnant adults, specialised maternal and child health facilities necessitate a change in facility, given that postpartum women are expected to transfer to the general treatment cohort (South African guidelines call for this transfer 6-10 weeks postpartum). Therefore, transfers are to be expected in the treatment life cycle. However, by only reporting facility-specific retention rates, retention estimates will inevitably be underestimated. This further illustrates the need for exploration of outcomes beyond a single facility in order to report less biased estimates.

If the most important goal in measuring retention is to know which patients are still in care regardless of what facility they are attending, then every treatment programme will have to adapt some context-specific hybrid data system in order to improve the measurement of retention. The possibilities will be dictated by financial and human resources, existing data systems, as well as available infrastructure such as telecommunication and reliable power supply. The system I adapted shows that data update and aggregation does not have to happen in real-time in order for it to be useful. Patient outcomes can be retrospectively resolved in order to reduce the number of patients that get reported as LTFU and consequently improve the accuracy of retention statistics.

9.2.3. Objective 3: To explore the link between maternal engagement in care and infant outcomes

The results of this thesis also give additional insight into the factors that affect pregnant and postpartum women's engagement in care. Previous research has considered individual, biological and medical, health system, and structural barriers and facilitators of engagement in care (48,241,283). However, the relationship between engagement and infant outcomes has not been extensively studied.

Paper D qualitatively explored the intersection between women's experiences of EID and their engagement in Option B+. The finding that experiences of EID can either foster or hinder continued engagement in care further illustrates the complexity of engagement in care for women who initiate ART for PMTCT. Previous studies have shown that some women initiate treatment for the sole reason to protect their unborn child (237,319,340,508). It should therefore follow that the outcome for their infant might affect their engagement. Studies have also shown that a positive result for an infant can affect maternal engagement when maternal and infant clinic visits are not integrated or better streamlined. However, to my knowledge, this is the first study to show how an EID result can either foster or hinder acceptance of an HIV diagnosis and therefore have an impact on continued engagement in care. Paper D showed that engagement in care cannot be viewed as a standalone issue, other social practices can modify the effect of an EID result. For example, women who have received extensive and effective counselling and understand that their infant might still seroconvert even though they are taking treatment might be able to rationalise a seroconversion and

consequently remain engaged in care compared to those that have not. Mothers who have not received counselling might still be in denial about their diagnosis and may therefore use their infant's negative result as confirmation of their own negative status.

This research further illustrates the many differences and may further explain the discrepancies in retention for pregnant and postpartum women when compared to the general ART treatment cohort. Unlike the general treatment population, for pregnant women, HIV care is not just a mother's endeavour but rather one that she must embrace for her child as well. The mother and her infant's care and treatment can become diametrically opposed, for example, if her child seroconverts, which may be exacerbated by a case of separately scheduled mother and infant clinic visits. Consequently, future conceptual frameworks on women's engagement in care should include their infant's outcomes as potentially contributing to continued engagement in the postpartum period. Practice theory offers such a framework as it encourages us to look at engagement in care as part of a constellation of practices that women must navigate, practices which either help or hinder each other. Programmes should endeavour to rollout interventions that take into account these interactions and aim to mitigate any negative interactions.

Reflection on the approaches taken within the qualitative research

It is important to reflect on the methods used to come to these conclusions including fieldwork to identify and interview participants and analysis of the data generated.

Data collection

The recruitment process raised some ethical dilemmas. Given the scope of the research, many of the people in the sampling frame had disengaged from care, as such approaching potential participants to recruit them into the study came with some potential pitfalls. These are often harder to reach people, but it is important to understand their experiences as they are under-represented in research. This meant I had to be a bit more flexible and adaptable to give them the opportunity to share their voice and opinion. For these specific cases an approach from the clinic could be seen as an attempt to reengage them in care

and inadvertently cause them to refuse to participate (550) or in some cases HCWs might choose to only engage certain patients who meet some desirable criteria. I also did not wish to cause any disruption to HCWs which made utilising HCWs difficult. Therefore, I decided to approach participants through a fieldworker who could explain the study to them and ask if they were willing to participate. Even though it was explicitly mentioned that we were researchers who had no connection to the clinic and therefore could not influence their interactions with the treatment programme, some participants voiced concerns over how we knew they had been taking treatment at a given clinic, fieldworkers were trained to explain the study as well as confidentiality in research and how they were bound by this principle with a penalty of the loss of their job and prosecution if it was deemed necessary. Some participants did not feel this was sufficient and declined to participate as a result. Fieldworkers were also instructed not to frame their approach of participants along the lines of HIV or the presupposition of HIV status to mitigate this. As part of the approach process, I drove a marked WITS car to participants' households to look for them. Interviews happened around the time of annual demographic surveillance so a marked car would not have been out of the ordinary. In order to locate participants' households, I used GPS coordinates that are routinely collected by the HDSS for the purpose of demographic surveillance. Without the linked data, it would have been impossible to locate any of the participants. This also illustrates the challenges that CHWs must face in trying to track patients down in a rural area without an organised address system. Ideally, I would have preferred to be able to approach participants myself but given that I do not speak Shangaan this was not possible. The use of a fieldworker as an interpreter was also decided against as participants were female and there was a desire to minimise any unequal power dynamics given the cultural context. For the interviews, there was also the consideration of potential pitfalls from discussing topics that female participants might not feel comfortable discussing with a man. For this reason, I also did not observe interviews and left the fieldworkers to conduct them with the hope that their training would be sufficient to help them navigate any issues during the interview. I therefore cannot speak for the dynamics of this part of the data production process. However, I took other steps to remain

close to the data generation process including debriefing fieldworkers immediately after the interview.

With regards to the consent form and information sheet, it was decided that they should not contain any information specifically mentioning HIV treatment and care. This was to minimise the potential for inadvertently disclosing participants status if their consent form was read by someone else. Whilst I ultimately felt comfortable with this approach, I would consider it as an ethical "grey zone", with both potential advantages and disadvantages in terms of being transparent with participants about the nature of the research, whilst minimising risks of inadvertent disclosure.

With regards to benevolence in research, there were instances where, based on transcripts, patients appeared to be experiencing mental health challenges which raised some concerns for me regarding what procedures to follow under these circumstances. All these instances were several months removed from the actual fieldwork. Given how data collection was structured, most of the interviews were transcribed after I had already left the study area. Even with debriefing sessions during the fieldwork, some of these issues were not flagged early. I had discussions with more qualified qualitative researchers to figure out the best way to deal with situations where I thought a participant might require help without breaking confidentiality. One participant who had tried to reengage in care mentioned that she had been called by the clinic and counselled to return to care. However, when she decided to return to the clinic, the HCW she spoke to was not on duty that day and this made her apprehensive and ultimately, she did not re-engage in care. She had recently given birth and in her interview, she mentioned having suicidal thoughts and described having little motivation to wake every day. She was flagged and referred to the Home-Based Carers organisation that worked in her village, but this intervention felt insufficient given all she was struggling with. There was also no way to determine whether the HBCs had followed up on her. Given the distressing nature of some of the topics discussed, a lesson I take away from this experience is to plan ahead for psychosocial support interventions for participants that might be in emotional distress or at risk of self-harm. Quantitative research often means that you are removed from the lived

experiences of the subjects you are researching and consequently we may forget that real people contribute the numbers. My experience with qualitative research has made me a more conscientious and empathetic researcher attuned to the importance of thinking of the well-being of the subjects of the research first before thinking of the data they can contribute.

Data analysis

With regards to data analysis, my limited prior experience with qualitative research meant that notions of positionality and reflexivity were completely foreign topics to me. My default during analysis was not to be reflexive or to consider my position and it was something that I had to inculcate into my approach. I have gained a lot of experience by undertaking this research and I believe I am a much better researcher as a result of this. However, given that qualitative research is co-produced and influenced by my beliefs and biases, these must have shaped the conclusions drawn from the data collected. For example, in formulating the topic guide, one of the motivating factors for my line of questioning with regards to infant outcomes and their effect on maternal outcomes was my own childhood experiences of maternal and infant outcomes with regards to HIV and their interdependence. Furthermore, throughout my research career I was always baffled by the fact that the infant and its outcomes were seldom considered in trying to understand the outcomes of the mother. These experiences also permeated the analysis process. Whereas IDIs were conducted for a diverse group of participants, I started off by coding IDIs conducted with women who had recently given birth and ultimately ran out of time to analyse transcripts from other participants. Furthermore, the theoretical framework used to frame the findings was chosen because it offered a succinct way to situate infant outcomes particularly EID within the concept of maternal engagement in care.

9.2.4. Objective 4: To identify and recommend strategies to improve retention in PMTCT services

Objective 4 is partially covered in paper E and expounded on in the following section on programme and policy recommendations.

9.3. Programme and policy recommendations

Some of the policy implications from this research call for strengthening already existing interventions and are therefore immediately actionable. Some call for implementation of new interventions which may have to be enacted over the long term, and some like the call for a shift in the paradigm of ART provision may be a contribution to a much needed broader recognition of the need for more ambitious approaches in the future. However, I firmly believe that it is our role as researchers to pioneer. After all, the national treatment programmes in sub-Saharan Africa are proof and an important reminder of what can be achieved when we refuse to settle for the status quo. Illustrated by the jump in numbers of people on ART since treatment was rolled out, with an estimated 18 million people on ART in sub-Saharan Africa in 2019 (24).

Furthermore, the increased vertical transmission in the postpartum period coincides with the period where LTFU increases significantly. Women who experience any gaps in their treatment including transfers, those who reengage and those who stop ART will therefore be an important population in which to intervene to further reduce the rate of new HIV infections in children. Programmes should therefore strive to identify the major causes of these gaps and implement interventions to mitigate the identified causes with the ultimate goal of eliminating or reducing the duration of gaps in treatment taking. It will be important to shift the focus away from the immediate outcomes of the pregnancy, such as vertical transmission, towards more sustained engagement in care as this will protect future pregnancies, improve maternal health and reduce the risk of transmission to partners as well.

9.3.1. Policies to reduce patient drop out

Whereas the key challenges of early ART programmes were to provide and scale-up access to ART, the challenges have now evolved to encompass not just ART coverage but retaining patients in care (Figure 9.1). Consequently, ART programmes must evolve to meet these new challenges. This evolution will include a move away from the "one-size-fits-all" model of service delivery towards a patient-centred one that caters to specific patients (551). This is not a radical suggestion as women in PMTCT routinely receive differentiated care that includes integration of ANC services. However, the fact that they must still transfer their care to the general treatment population in the postpartum

period is still a major factor contributing to their disengagement from care (18). As such one immediately actionable policy change would be to extend integrated and synchronised maternal and infant HIV services beyond 6-10 weeks postpartum in South Africa (296). This would have the added advantage of improving infant retention as has been reported in Kenya (552), and is supported by findings from paper D which showed conflicting scheduling of mother and infant clinic appointments contributed to disengagement from care.

Interventions to reduce the occurrence of LTFU due to administrative errors will also be crucial. Increasing numbers of patients initiating ART will necessitate the use of new monitoring and evaluation approaches, as patient volume may contribute to data quality issues that lead to administrative LTFU (e.g. where patient outcomes do not get recorded). In paper C, we found instances of LTFU patients recorded as still in care. Instances like this could be reduced by implementing an automated alert system within the database which might have flagged this error. We also found instances of patient outcomes available in a clinic register but not reflected in TIER.Net. The amounts of data that data clerks are expected to enter might be responsible for these occurrences and therefore a system that requires less data could be a solution. Choosing quality over quantity in terms of variables collected and streamlining this across the entire treatment programme would be one way to mitigate this. On the topic of important variables and biomarkers, it appears that CD4 is being phased out but given how important a predictor it is for outcomes such as mortality, programmes would be naïve to do so (553-555). To do this would be to undo the astronomical work it took to make CD4 a regularly and consistently collected metric.

To reduce LTFU through silent transfers, some potential interventions to improve the transfer process include; increased patient awareness and understanding of the transfer process (556), strengthening referral systems (364), simplifying the transfer process (557), and removal of preconditions for transfer (558). Finally, ascertaining outcomes beyond a single facility will need to become the norm to ensure that silent transfers are captured. Ubiquity of mobile phones means that interventions through them will reach more people. Interventions such as automated reminder messages about upcoming appointments have shown mixed results with regards to keeping patients engaged in care (109,332,559).

Figure 9.1: The evolution of ART provision in sub-Saharan Africa (Adapted from Grimsrud et al (61))



Healthier patients including pregnant women may need to be treated differently given that higher CD4 is associated with LTFU (61). There are myriad reasons for this including exposure to the clinic experience which includes long queues and interactions with much sicker patients which may be detrimental to motivation to stay in care especially given they may have never experienced any sickness (240). Furthermore, some authors argue that the care delivery model is outdated and paternalistic, and that expecting patients to report to the clinic monthly might be unrealistic (61,560). We have managed to bring testing to people's doorstep, and we must endeavour to make treatment as convenient. As patients with higher CD4 were more likely to have transferred their care, paper B shows that healthier patients will also have other priorities with regards to treatment provision which will need to fit into a more mobile life. More specifically, with regards to pregnant and postpartum women, paper D showed that each woman will have competing practices unique to her that need to be accounted for when formulating the best way to deliver treatment to her and her infant.

Consequently, these patients may need different specialised counselling to cater to their particular hurdles and challenges. For example, given the ART stoppage significantly contributed to LTFU, another immediately actionable recommendation would be to continue emphasising the importance of ART beyond preventing vertical transmission and rebranding ART as not just for sick people but as a way to maintain health, especially because feeling healthy and doubts about the effectiveness of ART contribute to disengagement (240,281,354).

Additionally, recognising pregnant and postpartum women's different needs and perhaps moving them out of the clinics or putting them on longer refill schedules earlier will free-up these resources for sicker patients who may benefit more from them. The argument that patients need to be incentivised and monitored through monthly clinic visits is double-edged as a major cause of attrition is the time and monetary investment in monthly visits (561).

Consider also for example that while for a clinician or a researcher, it is their job to be at the clinic, for a patient, clinic attendance while vital to their survival, also eats into time they could spend working, something some patients might see as a greater priority. Therefore, work might take precedence for women who initiate ART while asymptomatic because they perceive deleterious effects of their infection as still far off in the future, but hunger, rent, and other obligations may be more immediate and pressing needs. In designing treatment schedules, clinics should prioritise the clientele and it underlines the need for ART models that fit each person's needs.

Furthermore, daily treatment can be an alienating experience and a constant reminder of HIV even in the absence of symptoms. Therefore, innovations in treatment such as long-acting subdermal medical implants and injections will also be critical to improving retention for these types of patients.

The current global COVID-19 pandemic shows us that now more than ever it is important to consider differentiated models of care. The pandemic has laid bare the fragility of a model where patients' treatment is dependent on regular clinic visits. Consequently, radical new approaches to ART provision for pregnant and postpartum women will need to be considered. What these new approaches would look like is an important debate to be had and these approaches will have to be evaluated to determine their efficacy.

What might an ideal PMTCT programme look like?

Given the disproportionate number of women affected by HIV and also given the high fertility intentions among women in SSA, most HIV-positive women of child-bearing age will go through a PMTCT programme at some point provided that the health system emphasises the importance of ANC. Therefore, making PMTCT programmes as patient-centred as possible, as integrated as possible and as streamlined as possible will reach the largest number of people living with HIV. For example, longer-term integrated maternal and child healthcare (MCH) where all women of child-bearing age attend a specialised clinic with those who seroconvert automatically entering into the MCH programme in preparation for a possible future pregnancy and childbirth and only transferring once they have fulfilled their fertility intention or are no longer fecund. These clinics would have to include all women as other studies have found that such integrated clinics may not be effective if only HIV-infected women attend them as they potentially increase stigma (332,562). Contraception and other needs can be integrated including HIV care meaning that women get a one-stop shop. This means that their children are also covered and reduces the workload for HCW as it removes the need to probe for things like eligibility but will necessitate more broadly skilled HCWs (563).

There can also be further differentiated care models for mother-infant pairs (198) as the best interventions to improve EID treat the mother-baby dyad as a single entity. This makes sense given that for the first few years of life the infant is completely dependent on its mother. As such, interventions to reach infants should include some incentivisation for the mothers such as the aforementioned one-stop shop where they can access other services.

The time immediately following delivery can also be a cause of dropout as women have a new-born to worry about and might still be recovering from delivery. They might therefore be unable to consistently keep clinic appointments. Treatment and care delivery should be tailored to make sure it causes the least disruptions. Longer refills around this time have been proposed to mitigate this (367,564), as treatment interruptions can be disastrous for mothers (37,496,565,566). Community-based models of care can further improve retention in care. For example, dispensing treatment at distribution points in the community could be offered to Option B+ women at this stage. They can then move back into the clinic once the child needs to receive immunisation and EID.

Immunisation coverage and maternal postnatal retention are higher than EID coverage indicating missed opportunities for infant testing during immunisation visits or ART follow-up for their mothers (198,567). Integration of HIV services with MCH services including immunisation programmes provides a critical opportunity for elimination of vertical transmission.

Non-pregnant women can be put on differentiated care models such as longer refill schedules or community-based care. For older women who transfer to the general population after they have fulfilled their fertility intentions, their needs will be different such as other chronic co-morbidities so other services such as chronic disease care can be emphasised. This system will necessitate decentralisation of ART provision with most of the responsibility designated to CHWs. This in turn will free up the limited professional medical corps to concentrate on more severe cases that would benefit most from their attention. Decentralised treatment can improve programme effectiveness and efficiency (568).

Retention promoting activities are necessary both within the facility and in the community. In the facility these could include adherence support and counselling, and defaulter tracing managed by facility staff. Outreach services and retention promoting activities in the community could be managed by community-based organisations, with coordination of all these activities by case manager (WBOT), and the coordination of patient information systems by data clerks.

Through this all, a supportive/collective approach to treatment delivery should be emphasised as a sense of connectedness to the clinic in conjunction

with family support have been shown to fuel patients' motivation to consistently overcome myriad obstacles to keep up clinic appointments (502).

An HIV diagnosis can be an ostracising experience that frays social cohesion. The Western context is one characterised by individualism while the African setting is still predominantly social and collective, as such a treatment programme that mirrors this stands to gain from this approach (358,547). Efforts to create a sense of connectedness such as music and drama groups, and income generating activities (e.g. community farms) recognise that patients who feel disconnected from their community will have poor outcomes which ultimately affect them, their families, and their community. While this might sound utopian and un-scientific, research has shown that interventions that emphasise connectedness and community within the treatment experience consistently have better retention estimates than those that do not (201,342,358,569).

9.3.2. Policies to improve tracking of patients who miss clinic appointments

With the expansion of ART programmes in sub-Saharan Africa, PLHIV can access HIV care at myriad locations. While advantageous to the people in care as it increases the options of facilities to attend for treatment, this expansion has made it much more difficult to track patients' movements within the treatment programme. Figure 9.2 shows what a treatment programme might look like and how patients might move between different facilities and different models of care. Knowing which patients are in care, regardless of which clinic they are attending will reduce LTFU substantially and ensure that appropriate resources are directed to patients that have truly disengaged from care. In order for a system of this nature to be effectively monitored and evaluated, it requires checks and balances that allow for the ascertainment of treatment outcomes independent of the initiating facility.

Figure 9.2: Models of care delivery and movements of patients

All PLHIV



A robust surveillance system is recognised by the WHO as essential for elimination programmes (370). A case-based surveillance approach where measurement and monitoring of programmatic outcomes is accomplished by collecting individual patient-level data for key events is recognised as the best practice and serves as the backbone of HIV surveillance in developed countries. While such a system would be ideal, in South Africa, myriad hurdles exist that are hampering its implementation.

With regards to the phenomenon of self-transfer, it may be a patient's attempt at achieving some anonymity (102,285), and this anonymity might increase the likelihood of patients remaining in care and adherent (251,286,319,340). The onus to report their movements must be removed from the patients, especially considering that patients often move because of the same people (HCWs) to whom they are supposed to report their transfer (237,245,340). Data layers that allow for those responsible for monitoring and evaluation to do case surveillance (to flag silent transfers), that automate patient alerts (such as missed appointments) and allow for monitoring of clinic procedures offer a way for facilities to improve their operations and correct their estimates and statistics without breaking patient confidentiality. One immediately actionable policy that would have the greatest effect on programmes' ability to track patients would be to institute a unique identification system (570–572). As mentioned previously, the availability of unique identifiers through the PIRL database significantly improved my ability to find patients at different clinics. Given how much LTFU is attributable to mobility in the form of migration and transfers to other facilities (which are sometimes "silent"), unique identifiers would help to monitor this mobility. This will ensure that patient outcomes are ascertained beyond the initiating facility.

In addition to the unique identifiers, the ability to link the different clinic databases through the PIRL database also helped to improve ascertainment of patient outcomes. The WHO also recommends data linkage, as unique identifiers on their own would be less effective without an overarching data infrastructure that links facility data (370). Linked data allows for measuring care continuity, for patient tracing beyond the facility of ART initiation, and for interventions as needed. The architects of TIER.Net recognise this and it is intended for the disparate facility databases to be linked at some point in the future. This by necessity is a more long-term objective but there are some short-term interventions that could improve patient tracking before a linked facility database becomes a reality.

Firstly, ensuring regular exchange of information between facilities (364). Given that TIER.Net data clerks have regular regional meetings, these could be restructured to include data consolidation exercises where review and comparison of patient lists is done using National IDs in the best-case scenario, and names and dates of birth in the worst case to catch silent transfers.

Innovation will also be required to develop better methods to track patients. Tracking down patients is notoriously hard in an environment with no functioning address system, or poor infrastructure that means that some places are cut off in rainy seasons. Some policies are already recommended but are not consistently implemented, for example, asking if the patient's contact information is accurate or if it has changed at every visit. This would ensure that contact information remains up to date for the purpose of telephone tracing.

Programmes also need to develop services that are more adapted to harder to find patients. For the qualitative component of my research, I managed to use household GPS coordinates routinely collected by the HDSS to locate LTFU patients for IDIs. Readily available data like this could be utilised to try and locate lost patients. In a situation of a public health emergency, is it ethical to share this information with clinics? Clinics typically collect location data by asking for important landmarks near patients' homes. This more accurate location data would significantly improve patient tracing efforts. I think the clinics need all the help they can get, provided the data can be utilised in a manner that does not breach confidentiality, it would be of added benefit to the treatment programme. As other countries utilise all data available to them to track patients who go off the grid⁸, it makes sense to do the same in this setting if we are going to achieve 90-90-90 and then 95-95-95 goals.

9.3.3. Policies to improve EID uptake and infant outcomes

The major objective which is elimination of vertical transmission should not be forgotten. Mothers' outcomes are important, and children's long-term outcomes are worse if their mother dies. Equally, an unfavourable outcome for the infant such as seroconversion is similarly detrimental. This is the balance that PMTCT programmes must strike.

Healthcare workers' understanding of EID and the logistics of its implementation are an important consideration. For example, through the IDIs one participant mentioned that if they arrived after sample collection, they were instructed to come back the next day. However, one of the reasons for the use of dried blood spots (DBS) is because they are quite stable, provided they are protected from humidity and moisture, and can be stored at room temperature (573). This perhaps indicates a need for better training of HCWs regarding the logistics of EID. It might also point to a lack of understanding on the part of the mother. It is possible that HCWs were referring to other blood tests which the mother misconstrued to mean EID. Furthermore, it

⁸ See for example <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/hiv-surveillance-systems</u> "UK HIV surveillance systems" [accessed 28 August 2020]

might speak to a breakdown in communication where a mother was requesting for EID for her infant but the HCW mistook her request to be one for another blood test.

In South Africa infant mortality remains high, estimated at 28.5 deaths per 1000 live births in 2019⁹. Historically HIV exposed infants had even higher risk of mortality (274). Perhaps, because of this expectation, less focus was placed on EID, especially before the rollout of effective PMTCT programmes. It may be that for HEI where deaths are a more common occurrence independent of HIV transmission (275,276), the risk of infant mortality might not be a big enough incentive to encourage EID. In fact, death might be seen as respite or relief from a complicated life for their infant especially if mothers have faced challenges like stigma and ostracism due to their own diagnosis (267). Therefore, interventions to reduce stigma as well as interventions that weaken the links between a positive EID result and disengagement from care such as specialised counselling might mitigate fear of completing EID.

Late antenatal clinic attendance, incident maternal HIV infections during late pregnancy or the postpartum period, loss to follow-up from ART, and persistent viremia among HIV-infected women are among reasons for ongoing new paediatric HIV infections (244,574). As such, interventions tailored to these specific barriers will also improve HEI outcomes.

Studies have also shown that point-of-care EID testing improves uptake of EID (270,575,576). As such, point-of-care EID testing should be considered in PMTCT programmes to complement laboratory testing. Other interventions that may improve EID uptake include opt-out rather than opt-in testing policies where all infants receive an HIV test as part of their immunisation schedule. This may reduce the stigma of infant testing and also cast a wide net to capture any infant seroconversions from maternal seroconversion late in the pregnancy or breastfeeding period. This policy has been shown to improve uptake in other settings (577–579). Programmes should also consider improved links between mother-baby pairs in order to identify HIV-exposed infants. Some recent research is looking into the effects of this measure.

⁹ See <u>https://childmortality.org/</u> "UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation" [accessed 28 August 2020]

However, given that one of the major reasons infants do not get tested is because the system may not be aware of their HIV exposure (198,580), any intervention that makes it easier to identify HEI may improve the uptake of EID. Given that this research showed some mothers disengaged from care due to the dual burden of theirs and their infant's clinic visits, in the unfortunate event that a child tests positive, at worst, their clinic visits should be arranged to coincide with those of the mother, or better yet their clinic visits should be integrated. Women should not have to decide between their infant and their own health.

As these all become more prevalent as ART programmes mature, it is important to study if they really influence LTFU. Ascertainment of infant outcomes is inextricably linked with their mothers staying in care, maternal LTFU often means infant outcomes do not get fully and accurately reported (198,580). Any interventions for the mothers will influence the outcomes of the infants as well.

Box 2: Recommendations for policy and practice

Interventions to mitigate gaps in treatment and engagement in care

- Differentiated care including integrated mother-baby clinics past 6-10 weeks postpartum for Option B+
- Better data entry procedures and automated alerts for late patients
- Improve patient awareness of transfer procedure, strengthen the patient referral system, and simplify the transfer process
- Community distribution of treatment for pregnant women or longer refills around time of delivery
- Specialised counselling for new mothers to reduce the risk of drop-out due to a positive infant test

Improve tracking of patients who miss a clinic appointment

- Make sure to enter national ID numbers and updated telephone numbers for all patients
- · Clinics should be encouraged to regularly exchange information on missing patients
- Form partnerships with the research community e.g. Agincourt HDSS routinely collects data on deaths and migration events

Interventions to improve uptake of early infant diagnosis

- Opt-out vs opt-in infant testing
- Point-of-care infant testing
- Better linkage of mother-baby pairs within clinic data

9.4. Recommendations for future research

Some of the findings of this research warrant further investigation. Some future research directions include:

Investigation of re-engagement in care. Re-engagement in care was the second most prevalent outcome for patients that had been recorded as LTFU. More research needs to be done to understand the factors associated with re-engagement in care. One factor that warrants further investigation is whether new pregnancies are associated with re-engagement in care. Furthermore, research testing and monitoring interventions to improve retention and reengagement in PMTCT such as text messaging needs some investigation.

Repeat testing for women who test negative during pregnancy. Late seroconversion emerged as a reason for one mother's disengagement from care in the IDIs. The timeline of this mother's seroconversion was probably after the 18-month EID test, but before the end of the breastfeeding period. The confusion of receiving a positive result for an infant that late was detrimental to her engagement in care. As such, more research is needed to ascertain the frequency of testing for mothers who initially test negative at ANC. The gap between the end of breastfeeding and the 18-month EID test will also need further research to make sure that infant testing is continuing past the end of the breastfeeding period.

Infant outcomes. While I was able to ascertain the outcomes for women who had been LTFU, this was not possible for their infants for many reasons. For example, uptake and results of EID for infants of the women interviewed as part of the IDIs were all self-reported and could not be corroborated. One of the major reasons infant outcomes could not be ascertained was a lack of identifiers that paired mothers and their infants. Future research should investigate infant outcomes to see how different outcomes for mothers influence the outcomes of their infants.

More research on LTFU is needed in other settings. While these findings are important and add to the available research on LTFU in sub-Saharan Africa, it might not be possible to extrapolate some of the findings to other settings such as those within the same region where labour migration is not a common phenomenon as migration probably plays a pivotal role in
patients' decision to transfer their care to another facility. Future research should also consider LTFU for teenage mothers (<18 years). Younger mothers have been shown to be different from older mothers in many ways (69,305,331,332,581). Consequently, it is possible that their outcomes following LTFU will differ significantly from those of the women represented in this body of work. Furthermore, patients who are lost before ART initiation will differ significantly from the group represented in this research. As such, further investigation of this group is an important consideration for future research. Additionally, how we operationalise or define LTFU especially in the presence of differentiated models of care will be important work to consider as treatment programmes continue to expand. Similarly, more research is needed on how we operationalise LTFU and retention in care where several facilities and changes in engagement e.g. treatment gaps, re-engagement, and transfers are also incorporated. If future research considers overall patterns and corrects for them, we may get a more accurate picture of retention in care and engagement in care more generally.

With regards to the mechanisms that drive retention, future research could compare retention rates in settings where integrated PMTCT and ANC services are offered up to 6-10 weeks like South Africa, and those where it goes up to 24 months (296). This might introduce challenges to retention especially if this transfer entails moving to a geographically separate clinic rather than between departments at the same clinic and involves accessing treatment from further away. The WHO has called for further research to determine the optimal time of transfer back to general population ART clinics and therefore more research on this may be needed before an official recommendation can be made (582,583).

Finally, the current COVID-19 pandemic shows how volatile my findings might be. The pandemic and the interventions implemented to mitigate its effects have caused interruptions to every aspect of the PMTCT cascade both with regards to the demand and supply of health services (584). In some places, healthcare workers have either gone on strike or refused to go to clinics for fear of either contracting COVID-19 or being shunned by their family members (585–587). This has the knock-on effect that services such as ANC, HIV testing, and ART initiation may be severely hampered by lack of staff. Fears around COVID-19 and the need for protective equipment to visit clinics (which they may not be able to afford) may have also led to patients foregoing attending ANC, or routine ART clinic visits. These will all impact LTFU statistics as well as the outcomes following LTFU, with some mathematical models making some sobering conclusions (588,589). As such, research to consider how the pandemic might have affected these results is warranted.

Given that we were unable to resolve all the instances of LTFU and that migration was an outcome reported in the research findings, this identifies a new challenge in measuring retention. How best can we measure and incorporate mobility and migration of patients into the measurement of retention in care? Answering this question will be imperative to reducing instances of LTFU, especially for pregnant and postpartum women who may be more mobile (18,102). Some studies have used aggregated mobile phone network data retrospectively to study population mobility in relation to health issues such as natural disasters and disease transmission (590,591). Whether similar analyses could be utilised to study HIV retention especially in highly mobile populations might warrant some research.

The sheer amount of data generated through the IDIs and the limited time to complete my research meant that many topics of interest beyond what I have currently presented were identified, but I was not able to analyse all the data collected through the IDIs. Consequently, I have only scratched the surface, and this is data that I will revisit in the future as further analyses are required to explore and unpack many of the themes that were emerging from preliminary analyses. I chose to present themes that aligned with my research and this choice frames the findings presented. Themes like seroconversion late in pregnancy or in the breastfeeding period and its influences on engagement in care, the concept of engagement in care from patients' perspective and how this differs from our definition as researchers for example patients saw nothing wrong with say temporarily collecting treatment from another clinic where they worked, or collecting treatment from multiple clinics simultaneously in order to build up a cache before taking a short hiatus from visiting the clinic or travelling for work will be interesting topics to explore in the future. I would also like to further explore the differences in themes that emerge around engagement in care comparing Option B+ women and adults that initiated ART for their own health.

9.5. Strengths and limitations

The overall strengths and limitations of this body of research are presented in this section with a focus on the key issues of this work with the different study components incorporated.

9.5.1. Strengths

Data used in this thesis come from a well-established cohort study. The availability of demographic data for 88% of the patients that were LTFU was invaluable in ascertaining patients' outcomes.

A major strength of this thesis is the mixed methods approach I adopted which involved both qualitative and quantitative components conducted in the same community around the same time. The quantitative component was essential to building the sampling frame for the qualitative component. Additionally, the methods used for the quantitative component identified new and important avenues for future research. Research using clinic data linked to a community cohort has only recently began to be undertaken in Africa. The analysis in this thesis provides community level statistics and estimates of outcomes following LTFU. The quantitative component also provided methodological contributions for measuring retention, and for linkage strategies to build a linked facility database.

The use of routine clinic data allowed the monitoring of a health system in real life, many of the cohorts providing data for previous estimates of outcomes were large, established research intervention and clinical trial cohorts supported by academic and non-governmental partners and not likely to be representative of the national cohorts. The inclusion of participants from all government facilities that serve the HDSS community was an advantage as it provided a more complete picture of LTFU in this community. Additionally, the recruitment of participants for the IDIs through a sampling frame built from various data sources meant that we were able to include patients that were currently not in care, a group that is usually underrepresented in research.

9.5.2. Limitations

The use of observational data for the quantitative component of this research is associated with potential bias and confounding. While I attempted to account for survivorship bias by only including patients who had initiated ART after record linkage began, it may be that some of these patients were in fact just re-initiating treatment at a different clinic. Restricting the analyses to patients who initiated ART after record linkage began means that the results of this research might only be generalisable to cohorts situated in similar time period especially since the advent of "test and treat" may change the composition of ART cohorts. Additionally, there are several private treatment facilities within the study area as well as government facilities just outside the periphery the study area. The exclusion of these facilities means that it is possible that some PLHIV receiving treatment in these facilities were not captured by this exercise.

There were several drawbacks with regards to data quality issues both within the clinic and HDSS databases. Socioeconomic factors could not be assessed for their association with the various outcomes as variables such as education status, marital status, and SES had varying levels of completeness. As such, confounding due to unmeasured variables is a possibility.

With regards to ascertainment of causes of death, verbal autopsy data was missing for 52% of the deaths we identified through this research. As such, we were unable to ascertain the causes for the majority of deaths reported in this research. These deaths could be due to other causes such as external trauma due to road accidents which is prevalent in South Africa (394,592) and would warrant different considerations if so. For example, interventions at the clinic level or with regards to treatment service delivery might have very little effect on these sorts of deaths.

Additionally, limitations on the linkage algorithm meant that 12% of the participants in this study did not have an HDSS record attached to their clinic record. The probabilistic algorithm for finding matches is not perfect and unfortunately in some cases, even in the presence of the patient, the records of those reporting residence in the HDSS could not be linked to the HDSS dataset. This could mean that patients misunderstood the question regarding

their residency, or that they thought that there might be some incentives for answering in the affirmative. It could also mean that they were genuine residents whose record could not be retrieved for a myriad of reasons including differently spelled names, or that they had moved into the HDSS after the most recent census round meaning their record had yet to be entered into the database. It was impossible to differentiate the different groups, so to minimise selection bias, all of them were kept for the analyses.

With the exception of paper C, this thesis only addresses losses after ART initiation. About 5% of patients investigated had not yet initiated treatment when they became LTFU. However, these were not included in papers A and B. This was done intentionally as the changes in treatment eligibility mean that the pre-ART phase has now been phased out and LTFU following ART initiation is a greater challenge for a myriad of reasons including risks of developing drug resistance. However, loss to follow-up occurs at multiple points on the treatment cascade and research shows that many patients (especially pregnant women) are lost following a positive HIV diagnosis but before they initiate ART (212,241,593,594). Patients who become LTFU before ART initiation will differ significantly from patients who might have accrued some benefits from ART and as such their exclusion from the research is a limitation.

There was a missed opportunity in failing to synthesise and triangulate the qualitative and quantitative data which would have helped to bolster the results from each component. Whereas quantitative analyses are important for measuring the extent of the issue, qualitative analyses would have helped to understand why. It was originally planned for the qualitative component to be used to complement the findings from the quantitative component. This approach would have helped to contextualise the findings by placing them within the narrative of individual participants. However, because the production of this body of work is time-bound, some plans had to be postponed for future enquiry (I go into further detail on this in the section 9.6.3).

Furthermore, the short time frame for qualitative data collection which lasted just over a month meant that I was unable to conduct repeat interviews to see how participant experiences might have changed temporally. However, the qualitative findings are still important in giving detailed descriptions of participants' experiences and giving meaning to their actions (595). Furthermore, all infant testing outcomes were self-reported by the mother reflecting data quality and availability issues with no links between maternal and infant records.

The participants for the IDIs came from the HDSS population, which might be considered an over researched group. This could be a problem for the qualitative component of the research as participant fatigue can influence the findings of qualitative research (596–598). Furthermore, there were people approached who chose not to participate. These non-participants might differ significantly from participants and their experiences might differ from those discussed or described by participants within this research. Finally, the qualitative component does not document the experiences of health care workers and therefore missed the opportunity to juxtapose their position with that of patients in this setting.

9.6. Dissemination

The findings of this research have already been, or will shortly be shared with healthcare workers, researchers and Right-to-Care officials who work in the Agincourt HDSS. While the plan was to travel to South Africa later this year to disseminate the findings locally, given the current travel restrictions due to COVID-19 these plans have been replaced in favour of electronic communications.

9.6.1. Health workers, researchers, and community members in Agincourt

As part of their routine operations, the Agincourt HDSS has a public engagement office responsible for the dissemination of findings from research conducted within the HDSS. I plan to prepare a short report to share with them for this purpose. The public engagement office will share these findings with individual health facility managers and staff as well as health officials charged with the management and operations of all the Home-Based Carers organisations that operate within the HDSS. All my papers were co-authored by researchers who work primarily in the HDSS, so they are already aware of some of the recommendations emanating from this research.

9.6.2. Right-to-Care

I was in conversation with the RtC programme manager over email, in order to get permission to access their data. Data sharing was agreed on condition that findings from the research would be shared with them in order to improve their operating procedures. The same report distributed to the Agincourt public engagement office will be made available to the Right-to-Care organisation via email.

9.6.3. Researchers – Academic conferences and publications

Some of the papers contained within this thesis have already been published in peer-reviewed journals with broad international readership in the fields of HIV and other public health research. Additionally, the following presentations were made at conferences in 2018-2019 (posters or slide sets are included in the appendix):

Appendix 11.1.5: Etoori D, Wringe A, Reniers G, Renju J, Ndhlovu V, Ndubana S, Sihlangu E and Gomez-Olive FX. "Mothers' experiences of early infant diagnosis for HIV in Option B+ programmes and the implications for their engagement in care: Qualitative evidence from South Africa" Poster presented at the International AIDS Conference (AIDS), Amsterdam, Netherlands; July 2018.

• A precursor to the qualitative paper on EID and maternal engagement (paper D) presented in this thesis.

Appendix 11.1.4: Etoori D, Wringe A, Kabudula C, Gomez-Olive FX, Reniers G "Re-engagement in care following loss to follow-up from HIV treatment and care: findings from a cohort study in rural South Africa" Poster presented at the International Workshop on HIV and Hepatitis Observational Databases (IWHOD), Athens, Greece; March 2019.

 A quantitative analysis of the factors associated with re-engagement in care for women, non-pregnant and Option B+ following loss to followup.

Appendix 11.1.3: Etoori D, Wringe A, Kabudula C, Gomez-Olive FX, Reniers G "Use of linked clinic and demographic surveillance data to improve estimates of outcomes of HIV patient tracing in Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System (AHDSS)" Poster presented at the International Workshop on HIV and Hepatitis Observational Databases (IWHOD), Athens, Greece; March 2019.

Preliminary analyses for one quantitative results paper (paper A) presented in this thesis.

Appendix 11.1.1: Etoori D, Wringe A, Rice B, Renju J, Gomez-Olive FX, Kabudula C, Reniers G "Mobility and clinic switching among HIV patients considered lost to follow-up in north-eastern South Africa." Oral presentation at the African Population Conference (APC), Entebbe, Uganda; November 2019.

Preliminary analyses for one quantitative results paper (paper B) presented in this thesis.

Appendix 11.1.2: Etoori D, Wringe A, Rice B, Renju J, Gomez-Olive FX, Kabudula C, Reniers G "Mobility and clinic switching among HIV patients considered lost to follow-up in north-eastern South Africa and consequences for estimating the second 90-90-90 target." Poster presented at the International Conference on AIDS and STIs in Africa (ICASA), Kigali, Rwanda; December 2019.

 Preliminary analyses for one quantitative results paper (paper B) presented in this thesis.

Plans for future publications in peer-reviewed journals include a paper on reengagement in care following loss to follow-up. Papers based on the qualitative data are also planned, for example, a qualitative analysis of the differences in experiences of engagement with care for Option B+ women compared to the general treatment population will be undertaken as an extension of this body of work as one of the emerging themes from the qualitative data was how the treatment experiences of pregnant and postpartum women differ from those of the general ART cohort particularly because of their pregnancy and the extra services they must navigate for their infant's treatment. A presentation on the quantitative component of my research is planned for a Measurement and Surveillance of HIV epidemics (MeSH) consortium meeting in late September 2020.

A pre-Viva seminar was undertaken to present the overall findings from my research to other researchers at LSHTM.

9.6.4. Feedback to funders

I collaborated with the deputy director of the MeSH consortium which funded my fieldwork. He has received regular updates and reports regarding my progress. He has also participated in the write-up and is a co-author on three of my publications. A presentation on the quantitative component of my research is planned for a MeSH consortium meeting in late September 2020.

9.6.5. Data sharing

The record review and tracing dataset will be anonymised and stored securely within the data infrastructure of the Agincourt HDSS. These data will be made available on request through the Agincourt HDSS data manager and following the signing of a data sharing agreement. The qualitative data may be available on request to me. Transcripts have been thoroughly checked to ensure data are confidential.

9.7. Conclusions

This thesis investigated loss to follow-up with specific considerations for women who initiated treatment for PMTCT under Option B+. The major finding of this research is that outcomes following lost to follow-up differ for pregnant women when compared to the general ART treatment cohort. As such findings from this research begin to explain the differences in retention rates for these two groups. Mortality and actual ART stoppages contributed very little to LTFU for women who initiated treatment for PMTCT under Option B+ and therefore interventions that target transfers to other facilities and re-engagement in care may be more effective for these patients. These interventions must strive to incorporate the constellation of practices that these women engage in, including practices connected to their infant, in order to account for any interactions and prevent unintended consequences.

Low retention rates for Option B+ programmes may negate their potential positive impacts and may explain the increasing occurrence of vertical

transmission in the postpartum period. Therefore, programmes should strive to reduce the occurrence of LTFU and actively trace patients who do become LTFU as this will have positive effects for the mother, her infant, future pregnancies, and serodiscordant partners.

Health systems may need to consider differentiated and patient-centred models of care to make treatment more convenient for patients. Similarly, addressing health system weaknesses in the ascertainment of patient outcomes following LTFU may have a great impact on retention estimates in this setting and in sub-Saharan Africa as a whole and therefore improve PMTCT programmatic outcomes.

Finally, while these findings are important and add to the compendium of research on LTFU from HIV programmes in sub-Saharan Africa, it takes one unexpected but widespread event like the COVID pandemic to demonstrate their fragility. The knock-on effect of COVID in terms of EID, testing, clinic visits, mobility, drug refills, and how all these might be influenced for women initiating treatment for PMTCT under Option B+ will be felt for a very long time and is therefore an important consideration for future research.

10. References

- 1. De Cock KM, El-Sadr WM. When to Start ART in Africa An Urgent Research Priority. N Engl J Med. 2013 Mar 7;368(10):886–9.
- 2. Reniers G, Slaymaker E, Nakiyingi-Miiro J, Nyamukapa C, Crampin AC, Herbst K, et al. Mortality trends in the era of antiretroviral therapy: evidence from the Network for Analysing Longitudinal Population based HIV/AIDS data on Africa (ALPHA). AIDS Lond Engl. 2014 Nov;28 Suppl 4:S533-542.
- 3. Bernell S, Howard SW. Use Your Words Carefully: What Is a Chronic Disease? Front Public Health. 2016 Aug 2;vol 4 159
- 4. Siegel K, Lekas H-M. AIDS as a chronic illness: psychosocial implications. AIDS Lond Engl. 2002;16 Suppl 4:S69-76.
- 5. The TEMPRANO ANRS 12136 Study Group. A Trial of Early Antiretrovirals and Isoniazid Preventive Therapy in Africa. N Engl J Med. 2015 Aug 27;373(9):808–22.
- 6. Group TISS. Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in Early Asymptomatic HIV Infection. N Engl J Med. 2015 Aug 27;373(9):795–807.
- 7. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011 Aug 11;365(6):493–505.
- 8. WHO. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV: selection and use of nevirapine. 2001. Available from: http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/mtct/nevirapine/en/
- 9. WHO. Guideline on When to Start Antiretroviral Therapy and on Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015. (WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK327115/
- 10. WHO. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection Recommendations for a public health approach. 2016. Available from: http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/arv-2016/en/
- 11. Knettel BA, Cichowitz C, Ngocho JS, Knippler ET, Chumba LN, Mmbaga BT, et al. Retention in HIV Care During Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period in the Option B+ Era: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Studies in Africa. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017 Dec 4;77(5):427-438
- 12. Geng EH, Glidden DV, Bangsberg DR, Bwana MB, Musinguzi N, Nash D, et al. A causal framework for understanding the effect of losses to follow-up on epidemiologic analyses in clinic-based cohorts: the case of HIV-infected patients on antiretroviral therapy in Africa. Am J Epidemiol. 2012 May 15;175(10):1080–7.
- 13. Cornell M, Grimsrud A, Fairall L, Fox MP, van Cutsem G, Giddy J, et al. Temporal changes in programme outcomes among adult patients initiating antiretroviral therapy across South Africa, 2002–2007. AIDS Lond Engl. 2010 Sep 10;24(14):2263–70.

- 14. Brinkhof MWG, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Egger M. Mortality of patients lost to follow-up in antiretroviral treatment programmes in resource-limited settings: systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS One. 2009 Jun 4;4(6):e5790.
- 15. Wilkinson LS, Skordis-Worrall J, Ajose O, Ford N. Self-transfer and mortality amongst adults lost to follow-up in ART programmes in low- and middle-income countries: systematic review and meta-analysis. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2015 Mar;20(3):365–79.
- 16. Zürcher K, Mooser A, Anderegg N, Tymejczyk O, Couvillon MJ, Nash D, et al. Outcomes of HIV-positive patients lost to follow-up in African treatment programmes. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2017 Apr;22(4):375–87.
- 17. Tweya H, Gugsa S, Hosseinipour M, Speight C, Ng'ambi W, Bokosi M, et al. Understanding factors, outcomes and reasons for loss to follow-up among women in Option B+ PMTCT programme in Lilongwe, Malawi. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2014 Nov;19(11):1360–6.
- 18. Phillips TK, Clouse K, Zerbe A, Orrell C, Abrams EJ, Myer L. Linkage to care, mobility and retention of HIV-positive postpartum women in antiretroviral therapy services in South Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018 Jul 19;21(Suppl Suppl 4).
- 19. Reidy W, Nuwagaba-Biribonwoha H, Shongwe S, Sahabo R, Hartsough K, Wu Y, et al. Engagement in care among women and their infants lost to follow-up under Option B+ in eSwatini. PloS One. 2019;14(10):e0222959.
- 20. Kahn K, Collinson MA, Gómez-Olivé FX, Mokoena O, Twine R, Mee P, et al. Profile: Agincourt health and socio-demographic surveillance system. Int J Epidemiol. 2012 Aug;41(4):988–1001.
- 21. UNAIDS. Prevention Gap Report. 2016. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/2016-prevention-gapreport_en.pdf
- 22. UNAIDS. AIDS by the numbers. 2016. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/AIDS-by-the-numbers-2016_en.pdf
- 23. WHO. Global Health Estimates 2015: Deaths by Cause, Age, Sex, by Country and by Region, 2000-2015. 2016.
- 24. AIDSinfo | UNAIDS. Available from: http://aidsinfo.unaids.org/
- 25. South African Department of Health. The 2013 national antenatal sentinel HIV prevalence survey in South Africa. 2015. Available from: https://www.healthe.org.za/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Dept-Health-HIV-High-Res-7102015.pdf
- 26. UNAIDS. 2015 Progress report on the global plan towards the elimination of new HIV infections among children and keeping their mothers alive. 2015. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/JC2774_2015ProgressReport_GlobalPlan_en.pdf
- 27. WHO. HIV diagnosis and treatment in infants and children. 2010. Available from: http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/paediatric/Paediatricfactsheet/en/

- 28. Dunning L, Kroon M, Fourie L, Ciaranello A, Myer L. Impact of Birth HIV-PCR Testing on the Uptake of Follow-up Early Infant Diagnosis Services in Cape Town, South Africa. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2017 Dec;36(12):1159–64.
- 29. South African Department of Health. Department of Health. Saving mothers 2008– 2010: fifth report on confidential enquiries into maternal deaths in South Africa. 2012. Available from: http://sanac.org.za/wpcontent/uploads/2015/12/Report_on_Confidential_Enquiries_into_Maternal_Deaths _in_South_Africa.pdf
- 30. Stephen CR, Bamford LJ, Patrick ME. Saving Children 2009: Five years of data. A sixth survey of child healthcare in South Africa. Tshepesa Press, MRC, CDC; 2009.
- 31. Ahmed S, Kim MH, Abrams EJ. Risks and benefits of lifelong antiretroviral treatment for pregnant and breastfeeding women: a review of the evidence for the Option B+ approach. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2013 Sep;8(5):474–89.
- 32. Kumi Smith M, Jewell BL, Hallett TB, Cohen MS. Treatment of HIV for the Prevention of Transmission in Discordant Couples and at the Population Level. In: Zhang L, Lewin SR, editors. HIV Vaccines and Cure : The Path Towards Finding an Effective Cure and Vaccine. Singapore: Springer; 2018. p. 125–62.
- 33. World Health Organization. Guidance on couples HIV testing and counselling including antiretroviral therapy for treatment and prevention in serodiscordant couples: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 34. Haas AD, Tenthani L, Msukwa MT, Tal K, Jahn A, Gadabu OJ, et al. Retention in care during the first 3 years of antiretroviral therapy for women in Malawi's option B+ programme: an observational cohort study. Lancet HIV. 2016 Apr;3(4):e175-182.
- 35. Etoori D, Kerschberger B, Staderini N, Ndlangamandla M, Nhlabatsi B, Jobanputra K, et al. Challenges and successes in the implementation of option B+ to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV in southern Swaziland. BMC Public Health. 2018 Mar 20;18(1):374.
- 36. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Impact of an innovative approach to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV--Malawi, July 2011-September 2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2013 Mar 1;62(8):148–51.
- 37. DART Trial Team. Fixed duration interruptions are inferior to continuous treatment in African adults starting therapy with CD4 cell counts < 200 cells/microl. AIDS Lond Engl. 2008 Jan 11;22(2):237–47.
- 38. Paredes R, Marconi VC, Lockman S, Abrams EJ, Kuhn L. Impact of antiretroviral drugs in pregnant women and their children in Africa: HIV resistance and treatment outcomes. J Infect Dis. 2013 Jun 15;207 Suppl 2:S93-100.
- 39. WHO. HIV treatment and care: WHO HIV policy adoption and implementation status in countries. 2019. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/326035/WHO-CDS-HIV-19.20-eng.pdf?ua=1
- 40. Shaffer N, Abrams EJ, Becquet R. Option B+ for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in resource-constrained settings: great promise but some early caution. AIDS Lond Engl. 2014 Feb 20;28(4):599–601.

- 41. Phillips TK. Understanding women's engagement in HIV care after initiating antiretroviral therapy during pregnancy in South Africa [Doctoral]. [Cape Town, South Africa]: University of Cape Town; 2019. Available from: https://open.uct.ac.za/handle/11427/30428
- 42. Chan AK, Kanike E, Bedell R, Mayuni I, Manyera R, Mlotha W, et al. Same day HIV diagnosis and antiretroviral therapy initiation affects retention in Option B+ prevention of mother-to-child transmission services at antenatal care in Zomba District, Malawi. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19(1):20672.
- 43. Langwenya N, Phillips TK, Brittain K, Zerbe A, Abrams EJ, Myer L. Same-day antiretroviral therapy (ART) initiation in pregnancy is not associated with viral suppression or engagement in care: A cohort study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21(6):e25133.
- 44. Holtzman CW, Brady KA, Yehia BR. Retention in Care and Medication Adherence: Current Challenges to Antiretroviral Therapy Success. Drugs. 2015 Apr;75(5):445–54.
- 45. Paparini S, Rhodes T. The biopolitics of engagement and the HIV cascade of care: a synthesis of the literature on patient citizenship and antiretroviral therapy. Crit Public Health. 2016 Oct 19;26(5):501–17.
- 46. Gardner EM, McLees MP, Steiner JF, Del Rio C, Burman WJ. The spectrum of engagement in HIV care and its relevance to test-and-treat strategies for prevention of HIV infection. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2011 Mar 15;52(6):793–800.
- 47. Vrijens B, De Geest S, Hughes DA, Przemyslaw K, Demonceau J, Ruppar T, et al. A new taxonomy for describing and defining adherence to medications. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2012 May;73(5):691–705.
- 48. Myer L, Phillips TK. Beyond "option B+": Understanding Antiretroviral Therapy (art) Adherence, Retention in Care and Engagement in Art Services Among Pregnant and Postpartum Women Initiating Therapy in Sub-saharan Africa. Jaids J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017 Jun 1; 75 Suppl 2:S115-S122. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000001343. PMID: 28498180.
- 49. HIV Care Continuum. 2016. Available from: https://hab.hrsa.gov/about-ryan-whitehivaids-program/hiv-care-continuum
- 50. Onoya D, Sineke T, Brennan AT, Long L, Fox MP. Timing of pregnancy, postpartum risk of virologic failure and loss to follow-up among HIV-positive women. AIDS Lond Engl. 2017 Jul 17;31(11):1593–602.
- 51. WHO. Retention in HIV programmes: defining the challenges and identifying solutions: meeting report, 13-15 September 2011. World Health Organization; 2012. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44878
- 52. McMahon JH, Elliott JH, Hong SY, Bertagnolio S, Jordan MR. Effects of physical tracing on estimates of loss to follow-up, mortality and retention in low and middle income country antiretroviral therapy programs: a systematic review. PloS One. 2013;8(2):e56047.
- 53. Auld AF, Mbofana F, Shiraishi RW, Sanchez M, Alfredo C, Nelson LJ, et al. Four-year treatment outcomes of adult patients enrolled in Mozambique's rapidly expanding antiretroviral therapy program. PloS One. 2011 Apr 4;6(4):e18453.

- 54. Geng EH, Glidden DV, Bwana MB, Musinguzi N, Emenyonu N, Muyindike W, et al. Retention in Care and Connection to Care among HIV-Infected Patients on Antiretroviral Therapy in Africa: Estimation via a Sampling-Based Approach. PLOS ONE. 2011 Jul 26;6(7):e21797.
- 55. Tweya H, Gareta D, Chagwera F, Ben-Smith A, Mwenyemasi J, Chiputula F, et al. Early active follow-up of patients on antiretroviral therapy (ART) who are lost to follow-up: the "Back-to-Care" project in Lilongwe, Malawi. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2010 Jun;15 Suppl 1:82–9.
- 56. Kranzer K, Ford N. Unstructured treatment interruption of antiretroviral therapy in clinical practice: a systematic review. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2011 Oct;16(10):1297–313.
- 57. Fox MP, Rosen S. Patient retention in antiretroviral therapy programs up to three years on treatment in sub-Saharan Africa, 2007–2009: systematic review. Trop Med Int Health. 2010 Jun;15(s1):1–15.
- 58. Shepherd BE, Blevins M, Vaz LME, Moon TD, Kipp AM, José E, et al. Impact of definitions of loss to follow-up on estimates of retention, disease progression, and mortality: application to an HIV program in Mozambique. Am J Epidemiol. 2013 Sep 1;178(5):819–28.
- 59. Chi BH, Cantrell RA, Mwango A, Westfall AO, Mutale W, Limbada M, et al. An Empirical Approach to Defining Loss to Follow-up Among Patients Enrolled in Antiretroviral Treatment Programs. Am J Epidemiol. 2010 Apr 15;171(8):924–31.
- 60. Chi BH, Yiannoutsos CT, Westfall AO, Newman JE, Zhou J, Cesar C, et al. Universal definition of loss to follow-up in HIV treatment programs: a statistical analysis of 111 facilities in Africa, Asia, and Latin America. PLoS Med. 2011 Oct;8(10):e1001111.
- 61. Grimsrud A. Loss to follow-up from South Africa's antiretroviral treatment programme: Trends, risk factors, and models of care to improve retention [Doctoral]. [South Africa]: University of Cape Town; 2015. Available from: https://open.uct.ac.za/handle/11427/14578
- 62. WHO. Adherence to Long-term Therapies: Evidence for Action. 2003. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42682/9241545992.pdf;jsessionid
- 63. Bärnighausen T, Chaiyachati K, Chimbindi N, Peoples A, Haberer J, Newell M-L. Interventions to increase antiretroviral adherence in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review of evaluation studies. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011 Dec;11(12):942–51.
- 64. Castillo-Mancilla JR, Haberer JE. Adherence Measurements in HIV: New Advancements in Pharmacologic Methods and Real-Time Monitoring. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2018;15(1):49–59.
- 65. Koss CA, Natureeba P, Mwesigwa J, Cohan D, Nzarubara B, Bacchetti P, et al. Hair concentrations of antiretrovirals predict viral suppression in HIV-infected pregnant and breastfeeding Ugandan women. AIDS Lond Engl. 2015 Apr 24;29(7):825–30.
- 66. Schnack A, Rempis E, Decker S, Braun V, Rubaihayo J, Busingye P, et al. Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV in Option B+ Era: Uptake and Adherence During Pregnancy in Western Uganda. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2016 Mar;30(3):110–8.

- 67. Tsegaye D, Deribe L, Wodajo S. Levels of adherence and factors associated with adherence to option B+ prevention of mother-to-child transmission among pregnant and lactating mothers in selected government health facilities of South Wollo Zone, Amhara Region, northeast Ethiopia, 2016. Epidemiol Health. 2016 Oct 13; 38:e2016043.
- 68. Haas AD, Msukwa MT, Egger M, Tenthani L, Tweya H, Jahn A, et al. Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy During and After Pregnancy: Cohort Study on Women Receiving Care in Malawi's Option B+ Program. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2016 Nov 1;63(9):1227–35.
- 69. Erlwanger AS, Joseph J, Gotora T, Muzunze B, Orne-Gliemann J, Mukungunugwa S, et al. Patterns of HIV Care Clinic Attendance and Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy Among Pregnant and Breastfeeding Women Living With HIV in the Context of Option B+ in Zimbabwe. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 Jun 1;75 Suppl 2:S198–206.
- 70. Kamuyango AA, Hirschhorn LR, Wang W, Jansen P, Hoffman RM. One-year outcomes of women started on antiretroviral therapy during pregnancy before and after the implementation of Option B+ in Malawi: A retrospective chart review. World J AIDS. 2014 Sep 1;4(3):332–7.
- 71. Messersmith L, Halim N, Simmons E, Bachman DM, Chemusto H, Gasuza J. The Uganda WiseMama Study: A randomized controlled trial assessing real-time feedback to improve ART adherence among HIV-positive pregnant and postpartum women. In Miami, FL, USA; 2017.
- 72. Ebuy H, Yebyo H, Alemayehu M. Level of adherence and predictors of adherence to the Option B+ PMTCT programme in Tigray, northern Ethiopia. Int J Infect Dis IJID Off Publ Int Soc Infect Dis. 2015 Apr;33:123–9.
- 73. Decker S, Rempis E, Schnack A, Braun V, Rubaihayo J, Busingye P, et al. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV: Postpartum adherence to Option B+ until 18 months in Western Uganda. PloS One. 2017;12(6):e0179448.
- 74. Ramlagan S, Peltzer K, Ruiter RAC, Barylski NA, Weiss SM, Sifunda S. Prevalence and Factors Associated with Fixed-Dose Combination Antiretroviral Drugs Adherence among HIV-Positive Pregnant Women on Option B Treatment in Mpumalanga Province, South Africa. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018 20;15(1).
- 75. Kaleebu P, Kirungi W, Watera C, Asio J, Lyagoba F, Lutalo T, et al. Virological Response and Antiretroviral Drug Resistance Emerging during Antiretroviral Therapy at Three Treatment Centers in Uganda. PloS One. 2015;10(12):e0145536.
- 76. Etoori D, Ciglenecki I, Ndlangamandla M, Edwards CG, Jobanputra K, Pasipamire M, et al. Successes and challenges in optimizing the viral load cascade to improve antiretroviral therapy adherence and rationalize second-line switches in Swaziland. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21(10):e25194.
- 77. Roberts T, Cohn J, Bonner K, Hargreaves S. Scale-up of Routine Viral Load Testing in Resource-Poor Settings: Current and Future Implementation Challenges. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2016 Apr 15;62(8):1043–8.
- 78. El-Khatib Z, Delong AK, Katzenstein D, Ekstrom AM, Ledwaba J, Mohapi L, et al. Drug resistance patterns and virus re-suppression among HIV-1 subtype C infected patients receiving non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors in South Africa. J AIDS Clin Res. 2011 Feb 18;2(117).

- 79. Rupérez M, Pou C, Maculuve S, Cedeño S, Luis L, Rodríguez J, et al. Determinants of virological failure and antiretroviral drug resistance in Mozambique. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2015 Sep;70(9):2639–47.
- 80. Kippax S, Stephenson N, Parker RG, Aggleton P. Between individual agency and structure in HIV prevention: understanding the middle ground of social practice. Am J Public Health. 2013 Aug;103(8):1367–75.
- 81. Skovdal M. Facilitating engagement with PrEP and other HIV prevention technologies through practice-based combination prevention. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019 Jul;22 Suppl 4:e25294.
- 82. Skovdal M, Maswera R, Kadzura N, Nyamukapa C, Rhead R, Wringe A, et al. Parental obligations, care and HIV treatment: How care for others motivates self-care in Zimbabwe. J Health Psychol. 2018 Jul 20;1359105318788692.
- 83. Skovdal M, Wringe A, Seeley J, Renju J, Paparini S, Wamoyi J, et al. Using theories of practice to understand HIV-positive persons varied engagement with HIV services: a qualitative study in six Sub-Saharan African countries. Sex Transm Infect. 2017 Jul 1;93(Suppl 3):e052977.
- 84. Hargreaves T. Practice-ing behaviour change: Applying social practice theory to proenvironmental behaviour change: J Consum Cult. 2011 Mar 25; 11(1):79-99.
- 85. Blue S, Shove E, Carmona C, Kelly MP. Theories of practice and public health: understanding (un)healthy practices. Crit Public Health. 2016 Jan 1;26(1):36–50.
- 86. Schatzki TR. The Site of the Social: A Philosophical Account of the Constitution of Social Life and Change. Penn State Press; 2002. 319 p.
- 87. Shove E, Pantzar M, Watson M. The Dynamics of Social Practice: Everyday Life and how it Changes. SAGE; 2012. 210 p.
- 88. Clouse K, Pettifor A, Shearer K, Maskew M, Bassett J, Larson B, et al. Loss to follow-up before and after delivery among women testing HIV positive during pregnancy in Johannesburg, South Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2013 Apr;18(4):451–60.
- 89. Nachega JB, Uthman OA, Anderson J, Peltzer K, Wampold S, Cotton MF, et al. Adherence to antiretroviral therapy during and after pregnancy in low-income, middleincome, and high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS Lond Engl. 2012 Oct 23;26(16):2039–52.
- 90. Geng EH, Glidden DV, Emenyonu N, Musinguzi N, Bwana MB, Neilands TB, et al. Tracking a sample of patients lost to follow-up has a major impact on understanding determinants of survival in HIV-infected patients on antiretroviral therapy in Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2010 Jun;15 Suppl 1:63–9.
- 91. Stover J, Johnson P, Hallett T, Marston M, Becquet R, Timaeus IM. The Spectrum projection package: improvements in estimating incidence by age and sex, mother-to-child transmission, HIV progression in children and double orphans. Sex Transm Infect. 2010 Dec 1;86(Suppl 2):ii16–21.
- 92. Stover J, Andreev K, Slaymaker E, Gopalappa C, Sabin K, Velasquez C, et al. Updates to the Spectrum model to estimate key HIV indicators for adults and children. AIDS Lond Engl. 2014 Nov;28(4):S427–34.

- 93. South Africa: National Department of Health. Implementation of the universal test and treat strategy for HIV positive patients and differentiated care for stable patients. 2016. Available from: https://sahivsoc.org/Files/22%208%2016%20Circular%20UTT%20%20%20Deconges tion%20CCMT%20Directorate.pdf
- 94. Dabis F, TasP study group. The impact of universal test and treat on HIV incidence in a rural South African population: ANRS 12249 TasP trial, 2012-2016. In Durban, South Africa; 2016. Available from: http://programme.aids2016.org/Abstract/Abstract/10537
- 95. Plazy M, Perriat D, Gumede D, Boyer S, Pillay D, Dabis F, et al. Implementing universal HIV treatment in a high HIV prevalence and rural South African setting Field experiences and recommendations of health care providers. PLoS ONE. 2017 Nov 20;12(11).
- 96. Hayes R, Donnell D, Floyd S, Mandla N, PopART study team. Impact of universal testing and treatment in Zambia and South Africa: HPTN071 (PopART). In Seattle, WA. USA; 2019. Available from: http://www.croiconference.org/sites/default/files/uploads/92LB.pdf
- 97. UNAIDS. 90-90-90: An Ambitious Treatment Target to Help End the AIDS Epidemic. 2014. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/90-90-90_en_0.pdf
- 98. Sidibé M, Loures L, Samb B. The UNAIDS 90–90–90 target: a clear choice for ending AIDS and for sustainable health and development. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19(1):21133.
- 99. Gourlay A, Wringe A, Todd J, Michael D, Reniers G, Urassa M, et al. Challenges with routine data sources for PMTCT programme monitoring in East Africa: insights from Tanzania. Glob Health Action. 2015;8:29987.
- 100. Osler M, Hilderbrand K, Hennessey C, Arendse J, Goemaere E, Ford N, et al. A threetier framework for monitoring antiretroviral therapy in high HIV burden settings. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17:18908.
- 101. Douglas GP, Gadabu OJ, Joukes S, Mumba S, McKay MV, Ben-Smith A, et al. Using touchscreen electronic medical record systems to support and monitor national scaleup of antiretroviral therapy in Malawi. PLoS Med. 2010 Aug 10;7(8).
- 102. Clouse K, Vermund SH, Maskew M, Lurie MN, MacLeod W, Malete G, et al. Mobility and Clinic Switching Among Postpartum Women Considered Lost to HIV Care in South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 01;74(4):383–9.
- 103. Kabudula CW, Clark BD, Gómez-Olivé FX, Tollman S, Menken J, Reniers G. The promise of record linkage for assessing the uptake of health services in resource constrained settings: a pilot study from South Africa. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014 May 24;14:71.
- 104. Rentsch CT, Kabudula CW, Catlett J, et al. Point-of-contact Interactive Record Linkage (PIRL): A software tool to prospectively link demographic surveillance and health facility data. Gates Open Res. 2017;1(8).
- 105. Byass P, Hussain-Alkhateeb L, D'Ambruoso L, Clark S, Davies J, Fottrell E, et al. An integrated approach to processing WHO-2016 verbal autopsy data: the InterVA-5 model. BMC Med. 2019 30;17(1):102.

- 106. Byass P, Calvert C, Miiro-Nakiyingi J, Lutalo T, Michael D, Crampin A, et al. InterVA-4 as a public health tool for measuring HIV/AIDS mortality: a validation study from five African countries. Glob Health Action. 2013 Mar 1;6(s3):22448.
- 107. UNAIDS. "The Gap Report 2014". 2014. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/UNAIDS_Gap_report_en.pdf
- 108. Pellowski J, Wedderburn C, Stadler JAM, Barnett W, Stein D, Myer L, et al. Implementation of prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) in South Africa: outcomes from a population-based birth cohort study in Paarl, Western Cape. BMJ Open. 2019 15;9(12):e033259.
- 109. Schwartz SR, Clouse K, Yende N, Van Rie A, Bassett J, Ratshefola M, et al. Acceptability and Feasibility of a Mobile Phone-Based Case Management Intervention to Retain Mothers and Infants from an Option B+ Program in Postpartum HIV Care. Matern Child Health J. 2015 Sep;19(9):2029–37.
- 110. SAPMTCTE study group. Evaluation of the Effectiveness of the National Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission (PMTCT) Programme Measured at Six Weeks Postpartum in South Africa, 2010. 2012. Available from: http://www.mrc.ac.za/healthsystems/SAPMTCTE2010.pdf
- 111. UNAIDS. Global report: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2013. 2013. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/UNAIDS_Global_Report_20 13_en_1.pdf
- 112. Katirayi L, Chadambuka A, Muchedzi A, Ahimbisibwe A, Musarandega R, Woelk G, et al. Echoes of old HIV paradigms: reassessing the problem of engaging men in HIV testing and treatment through women's perspectives. Reprod Health. 2017 Oct 5;14.
- 113. Grimsrud A, Ameyan W, Ayieko J, Shewchuk T. Shifting the narrative: from "the missing men" to "we are missing the men." J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S2):e25526.
- 114. Ambia J, Kabudula C, Risher K, Rice BD, Reniers G, Etoori D. Outcomes of patients lost to follow-up after antiretroviral therapy initiation in rural north-eastern South Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2019 Mar 28;
- 115. Etoori D, Gomez-Olive FX, Reniers G, Rice B, Renju J, Kabudula CW, et al. Outcomes after being lost to follow-up differ for pregnant and postpartum women when compared to the general HIV treatment population in rural South Africa. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2020 Oct 1;85(2):127-137.
- 116. Etoori D, Wringe A, Kabudula CW, Renju J, Rice B, Gomez-Olive FX, et al. Misreporting of patient outcomes in the South African national HIV treatment database: consequences for programme planning, monitoring, and evaluation. Front Public Health. 2020 Apr 7;8:100. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00100.
- 117. Etoori D, Renju J, Reniers G, Ndhlovu V, Ndubane S, Makhubela P, et al. 'If the results are negative, they motivate us'. Experiences of early infant diagnosis of HIV and engagement in Option B+. Glob Public Health. 2020 Jul 16;0(0):1–15.
- 118. Etoori D, Wringe A, Renju J, Kabudula CW, Gomez-Olive FX, Reniers G. Challenges with tracing patients on antiretroviral therapy who are late for clinic appointments in rural South Africa and recommendations for future practice. Glob Health Action. 2020 Dec 31;13(1):1755115. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2020.1755115.

- 119. Scott GB, Buck BE, Leterman JG, Bloom FL, Parks WP. Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in infants. N Engl J Med. 1984 Jan 12;310(2):76–81.
- 120. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). Recommendations for assisting in the prevention of perinatal transmission of human T-lymphotropic virus type III/lymphadenopathy-associated virus and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1985 Dec 6;34(48):721–6, 731–2.
- 121. Ando Y, Nakano S, Saito K, Shimamoto I, Ichijo M, Toyama T, et al. Prevention of HTLV-I transmission through the breast milk by a freeze-thawing process. Jpn J Cancer Res Gann. 1986 Oct;77(10):974–7.
- 122. Sabatier R. A new hurdle for mothers and children. AIDS Watch. 1988;(2):2-3.
- 123. Ammann AJ. Immunopathogenesis of pediatric acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. J Perinatol Off J Calif Perinat Assoc. 1988;8(2):154–9.
- 124. Henrion R, Sereni D. HIV virus infection and the perinatal period. Rev Med Interne. 1987 Dec;8(5):463–5.
- 125. Mitsuya H, Weinhold KJ, Furman PA, St Clair MH, Lehrman SN, Gallo RC, et al. 3'-Azido-3'-deoxythymidine (BW A509U): an antiviral agent that inhibits the infectivity and cytopathic effect of human T-lymphotropic virus type III/lymphadenopathyassociated virus in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1985 Oct;82(20):7096–100.
- 126. CIMONS M. U.S. Approves Sale of AZT to AIDS Patients. Los Angeles Times. 1987 Mar 21; Available from: http://articles.latimes.com/1987-03-21/news/mn-4526_1_other-aids-patients
- 127. Broder S. The development of antiretroviral therapy and its impact on the HIV-1/AIDS pandemic. Antiviral Res. 2010 Jan;85(1):1–18.
- 128. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Zidovudine for the prevention of HIV transmission from mother to infant. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1994 Apr 29;43(16):285–7.
- 129. Connor EM, Sperling RS, Gelber R, Kiselev P, Scott G, O'Sullivan MJ, et al. Reduction of maternal-infant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with zidovudine treatment. Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group Protocol 076 Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1994 Nov 3;331(18):1173–80.
- 130. Benson M, Shannon M. Nevirapine: ethical dilemmas and care for HIV-infected mothers. Focus San Franc Calif. 1995 Jun;10(7):5–6.
- 131. Gulick RM, Mellors JW, Havlir D, Eron JJ, Gonzalez C, McMahon D, et al. Treatment with indinavir, zidovudine, and lamivudine in adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection and prior antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 1997 Sep 11;337(11):734–9.
- 132. Montaner JSG, Reiss P, Cooper D, Vella S, Harris M, Conway B, et al. A Randomized, Double-blind Trial Comparing Combinations of Nevirapine, Didanosine, and Zidovudine for HIV-Infected Patients: The INCAS Trial. JAMA. 1998 Mar 25;279(12):930–7.
- 133. Markowitz M, Vesanen M, Tenner-Racz K, Cao Y, Binley JM, Talal A, et al. The effect of commencing combination antiretroviral therapy soon after human immunodeficiency

virus type 1 infection on viral replication and antiviral immune responses. J Infect Dis. 1999 Mar;179(3):527–37.

- 134. Biggar RJ, Miotti PG, Taha TE, Mtimavalye L, Broadhead R, Justesen A, et al. Perinatal intervention trial in Africa: effect of a birth canal cleansing intervention to prevent HIV transmission. Lancet Lond Engl. 1996 Jun 15;347(9016):1647–50.
- 135. Gaillard P, Mwanyumba F, Verhofstede C, Claeys P, Chohan V, Goetghebeur E, et al. Vaginal lavage with chlorhexidine during labour to reduce mother-to-child HIV transmission: clinical trial in Mombasa, Kenya. AIDS Lond Engl. 2001 Feb 16;15(3):389–96.
- 136. Dabis F, Leroy V, Bequet L. Assessment of peripartum interventions to prevent motherto-child transmission of HIV-1: the DITRAME PLUS ANRS 1201/1202 project in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire. In Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso; 2001.
- 137. Coutsoudis A, Pillay K, Spooner E, Kuhn L, Coovadia HM. Randomized trial testing the effect of vitamin A supplementation on pregnancy outcomes and early mother-to-child HIV-1 transmission in Durban, South Africa. South African Vitamin A Study Group. AIDS Lond Engl. 1999 Aug 20;13(12):1517–24.
- 138. Fawzi WW, Msamanga GI, Hunter D, Renjifo B, Antelman G, Bang H, et al. Randomized trial of vitamin supplements in relation to transmission of HIV-1 through breastfeeding and early child mortality. AIDS Lond Engl. 2002 Sep 27;16(14):1935–44.
- 139. Gray RH, Wabwire-Mangen F, Kigozi G, Sewankambo NK, Serwadda D, Moulton LH, et al. Randomized trial of presumptive sexually transmitted disease therapy during pregnancy in Rakai, Uganda. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2001 Nov;185(5):1209–17.
- 140. Wiktor SZ, Ekpini E, Karon JM, Nkengasong J, Maurice C, Severin ST, et al. Shortcourse oral zidovudine for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire: a randomised trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 1999 Mar 6;353(9155):781–5.
- 141. Dabis F, Msellati P, Meda N, Welffens-Ekra C, You B, Manigart O, et al. 6-month efficacy, tolerance, and acceptability of a short regimen of oral zidovudine to reduce vertical transmission of HIV in breastfed children in Côte d'Ivoire and Burkina Faso: a double-blind placebo-controlled multicentre trial. The Lancet. 1999 Mar 6;353(9155):786–92.
- 142. Guay LA, Musoke P, Fleming T, Bagenda D, Allen M, Nakabiito C, et al. Intrapartum and neonatal single-dose nevirapine compared with zidovudine for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in Kampala, Uganda: HIVNET 012 randomised trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 1999 Sep 4;354(9181):795–802.
- 143. Owori M, Deseyve M, Duefield C. The one year safety and efficacy data of the HIVNET 012 trial. In Durban, South Africa; 2000.
- 144. Moodley D, The SAINT Investigators team. The SAINT trial: nevirapine (NVP) versus zidovudine (ZVD) + lamivudine (3TC) in prevention of peripartum HIV transmission. In Durban, South Africa; 2000.
- 145. Leroy V, Karon JM, Alioum A, Ekpini ER, Meda N, Greenberg AE, et al. Twenty-four month efficacy of a maternal short-course zidovudine regimen to prevent mother-tochild transmission of HIV-1 in West Africa. AIDS Lond Engl. 2002 Mar 8;16(4):631–41.

- 146. Petra Study Team. Efficacy of three short-course regimens of zidovudine and lamivudine in preventing early and late transmission of HIV-1 from mother to child in Tanzania, South Africa, and Uganda (Petra study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2002 Apr 6;359(9313):1178–86.
- 147. Fowler MG, Mwatha A, Guay L. Effect of nevirapine for perinatal HIV transmission appears greatest among women with most advanced disease: subgroup analyses of HIVNET 012. In Seattle, WA. USA; 2002.
- 148. UN. Special Session on HIV/AIDS UN General Assembly. 2002. Available from: http://www.un.org/ga/aids/announcement.htm
- 149. Cullinan K. Court orders South Africa to treat pregnant HIV-positive women with nevirapine. Bull World Health Organ. 2002;80(4):335.
- 150. Ekpini R-A, Nkengasong JN, Sibailly T, Maurice C, Adjé C, Monga BB, et al. Changes in plasma HIV-1-RNA viral load and CD4 cell counts, and lack of zidovudine resistance among pregnant women receiving short-course zidovudine. AIDS Lond Engl. 2002 Mar 8;16(4):625–30.
- 151. Musoke P. Recent advances in prevention of mother to child (PMTCT) of HIV. Afr Health Sci. 2004 Dec;4(3):144–5.
- 152. Jourdain G, Ngo-Giang-Huong N, Le Coeur S, Bowonwatanuwong C, Kantipong P, Leechanachai P, et al. Intrapartum exposure to nevirapine and subsequent maternal responses to nevirapine-based antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2004 Jul 15;351(3):229–40.
- 153. Moorthy A, Gupta A, Bhosale R, Tripathy S, Sastry J, Kulkarni S, et al. Nevirapine resistance and breast-milk HIV transmission: effects of single and extended-dose nevirapine prophylaxis in subtype C HIV-infected infants. PloS One. 2009;4(1):e4096.
- 154. Persaud D, Bedri A, Ziemniak C, Moorthy A, Gudetta B, Abashawl A, et al. Slower clearance of nevirapine resistant virus in infants failing extended nevirapine prophylaxis for prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2011 Aug;27(8):823–9.
- 155. Jackson JB, Becker-Pergola G, Guay LA, Musoke P, Mracna M, Fowler MG, et al. Identification of the K103N resistance mutation in Ugandan women receiving nevirapine to prevent HIV-1 vertical transmission. AIDS Lond Engl. 2000 Jul 28;14(11):F111-115.
- 156. Eshleman SH, Mracna M, Guay LA, Deseyve M, Cunningham S, Mirochnick M, et al. Selection and fading of resistance mutations in women and infants receiving nevirapine to prevent HIV-1 vertical transmission (HIVNET 012). AIDS Lond Engl. 2001 Oct 19;15(15):1951–7.
- 157. Dabis F, Ekpini ER. HIV-1/AIDS and maternal and child health in Africa. Lancet Lond Engl. 2002 Jun 15;359(9323):2097–104.
- 158. Dabis, F., L. Bequet, D. K. Ekouevi, I. Viho, F. Rouet, A. Horo, C. Sakarovitch, R. Becquet, P. Fassinou, L. Dequae-Merchadou, C. Welffens-Ekra, C. Rouzioux, and V. Leroy. Field efficacy of Zidovudine, Lamivudine and single-dose Nevirapine to prevent peripartum HIV transmission. JAIDS. 2005;19:309-318.

- 159. Vermund SH, Leigh-Brown AJ. The HIV Epidemic: High-Income Countries. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012 May;2(5).
- 160. Giuliano M, Vella S. Inequalities in health: access to treatment for HIV/AIDS. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 2007;43(4):313–6.
- 161. Quinn TC, Mann JM, Curran JW, Piot P. AIDS in Africa: an epidemiologic paradigm. Science. 1986 Nov 21;234(4779):955–63.
- 162. Ndinya-achola JO, Plummer FA, Ronald AR, Piot P. Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome: epidemiology in Africa and its implications for health services. Afr J Sex Transm Dis. 1986 Oct;2(2):77–80.
- 163. Goubau P, Surmont I, Piot P. Aids in Africa. Afr Focus. 1987 Sep 283(3-4).
- 164. Piot P, Colebunders R, Laga M, Ndinya-Achola JO, van der Groen G, Plummer FA. AIDS in Africa: a public health priority. J Virol Methods. 1987 Aug;17(1–2):1–10.
- 165. Boulle A, Bock P, Osler M, Cohen K, Channing L, Hilderbrand K, et al. Antiretroviral therapy and early mortality in South Africa. Bull World Health Organ. 2008 Sep;86(9):678–87.
- 166. Weller I. Delivery of Antiretroviral Therapy in Sub-Saharan Africa. Clin Infect Dis. 2006 Sep 15;43(6):777–8.
- 167. UNAIDS, WHO. Progress on global access to HIV antiretroviral therapy: a report on "3 by 5" and beyond. Geneva: World Health Organization : UNAIDS; 2006.
- 168. Jahn A, Floyd S, Crampin AC, Mwaungulu F, Mvula H, Munthali F, et al. Populationlevel effect of HIV on adult mortality and early evidence of reversal after introduction of antiretroviral therapy in Malawi. Lancet Lond Engl. 2008 May 10;371(9624):1603–11.
- 169. Egger M, Boulle A. Population effect of scaling up ART in resource-poor settings. Lancet Lond Engl. 2008 May 10;371(9624):1558–9.
- 170. Walensky RP, Wood R, Weinstein MC, Martinson NA, Losina E, Fofana MO, et al. Scaling up antiretroviral therapy in South Africa: the impact of speed on survival. J Infect Dis. 2008 May 1;197(9):1324–32.
- 171. Herbst AJ, Cooke GS, Bärnighausen T, KanyKany A, Tanser F, Newell M-L. Adult mortality and antiretroviral treatment roll-out in rural KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Bull World Health Organ. 2009 Oct;87(10):754–62.
- 172. Floyd S, Marston M, Baisley K, Wringe A, Herbst K, Chihana M, et al. The effect of antiretroviral therapy provision on all-cause, AIDS and non-AIDS mortality at the population level--a comparative analysis of data from four settings in Southern and East Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2012 Aug;17(8):e84-93.
- 173. Slaymaker E, Todd J, Marston M, Calvert C, Michael D, Nakiyingi-Miiro J, et al. How have ART treatment programmes changed the patterns of excess mortality in people living with HIV? Estimates from four countries in East and Southern Africa. Glob Health Action. 2014;7:22789.
- 174. Reniers G, Blom S, Calvert C, Martin-Onraet A, Herbst AJ, Eaton JW, et al. Trends in the burden of HIV mortality after roll-out of antiretroviral therapy in KwaZulu-Natal,

South Africa: an observational community cohort study. Lancet HIV. 2017 Mar;4(3):e113–21.

- 175. WHO. Antiretroviral Drugs for Treating Pregnant Women and Preventing HIV Infection in Infants: Recommendations for a Public Health Approach: 2010 Version. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004. (WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK304944/
- 176. WHO. Antiretroviral drugs for treating pregnant women and preventing HIV infection in infant: towards universal access : recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.
- 177. WHO. Consolidated Guidelines on the Use of Antiretroviral Drugs for Treating and Preventing HIV Infection: Recommendations for a Public Health Approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013. (WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK195400/
- 178. WHO. Programmatic update: Use of Antiretroviral Drugs for Treating Pregnant Women and Preventing HIV Infection in Infants. 2012. Available from: http://www.who.int/hiv/PMTCT_update.pdf
- 179. Coutsoudis A, Goga A, Desmond C, Barron P, Black V, Coovadia H. Is Option B+ the best choice? Lancet Lond Engl. 2013 Jan 26;381(9863):269–71.
- 180. Schouten EJ, Jahn A, Midiani D, Makombe SD, Mnthambala A, Chirwa Z, et al. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and the health-related Millennium Development Goals: time for a public health approach. Lancet Lond Engl. 2011 Jul 16;378(9787):282–4.
- 181. Option B+ in Malawi: The Origins and Implementation of a Global Health Innovation | Management Sciences for Health. Available from: /news-events/stories/option-b-inmalawi-the-origins-and-implementation-of-a-global-health-innovation
- 182. MSH Supports Growing International Acceptance of Option B+, Encourages Country Adoption, Further Research | Management Sciences for Health. Available from: /newsevents/stories/msh-supports-growing-international-acceptance-of-option-bencourages-country
- 183. UNAIDS. Countdown to zero: Global plan towards the elimination of new HIV infections among children by 2015 and keeping their mothers alive. 2011. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/20110609_JC2137_Global-Plan-Elimination-HIV-Children_en_1.pdf
- 184. Parker LA, Jobanputra K, Okello V, Nhlangamandla M, Mazibuko S, Kourline T, et al. Implementation and Operational Research: Barriers and Facilitators to Combined ART Initiation in Pregnant Women With HIV: Lessons Learnt From a PMTCT B+ Pilot Program in Swaziland. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2015 May 1;69(1):e24-30.
- 185. Hargrove JW, Humphrey JH, ZVITAMBO Study Group. Mortality among HIV-positive postpartum women with high CD4 cell counts in Zimbabwe. AIDS Lond Engl. 2010 Jan 28;24(3):F11-14.

- 186. van den Akker T, de Vroome S, Mwagomba B, Ford N, van Roosmalen J. Peripartum infections and associated maternal mortality in rural Malawi. Obstet Gynecol. 2011 Aug;118(2 Pt 1):266–72.
- 187. Donnell D, Baeten JM, Kiarie J, Thomas KK, Stevens W, Cohen CR, et al. Heterosexual HIV-1 transmission after initiation of antiretroviral therapy: a prospective cohort analysis. Lancet Lond Engl. 2010 Jun 12;375(9731):2092–8.
- 188. El-Sadr WM, Coburn BJ, Blower S. Modeling the impact on the HIV epidemic of treating discordant couples with antiretrovirals to prevent transmission. AIDS Lond Engl. 2011 Nov 28;25(18):2295–9.
- 189. Besada D, Van Cutsem G, Goemaere E, Ford N, Bygrave H, Lynch S. The case for Option B and Optional B+: Ensuring that South Africa's commitment to eliminating mother-to-child transmission of HIV becomes a reality. South Afr J HIV Med. 2012 Oct 4;13(4):178.
- 190. Bateman C. Much ado over the new South African PMTCT guidelines. South Afr Med J Suid-Afr Tydskr Vir Geneeskd. 2013 Mar 14;103(4):218–21.
- 191. Kieffer MP, Mattingly M, Giphart A, van de Ven R, Chouraya C, Walakira M, et al. Lessons learned from early implementation of option B+: the Elizabeth Glaser Pediatric AIDS Foundation experience in 11 African countries. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2014 Dec 1;67 Suppl 4:S188-194.
- 192. Fasawe O, Avila C, Shaffer N, Schouten E, Chimbwandira F, Hoos D, et al. Costeffectiveness analysis of Option B+ for HIV prevention and treatment of mothers and children in Malawi. PloS One. 2013;8(3):e57778.
- 193. Ciaranello AL, Perez F, Engelsmann B, Walensky RP, Mushavi A, Rusibamayila A, et al. Cost-effectiveness of World Health Organization 2010 guidelines for prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission in Zimbabwe. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2013 Feb;56(3):430–46.
- 194. Kitahata MM, Gange SJ, Abraham AG, Merriman B, Saag MS, Justice AC, et al. Effect of early versus deferred antiretroviral therapy for HIV on survival. N Engl J Med. 2009 Apr 30;360(18):1815–26.
- 195. When To Start Consortium, Sterne JAC, May M, Costagliola D, de Wolf F, Phillips AN, et al. Timing of initiation of antiretroviral therapy in AIDS-free HIV-1-infected patients: a collaborative analysis of 18 HIV cohort studies. Lancet Lond Engl. 2009 Apr 18;373(9672):1352–63.
- 196. EMTCT-IATT. Option B+ Countries and PMTCT regimens. 2017. Available from: http://emtct-iatt.org/b-countries-and-pmtct-regimen/
- 197. Psaros C, Remmert JE, Bangsberg DR, Safren SA, Smit JA. Adherence to HIV Care after Pregnancy among Women in Sub-Saharan Africa: Falling Off the Cliff of the Treatment Cascade. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2015 Mar;12(1):1–5.
- 198. Modi S, Broyles LN, Montandon M, Itoh M, Ochanda B, Langat A, et al. Beyond Early Infant Diagnosis: Changing the Approach to HIV-Exposed Infants. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2018 Aug 15;78(Suppl 2):S107–14.

- 199. Fox MP, MPA SR. Retention of Adult Patients on Antiretroviral Therapy in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis 2008–2013. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2015 May 1;69(1):98–108.
- 200. Hosseinipour M, Nelson JAE, Trapence C, Rutstein SE, Kasende F, Kayoyo V, et al. Viral Suppression and HIV Drug Resistance at 6 Months Among Women in Malawi's Option B+ Program: Results From the PURE Malawi Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 01;75 Suppl 2:S149–55.
- 201. Phiri S, Tweya H, van Lettow M, Rosenberg NE, Trapence C, Kapito-Tembo A, et al. Impact of Facility- and Community-Based Peer Support Models on Maternal Uptake and Retention in Malawi's Option B+ HIV Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission Program: A 3-Arm Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial (PURE Malawi). J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 01;75 Suppl 2:S140–8.
- 202. Koss CA, Natureeba P, Kwarisiima D, Ogena M, Clark TD, Olwoch P, et al. Viral Suppression and Retention in Care up to 5 Years After Initiation of Lifelong ART During Pregnancy (Option B+) in Rural Uganda. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 Mar 1;74(3):279–84.
- 203. Mitiku I, Arefayne M, Mesfin Y, Gizaw M. Factors associated with loss to follow-up among women in Option B+ PMTCT programme in northeast Ethiopia: a retrospective cohort study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016 Mar 21;19(1).
- 204. Llenas-García J, Wikman-Jorgensen P, Hobbins M, Mussa MA, Ehmer J, Keiser O, et al. Retention in care of HIV-infected pregnant and lactating women starting ART under Option B+ in rural Mozambique. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2016 Aug;21(8):1003–12.
- 205. Meda N, Leroy V, Viho I, Msellati P, Yaro S, Mandelbrot L, et al. Field acceptability and effectiveness of the routine utilization of zidovudine to reduce mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in West Africa. AIDS Lond Engl. 2002 Nov 22;16(17):2323–8.
- 206. Msellati P, Hingst G, Kaba F, Viho I, Welffens-Ekra C, Dabis F. Operational issues in preventing mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire, 1998-99. Bull World Health Organ. 2001;79(7):641–7.
- 207. Perez F, Orne-Gliemann J, Mukotekwa T, Miller A, Glenshaw M, Mahomva A, et al. Prevention of mother to child transmission of HIV: evaluation of a pilot programme in a district hospital in rural Zimbabwe. BMJ. 2004 Nov 13;329(7475):1147–50.
- 208. Nachega JB, Uthman OA, del Rio C, Mugavero MJ, Rees H, Mills EJ. Addressing the Achilles' heel in the HIV care continuum for the success of a test-and-treat strategy to achieve an AIDS-free generation. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2014 Jul;59 Suppl 1:S21-27.
- 209. Mills EJ, Nachega JB, Ford N. Can we stop AIDS with antiretroviral-based treatment as prevention? Glob Health Sci Pract. 2013 Mar;1(1):29–34.
- 210. Kilmarx PH, Mutasa-Apollo T. Patching a leaky pipe: the cascade of HIV care. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2013 Jan;8(1):59–64.
- 211. Govindasamy D, Meghij J, Kebede Negussi E, Clare Baggaley R, Ford N, Kranzer K. Interventions to improve or facilitate linkage to or retention in pre-ART (HIV) care and initiation of ART in low- and middle-income settings--a systematic review. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17:19032.

- 212. Kranzer K, Govindasamy D, Ford N, Johnston V, Lawn SD. Quantifying and addressing losses along the continuum of care for people living with HIV infection in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. J Int AIDS Soc. 2012 Nov 19;15(2):17383.
- 213. Christopoulos KA, Massey AD, Lopez AM, Geng EH, Johnson MO, Pilcher CD, et al. "Taking a half day at a time:" patient perspectives and the HIV engagement in care continuum. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2013 Apr;27(4):223–30.
- 214. Barker PM, Mphatswe W, Rollins N. Antiretroviral drugs in the cupboard are not enough: the impact of health systems' performance on mother-to-child transmission of HIV. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2011 Feb 1;56(2):e45-48.
- 215. Dale LK. A Narrative Understanding of the Maternal Experience of urban Black South African Mothers. University of the Witwatersrand; 2012. Available from: http://wiredspace.wits.ac.za/bitstream/handle/10539/12618/Lindsay-Dale-Research.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y
- 216. Mjwara N, Maharaj P. Becoming a mother: perspectives and experiences of young women in a South African Township. Cult Health Sex. 2018;20(2):129–40.
- 217. Lee C. Social context, depression and the transition to motherhood. Br J Health Psychol. 1997;2(2):93–108.
- 218. Okedo-Alex IN, Akamike IC, Ezeanosike OB, Uneke CJ. Determinants of antenatal care utilisation in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. BMJ Open. 2019 Oct 7;9(10).
- 219. Mekonnen T, Dune T, Perz J. Maternal health service utilisation of adolescent women in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic scoping review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019 Oct 21;19(1):366.
- 220. Rurangirwa AA, Mogren I, Nyirazinyoye L, Ntaganira J, Krantz G. Determinants of poor utilization of antenatal care services among recently delivered women in Rwanda; a population based study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017 May 15;17(1):142.
- 221. Tekelab T, Chojenta C, Smith R, Loxton D. Factors affecting utilization of antenatal care in Ethiopia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLOS ONE. 2019 Apr 11;14(4):e0214848.
- 222. World Health Organization. HIV reporting: Global update on the health sector response to HIV, 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/128494/9789241507585_eng.pdf;j sessionid=343F436A88FADoC7CFA3E85B7DA8EEB6?sequence=1
- 223. Thomson KA, Hughes J, Baeten JM, John-Stewart G, Celum C, Cohen CR, et al. Increased Risk of HIV Acquisition Among Women Throughout Pregnancy and During the Postpartum Period: A Prospective Per-Coital-Act Analysis Among Women With HIV-Infected Partners. J Infect Dis. 2018 05;218(1):16–25.
- 224. World Health Organisation. Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services for a changing epidemic. WHO; 2019. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/consolidated-guidelines-on-hiv-testing-services-for-a-changing-epidemic
- 225. Rogers AJ, Akama E, Weke E, Blackburn J, Owino G, Bukusi EA, et al. Implementation of repeat HIV testing during pregnancy in southwestern Kenya: progress and missed opportunities. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017 Dec 13;20(4).

- 226. Rogers AJ, Weke E, Kwena Z, Bukusi EA, Oyaro P, Cohen CR, et al. Implementation of repeat HIV testing during pregnancy in Kenya: a qualitative study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2016 Jul 11;16(1):151.
- 227. Ministry of Health, Government of Malawi. Integrated HIV Program Report July– September 2012. 2012.
- 228. Vrazo AC, Firth J, Amzel A, Sedillo R, Ryan J, Phelps BR. Interventions to significantly improve service uptake and retention of HIV-positive pregnant women and HIV-exposed infants along the prevention of mother-to-child transmission continuum of care: systematic review. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2018 Feb;23(2):136–48.
- 229. Mutabazi JC, Zarowsky C, Trottier H. The impact of programs for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV on health care services and systems in sub-Saharan Africa A review. Public Health Rev. 2017;38:28.
- 230. Abrams EJ, Myer L, Rosenfield A, El-Sadr WM. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission services as a gateway to family-based human immunodeficiency virus care and treatment in resource-limited settings: rationale and international experiences. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2007 Sep;197(3 Suppl):S101-106.
- 231. Chen JY, Ogwu AC, Svab P, Lockman S, Moffat HJ, Gaolathe T, et al. Antiretroviral treatment initiation among HIV-infected pregnant women with low CD4(+) cell counts in Gaborone, Botswana. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2010 May 1;54(1):102–6.
- 232. Stinson K, Boulle A, Coetzee D, Abrams EJ, Myer L. Initiation of highly active antiretroviral therapy among pregnant women in Cape Town, South Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2010 Jul;15(7):825–32.
- 233. Fitzgerald FC, Bekker L-G, Kaplan R, Myer L, Lawn SD, Wood R. Mother-to-child transmission of HIV in a community-based antiretroviral clinic in South Africa. South Afr Med J Suid-Afr Tydskr Vir Geneeskd. 2010 Dec 1;100(12):827–31.
- 234. Chivonivoni C, Ehlers VJ, Roos JH. Mothers' attitudes towards using services preventing mother-to-child HIV/AIDS transmission in Zimbabwe: an interview survey. Int J Nurs Stud. 2008 Nov;45(11):1618–24.
- 235. Black S, Zulliger R, Marcus R, Mark D, Myer L, Bekker L-G. Acceptability and challenges of rapid ART initiation among pregnant women in a pilot programme, Cape Town, South Africa. AIDS Care. 2014;26(6):736–41.
- 236. Mateo-Urdiales A, Johnson S, Smith R, Nachega JB, Eshun-Wilson I. Rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy for people living with HIV. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019 Jun;2019(6).
- 237. McLean E, Renju J, Wamoyi J, Bukenya D, Ddaaki W, Church K, et al. "I wanted to safeguard the baby": a qualitative study to understand the experiences of Option B+ for pregnant women and the potential implications for "test-and-treat" in four sub-Saharan African settings. Sex Transm Infect. 2017 Jul;93(Suppl 3).
- 238. Buregyeya E, Naigino R, Mukose A, Makumbi F, Esiru G, Arinaitwe J, et al. Facilitators and barriers to uptake and adherence to lifelong antiretroviral therapy among HIV infected pregnant women in Uganda: a qualitative study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017 Mar 21;17(1):94.

- 239. Katirayi L, Namadingo H, Phiri M, Bobrow EA, Ahimbisibwe A, Berhan AY, et al. HIVpositive pregnant and postpartum women's perspectives about Option B+ in Malawi: a qualitative study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016 Jun 15;19(1).
- 240. Kim MH, Zhou A, Mazenga A, Ahmed S, Markham C, Zomba G, et al. Why Did I Stop? Barriers and Facilitators to Uptake and Adherence to ART in Option B+ HIV Care in Lilongwe, Malawi. PloS One. 2016;11(2):e0149527.
- 241. Knettel BA, Cichowitz C, Ngocho JS, Knippler ET, Chumba LN, Mmbaga BT, et al. Retention in HIV Care During Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period in the Option B+ Era: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Studies in Africa. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018 Apr 15;77(5):427-438.
- 242. Matthews LT, Ribaudo HB, Kaida A, Bennett K, Musinguzi N, Siedner MJ, et al. HIV-Infected Ugandan Women on Antiretroviral Therapy Maintain HIV-1 RNA Suppression Across Periconception, Pregnancy, and Postpartum Periods. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2016 Apr 1;71(4):399–406.
- 243. Myer L, Dunning L, Lesosky M, Hsiao N-Y, Phillips T, Petro G, et al. Frequency of Viremic Episodes in HIV-Infected Women Initiating Antiretroviral Therapy During Pregnancy: A Cohort Study. Clin Infect Dis. 2017 Feb 15;64(4):422–7.
- 244. Myer L, Phillips TK, McIntyre JA, Hsiao N-Y, Petro G, Zerbe A, et al. HIV viraemia and mother-to-child transmission risk after antiretroviral therapy initiation in pregnancy in Cape Town, South Africa. HIV Med. 2017 Feb;18(2):80–8.
- 245. Clouse K, Schwartz S, Van Rie A, Bassett J, Yende N, Pettifor A. "What they wanted was to give birth; nothing else": barriers to retention in option B+ HIV care among postpartum women in South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2014 Sep 1;67(1):e12-18.
- 246. World Health Organisation. Pregnancy, Childbirth, Postpartum and Newborn Care A Guide for Essential Practice. World Health Organization; 2016.
- 247. Doctor HV, Nkhana-Salimu S, Abdulsalam-Anibilowo M. Health facility delivery in sub-Saharan Africa: successes, challenges, and implications for the 2030 development agenda. BMC Public Health. 2018 Jun 19;18(1):765.
- 248. Montagu D, Sudhinaraset M, Diamond-Smith N, Campbell O, Gabrysch S, Freedman L, et al. Where women go to deliver: understanding the changing landscape of childbirth in Africa and Asia. Health Policy Plan. 2017 Oct 1;32(8):1146–52.
- 249. Atanga PN, Ndetan HT, Achidi EA, Meriki HD, Hoelscher M, Kroidl A. Retention in care and reasons for discontinuation of lifelong antiretroviral therapy in a cohort of Cameroonian pregnant and breastfeeding HIV-positive women initiating "Option B+" in the South West Region. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2017 Feb;22(2):161–70.
- 250. Landes M, Sodhi S, Matengeni A, Meaney C, van Lettow M, Chan AK, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of women initiating ART during pregnancy versus breastfeeding in Option B+ in Malawi. BMC Public Health. 2016 04;15:713.
- 251. Gill MM, Umutoni A, Hoffman HJ, Ndatimana D, Ndayisaba GF, Kibitenga S, et al. Understanding Antiretroviral Treatment Adherence Among HIV-Positive Women at Four Postpartum Time Intervals: Qualitative Results from the Kabeho Study in Rwanda. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2017 Apr;31(4):153–66.

- 252. Ngarina M, Popenoe R, Kilewo C, Biberfeld G, Ekstrom AM. Reasons for poor adherence to antiretroviral therapy postnatally in HIV-1 infected women treated for their own health: experiences from the Mitra Plus study in Tanzania. BMC Public Health. 2013 May 7;13:450.
- 253. Bispo S, Chikhungu L, Rollins N, Siegfried N, Newell M-L. Postnatal HIV Transmission in breastfed infants of HIV-infected women on ART: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017 Feb 21; 20(1): 21251.
- 254. World Health Organization, UNICEF. Guideline Updates on HIV and infant feeding: The duration of breastfeeding, and support from health services to improve feeding practices among mothers living with HIV. 2016. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK379872/
- 255. Chadambuka A, Katirayi L, Muchedzi A, Tumbare E, Musarandega R, Mahomva AI, et al. Acceptability of lifelong treatment among HIV-positive pregnant and breastfeeding women (Option B+) in selected health facilities in Zimbabwe: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health. 2017 Jul 25;18(1):57.
- 256. Phillips T, McNairy ML, Zerbe A, Myer L, Abrams EJ. Implementation and Operational Research: Postpartum Transfer of Care Among HIV-Infected Women Initiating Antiretroviral Therapy During Pregnancy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2015 Nov 1;70(3):e102-109.
- 257. van Lettow M, Bedell R, Mayuni I, Mateyu G, Landes M, Chan AK, et al. Towards elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV: performance of different models of care for initiating lifelong antiretroviral therapy for pregnant women in Malawi (Option B+). J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17:18994.
- 258. Osler M, Hilderbrand K, Goemaere E, Ford N, Smith M, Meintjes G, et al. The Continuing Burden of Advanced HIV Disease Over 10 Years of Increasing Antiretroviral Therapy Coverage in South Africa. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2018 04;66(suppl_2):S118–25.
- 259. Hoffman S, Wu Y, Lahuerta M, Kulkarni SG, Nuwagaba-Biribonwoha H, Sadr WE, et al. Advanced disease at enrollment in HIV care in four sub-Saharan African countries: change from 2006 to 2011 and multilevel predictors in 2011. AIDS Lond Engl. 2014 Oct 23;28(16):2429–38.
- 260. Collins IJ, Judd A, Gibb DM. Immediate antiretroviral therapy in young HIV-infected children: benefits and risks. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2014 Jan;9(1):87–94.
- 261. Violari A, Cotton MF, Gibb DM, Babiker AG, Steyn J, Madhi SA, et al. Early Antiretroviral Therapy and Mortality among HIV-Infected Infants. N Engl J Med. 2008 Nov 20;359(21):2233–44.
- 262. Wamalwa D, Benki-Nugent S, Langat A, Tapia K, Ngugi E, Slyker JA, et al. Survival benefit of early infant antiretroviral therapy is compromised when diagnosis is delayed. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2012 Jul;31(7):729–31.
- 263. Cromwell EA, Dow AE, Low D, Chirambo C, Heyderman RS, Dube Q, et al. Barriers to Successful Early Infant Diagnosis of HIV Infection at Primary Care Level in Malawi. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2015 Mar 1;34(3):273–5.
- 264. Kalk E, Kroon M, Boulle A, Osler M, Euvrard J, Stinson K, et al. Neonatal and infant diagnostic HIV-PCR uptake and associations during three sequential policy periods in

Cape Town, South Africa: a longitudinal analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018 Nov;21(11):e25212.

- 265. Haas AD, van Oosterhout JJ, Tenthani L, Jahn A, Zwahlen M, Msukwa MT, et al. HIV transmission and retention in care among HIV-exposed children enrolled in Malawi's prevention of mother-to-child transmission programme. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017 Sep 4;20(1):21947.
- 266. Essajee S, Bhairavabhotla R, Penazzato M, Kiragu K, Jani I, Carmona S, et al. Scale-up of Early Infant HIV Diagnosis and Improving Access to Pediatric HIV Care in Global Plan Countries: Past and Future Perspectives. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 May 1;75 Suppl 1:S51–8.
- 267. Donahue MC, Dube Q, Dow A, Umar E, Van Rie A. "They have already thrown away their chicken": barriers affecting participation by HIV-infected women in care and treatment programs for their infants in Blantyre, Malawi. AIDS Care. 2012;24(10):1233–9.
- 268. Cook RE, Ciampa PJ, Sidat M, Blevins M, Burlison J, Davidson MA, et al. Predictors of successful early infant diagnosis of HIV in a rural district hospital in Zambézia, Mozambique. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2011 Apr;56(4):e104-109.
- 269. Hampanda KM, Nimz AM, Abuogi LL. Barriers to uptake of early infant HIV testing in Zambia: the role of intimate partner violence and HIV status disclosure within couples. AIDS Res Ther. 2017 Mar 21;14.
- 270. Jani IV, De Schacht C. Innovations and challenges in early infant diagnosis of HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2019;14(1):55–9.
- 271. Finocchario-Kessler S, Goggin K, Khamadi S, Gautney B, Dariotis JK, Bawcom C, et al. Improving early infant HIV diagnosis in Kenya: study protocol of a cluster-randomized efficacy trial of the HITSystem. Implement Sci IS. 2015 Jul 9;10:96.
- 272. Finocchario-Kessler S, Gautney B, Cheng A, Wexler C, Maloba M, Nazir N, et al. Evaluation of the HIV Infant Tracking System (HITSystem) to optimise quality and efficiency of early infant diagnosis: a cluster-randomised trial in Kenya. Lancet HIV. 2018;5(12):e696–705.
- 273. Singh J, Filteau S, Todd J, Gumede-Moyo S. Progress in the performance of HIV early infant diagnosis services in Zambia using routinely collected data from 2006 to 2016. BMC Public Health. 2018 Nov 26;18(1):1297.
- 274. Brennan AT, Bonawitz R, Gill CJ, Thea DM, Kleinman M, Useem J, et al. A metaanalysis assessing all-cause mortality in HIV-exposed uninfected compared with HIVunexposed uninfected infants and children. AIDS Lond Engl. 2016 24;30(15):2351–60.
- 275. Zash R, Souda S, Leidner J, Ribaudo H, Binda K, Moyo S, et al. HIV-exposed children account for more than half of 24-month mortality in Botswana. BMC Pediatr. 2016 21;16:103.
- 276. Evans C, Jones CE, Prendergast AJ. HIV-exposed, uninfected infants: new global challenges in the era of paediatric HIV elimination. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(6):e92–107.

- 277. Dlamini-Simelane TTT, Moyer E. "Lost to follow up": rethinking delayed and interrupted HIV treatment among married Swazi women. Health Policy Plan. 2017 01;32(2):248–56.
- 278. Kiula ES, Damian DJ, Msuya SE. Predictors of HIV serostatus disclosure to partners among HIV-positive pregnant women in Morogoro, Tanzania. BMC Public Health. 2013 May 3;13(1):433.
- 279. Hunter-Adams J, Zerbe A, Philips T, Rini Z, Myer L, Petro G, et al. The dimensionality of disclosure of HIV status amongst post-partum women in Cape Town, South Africa. Afr J AIDS Res AJAR. 2017 Jul;16(2):101–7.
- 280. Fords GM, Crowley T, van der Merwe AS. The lived experiences of rural women diagnosed with the human immunodeficiency virus in the antenatal period. SAHARA J J Soc Asp HIVAIDS Res Alliance. 2017 Sep 26;14(1):85–92.
- 281. Gourlay A, Birdthistle I, Mburu G, Iorpenda K, Wringe A. Barriers and facilitating factors to the uptake of antiretroviral drugs for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. J Int AIDS Soc. 2013;16:18588.
- 282. Omonaiye O, Kusljic S, Nicholson P, Manias E. Medication adherence in pregnant women with human immunodeficiency virus receiving antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2018 Jun 27;18(1):805.
- 283. Hodgson I, Plummer ML, Konopka SN, Colvin CJ, Jonas E, Albertini J, et al. A systematic review of individual and contextual factors affecting ART initiation, adherence, and retention for HIV-infected pregnant and postpartum women. PloS One. 2014;9(11):e111421.
- 284. Iroezi ND, Mindry D, Kawale P, Chikowi G, Jansen PA, Hoffman RM. A qualitative analysis of the barriers and facilitators to receiving care in a prevention of mother-tochild program in Nkhoma, Malawi. Afr J Reprod Health. 2013 Dec;17(4 Spec No):118– 29.
- 285. Treves-Kagan S, Steward WT, Ntswane L, Haller R, Gilvydis JM, Gulati H, et al. Why increasing availability of ART is not enough: a rapid, community-based study on how HIV-related stigma impacts engagement to care in rural South Africa. BMC Public Health. 2016 Jan 28;16:87.
- 286. Cataldo F, Chiwaula L, Nkhata M, van Lettow M, Kasende F, Rosenberg NE, et al. Exploring the Experiences of Women and Health Care Workers in the Context of PMTCT Option B Plus in Malawi. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 Apr 15;74(5):517–22.
- 287. Shamu S, Zarowsky C, Shefer T, Temmerman M, Abrahams N. Intimate Partner Violence after Disclosure of HIV Test Results among Pregnant Women in Harare, Zimbabwe. PLOS ONE. 2014 Oct 28;9(10):e109447.
- 288. An SJ, George AS, LeFevre A, Mpembeni R, Mosha I, Mohan D, et al. Program synergies and social relations: implications of integrating HIV testing and counselling into maternal health care on care seeking. BMC Public Health. 2015 Jan 21;15:24.
- 289. Ngarina M, Tarimo EAM, Naburi H, Kilewo C, Mwanyika-Sando M, Chalamilla G, et al. Women's preferences regarding infant or maternal antiretroviral prophylaxis for

prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV during breastfeeding and their views on Option B+ in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. PloS One. 2014;9(1):e85310.

- 290. Thomson KA, Telfer B, Opondo Awiti P, Munge J, Ngunga M, Reid A. Navigating the risks of prevention of mother to child transmission (PMTCT) of HIV services in Kibera, Kenya: Barriers to engaging and remaining in care. PloS One. 2018;13(1):e0191463.
- 291. Thompson MA, Mugavero MJ, Amico KR, Cargill VA, Chang LW, Gross R, et al. Guidelines for improving entry into and retention in care and antiretroviral adherence for persons with HIV: evidence-based recommendations from an International Association of Physicians in AIDS Care panel. Ann Intern Med. 2012 Jun 5;156(11):817–33, W-284, W-285, W-286, W-287, W-288, W-289, W-290, W-291, W-292, W-293, W-294.
- 292. Kalichman SC, Kalichman MO. HIV-Related Stress and Life Chaos Mediate the Association Between Poverty and Medication Adherence Among People Living with HIV/AIDS. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. 2016;23(4):420–30.
- 293. Yourkavitch J, Lich KH, Flax VL, Okello ES, Kadzandira J, Katahoire AR, et al. Interactions among poverty, gender, and health systems affect women's participation in services to prevent HIV transmission from mother to child: A causal loop analysis. PLOS ONE. 2018 May 18;13(5):e0197239.
- 294. Duff P, Kipp W, Wild TC, Rubaale T, Okech-Ojony J. Barriers to accessing highly active antiretroviral therapy by HIV-positive women attending an antenatal clinic in a regional hospital in western Uganda. J Int AIDS Soc. 2010 Sep 23;13:37.
- 295. Birdthistle IJ, Mayhew SH, Kikuvi J, Zhou W, Church K, Warren CE, et al. Integration of HIV and maternal healthcare in a high HIV-prevalence setting: analysis of client flow data over time in Swaziland. BMJ Open. 2014 Mar 7;4(3).
- 296. Jones H, Wringe A, Todd J, Songo J, Gómez-Olivé FX, Moshabela M, et al. Implementing prevention policies for mother-to-child transmission of HIV in rural Malawi, South Africa and United Republic of Tanzania, 2013–2016. Bull World Health Organ. 2019 Mar 1;97(3):200–12.
- 297. Killam WP, Tambatamba BC, Chintu N, Rouse D, Stringer E, Bweupe M, et al. Antiretroviral therapy in antenatal care to increase treatment initiation in HIV-infected pregnant women: a stepped-wedge evaluation. AIDS Lond Engl. 2010 Jan 2;24(1):85– 91.
- 298. Turan JM, Onono M, Steinfeld RL, Shade SB, Owuor K, Washington S, et al. Effects of antenatal care and HIV treatment integration on elements of the PMTCT cascade: Results from the SHAIP cluster-randomized controlled trial in Kenya. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2015 Aug 15;69(5):e172–81.
- 299. Suthar AB, Hoos D, Beqiri A, Lorenz-Dehne K, McClure C, Duncombe C. Integrating antiretroviral therapy into antenatal care and maternal and child health settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Bull World Health Organ. 2013 Jan 1;91(1):46–56.
- 300. Myer L, Phillips T, Manuelli V, McIntyre J, Bekker L-G, Abrams EJ. Evolution of antiretroviral therapy services for HIV-infected pregnant women in Cape Town, South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2015;69(2):e57–65.

- 301. Stinson K, Jennings K, Myer L. Integration of antiretroviral therapy services into antenatal care increases treatment initiation during pregnancy: a cohort study. PloS One. 2013;8(5):e63328.
- 302. Aliyu MH, Blevins M, Audet CM, Kalish M, Gebi UI, Onwujekwe O, et al. Integrated prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission services, antiretroviral therapy initiation, and maternal and infant retention in care in rural north-central Nigeria: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet HIV. 2016 May;3(5):e202-211.
- 303. Guillaine N, Mwizerwa W, Odhiambo J, Hedt-Gauthier BL, Hirschhorn LR, Mugwaneza P, et al. A Novel Combined Mother-Infant Clinic to Optimize Post-Partum Maternal Retention, Service Utilization, and Linkage to Services in HIV Care in Rural Rwanda. Int J MCH AIDS. 2017;6(1):36–45.
- 304. Myer L, Phillips TK, Zerbe A, Brittain K, Lesosky M, Hsiao N-Y, et al. Integration of postpartum healthcare services for HIV-infected women and their infants in South Africa: A randomised controlled trial. PLOS Med. 2018 Mar 30;15(3):e1002547.
- 305. Dzangare J, Takarinda KC, Harries AD, Tayler-Smith K, Mhangara M, Apollo TM, et al. HIV testing uptake and retention in care of HIV-infected pregnant and breastfeeding women initiated on "Option B+" in rural Zimbabwe. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2016 Feb;21(2):202–9.
- 306. Clouse K, Mongwenyana C, Musina M, Bokaba D, Long L, Maskew M, et al. Acceptability and feasibility of a financial incentive intervention to improve retention in HIV care among pregnant women in Johannesburg, South Africa. AIDS Care. 2018;30(4):453–60.
- 307. Dahourou DL, Gautier-Lafaye C, Teasdale CA, Renner L, Yotebieng M, Desmonde S, et al. Transition from paediatric to adult care of adolescents living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa: challenges, youth-friendly models, and outcomes. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017 16;20(Suppl 3):21528.
- 308. Church K, Wringe A, Lewin S, Ploubidis GB, Fakudze P, Mayhew SH. Exploring the Feasibility of Service Integration in a Low-Income Setting: A Mixed Methods Investigation into Different Models of Reproductive Health and HIV Care in Swaziland. PLoS ONE. 2015 May 15;10(5).
- 309. Church K, Wringe A, Fakudze P, Kikuvi J, Simelane D, Mayhew SH. Are integrated HIV services less stigmatizing than stand-alone models of care? A comparative case study from Swaziland. J Int AIDS Soc. 2013 Jan 11;16(1).
- 310. Hardon A, Vernooij E, Bongololo-Mbera G, Cherutich P, Desclaux A, Kyaddondo D, et al. Women's views on consent, counseling and confidentiality in PMTCT: a mixedmethods study in four African countries. BMC Public Health. 2012 Jan 11;12:26.
- 311. Lyatuu MB, Msamanga GI, Kalinga AK. Clients' satisfaction with services for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in Dodoma Rural district. East Afr J Public Health. 2008 Dec;5(3):174–9.
- 312. Angotti N, Dionne KY, Gaydosh L. An offer you can't refuse? Provider-initiated HIV testing in antenatal clinics in rural Malawi. Health Policy Plan. 2011 Jul;26(4):307–15.
- 313. Gourlay A, Wringe A, Birdthistle I, Mshana G, Michael D, Urassa M. "It is like that, we didn't understand each other": exploring the influence of patient-provider interactions

on prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV service use in rural Tanzania. PloS One. 2014;9(9):e106325.

- 314. Vernooij E, Hardon A. 'What mother wouldn't want to save her baby?' HIV testing and counselling practices in a rural Ugandan antenatal clinic. Cult Health Sex. 2013 Aug 13;15(sup4):S553–66.
- 315. Bond V, Hoddinott G, Viljoen L, Simuyaba M, Musheke M, Seeley J. Good Health and Moral Responsibility: Key Concepts Underlying the Interpretation of Treatment as Prevention in South Africa and Zambia Before Rolling Out Universal HIV Testing and Treatment. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2016 Sep 1;30(9):425–34.
- 316. Cataldo F, Seeley J, Nkhata MJ, Mupambireyi Z, Tumwesige E, Gibb DM, et al. She knows that she will not come back: tracing patients and new thresholds of collective surveillance in PMTCT Option B+. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018 Feb 1;18(1):76.
- 317. Hoffman RM, Phiri K, Parent J, Grotts J, Elashoff D, Kawale P, et al. Factors associated with retention in Option B+ in Malawi: a case control study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017 27;20(1):21464.
- 318. Tenthani L, Haas AD, Tweya H, Jahn A, van Oosterhout JJ, Chimbwandira F, et al. Retention in care under universal antiretroviral therapy for HIV-infected pregnant and breastfeeding women ('Option B+') in Malawi. AIDS Lond Engl. 2014 Feb 20;28(4):589–98.
- 319. Flax VL, Hamela G, Mofolo I, Hosseinipour MC, Hoffman IF, Maman S. Factors influencing postnatal Option B+ participation and breastfeeding duration among HIVpositive women in Lilongwe District, Malawi: A qualitative study. PloS One. 2017;12(4):e0175590.
- 320. Inter-Agency Task Team (IATT) on Children and HIV and AIDS. Understanding the perspectives and/or experiences of women living with HIV regarding Option B+ in Uganda and Malawi. UNICEF. Available from: http://www.emtct-iatt.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/2013_Option_B_Report_GNP_and_ICW.pdf
- 321. Mahy M, Stover J, Kiragu K, Hayashi C, Akwara P, Luo C, et al. What will it take to achieve virtual elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV? An assessment of current progress and future needs. Sex Transm Infect. 2010 Dec;86 Suppl 2:ii48-55.
- 322. Brittain K, Remien RH, Mellins CA, Phillips TK, Zerbe A, Abrams EJ, et al. Determinants of suboptimal adherence and elevated HIV viral load in pregnant women already on antiretroviral therapy when entering antenatal care in Cape Town, South Africa. AIDS Care. 2018;30(12):1517–23.
- 323. Adeniyi OV, Ajayi AI, Moyaki MG, Goon DT, Avramovic G, Lambert J. High rate of unplanned pregnancy in the context of integrated family planning and HIV care services in South Africa. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018 Feb 27;18(1):140.
- 324. Iyun V, Brittain K, Phillips TK, Roux S le, McIntyre JA, Zerbe A, et al. Prevalence and determinants of unplanned pregnancy in HIV-positive and HIV-negative pregnant women in Cape Town, South Africa: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2018 Apr 1 ;8(4).
- 325. McCoy SI, Buzdugan R, Ralph LJ, Mushavi A, Mahomva A, Hakobyan A, et al. Unmet need for family planning, contraceptive failure, and unintended pregnancy among HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected women in Zimbabwe. PloS One. 2014;9(8):e105320.

- 326. Braun M, Kabue MM, McCollum ED, Ahmed S, Kim M, Aertker L, et al. Inadequate coordination of maternal and infant HIV services detrimentally affects early infant diagnosis outcomes in Lilongwe, Malawi. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2011 Apr 15;56(5):e122-128.
- 327. Watson-Jones D, Balira R, Ross DA, Weiss HA, Mabey D. Missed opportunities: poor linkage into ongoing care for HIV-positive pregnant women in Mwanza, Tanzania. PloS One. 2012;7(7):e40091.
- 328. Hussain A, Moodley D, Naidoo S, Esterhuizen TM. Pregnant women's access to PMTCT and ART services in South Africa and implications for universal antiretroviral treatment. PloS One. 2011;6(12):e27907.
- 329. Ferguson L, Grant AD, Watson-Jones D, Kahawita T, Ong'ech JO, Ross DA. Linking women who test HIV-positive in pregnancy-related services to long-term HIV care and treatment services: a systematic review. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2012 May;17(5):564–80.
- 330. Ford D, Muzambi M, Nkhata MJ, Abongomera G, Joseph S, Ndlovu M, et al. Implementation of Antiretroviral Therapy for Life in Pregnant/Breastfeeding HIV+ Women (Option B+) Alongside Rollout and Changing Guidelines for ART Initiation in Rural Zimbabwe: The Lablite Project Experience. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 Apr 15;74(5):508–16.
- 331. Musomba R, Mubiru F, Nakalema S, Mackline H, Kalule I, Kiragga AN, et al. Describing Point of Entry into Care and Being Lost to Program in a Cohort of HIV Positive Pregnant Women in a Large Urban Centre in Uganda. AIDS Res Treat. 2017;2017:3527563.
- 332. Mwapasa V, Joseph J, Tchereni T, Jousset A, Gunda A. Impact of Mother-Infant Pair Clinics and Short-Text Messaging Service (SMS) Reminders on Retention of HIV-Infected Women and HIV-Exposed Infants in eMTCT Care in Malawi: A Cluster Randomized Trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 Jun 1;75 Suppl 2:S123–31.
- 333. Fatti G, Shaikh N, Eley B, Jackson D, Grimwood A. Adolescent and young pregnant women at increased risk of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and poorer maternal and infant health outcomes: A cohort study at public facilities in the Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan district, Eastern Cape, South Africa. South Afr Med J Suid-Afr Tydskr Vir Geneeskd. 2014 Dec;104(12):874–80.
- 334. Nachega JB, Hislop M, Nguyen H, Dowdy DW, Chaisson RE, Regensberg L, et al. Antiretroviral therapy adherence, virologic and immunologic outcomes in adolescents compared with adults in southern Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2009 May 1;51(1):65–71.
- 335. Myer L, Harrison A. Why do women seek antenatal care late? Perspectives from rural South Africa. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2003 Aug;48(4):268–72.
- 336. Hammond CJ, Potenza MN, Mayes LC. Development of Impulse Control, Inhibition, and Self-Regulatory Behaviors in Normative Populations across the Lifespan. The Oxford Handbook of Impulse Control Disorders. 2011. Available from: https://www.oxfordhandbooks.com/view/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195389715.001.000 1/oxfordhb-9780195389715-e-019
- 337. Casey BJ, Jones RM, Hare TA. The Adolescent Brain. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2008 Mar;1124:111–26.
- 338. Horter S, Thabede Z, Dlamini V, Bernays S, Stringer B, Mazibuko S, et al. "Life is so easy on ART, once you accept it": Acceptance, denial and linkage to HIV care in Shiselweni, Swaziland. Soc Sci Med 1982. 2017;176:52–9.
- 339. Katirayi L, Chouraya C, Kudiabor K, Mahdi MA, Kieffer MP, Moland KM, et al. Lessons learned from the PMTCT program in Swaziland: challenges with accepting lifelong ART for pregnant and lactating women a qualitative study. BMC Public Health. 2016 Oct 24;16(1):1119.
- 340. Elwell K. Facilitators and barriers to treatment adherence within PMTCT programs in Malawi. AIDS Care. 2016 Aug;28(8):971–5.
- 341. Phiri N, Haas AD, Msukwa MT, Tenthani L, Keiser O, Tal K. "I found that I was well and strong": Women's motivations for remaining on ART under Option B+ in Malawi. PLOS ONE. 2018 Jun 6;13(6):e0197854.
- 342. Pellecchia U, Baert S, Nundwe S, Bwanali A, Zamadenga B, Metcalf CA, et al. "We are part of a family". Benefits and limitations of community ART groups (CAGs) in Thyolo, Malawi: a qualitative study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(1):21374.
- 343. Nel A, Kagee A. Common mental health problems and antiretroviral therapy adherence. AIDS Care. 2011 Nov;23(11):1360–5.
- 344. Kapetanovic S, Dass-Brailsford P, Nora D, Talisman N. Mental health of HIVseropositive women during pregnancy and postpartum period: a comprehensive literature review. AIDS Behav. 2014 Jun;18(6):1152–73.
- 345. Mellins CA, Kang E, Leu C-S, Havens JF, Chesney MA. Longitudinal study of mental health and psychosocial predictors of medical treatment adherence in mothers living with HIV disease. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2003 Aug;17(8):407–16.
- 346. Mugavero MJ, Raper JL, Reif S, Whetten K, Leserman J, Thielman NM, et al. Overload: impact of incident stressful events on antiretroviral medication adherence and virologic failure in a longitudinal, multisite human immunodeficiency virus cohort study. Psychosom Med. 2009 Nov;71(9):920–6.
- 347. Brinkley-Rubinstein L, Chadwick C, Graci M. The connection between serious life events, anti-retroviral adherence, and mental health among HIV-positive individuals in the Western Cape, South Africa. AIDS Care. 2013;25(12):1581–5.
- 348. O'Donnell JK, Gaynes BN, Cole SR, Edmonds A, Thielman NM, Quinlivan EB, et al. Stressful and traumatic life events as disruptors to antiretroviral therapy adherence. AIDS Care. 2017;29(11):1378–85.
- 349. Tanser F, Bärnighausen T, Vandormael A, Dobra A. HIV treatment cascade in migrants and mobile populations. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2015 Nov;10(6):430–8.
- 350. Collinson MA. Striving against adversity: the dynamics of migration, health and poverty in rural South Africa. Glob Health Action. 2010 Jun 3;3.
- 351. Ford N, Meintjes G, Calmy A, Bygrave H, Migone C, Vitoria M, et al. Managing Advanced HIV Disease in a Public Health Approach. Clin Infect Dis. 2018 Mar 4;66(suppl_2):S106-SS110.

- 352. Siika A, McCabe L, Bwakura-Dangarembizi M, Kityo C, Mallewa J, Berkley J, et al. Late Presentation With HIV in Africa: Phenotypes, Risk, and Risk Stratification in the REALITY Trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2018 Mar 4;66(suppl_2):S140–6.
- 353. Stinson K, Myer L. Barriers to initiating antiretroviral therapy during pregnancy: a qualitative study of women attending services in Cape Town, South Africa. Afr J AIDS Res AJAR. 2012 Mar;11(1):65–73.
- 354. Price AJ, Kayange M, Zaba B, Chimbwandira FM, Jahn A, Chirwa Z, et al. Uptake of prevention of mother-to-child-transmission using Option B+ in northern rural Malawi: a retrospective cohort study. Sex Transm Infect. 2014 Jun;90(4):309–14.
- 355. Napúa M, Pfeiffer JT, Chale F, Hoek R, Manuel J, Michel C, et al. Option B+ in Mozambique: Formative Research Findings for the Design of a Facility-Level Clustered Randomized Controlled Trial to Improve ART Retention in Antenatal Care. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2016 Aug 1;72 Suppl 2:S181-188.
- 356. Rubin DB. Inference and missing data. Biometrika. 1976 Dec 1;63(3):581-92.
- 357. Brinkhof MW, Dabis F, Myer L, Bangsberg DR, Boulle A, Nash D, et al. Early loss of HIV-infected patients on potent antiretroviral therapy programmes in lower-income countries. Bull World Health Organ. 2008 Jul;86(7):559–67.
- 358. Mills EJ, Nabiryo C. Preventing Antiretroviral Treatment Interruptions among HIV/AIDS Patients in Africa. PLOS Med. 2013 Jan 8;10(1):e1001370.
- 359. Stover J, McKinnon R, Winfrey B. Spectrum: a model platform for linking maternal and child survival interventions with AIDS, family planning and demographic projections. Int J Epidemiol. 2010 Apr 1;39(suppl_1):i7–10.
- 360. Boulle A, Van Cutsem G, Hilderbrand K, Cragg C, Abrahams M, Mathee S, et al. Sevenyear experience of a primary care antiretroviral treatment programme in Khayelitsha, South Africa. AIDS Lond Engl. 2010 Feb 20;24(4):563–72.
- 361. Rosen S, Ketlhapile M. Cost of using a patient tracer to reduce loss to follow-up and ascertain patient status in a large antiretroviral therapy program in Johannesburg, South Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2010 Jun;15 Suppl 1:98–104.
- 362. Chammartin F, Zürcher K, Keiser O, Weigel R, Chu K, Kiragga AN, et al. Outcomes of Patients Lost to Follow-up in African Antiretroviral Therapy Programs: Individual Patient Data Meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2018 Dec 1;67(11):1643–52.
- 363. Fatti G, Grimwood A, Bock P. Better antiretroviral therapy outcomes at primary healthcare facilities: an evaluation of three tiers of ART services in four South African provinces. PloS One. 2010;5(9):e12888.
- 364. Egger M, Spycher BD, Sidle J, Weigel R, Geng EH, Fox MP, et al. Correcting mortality for loss to follow-up: a nomogram applied to antiretroviral treatment programmes in sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS Med. 2011 Jan 18;8(1):e1000390.
- 365. Dalal RP, Macphail C, Mqhayi M, Wing J, Feldman C, Chersich MF, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of adult patients lost to follow-up at an antiretroviral treatment clinic in johannesburg, South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2008 Jan 1;47(1):101–7.

- 366. Dow A, Dube Q, Pence BW, Van Rie A. Postpartum depression and HIV infection among women in Malawi. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2014 Mar 1;65(3):359– 65.
- 367. Tweya H, Feldacker C, Estill J, Jahn A, Ng'ambi W, Ben-Smith A, et al. Are they really lost? "true" status and reasons for treatment discontinuation among HIV infected patients on antiretroviral therapy considered lost to follow up in Urban Malawi. PloS One. 2013;8(9):e75761.
- 368. Rachlis B, Ochieng D, Geng E, Rotich E, Ochieng V, Maritim B, et al. Evaluating outcomes of patients lost to follow-up in a large comprehensive care treatment program in western Kenya. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2015 Apr 1;68(4):e46–55.
- 369. Weigel R, Hochgesang M, Brinkhof MW, Hosseinipour MC, Boxshall M, Mhango E, et al. Outcomes and associated risk factors of patients traced after being lost to follow-up from antiretroviral treatment in Lilongwe, Malawi. BMC Infect Dis. 2011 Jan 27;11(1):31.
- 370. World Health Organisation. Consolidated guidelines on person-centred HIV patient monitoring and case surveillance. 2017. Available from: https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/person-centred-hiv-monitoringguidelines/en/
- 371. Clouse K, Phillips T, Myer L. Understanding data sources to measure patient retention in HIV care in sub-Saharan Africa. Int Health. 2017 01;9(4):203–5.
- 372. Shoko M, Collinson M, Lefakane L, Mudzana T. Can Crvs and Survey Data Provide Insight into Maternal Deaths in South Africa? In Entebbe, Uganda; 2019.
- 373. Sakyi KS, Lartey MY, Dension JA, Kennedy CE, Mullany LC, Owusu PG, et al. Low Birthweight, Retention in HIV Care, and Adherence to ART Among Postpartum Women Living with HIV in Ghana. AIDS Behav. 2019 Feb 1;23(2):433–44.
- 374. Ahoua L, Arikawa S, Tiendrebeogo T, Lahuerta M, Aly D, Becquet R, et al. Measuring retention in care for HIV-positive pregnant women in Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV (PMTCT) option B+ programs: the Mozambique experience. BMC Public Health. 2020 Mar 12;20(1):322.
- 375. Ahoua L, Tiendrebeogo T, Arikawa S, Lahuerta M, Aly D, Journot V, et al. PMTCT care cascade and factors associated with attrition in the first four years after Option B+ implementation in Mozambique. Trop Med Int Health. 2020;25(2):222–35.
- 376. Chaka TE, Abebe TW, Kassa RT. Option B+ prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV/AIDS service intervention outcomes in selected health facilities, Adama town, Ethiopia. HIVAIDS Auckl NZ. 2019;11:77–82.
- 377. Cichowitz C, Mazuguni F, Minja L, Njau P, Antelman G, Ngocho J, et al. Vulnerable at Each Step in the PMTCT Care Cascade: High Loss to Follow Up During Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period in Tanzania. AIDS Behav. 2019 Jul;23(7):1824–32.
- 378. Watt MH, Cichowitz C, Kisigo G, Minja L, Knettel BA, Knippler ET, et al. Predictors of postpartum HIV care engagement for women enrolled in prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) programs in Tanzania. AIDS Care. 2019;31(6):687–98.

- 379. Hauser BM, Miller WC, Tweya H, Speight C, Mtande T, Phiri S, et al. Assessing Option B+ retention and infant follow-up in Lilongwe, Malawi. Int J STD AIDS. 2018;29(2):185–94.
- 380. Kiwanuka G, Kiwanuka N, Muneza F, Nabirye J, Oporia F, Odikro MA, et al. Retention of HIV infected pregnant and breastfeeding women on option B+ in Gomba District, Uganda: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Infect Dis. 2018 Oct 24;18(1):533.
- 381. Pfeiffer JT, Napúa M, Wagenaar BH, Chale F, Hoek R, Micek M, et al. Stepped-Wedge Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial to Promote Option B+ Retention in Central Mozambique. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 Nov 1;76(3):273–80.
- 382. Oyeledun B, Phillips A, Oronsaye F, Alo OD, Shaffer N, Osibo B, et al. The Effect of a Continuous Quality Improvement Intervention on Retention-In-Care at 6 Months Postpartum in a PMTCT Program in Northern Nigeria: Results of a Cluster Randomized Controlled Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 01;75 Suppl 2:S156–64.
- 383. Sam-Agudu NA, Ramadhani HO, Isah C, Anaba U, Erekaha S, Fan-Osuala C, et al. The Impact of Structured Mentor Mother Programs on 6-Month Postpartum Retention and Viral Suppression among HIV-Positive Women in Rural Nigeria: A Prospective Paired Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 01;75 Suppl 2:S173–81.
- 384. Gamell A, Luwanda LB, Kalinjuma AV, Samson L, Ntamatungiro AJ, Weisser M, et al. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV Option B+ cascade in rural Tanzania: The One Stop Clinic model. PloS One. 2017;12(7):e0181096.
- 385. Miller K, Muyindike W, Matthews LT, Kanyesigye M, Siedner MJ. Program Implementation of Option B+ at a President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief-Supported HIV Clinic Improves Clinical Indicators But Not Retention in Care in Mbarara, Uganda. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2017;31(8):335–41.
- 386. Muhumuza S, Akello E, Kyomugisha-Nuwagaba C, Baryamutuma R, Sebuliba I, Lutalo IM, et al. Retention in care among HIV-infected pregnant and breastfeeding women on lifelong antiretroviral therapy in Uganda: A retrospective cohort study. PloS One. 2017;12(12):e0187605.
- 387. Foster G, Orne-Gliemann J, Font H, Kangwende A, Magezi V, Sengai T, et al. Impact of Facility-Based Mother Support Groups on Retention in Care and PMTCT Outcomes in Rural Zimbabwe: The EPAZ Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 01;75 Suppl 2:S207–15.
- 388. Joseph J, Gotora T, Erlwanger AS, Mushavi A, Zizhou S, Masuka N, et al. Impact of Point-of-Care CD4 Testing on Retention in Care Among HIV-Positive Pregnant and Breastfeeding Women in the Context of Option B+ in Zimbabwe: A Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2017 01;75 Suppl 2:S190–7.
- 389. Woelk GB, Ndatimana D, Behan S, Mukaminega M, Nyirabahizi E, Hoffman HJ, et al. Retention of mothers and infants in the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV programme is associated with individual and facility-level factors in Rwanda. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19(5 Suppl 4):20837.
- 390. Myer L, Phillips TK, Zerbe A, Ronan A, Hsiao N-Y, Mellins CA, et al. Optimizing Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) for Maternal and Child Health (MCH): Rationale and Design of the MCH-ART Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2016 01;72 Suppl 2:S189-196.

- 391. Kim MH, Ahmed S, Hosseinipour MC, Giordano TP, Chiao EY, Yu X, et al. Implementation and operational research: the impact of option B+ on the antenatal PMTCT cascade in Lilongwe, Malawi. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2015 Apr 15;68(5):e77-83.
- 392. Koole O, Houben RM, Mzembe T, Van Boeckel TP, Kayange M, Jahn A, et al. Improved retention of patients starting antiretroviral treatment in Karonga District, northern Malawi, 2005-2012. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2014 Sep 1;67(1):e27–33.
- 393. Kiweewa FM, Wabwire D, Nakibuuka J, Mubiru M, Bagenda D, Musoke P, et al. Noninferiority of a task-shifting HIV care and treatment model using peer counselors and nurses among Ugandan women initiated on ART: evidence from a randomized trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2013 Aug 1;63(4):e125-132.
- 394. Kabudula CW, Houle B, Collinson MA, Kahn K, Gómez-Olivé FX, Tollman S, et al. Socioeconomic differences in mortality in the antiretroviral therapy era in Agincourt, rural South Africa, 2001-13: a population surveillance analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(9):e924–35.
- 395. Kahn K, Tollman S, Collinson MA, Clark S, Twine R, Clark B, et al. Research into health, population and social transitions in rural South Africa: Data and methods of the Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System. Scand J Public Health Suppl. 2007 Aug;69:8–20.
- 396. Kahn K. Dying to make a fresh start: Mortality and health transition in a new South Africa [Doctoral]. Umea University; 2006. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0033350654801363
- 397. MRC/Wits-Agincourt Unit HDSS Fact Sheet 2019. 2019. Available from: https://www.agincourt.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/MRCWits-Agincourt-Unit-HDSS-Fact-Sheet-2019.pdf
- 398. Gómez-Olivé FX, Angotti N, Houle B, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Kabudula C, Menken J, et al. Prevalence of HIV among those 15 and older in rural South Africa. AIDS Care. 2013 Sep 1;25(9):1122–8.
- 399. Lippman SA, Pettifor A, Rebombo D, Julien A, Wagner RG, Kang Dufour M-S, et al. Evaluation of the Tsima community mobilization intervention to improve engagement in HIV testing and care in South Africa: study protocol for a cluster randomized trial. Implement Sci IS. 2017 Jan 17;12(1):9.
- 400. South Africa: National Department of Health. HIV & AIDS and STI Strategic plan for South Africa 2007-2011. 2007. Available from: https://data.unaids.org/pub/externaldocument/2007/20070604_sa_nsp_final_en.pd f
- 401. Simelela NP, Venter WDF. A brief history of South Africa's response to AIDS. SAMJ South Afr Med J. 2014 Mar;104(3):249–51.
- 402. South Africa: National Department of Health. National Consolidated Guidelines for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (PMTCT) and the Management of HIV in Children, Adolescents and Adults. 2015. Available from: https://www.health-e.org.za/2015/07/02/guidelines-national-consolidated-guidelines-for-pmtct-and-the-management-of-hiv-in-children-adolescents-and-adults/

- 403. Butler A. South Africa's HIV/AIDS policy, 1994–2004: How can it be explained? Afr Aff. 2005 Oct 1;104(417):591–614.
- 404. Gow JA. The adequacy of policy responses to the treatment needs of South Africans living with HIV (1999-2008): a case study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2009 Dec 14;12:37.
- 405. Mee P, Collinson MA, Madhavan S, Kabudula C, Gómez-Olivé FX, Kahn K, et al. Determinants of the risk of dying of HIV/AIDS in a rural South African community over the period of the decentralised roll-out of antiretroviral therapy: a longitudinal study. Glob Health Action. 2014;7:24826.
- 406. Schneider H. The emergence of a national community health worker programme in South Africa: Dimensions of governance and leadership [Doctoral]. University of Cape Town; 2017. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/reader/185411290
- 407. South Africa: National Department of Health. Re-engineering primary health care in South Africa: Discussion Document. 2010. Available from: https://www.scribd.com/document/99681034/Draft-2010-document-on-the-Reengineering-of-Primary-Health-Care-in-South-Africa
- 408. South Africa: National Department of Health. Provincial guidelines for the implementation of the three streams of PHC re-engineering.
- 409. Ramathuba DU, Mashau NS, Tugli A. Home-based carers' perceptions of health promotion on sexual health communication in Vhembe District. Curationis. 2015 May 5;38(1).
- 410. Mieh TM, Iwelunmor J, Airhihenbuwa CO. Home-based caregiving for people living with HIV/AIDS in South Africa. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2013 May;24(2):697–705.
- 411. Munshi S, Christofides NJ, Eyles J. Sub-national perspectives on the implementation of a national community health worker programme in Gauteng Province, South Africa. BMJ Glob Health. 2019 Nov 1;4(Suppl 10):e001564.
- 412. South Africa: National Department of Health. Adherence guidelines for HIV, TB and NCDs: Policy and service delivery guidelines for linkage to care, adherence to treatment and retention in care. 2016. Available from: http://www.differentiatedservicedelivery.org/Portals/0/adam/Content/3QvfVVZSK0G 1PlKvq1vTVw/File/15%202%2016%20AGL%20policy%20and%20service%20delivery %20guidelines.pdf
- 413. Tollman SM, Herbst K, Garenne M, Gear JS, Kahn K. The Agincourt demographic and health study--site description, baseline findings and implications. South Afr Med J Suid-Afr Tydskr Vir Geneeskd. 1999 Aug;89(8):858–64.
- 414. Tollman SM. The Agincourt field site--evolution and current status. South Afr Med J Suid-Afr Tydskr Vir Geneeskd. 1999 Aug;89(8):853–8.
- 415. WHO | ICD-10 online versions. WHO. World Health Organization. Available from: http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/icdonlineversions/en/
- 416. Kahn K, Tollman SM, Garenne M, Gear JSS. Validation and application of verbal autopsies in a rural area of South Africa. Trop Med Int Health. 2000 Nov 1;5(11):824–31.

- 417. Kabudula CW, Houle B, Collinson MA, Kahn K, Gómez-Olivé FX, Clark SJ, et al. Progression of the epidemiological transition in a rural South African setting: findings from population surveillance in Agincourt, 1993–2013. BMC Public Health. 2017 May 10;17(1):424.
- 418. StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC; 2017.
- 419. R Core Team. R: A language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2019. Available from: https://www.Rproject.org
- 420. ESRI. ArcMap Desktop. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute; 2015.
- 421. Gu Z, Gu L, Eils R, Schlesner M, Brors B. circlize Implements and enhances circular visualization in R. Bioinforma Oxf Engl. 2014 Oct;30(19):2811–2.
- 422. Wringe A, Renju J, Seeley J, Moshabela M, Skovdal M. Bottlenecks to HIV care and treatment in sub-Saharan Africa: a multi-country qualitative study. Sex Transm Infect. 2017 Jul;93(Suppl 3).
- 423. Tymejczyk O, Brazier E, Yiannoutsos CT, Vinikoor M, van Lettow M, Nalugoda F, et al. Changes in rapid HIV treatment initiation after national "treat all" policy adoption in 6 sub-Saharan African countries: Regression discontinuity analysis. PLoS Med. 2019;16(6):e1002822.
- 424. Ford N, Migone C, Calmy A, Kerschberger B, Kanters S, Nsanzimana S, et al. Benefits and risks of rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. AIDS Lond Engl. 2017 Nov 2;
- 425. Geng EH, Bangsberg DR, Musinguzi N, Emenyonu N, Bwana MB, Yiannoutsos CT, et al. Understanding reasons for and outcomes of patients lost to follow-up in antiretroviral therapy programs in Africa through a sampling-based approach. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2010 Mar;53(3):405–11.
- 426. Havlir D, SEARCH collaboration. SEARCH community cluster randomized study of HIV "test and treat" using multi- disease approach and streamlined care in rural Uganda and Kenya. In Amsterdam, Netherlands; 2018. Available from: https://programme.aids2018.org/Abstract/Abstract/13469
- 427. MacPherson P, Moshabela M, Martinson N, Pronyk P. Mortality and loss to follow-up among HAART initiators in rural South Africa. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2009 Jun 1;103(6):588–93.
- 428. Cornell M, Lessells R, Fox MP, Garone DB, Giddy J, Fenner L, et al. Mortality among adults transferred and lost to follow-up from antiretroviral therapy programmes in South Africa: a multicenter cohort study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2014 Oct 1;67(2):e67-75.
- 429. Lawn SD, Harries AD, Anglaret X, Myer L, Wood R. Early mortality among adults accessing antiretroviral treatment programmes in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Lond Engl. 2008 Oct 1;22(15).
- 430. Hogg RS, Yip B, Chan KJ, Wood E, Craib KJ, O'Shaughnessy MV, et al. Rates of disease progression by baseline CD4 cell count and viral load after initiating triple-drug therapy. JAMA. 2001 Nov 28;286(20):2568–77.

- 431. Garenne M, Kahn K, Collinson MA, Gómez-Olivé FX, Tollman S. Maternal mortality in rural South Africa: the impact of case definition on levels and trends. Int J Womens Health. 2013;5:457–63.
- 432. Garenne M, Kahn K, Collinson M, Gómez-Olivé X, Tollman S. Protective effect of pregnancy in rural South Africa: questioning the concept of "indirect cause" of maternal death. PloS One. 2013;8(5):e64414.
- 433. Heffron R, Donnell D, Kiarie J, Rees H, Ngure K, Mugo N, et al. A prospective study of the effect of pregnancy on CD4 counts and plasma HIV-1 RNA concentrations of antiretroviral-naive HIV-1 infected women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2014 Feb 1;65(2):231–6.
- 434. Meyer-Rath G, Johnson LF, Pillay Y, Blecher M, Brennan AT, Long L, et al. Changing the South African national antiretroviral therapy guidelines: The role of cost modelling. PLoS ONE. 2017 Oct 30;12(10).
- 435. South Africa: National Department of Health. National Consolidated Guidelines for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (PMTCT) and the management of HIV in children, adolescents and adults. 2015. Available from: https://www.scribd.com/doc/268965647/National-Consolidated-Guidelines-for-PMTCT-and-the-Management-of-HIV-in-Children-Adolescents-and-Adults
- 436. Cornell M, Schomaker M, Garone DB, Giddy J, Hoffmann CJ, Lessells R, et al. Gender differences in survival among adult patients starting antiretroviral therapy in South Africa: a multicentre cohort study. PLoS Med. 2012;9(9):e1001304.
- 437. Braitstein P, Boulle A, Nash D, Brinkhof MWG, Dabis F, Laurent C, et al. Gender and the use of antiretroviral treatment in resource-constrained settings: findings from a multicenter collaboration. J Womens Health 2002. 2008 Feb;17(1):47–55.
- 438. Stringer JSA, Zulu I, Levy J, Stringer EM, Mwango A, Chi BH, et al. Rapid scale-up of antiretroviral therapy at primary care sites in Zambia: feasibility and early outcomes. JAMA. 2006 Aug 16;296(7):782–93.
- 439. Mills EJ, Beyrer C, Birungi J, Dybul MR. Engaging Men in Prevention and Care for HIV/AIDS in Africa. PLoS Med. 2012 Feb 7;9(2).
- 440. Pulerwitz J, Michaelis A, Verma R, Weiss E. Addressing Gender Dynamics and Engaging Men in HIV Programs: Lessons Learned from Horizons Research. Public Health Rep. 2010;125(2):282–92.
- 441. Geng EH, Nash D, Kambugu A, Zhang Y, Braitstein P, Christopoulos KA, et al. Retention in Care among HIV-Infected Patients in Resource-Limited Settings: Emerging Insights and New Directions. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2010 Nov 1;7(4):234–44.
- 442. Nglazi MD, Kaplan R, Orrell C, Myer L, Wood R, Bekker L-G, et al. Increasing transfersout from an antiretroviral treatment service in South Africa: patient characteristics and rates of virological non-suppression. PloS One. 2013;8(3):e57907.
- 443. Wang B, Losina E, Stark R, Munro A, Walensky RP, Wilke M, et al. Loss to follow-up in a community clinic in South Africa--roles of gender, pregnancy and CD4 count. South Afr Med J Suid-Afr Tydskr Vir Geneeskd. 2011 Apr;101(4):253–7.
- 444. Ferguson L, Lewis J, Grant AD, Watson-Jones D, Vusha S, Ong'ech JO, et al. Patient attrition between diagnosis with HIV in pregnancy-related services and long-term HIV

care and treatment services in Kenya: a retrospective study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2012 Jul 1;60(3):e90-97.

- 445. Castro H, Pillay D, Sabin C, Dunn DT, UK Collaborative Group on HIV Drug Resistance. Effect of misclassification of antiretroviral treatment status on the prevalence of transmitted HIV-1 drug resistance. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2012 Mar 14;12:30.
- 446. Fox MP, Brennan A, Maskew M, MacPhail P, Sanne I. Using Vital Registration Data to Update Mortality among Patients Lost to Follow-up from ART Programs: Evidence from the Themba Lethu Clinic, South Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2010 Apr;15(4):405–13.
- 447. Van Cutsem G, Ford N, Hildebrand K, Goemaere E, Mathee S, Abrahams M, et al. Correcting for Mortality Among Patients Lost to Follow Up on Antiretroviral Therapy in South Africa: A Cohort Analysis. PLoS ONE. 2011 Feb 17;6(2).
- 448. WHO | Data and statistics. WHO. Available from: http://www.who.int/hiv/data/en/
- 449. Bor J, Herbst AJ, Newell M-L, Bärnighausen T. Increases in adult life expectancy in rural South Africa: valuing the scale-up of HIV treatment. Science. 2013 Feb 22;339(6122):961–5.
- 450. Mutevedzi PC, Lessells RJ, Newell M-L. Disengagement from care in a decentralised primary health care antiretroviral treatment programme: cohort study in rural South Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2013 Aug;18(8):934–41.
- 451. Koole O, Kalenga L, Kiumbu M, Menten J, Ryder RW, Mukumbi H, et al. Retention in a NGO supported antiretroviral program in the Democratic Republic of Congo. PloS One. 2012;7(7):e40971.
- 452. Johnson LF, Estill J, Keiser O, Cornell M, Moolla H, Schomaker M, et al. Do Increasing Rates of Loss to Follow-up in Antiretroviral Treatment Programs Imply Deteriorating Patient Retention? Am J Epidemiol. 2014 Dec 15;180(12):1208–12.
- 453. Kerschberger B, Schomaker M, Ciglenecki I, Pasipamire L, Mabhena E, Telnov A, et al. Programmatic outcomes and impact of rapid public sector antiretroviral therapy expansion in adults prior to introduction of the WHO treat-all approach in rural Eswatini. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2019 Jun; 24(6): 701–714.
- 454. Kaplan S, Nteso KS, Ford N, Boulle A, Meintjes G. Loss to follow-up from antiretroviral therapy clinics: A systematic review and meta-analysis of published studies in South Africa from 2011 to 2015. South Afr J HIV Med. 2019;20(1):984.
- 455. Ananworanich J, Gayet-Ageron A, Le Braz M, Prasithsirikul W, Chetchotisakd P, Kiertiburanakul S, et al. CD4-guided scheduled treatment interruptions compared with continuous therapy for patients infected with HIV-1: results of the Staccato randomised trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2006 Aug 5;368(9534):459–65.
- 456. Hoffman RM, Black V, Technau K, van der Merwe KJ, Currier J, Coovadia A, et al. Effects of highly active antiretroviral therapy duration and regimen on risk for motherto-child transmission of HIV in Johannesburg, South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2010 May 1;54(1):35–41.

- 457. Eyawo O, de Walque D, Ford N, Gakii G, Lester RT, Mills EJ. HIV status in discordant couples in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2010 Nov;10(11):770–7.
- 458. Welaga P, Hosegood V, Weiner R, Hill C, Herbst K, Newell M-L. Coming home to die? The association between migration and mortality in rural South Africa. BMC Public Health. 2009 Jun 18;9:193.
- 459. Clark SJ, Collinson MA, Kahn K, Drullinger K, Tollman SM. Returning home to die: Circular labour migration and mortality in South Africa 1. Scand J Public Health. 2007 Aug 1;35(69_suppl):35–44.
- 460. Levira F, Todd J, Masanja H. Coming home to die? The association between migration and mortality in rural Tanzania before and after ART scale-up. Glob Health Action. 2014;7:22956.
- 461. Leonard KL. Active patients in rural African health care: implications for research and policy. Health Policy Plan. 2014 Jan 1;29(1):85–95.
- 462. Ginsburg C, Bocquier P, Béguy D, Afolabi S, Augusto O, Derra K, et al. Healthy or unhealthy migrants? Identifying internal migration effects on mortality in Africa using health and demographic surveillance systems of the INDEPTH network. Soc Sci Med 1982. 2016;164:59–73.
- 463. Anglewicz P, VanLandingham M, Manda-Taylor L, Kohler H-P. Health Selection, Migration, and HIV Infection in Malawi. Demography. 2018 Jun;55(3):979–1007.
- 464. Lurie MN, Williams BG, Zuma K, Mkaya-Mwamburi D, Garnett GP, Sweat MD, et al. Who infects whom? HIV-1 concordance and discordance among migrant and nonmigrant couples in South Africa. AIDS Lond Engl. 2003 Oct 17;17(15):2245–52.
- 465. Lurie MN, Williams BG, Zuma K, Mkaya-Mwamburi D, Garnett G, Sturm AW, et al. The impact of migration on HIV-1 transmission in South Africa: a study of migrant and nonmigrant men and their partners. Sex Transm Dis. 2003 Feb;30(2):149–56.
- 466. Colebunders R, Kenyon C. Behaviour, not mobility, is a risk factor for HIV. Lancet HIV. 2015 Jun;2(6):e223-224.
- 467. Andrews JR, Wood R, Bekker L-G, Middelkoop K, Walensky RP. Projecting the benefits of antiretroviral therapy for HIV prevention: the impact of population mobility and linkage to care. J Infect Dis. 2012 Aug 15;206(4):543–51.
- 468. HIV statistics for South Africa | Prevalence, incidence, ARVs, deaths. TB Facts | TB, tests, drugs, statistics. Available from: https://www.tbfacts.org/hiv-statistics-south-africa/
- 469. Kabudula CW, Houle B, Collinson MA, Kahn K, Tollman S, Clark S. Assessing Changes in Household Socioeconomic Status in Rural South Africa, 2001–2013: A Distributional Analysis Using Household Asset Indicators. Soc Indic Res. 2016 Jun 28;1–27.
- 470. Tollman S, Kahn K. Report on the meeting 'Strengthening ties: the Agincourt field site in its African context.' Trop Med Int Health. 1997;2(9):920–3.
- 471. Data Collection MRC/Wits Agincourt Unit. Available from: https://www.agincourt.co.za/?page_id=1805

- 472. Posel D. Households and labour migration in post-apartheid South Africa. Stud Econ Econom. 2010 Jan 1;34(3):129–41.
- 473. Whyte SR. Going Home? Belonging and Burial in the Era of AIDS. Africa. 2005 May;75(2):154–72.
- 474. Dixon S, McDonald S, Roberts J. The impact of HIV and AIDS on Africa's economic development. BMJ. 2002 Jan 26;324(7331):232–4.
- 475. Roy M, Bolton Moore C, Sikazwe I, Holmes CB. A Review of Differentiated Service Delivery for HIV Treatment: Effectiveness, Mechanisms, Targeting, and Scale. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2019 Aug 1;16(4):324–34.
- 476. Bristowe K, Clift P, James R, Josh J, Platt M, Whetham J, et al. Towards personcentred care for people living with HIV: what core outcomes matter, and how might we assess them? A cross-national multi-centre qualitative study with key stakeholders. HIV Med. 2019;20(8):542–54.
- 477. Hickey MD, Omollo D, Salmen CR, Mattah B, Blat C, Ouma GB, et al. Movement between facilities for HIV care among a mobile population in Kenya: transfer, loss to follow-up, and reengagement. AIDS Care. 2016 Nov;28(11):1386–93.
- 478. Tanser F, Barnighausen T, Grapsa E, Zaidi J, Newell M-L. High Coverage of ART Associated with Decline in Risk of HIV Acquisition in Rural KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Science. 2013 Feb 22;339(6122):966–71.
- 479. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. Fast-Track: ending the AIDS epidemic by 2030. 2014. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/JC2686_WAD2014report_en. pdf
- 480. Rabkin M, El-Sadr WM, De Cock KM, Bellagio HIV/Health Systems Working Group1. The impact of HIV scale-up on health systems: A priority research agenda. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2009 Nov;52 Suppl 1:S6-11.
- 481. Nash D, Elul B, Rabkin M, Tun M, Saito S, Becker M, et al. Strategies for more effective monitoring and evaluation systems in HIV programmatic scale-up in resource-limited settings: Implications for health systems strengthening. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2009 Nov;52 Suppl 1:S58-62.
- 482. Mate KS, Bennett B, Mphatswe W, Barker P, Rollins N. Challenges for routine health system data management in a large public programme to prevent mother-to-child HIV transmission in South Africa. PloS One. 2009;4(5):e5483.
- 483. Maher D. The power of health information--the use of cohort monitoring in managing patients with chronic non-communicable diseases. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2012 Dec;17(12):1567–8.
- 484. Geng EH, Odeny TA, Lyamuya R, Nakiwogga-Muwanga A, Diero L, Bwana M, et al. Retention in Care and Patient-Reported Reasons for Undocumented Transfer or Stopping Care Among HIV-Infected Patients on Antiretroviral Therapy in Eastern Africa: Application of a Sampling-Based Approach. Clin Infect Dis. 2016 Apr 1;62(7):935–44.
- 485. Tassie J-M, Malateste K, Pujades-Rodríguez M, Poulet E, Bennett D, Harries A, et al. Evaluation of three sampling methods to monitor outcomes of antiretroviral treatment

programmes in low- and middle-income countries. PloS One. 2010 Nov 10;5(11):e13899.

- 486. Navario P. PEPFAR's biggest success is also its largest liability. The Lancet. 2009 Jul 18;374(9685):184–5.
- 487. Forster M, Bailey C, Brinkhof MWG, Graber C, Boulle A, Spohr M, et al. Electronic medical record systems, data quality and loss to follow-up: survey of antiretroviral therapy programmes in resource-limited settings. Bull World Health Organ. 2008 Dec;86(12):939–47.
- 488. WHO. A universal truth: No health without a workforce. 2014. Available from: http://www.who.int/workforcealliance/knowledge/resources/GHWAa_universal_truth_report.pdf
- 489. Hoyler M, Finlayson SRG, McClain CD, Meara JG, Hagander L. Shortage of doctors, shortage of data: a review of the global surgery, obstetrics, and anesthesia workforce literature. World J Surg. 2014 Feb;38(2):269–80.
- 490. Okyere E, Mwanri L, Ward P. Is task-shifting a solution to the health workers' shortage in Northern Ghana? PLoS ONE. 2017 Mar 30;12(3).
- 491. Sprague C, Chersich MF, Black V. Health system weaknesses constrain access to PMTCT and maternal HIV services in South Africa: a qualitative enquiry. AIDS Res Ther. 2011 Mar 3;8:10.
- 492. Katurura MC, Cilliers L. Electronic health record system in the public health care sector of South Africa: A systematic literature review. Afr J Prim Health Care Fam Med. 2018 Nov 20;10(1).
- 493. UCT team's HIV-monitoring software exported. Available from: http://www.news.uct.ac.za/article/-2014-09-22-uct-teams-hiv-monitoring-softwareexported
- 494. Mafika. SA team develops HIV monitoring tool. Brand South Africa. 2014. Available from: https://www.brandsouthafrica.com/investments-immigration/science-technology/hiv-register-290914
- 495. Skiti V. Qualitative Assessment of the utilisation of Tier.Net health information among facility and programme managers in Ekurhuleni District, Gauteng. 2017. Available from: http://etd.uwc.ac.za/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11394/5942/Skiti%20ecos.pdf?sequence =1
- 496. Strategies for Management of Antiretroviral Therapy (SMART) Study Group, El-Sadr WM, Lundgren JD, Neaton JD, Gordin F, Abrams D, et al. CD4+ count-guided interruption of antiretroviral treatment. N Engl J Med. 2006 Nov 30;355(22):2283–96.
- 497. Kristman V, Manno M, Côté P. Loss to follow-up in cohort studies: how much is too much? Eur J Epidemiol. 2004;19(8):751–60.
- 498. Stover J. AIM: A Computer Program for Making HIV/AIDS Projections and Examining the Demographic and Social Impacts of AIDS. USAID; 2007. Available from: http://data.unaids.org/pub/manual/2007/aim_manual_2007_en.pdf

- 499. Ghys PD, Brown T, Grassly NC, Garnett G, Stanecki KA, Stover J, et al. The UNAIDS Estimation and Projection Package: a software package to estimate and project national HIV epidemics. Sex Transm Infect. 2004 Aug 1;80(suppl 1):i5–9.
- 500. Stover J. Projecting the demographic consequences of adult HIV prevalence trends: the Spectrum Projection Package. Sex Transm Infect. 2004 Aug 1;80(suppl 1):i14–8.
- 501. Statistics South Africa. Mortality and causes of death in South Africa, 2016: Findings from death notification. 2018. Available from: http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P03093/P030932016.pdf
- 502. Ware NC, Wyatt MA, Geng EH, Kaaya SF, Agbaji OO, Muyindike WR, et al. Toward an understanding of disengagement from HIV treatment and care in sub-Saharan Africa: a qualitative study. PLoS Med. 2013;10(1):e1001369; discussion e1001369.
- 503. Giving stable HIV treatment patients a 3-month prescription refill of ARV drugs at one time reduces the need for frequent trips to the clinic. Clinton Health Access Initiative. 2017. Available from: https://clintonhealthaccess.org/giving-stable-hiv-treatment-patients-3-month-prescription-refill-arv-drugs-one-time-reduces-need-frequent-trips-clinic/
- 504. Center for Infectious Diseases Epidemiology and Research. Tier.Net: HIV Electronic Register User Guide. University of Cape Town; 2011.
- 505. Osler M, Boulle A. Three Interlinked Electronic Registers (TIER.Net) Project. 2010. Available from: http://www.publichealth.uct.ac.za/sites/default/files/image_tool/images/108/TIER.N et%20%5B03%20Nov%202010%5D.pdf
- 506. Donnell D, Baeten JM, Kiarie J, Thomas KK, Stevens W, Cohen CR, et al. Heterosexual HIV-1 transmission after initiation of antiretroviral therapy: a prospective cohort analysis. Lancet Lond Engl. 2010 Jun 12;375(9731):2092–8.
- 507. Violari A, Cotton MF, Gibb DM, Babiker AG, Steyn J, Madhi SA, et al. Early antiretroviral therapy and mortality among HIV-infected infants. N Engl J Med. 2008 Nov 20;359(21):2233–44.
- 508. Buregyeya E, Naigino R, Mukose A, Makumbi F, Esiru G, Arinaitwe J, et al. Facilitators and barriers to uptake and adherence to lifelong antiretroviral therapy among HIV infected pregnant women in Uganda: a qualitative study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017 Mar 21;17(1):94.
- 509. Sibanda EL, Weller IVD, Hakim JG, Cowan FM. The magnitude of loss to follow-up of HIV-exposed infants along the prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission continuum of care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS Lond Engl. 2013 Nov 13;27(17):2787–97.
- 510. Ciampa PJ, Burlison JR, Blevins M, Sidat M, Moon TD, Rothman RL, et al. Improving retention in the early infant diagnosis of HIV program in rural Mozambique by better service integration. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2011 Sep 1;58(1):115–9.
- 511. Cook RE, Ciampa PJ, Sidat M, Blevins M, Burlison J, Davidson MA, et al. Predictors of successful early infant diagnosis of HIV in a rural district hospital in Zambézia, Mozambique. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2011 Apr;56(4):e104–9.

- 512. Braitstein P, Songok J, Vreeman R, Wools-Kaloustian K, Koskei P, Walusuna L, et al. 'Wamepotea' (They have become lost): Outcomes of HIV-positive and HIV-exposed children lost to follow-up from a large HIV treatment program in western Kenya. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2011 Jul 1;57(3):e40–6.
- 513. Nuwagaba-Biribonwoha H, Jakubowski A, Mugisha V, Basinga P, Asiimwe A, Nash D, et al. Low risk of attrition among adults on antiretroviral therapy in the Rwandan national program: a retrospective cohort analysis of 6, 12, and 18 month outcomes. BMC Public Health. 2014 Aug 29;14:889.
- 514. Lazarus R, Struthers H, Violari A. Hopes, fears, knowledge and misunderstandings: responses of HIV-positive mothers to early knowledge of the status of their baby. AIDS Care. 2009 Mar;21(3):329–34.
- 515. Jennings L, Yebadokpo AS, Affo J, Agbogbe M, Tankoano A. Task shifting in maternal and newborn care: a non-inferiority study examining delegation of antenatal counseling to lay nurse aides supported by job aids in Benin. Implement Sci IS. 2011 Jan 6;6:2.
- 516. Wringe A, Moshabela M, Nyamukapa C, Bukenya D, Ondenge K, Ddaaki W, et al. HIV testing experiences and their implications for patient engagement with HIV care and treatment on the eve of "test and treat": findings from a multicountry qualitative study. Sex Transm Infect. 2017;93(Suppl 3).
- 517. Wamoyi J, Renju J, Moshabela M, McLean E, Nyato D, Mbata D, et al. Understanding the relationship between couple dynamics and engagement with HIV care services: insights from a qualitative study in Eastern and Southern Africa. Sex Transm Infect. 2017;93(Suppl 3).
- 518. Vale B, Hodes R, Cluver L, Thabeng M. Bureaucracies of Blood and Belonging: Documents, HIV-positive Youth and the State in South Africa. Dev Change. 2017;48(6):1287–309.
- 519. South Africa: National Department of Health. National HIV testing services: Policy. 2016. Available from: https://sahivsoc.org/Files/HTS%20Policy%2028%20July%20final%20copy.pdf
- 520. Ministry of Health, The United Republic of Tanzania. National guidelines for the management of HIV and AIDS. 2017. Available from: www.nacp.go.tz/site/download/NATIONAL_DECEMBER_2017.pdf
- 521. Drake AL, Wagner A, Richardson B, John-Stewart G. Incident HIV during Pregnancy and Postpartum and Risk of Mother-to-Child HIV Transmission: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS Med. 2014 Feb 25;11(2).
- 522. Somi G, Keogh SC, Todd J, Kilama B, Wringe A, van den Hombergh J, et al. Low mortality risk but high loss to follow-up among patients in the Tanzanian national HIV care and treatment programme. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2012 Apr;17(4):497–506.
- 523. Stover J, Brown T, Marston M. Updates to the Spectrum/Estimation and Projection Package (EPP) model to estimate HIV trends for adults and children. Sex Transm Infect. 2012 Dec 1;88(Suppl 2):i11–6.
- 524. Gwynn RC, Fawzy A, Viho I, Wu Y, Abrams EJ, Nash D. Risk factors for loss to followup prior to ART initiation among patients enrolling in HIV care with CD4+ cell count ≥200 cells/µL in the multi-country MTCT-Plus Initiative. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015 Jun 25;15(1):247.

- 525. Jeffrey Edwards R, Lyons N, Bhatt C, Samaroo-Francis W, Hinds A, Cyrus E. Implementation and outcomes of a patient tracing programme for HIV in Trinidad and Tobago. Glob Public Health. 2019 Jun 6;1–9.
- 526. Bershetyn A, Odeny TA, Lyamuya R, Nakiwogga-Muwanga A, Diero L, Bwana M, et al. The Causal Effect of Tracing by Peer Health Workers on Return to Clinic Among Patients Who Were Lost to Follow-up From Antiretroviral Therapy in Eastern Africa: A "Natural Experiment" Arising From Surveillance of Lost Patients. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2017 Jun 1;64(11):1547–54.
- 527. Lamb MR, El-Sadr WM, Geng E, Nash D. Association of Adherence Support and Outreach Services with Total Attrition, Loss to Follow-Up, and Death among ART Patients in Sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS ONE. 2012 Jun 7;7(6).
- 528. Ramadhani HO, Thielman NM, Landman KZ, Ndosi EM, Gao F, Kirchherr JL, et al. Predictors of Incomplete Adherence, Virologic Failure, and Antiviral Drug Resistance among HIV-Infected Adults Receiving Antiretroviral Therapy in Tanzania. Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Dec 1;45(11):1492–8.
- 529. Ahoua L, Guenther G, Pinoges L, Anguzu P, Chaix M-L, Le Tiec C, et al. Risk factors for virological failure and subtherapeutic antiretroviral drug concentrations in HIV-positive adults treated in rural northwestern Uganda. BMC Infect Dis. 2009 Jun 3;9(1):81.
- 530. Bond VA. "It is not an easy decision on HIV, especially in Zambia": opting for silence, limited disclosure and implicit understanding to retain a wider identity. AIDS Care. 2010;22 Suppl 1:6–13.
- 531. Gilbert L, Walker L. "My biggest fear was that people would reject me once they knew my status...": stigma as experienced by patients in an HIV/AIDS clinic in Johannesburg, South Africa. Health Soc Care Community. 2010 Mar;18(2):139–46.
- 532. Maeri I, El Ayadi A, Getahun M, Charlebois E, Akatukwasa C, Tumwebaze D, et al. "How can I tell?" Consequences of HIV status disclosure among couples in eastern African communities in the context of an ongoing HIV "test-and-treat" trial. AIDS Care. 2016;28 Suppl 3:59–66.
- 533. Marchal B, Kegels G, De Brouwere V. Human resources in scaling up HIV/AIDS programmes: just a killer assumption or in need of new paradigms? AIDS Lond Engl. 2004 Oct 21;18(15):2103–5.
- 534. Van Damme W, Kober K, Laga M. The real challenges for scaling up ART in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Lond Engl. 2006 Mar 21;20(5):653–6.
- 535. Jaffar S, Govender T, Garrib A, Welz T, Grosskurth H, Smith PG, et al. Antiretroviral treatment in resource-poor settings: public health research priorities. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2005 Apr;10(4):295–9.
- 536. Wringe A, Cataldo F, Stevenson N, Fakoya A. Delivering comprehensive home-based care programmes for HIV: a review of lessons learned and challenges ahead in the era of antiretroviral therapy. Health Policy Plan. 2010 Sep 1;25(5):352–62.
- 537. Johnson BA, Khanna SK. Community health workers and home-based care programs for HIV clients. J Natl Med Assoc. 2004 Apr;96(4):496–502.

- 538. Walt G. CHWs: are national programmes in crisis? Health Policy Plan. 1988 Mar 1;3(1):1–21.
- 539. O'Grady M, Njaramba P, Sebastian B, Ching'andu A, Oti S, Selvaggio MP, et al. OVC Programmes in South Africa Funded by the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief. Summary Report for 32 Case Studies. 2008. Available from: https://www.measureevaluation.org/our-work/ovc/ovc-program-case-studies/ovccase-studies-sa/Summary-SR0842-SUM.pdf/at_download/file
- 540. Hadley M, Maher D. Community involvement in tuberculosis control: lessons from other health care programmes. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis Off J Int Union Tuberc Lung Dis. 2000 May;4(5):401–8.
- 541. Uys LR. The practice of community caregivers in a home-based HIV/AIDS project in South Africa. J Clin Nurs. 2002 Jan;11(1):99–108.
- 542. Sakyi KS, Lartey MY, Kennedy CE, Dension JA, Mullany LC, Owusu PG, et al. Barriers to maternal retention in HIV care in Ghana: key differences during pregnancy and the postpartum period. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2020 Jul 17;20(1):398.
- 543. Clouse K, Pettifor A, Maskew M, Bassett J, Van Rie A, Gay C, et al. Initiating antiretroviral therapy when presenting with higher CD4 cell counts results in reduced loss to follow-up in a resource-limited setting. AIDS Lond Engl. 2013 Feb 20;27(4):645–50.
- 544. Yu JK-L, Chen SC-C, Wang K-Y, Chang C-S, Makombe SD, Schouten EJ, et al. True outcomes for patients on antiretroviral therapy who are "lost to follow-up" in Malawi. Bull World Health Organ. 2007 Jul;85(7):550–4.
- 545. Camlin CS, Charlebois ED. Mobility and its Effects on HIV Acquisition and Treatment Engagement: Recent Theoretical and Empirical Advances. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2019 Aug 1;16(4):314–23.
- 546. Sibanda EL, Webb K, Fahey CA, Kang Dufour M, McCoy SI, Watadzaushe C, et al. Use of data from various sources to evaluate and improve the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV programme in Zimbabwe: a data integration exercise. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020 Jun 30;23(Suppl 3).
- 547. Knettel BA, Minja L, Chumba LN, Oshosen M, Cichowitz C, Mmbaga BT, et al. Serostatus disclosure among a cohort of HIV-infected pregnant women enrolled in HIV care in Moshi, Tanzania: A mixed-methods study. SSM - Popul Health. 2018 Nov 15;7.
- 548. Gueye SB, Diop-Ndiaye H, Diouf O, Sow-Ndoye A, Touré F, Ngom-Faye NF, et al. Effectiveness of the prevention of HIV mother -to-child transmission (PMTCT) program via early infant diagnosis (EID) data in Senegal. PLOS ONE. 2019 May 21;14(5):e0215941.
- 549. Grimsrud A, Cornell M, Schomaker M, Fox MP, Orrell C, Prozesky H, et al. CD4 count at antiretroviral therapy initiation and the risk of loss to follow-up: results from a multicentre cohort study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2016;70(6):549–55.
- 550. Kamuya DM, Theobald SJ, Marsh V, Parker M, Geissler WP, Molyneux SC. "The One Who Chases You Away Does Not Tell You Go": Silent Refusals and Complex Power Relations in Research Consent Processes in Coastal Kenya. PLOS ONE. 2015 May 15;10(5):e0126671.

- 551. Gilks CF, Crowley S, Ekpini R, Gove S, Perriens J, Souteyrand Y, et al. The WHO publichealth approach to antiretroviral treatment against HIV in resource-limited settings. The Lancet. 2006 Aug 5;368(9534):505–10.
- 552. Kenya: leadership and innovation for results in eliminating mother-to-child transmission of HIV. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2018/july/kenya-eliminating-mother-to-child-transmission-of-hiv
- 553. Rice B, Boulle A, Schwarcz S, Shroufi A, Rutherford G, Hargreaves J. The Continuing Value of CD4 Cell Count Monitoring for Differential HIV Care and Surveillance. JMIR Public Health Surveill. 2019 Mar 20;5(1):e11136.
- 554. Evans DH, Fox MP, Maskew M, McNamara L, MacPhail P, Mathews C, et al. CD4 criteria improves the sensitivity of a clinical algorithm developed to identify viral failure in HIV-positive patients on antiretroviral therapy. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014 Sep 15;17(1).
- 555. Renju J, Rice B, Songo J, Hassan F, Chimukuche RS, McLean E, et al. Influence of evolving HIV treatment guidance on CD4 counts and viral load monitoring: A mixed-methods study in three African countries. Glob Public Health. 2020 Aug 20;0(0):1–17.
- 556. Mben J-M, Kouanfack C, Essomba CN, Mbougua JBT, Kenfack A, Tonfack CAD, et al. Operational research and HIV policy and guidelines: lessons from a study of patients lost to follow-up from a public antiretroviral treatment program in Cameroon. J Public Health Policy. 2012 Nov;33(4):462–77.
- 557. Miller CM, Ketlhapile M, Rybasack-Smith H, Rosen S. Why are antiretroviral treatment patients lost to follow-up? A qualitative study from South Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2010 Jun;15 Suppl 1:48–54.
- 558. Wubshet M, Berhane Y, Worku A, Kebede Y. Death and seeking alternative therapy largely accounted for lost to follow-up of patients on ART in northwest Ethiopia: a community tracking survey. PloS One. 2013;8(3):e59197.
- 559. Geldsetzer P, Yapa HMN, Vaikath M, Ogbuoji O, Fox MP, Essajee SM, et al. A systematic review of interventions to improve postpartum retention of women in PMTCT and ART care. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016 Apr 25;19(1).
- 560. Ford N, Mills EJ. Simplified ART Delivery Models Are Needed for the Next Phase of Scale Up. PLoS Med. 2011 Jul 19;8(7).
- 561. Seeley J. HIV and East Africa : Thirty Years in the Shadow of an Epidemic. Routledge; 2015.
- 562. Mpinganjira S, Tchereni T, Gunda A, Mwapasa V. Factors associated with loss-tofollow-up of HIV-positive mothers and their infants enrolled in HIV care clinic: A qualitative study. BMC Public Health. 2020 Mar 6;20.
- 563. Church K. Meeting the sexual and reproductive health needs of HIV care and treatment clients in Swaziland: A comparative case study of integrated and stand-alone models of care [Doctoral]. London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine; 2011. Available from: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.01277100
- 564. Grimsrud A, Patten G, Sharp J, Myer L, Wilkinson L, Bekker L-G. Extending dispensing intervals for stable patients on ART. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2014 Jun 1;66(2):e58-60.

- 565. Danel C, Moh R, Minga A, Anzian A, Ba-Gomis O, Kanga C, et al. CD4-guided structured antiretroviral treatment interruption strategy in HIV-infected adults in west Africa (Trivacan ANRS 1269 trial): a randomised trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2006 Jun 17;367(9527):1981–9.
- 566. Minniear TD, Girde S, Angira F, Mills LA, Zeh C, Peters PJ, et al. Outcomes in a cohort of women who discontinued maternal triple-antiretroviral regimens initially used to prevent mother-to-child transmission during pregnancy and breastfeeding--Kenya, 2003-2009. PloS One. 2014;9(4):e93556.
- 567. Woldesenbet SA, Jackson D, Goga AE, Crowley S, Doherty T, Mogashoa MM, et al. Missed opportunities for early infant HIV diagnosis: results of a national study in South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2015 Mar 1;68(3):e26-32.
- 568. Bemelmans M, Baert S, Goemaere E, Wilkinson L, Vandendyck M, Cutsem G van, et al. Community-supported models of care for people on HIV treatment in sub-Saharan Africa. Trop Med Int Health. 2014;19(8):968–77.
- 569. Decroo T, Telfer B, Biot M, Maïkéré J, Dezembro S, Cumba LI, et al. Distribution of Antiretroviral Treatment Through Self-Forming Groups of Patients in Tete Province, Mozambique. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2011 Feb 1;56(2):e39.
- 570. Harries AD, Zachariah R, Lawn SD, Rosen S. Strategies to improve patient retention on antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2010 Jun;15 Suppl 1:70–5.
- 571. Fox MP, Larson B, Rosen S. Defining retention and attrition in pre-antiretroviral HIV care: proposals based on experience in Africa. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2012 Oct;17(10):1235–44.
- 572. McGuire M, Munyenyembe T, Szumilin E, Heinzelmann A, Le Paih M, Bouithy N, et al. Vital status of pre-ART and ART patients defaulting from care in rural Malawi. Trop Med Int Health TM IH. 2010 Jun;15 Suppl 1:55–62.
- 573. Cassol S, Salas T, Gill MJ, Montpetit M, Rudnik J, Sy CT, et al. Stability of dried blood spot specimens for detection of human immunodeficiency virus DNA by polymerase chain reaction. J Clin Microbiol. 1992 Dec 1;30(12):3039–42.
- 574. Landes M, van Lettow M, Nkhoma E, Tippett Barr B, Truwah Z, Shouten E, et al. Low detectable postpartum viral load is associated with HIV transmission in Malawi's prevention of mother-to-child transmission programme. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22(6):e25290.
- 575. Phiri NA, Lee H-Y, Chilenga L, Mtika C, Sinyiza F, Musopole O, et al. Early infant diagnosis and outcomes in HIV-exposed infants at a central and a district hospital, Northern Malawi. Public Health Action. 2017 Jun 21;7(2):83–9.
- 576. Mwenda R, Fong Y, Magombo T, Saka E, Midian D, Mwase C, et al. Significant Patient Impact Observed Upon Implementation of Point-Of-Care Early Infant Diagnosis Technologies in an Observational Study in Malawi. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2018 Feb 27;
- 577. Mutanga JN, Raymond J, Towle MS, Mutembo S, Fubisha RC, Lule F, et al. Institutionalizing provider-initiated HIV testing and counselling for children: an observational case study from Zambia. PloS One. 2012;7(4):e29656.

- 578. McCollum ED, Preidis GA, Kabue MM, Singogo EBM, Mwansambo C, Kazembe PN, et al. Task Shifting Routine Inpatient Pediatric HIV Testing Improves Program Outcomes in Urban Malawi: A Retrospective Observational Study. PLoS ONE. 2010 Mar 10;5(3).
- 579. Kankasa C, Carter RJ, Briggs N, Bulterys M, Chama E, Cooper ER, et al. Routine offering of HIV testing to hospitalized pediatric patients at university teaching hospital, Lusaka, Zambia: acceptability and feasibility. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2009 Jun 1;51(2):202–8.
- 580. Ahmed S, Kim MH, Sugandhi N, Phelps BR, Sabelli R, Diallo MO, et al. Beyond early infant diagnosis: case finding strategies for identification of HIV-infected infants and children. AIDS Lond Engl. 2013 Nov;27(0 2):S235–45.
- 581. Gourlay A, Wringe A, Todd J, Cawley C, Michael D, Machemba R, et al. Factors associated with uptake of services to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV in a community cohort in rural Tanzania. Sex Transm Infect. 2015 Nov;91(7):520–7.
- 582. WHO. Technical Consultation on the Integration of HIV Interventions into Maternal, Newborn and Child Health Services. 2006. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/69767/WHO_MPS_08.05_eng.pdf ?sequence=1
- 583. Kiragu K, Collins L, Von Zinkernagel D, Mushavi A. Integrating PMTCT Into Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health and Related Services: Experiences From the Global Plan Priority Countries. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017 May 1;75:S36.
- 584. Karim QA, Karim SSA. COVID-19 affects HIV and tuberculosis care. Science. 2020 Jul 24;369(6502):366–8.
- 585. Giles PM and C. How vulnerable are health workers in Nigeria? BBC News. 2020 Jun 17; Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-53013413
- 586. Sierra Leone doctors treating COVID-19 patients launch strike. Available from: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/07/sierra-leone-doctors-treating-covid-19patients-launch-strike-200703054749666.html
- 587. Africa: Covid-19 Exposes Healthcare Shortfalls. Human Rights Watch. 2020. Available from: https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/06/08/africa-covid-19-exposes-healthcare-shortfalls
- 588. Jewell BL, Mudimu E, Stover J, ten Brink D, Phillips AN, Smith JA, et al. Potential effects of disruption to HIV programmes in sub-Saharan Africa caused by COVID-19: results from multiple mathematical models. Lancet HIV. 2020 Aug;S2352301820302113.
- 589. Lesosky M, Myer L. Modelling the impact of COVID-19 on HIV. Lancet HIV. 2020 Aug 6;0(0).
- 590. Bengtsson L, Lu X, Thorson A, Garfield R, von Schreeb J. Improved response to disasters and outbreaks by tracking population movements with mobile phone network data: a post-earthquake geospatial study in Haiti. PLoS Med. 2011 Aug;8(8):e1001083.
- 591. Buckee CO, Wesolowski A, Eagle NN, Hansen E, Snow RW. Mobile phones and malaria: modeling human and parasite travel. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2013 Feb;11(1):15–22.

- 592. Garenne M. Causes of death in a rural area of South Africa: an international perspective. J Trop Pediatr. 2000 Jun 1;46(3):183–90.
- 593. Tweya H, Oboho IK, Gugsa ST, Phiri S, Rambiki E, Banda R, et al. Loss to follow-up before and after initiation of antiretroviral therapy in HIV facilities in Lilongwe, Malawi. PLOS ONE. 2018 Jan 26;13(1):e0188488.
- 594. Rosen S, Fox MP. Retention in HIV care between testing and treatment in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. PLoS Med. 2011 Jul;8(7):e1001056.
- 595. Rahman MS. The Advantages and Disadvantages of Using Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches and Methods in Language "Testing and Assessment" Research: A Literature Review. J Educ Learn. 2016 Nov 10;6(1):102.
- 596. Koen J, Wassenaar D, Mamotte N. The 'over-researched community': An ethics analysis of stakeholder views at two South African HIV prevention research sites. Soc Sci Med. 2017 Dec;194:1–9.
- 597. Sukarieh M, Tannock S. On the Problem of Over-researched Communities: The Case of the Shatila Palestinian Refugee Camp in Lebanon. Sociology. 2013 Jun;47(3):494–508.
- 598. Clark T. `We're Over-Researched Here!': Exploring Accounts of Research Fatigue within Qualitative Research Engagements. Sociology. 2008 Oct;42(5):953–70.

11. Appendices

11.1. Conference presentations and posters

- 11.1.1. African Population Conference presentation slides
- 11.1.2. ICASA conference poster
- 11.1.3. IWHOD conference poster (Tracing outcomes)
- 11.1.4. IWHOD conference poster (Re-engagement)
- 11.1.5. AIDS 2018 conference poster

11.2. Ethical clearance certificates

- 11.2.1. Agincourt HDSS study activities
- 11.2.2. Fieldwork study

11.3. Fieldwork tools

- 11.3.1. Record review and tracing Visual Basic data entry forms
- 11.3.2. IDI consent form
- 11.3.3. IDI information sheet
- 11.3.4. IDI topic guide

11.1. Conference presentations and posters

11.1.1. African Population Conference presentation slides

Mobility and clinic switching among HIV patients considered lost to follow-up in north-eastern South Africa

David Etoori¹, Alison Wringe¹, Brian Rice¹, Jenny Renju¹, Chodziwadziwa Kabudula², F.X.Gomez-Olive², Georges Reniers¹



1 London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine 2 University of Witwatersrand, MRC/WITS Rural Public Health Transitions Research Unit

Background: Loss to follow-up

 PMTCT studies report retention rates as low as 52% after 12-18 months on antiretroviral therapy (ART)

- Increased transmission risk
- Poorer health outcomes
- Drug resistance
- Patients late for a scheduled ART refill are classified as lost to follow-up (LTFU)
 - Amalgamates undocumented transfers + ART interruptions + ART stoppages + deaths + misclassifications
- Accurately capturing outcomes of patients LTFU challenging across sub-Saharan Africa

Aim

LONDON SCHOOL# HYGIENE ATROPICAL

General aim:

 To understand what happens to patients after they stop attending their scheduled clinic visits (when they become LTFU)

Specific objective:

To describe the patterns of mobility and clinic switching among patients considered LTFU

LONDON SCHOOL# HYGIENE STROPICAL Outline 1. Background a. Loss to follow-up b. Mobility and clinic switching 2. Aim 3. Methods a. Setting b. Data sources c. Analyses 4. Results 5. Discussion and conclusions LONDON SCHOOL# HYGIENE ATROVICAL Background: Patient mobility Particularly hard to capture in a setting where clinics are not linked together Women more mobile before and after pregnancy The study setting (Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System) is located in a former Bantustan

- Historically agriculturally and economically inhospitable leading to high unemployment rates
- · Many inhabitants forced to migrate for work
- Reliance on remittances as an important income source



LONDON SCHOOL# HYRGENEL STROPCAL Methods: Setting Point-of-contact Interactive Record Linkage (PIRL): Since 2014, chronic care patient visits in the clinics (NCD and HIV) have been recorded and linked to the patient's HDSS record, provided that they ever lived in the HDSS.

Methods: Analysis

LONDON SCHCOL# HYGIENE ATROPICAL

- Calculated counts and proportions for baseline characteristics and final outcomes
- Graphically represented flows of patients from the different clinics within the HDSS
- A spatial analysis was conducted to assess patterns of movement between clinics.
 - Google maps was used to ascertain decimal degree coordinates
 - Using ArcMap 10.3.1, the coordinates were imported to shape files with a WGS 1984 coordinate system.







Results				
Outcome	All patients (LTFU)	Pregnant women	Non-pregnant women	Men
Transferred	315 (31.0%)	82 (29.3%)	176 (36.1%)	57 (22.8%)
Deceased	120 (11.8%)	10 (3.6%)	60 (12.3%)	50 (20.0%)
Alive and not on treatment	75 (7.4%)	28 (10.0%)	20 (4.1%)	27 (10.8%)
Migrated	49 (4.8%)	21 (7.5%)	22 (4.5%)	6 (2.4%)
Re-engaged in care	225 (22.1%)	54 (19.3%)	110 (22.6%)	61 (24.4%)
Alive: treatment status unknown	111 (10.9%)	45 (16.1%)	45 (9.2%)	21 (8.4%)
Unresolved (still LTFU)	112 (12.0%)	40 (14.3%)	54 (11.1%)	28 (11.2%)
Total	1017	280	487	250









Results: Transfer types		LONIXON SCHOOL/ HYGIENE STROKAL MEDICINE		
Transfer type	All patients (LTFU)	Pregnant women	Non-pregnant women	Men
Documented	133 (42.2%)	25 (30.5%)	81 (46.0%)	27 (47.4%)
Undocumented	182 (57.8%)	57 (69.5%)	95 (54.0%)	30 (52.6%)
Total	1017	82	176	57











Discussion

LONDON SCHOOL# HYGIENE STROPICAL MEDICINE

- We found evidence of continued care after LTFU and identified local and nationwide clinic mobility among HIV patients.
- A linked database will be needed to improve ascertainment of patient outcomes among more mobile patients.
- Future analyses
 - Factors associated with transfers e.g. change in marital status
 - When transfers are happening especially for pregnant women
 - What regimen (first or second) especially for silent transfers



11.1.2. International Conference on AIDS and STIs in Africa (ICASA) conference poster

Mobility and clinic switching among HIV patients considered lost to follow-up in north- WEPEB091 eastern South Africa and consequences for estimating the second 90-90-90 target David Etoori¹, Alison Wringe¹, Brian Rice¹, Jenny Renju^{1,2}, F. Gomez Olive-Casas³, Chodziwadziwa Kabudula³, Georges Reniers^{1,3} BACKGROUND RESULTS LOSS TO FOLLOW-UP Table showing outcomes for all LTFU patients following tracing PMTCT studies report retention rates as low as 52% after 12-18 months on II patients (LTFU) Pregnant women on-pregnan antiretroviral therapy (ART) Increased transmission risk 315 (31.0%) 176 (36.1%) 57 (22.8%) Transferred 82 (29.3% Poorer health outcomes Drug resistance 120 (11.8%) 10 (3.6%) 60 (12.3%) 50 (20.0%) Deceased Patients late for a scheduled ART refill are classified as lost to follow-up (LTFU) Alive and not on treatment 75 (7.4%) 28 (10.0%) 20 (4.1%) 27 (10.8%) Amalgamates undocumented transfers + ART interruptions + ART stoppages + deaths + misclassifications Migrated 49 (4.8%) 21 (7.5%) 22 (4.5%) 6 (2.4%) Accurately capturing outcomes of patients LTFU challenging across sub-Saharan Re-engaged in care 225 (22.1%) 54 (19.3%) 110 (22.6%) 61 (24.4%) Africa Alive: treatment status 111 (10.9%) 45 (16.1%) 45 (9.2%) 21 (8.4%) PATIENT MOBILITY Particularly hard to capture in a setting where clinics are not linked together Unresolved (still LTFU) 112 (12.0%) 40 (14.3%) 54 (11.1%) 28 (11.2%) Women more mobile before and after pregnancy 1017 487 250 Total The study setting (Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System) is located in a former Bantustan Destination clinics following transfer Historically agriculturally and economically inhospitable leading to high unemployment rates Many inhabitants forced to migrate for work Reliance on remittances as an important income source Gauteng 31 (41.69 AIM * province To describe the patterns of mobility and clinic switching among patients considered LTFU Agincourt Out of Out of C HDSS **METHODS** Circular plots showing origin and destination clinics for patients who transferred SETTING All transfers 42% of transf other facilitie. outside the HDSS More transfer out than transfers in Agincourt Health and Demographic Surveillance System (HDSS) is located in rural Only mer north-eastern South Africa. transferred Established in 1992; ~475 km² to clinics outside the ~115,000 residents (2014). HDSS Proximity Baseline survey in 1992, 3 update rounds until 1998, and annual surveys since 1999. Mov important Map showing the location of Agincourt HDSS based on nitu Only pregna Only non-pregnant men 44% 62% transferred transferred to to clinics outside South Africa clinics outside the HDSS Proximity still a the HDSS ximity still maior factor a major facto POINT-OF-CONTACT INTERACTIVE RECORD LINKAGE Since 2014, chronic care patient visits in the clinics (NCD and HIV) have been recorded and linked to the patient's HDSS record, provided that they ever lived in the HDSS. TRACING STUDY Extracted a list of patients who were LTFU from TIER.Net (National electronic PIRL database on August 15, 2017 HIV treatment database) 80% 42% transfe transferred outside the HDSS hysical patient files Compared list to all available clinic records Checked HDSS records (migration or death) Right-to-care logbooks Patients for whom an outcome was not ascertained Home based carers logbooks Table showing the types of transfers by sex and pregnancy status at ART initiation Patients who did not receive routine tracing ransfer type (LTFU) PIRL database for duplicates (different clinic records linked to the same individual) 25 (30.5%) 133 (42.2%) 81 (46.0%) 27 (47.4%) Doc ented At clinics in close proximity to the patient's residence 182 (57.8%) 57 (69.5%) 95 (54.0%) 30 (52.6%) Undocumented Capture any further silent transfers Agincourt HDSS database for 315 82 176 57 esidency and vital status Total DISCUSSION ANALYSIS We found evidence of continued care after LTFU and identified local and Calculated counts and proportions for baseline characteristics and final outcomes Graphically represented flows of patients from the different clinics within the HDSS

- Graphically represented flows of patients from the different clinics within the HDSS A spatial analysis was conducted to assess patterns of movement between clinics. • A linked database will be needed to improve ascertainment of patient
 - A linked database will be needed to improve ascertainment of patient outcomes among more mobile patients.

1 London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom 2 Kilimanjaro Christian Medical University College, Tanzania 3 MRC/WITS Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit (Agincourt), School of Pu

Google maps was used to ascertain decimal degree coordinates

coordinate system.

Using ArcMap 10.3.1, the coordinates were imported to shape files with a WGS 1984

MeSH Consortium

11.1.3. International Workshop on HIV and Hepatitis Observational Databases (IWHOD) conference poster (Tracing outcomes)



11.1.4. IWHOD conference poster (Re-engagement in care)



11.1.5. AIDS 2018 conference poster



11.2. Ethical clearance certificates 11.2.1 Agincourt HDSS activities and use of surveillance data

LSHTM ethics approval to use secondary data from Agincourt HDSS activities

London School of Hyglene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT United Kingdom Switchboard: +44 (0)20 7636 8636

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Observational / Interventions Research Ethics Committee

Dr Georges Reniers Associate Professor Department of Population Health (DPH) LSHTM

19 May 2017

Dear Dr Georges Reniers,

Study Title: Outcomes of patients starting ART in rural South Africa - continuation

LSHTM ethics ref: 13424

Thank you for your application for the above research, which has now been considered by the Observational Committee.

Confirmation of ethical opinion

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation, subject to the conditions specified below.

Conditions of the favourable opinion

Approval is dependent on local ethical approval having been received, where relevant.

Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Local Approval	DH_2016_Julie_Ambia_Local_Ethics_Approval_v01_4Apr	27/11/2015	1
Investigator CV	reniers- cv - 1612	31/12/2016	1
Investigator CV	CV-David Etoori	16/02/2017	1
Investigator CV	Julie Ambia_CurriculumVitae_16Feb2017	16/02/2017	1
Protocol / Proposal	Patient LTFU - protocol for ethics submission - 170223docx	23/02/2017	1

After ethical review

The Chief Investigator (CI) or delegate is responsible for informing the ethics committee of any subsequent changes to the application. These must be submitted to the Committee for review using an Amendment form. Amendments must not be initiated before receipt of written favourable opinion from the committee.

The CI or delegate is also required to notify the ethics committee of any protocol violations and/or Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reactions (SUSARs) which occur during the project by submitting a Serious Adverse Event form.

At the end of the study, the CI or delegate must notify the committee using an End of Study form.

All aforementioned forms are available on the ethics online applications website and can only be submitted to the committee via the website at: http://ieo.lshtm.ac.uk

Additional information is available at: www.lshtm.ac.uk/ethics

Yours sincerely,



ethics@lshtm.ac.uk http://www.lshtm.ac.uk/ethics/



Approval for annual demographic surveillance University of Witwatersrand ethics approval

UNIVERSITY OF THE WITWATERSRAND, JOHANNESBURG

Division of the Deputy Registrar (Research)

COMMITTEE FOR RESEARCH ON HUMAN SUBJECTS (MEDICAL) Ref: R14/49 Tollman

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE

PROTOCOL NUMBER M 960720

PROJECT

Investigating and responding to changes in the health and population dynamics of rural South Africans

INVESTIGATORS

DEPARTMENT

HSDU/Community Health, Acornhoek

Dr S Tollman

970726

970731

DATE CONSIDERED

DECISION OF THE COMMITTEE *

Approved unconditionally Generic Protocol - "Blanket approval"

DATE

CHAIRMAN.

.....(Professor P E Cleaton-Jones)

ÿ

c c Supervisor: Dr S Tollman Dept of Community Health, Medical School

U

DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATOR(S)

To be completed in duplicate and ONE COPY returned to the Secretary at Room 10001, 10th Floor, Senate House, University.

I/we fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the abovementioned research and I/we guarantee to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure to be contemplated from the research procedure as approved I/we undertake to resubmit the protocol to the Committee. ē.

The University's United States Federal Wide Assurance Number is: SF,IORG0000862,IRB00001223.

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES

Approval for linkage of clinic and demographic surveillance records

University of Witwatersrand ethics approval



R14/49 Prof Stephen Tollman et al

HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL)

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. M151162

NAME:	Prof Stephen Tollman et al	
(Principal Investigator) DEPARTMENT:	MRC/Wits Rural Health and Health Transitions Research Unit (Agincourt) 15 Study Sites,Bushbuckridge Sub-District, Ehlanzeni District, Mpumalanga	
PROJECT TITLE:	Record-Linkage of Health Facility Registries with the Agincourt Health Demographic Surveillance System (HDSS) Database	
DATE CONSIDERED:	27/11/2015	
DECISION:	Approved unconditionally	
CONDITIONS:		
SUPERVISOR:		
APPROVED BY:	Professor A Woodiwiss, Co-Chairperson, HREC (Medical)	
DATE OF APPROVAL:	11/12/2015	

This clearance certificate is valid for 5 years from date of approval. Extension may be applied for.

DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATORS

To be completed in duplicate and **ONE COPY** returned to the Research Office Secretary in Room 10004, 10th floor, Senate House/2nd Floor, Phillip Tobias Building, Parktown, University of the Witwatersrand. I/we fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the above-mentioned research and I/we undertake to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure be contemplated, from the research protocol as approved, I/we undertake to resubmit the application to the Committee. <u>I agree to submit a yearly progress report</u>.

Principal Investigator Signature

Date

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES

Mpumalanga Department of Health ethics approval

MPUMALANGA PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

Building No.3 No. 7 Government Boulevard Riverside Park Extension 2 Nelspruit 1200 Republic of South Africa



Private Bag X 11285 Nelspruit, 1200 Tel: 013 766 3429 int: +27 13 766 3429 Fax: 013 766 3458 int: +27 13 766 3458

Department of Health

Umnyango WezaMaphilo

Litiko Letemphilo

Departement van Gesondheid

Enquiries: Themba Mulungo (013) 766 3511

06 May 2013

Dr. F. Xavier Gómez-Olivé P.O. Box 2 ACORNHOEK 1360 South Africa

Dear Dr. F. Xavier Gómez-Olivé

APPLICATION FOR RESEARCH & ETHICS APPROVAL: RECORD-LINKAGE OF HEALTH FACILITY REGISTRIES WITH THE AGINCOURT HEALTH AND DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM (AHDSS) DATABASE.

The Provincial Research and Ethics Committee has approved your research proposal in the latest format that you sent.

Kindly ensure that you provide us with the soft and hard copies of the report once your research project has been completed.

Kind regards

Mr. Molefe Machaba Research and Epidemiology

10/05/2013 Date





11.2.2. Fieldwork study ethics

LSHTM ethics approval

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT United Kingdom Switchboard: +44 (0)20 7636 8636

www.lshtm.ac.uk



Observational / Interventions Research Ethics Committee

Mr David Etooni

14 September 2017

Dear Mr David Etoori

Study Title: HIV patient outcomes after initiating HIV care and treatment

LSHTM Ethics Ref: 14296

Thank you for responding to the Observational Committee's request for further information on the above research and submitting revised documentation.

The further information has been considered on behalf of the Committee by the Chair.

Confirmation of ethical opinion

On behall of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

Conditions of the favourable opinion

Approval is dependent on local ethical approval having been received, where relevant.

Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Information Sheet	Information sheet	01/06/2017	Version 1
Information Sheet	Consent form	01/06/2017	Version 1
Investigator CV	CV Ally Wrings	02/06/2017	1
Investigator CV	F Xavier Gomez Olive_CV	02/06/2017	1
Investigator CV	CV-David Etoori	02/06/2017	1
Protocol / Proposal	Qualitative Interview topic guide	13/06/2017	Variaon 1
Investigator CV	reniers- cv - 1702	14/06/2017	1
Protocol / Proposal	Study Protocol	14/06/2017	Version 1
Covering Letter	LSHTM clarification	18/08/2017	1
Information Sheet	Information sheet_2	18/08/2017	2
Information Sheet	Consent form_2	18/08/2017	2

After ethical review

The Chief Investigator (C) or delegate is responsible for informing the ethics committee of any subsequent changes to the application. These must be submitted to the Committee for review using an Amendment form. Amendments must not be initiated before receipt of written favourable opinion from the committee.

The CI or delegate is also required to notify the ethics committee of any protocol violations and/or Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reactions (SUSARs) which occur during the project by submitting a Serious Adverse Event form,

An ennual report should be submitted to the committee using an Annual Report form on the anniversary of the approval of the study during the lifetime of the study.

At the end of the study, the CI or delegate must notify the committee using an End of Study form.

All aforementioned forms are available on the ethics online applications website and can only be submitted to the committee via the website at: http://loc.lshtm.ac.uk

Additional information is available at: www.lshtm.ac.uk/ethics

Yours sincerely, 11

Professor John DH Porter Chair

athics@ishtm.ac.uk http://www.ishtm.ac.uk/ethics/

Improving health worldwide

Page 2 of 2

University of Witwatersrand Ethical approval

R14/49 Georges Reniers et al

HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL)

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. M170850

NAME:	Georges Reniers et al
DEPARTMENT:	School of Public Health MRC/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit (Agincourt)
PROJECT TITLE:	HIV Patient Outcomes after Initiating HIV Care and Treatment in Agincourt
DATE CONSIDERED:	25/08/2017
DECISION:	Approved unconditionally
CONDITIONS:	
SUPERVISOR:	
APPROVED BY:	Professor C פראין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין
DATE OF APPROVAL:	22/09/2017

This clearance certificate is valid for 5 years from date of approval. Extension may be applied for.

DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATORS

To be completed in duplicate and **ONE COPY** returned to the Research Office Secretary in Room 301, Third Floor, Faculty of Health Sciences, Phillip Tobias Building, 29 Princess of Wales Terrace, Parktown, 2193, University of the Witwatersrand. I/we fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the above-mentioned research and I/we undertake to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure be contemplated, from the research protocol as approved, I/we undertake to resubmit the application to the Committee. <u>Lagree to submit a yearly progress report</u>. The date for annual re-certification will be one year after the date of convened meeting where the study was initially reviewed. In this case, the study was initially reviewed in August and will therefore be due in the month of August each year. Unreported changes to the application may invalidate the clearance given by the HREC (Medical).

Principal Investigator Signature

Date

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES
Mpumalanga Department of Health ethics approval



Mpumalanga Department of Health permission to work in health facilities

health MPUMALANGA PROVINC REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRIC	Ē	1	PUMALANGA
No.3, Gövernment Boulevard, Riverside Park Private Bag X11285, Mbornbela, 1200, Mpurr Tel I: +27 (13) 766 3429, Fax: +27 (13) 766 34	. Ext. 2, Mbombela, 1200, Mpumalanga Provin Ialanga Province 158	ice	
Litiko Letemphilo	Departement van Gesondheid	Um	Nyango WezeMaphilo
Letter of Support Signed by Chief D	lirector (CD)/CEO/District Manager	(DM)/Programm	e Manager (PM)
1. Name & contact no. of Applicant	DR GECEGERZENIERS GT	37455076	
2. Title of Study: HIV Partient Agrinout HIV Partient	outcomes after initiation	y HIV Care	4 treatmen
3. Aim and population target: To their Chuldren whe are it therapy in Agingant Healt Target Prove the it is	inderstand the true of out to polew up & pred and demonstraphic surve	post initia	Patientitas
4. Period to undertake the study	From: Jul 2017	togilar	2018
5. Resources Required from Facil	ity/Sub-district/Community	31,0-10	2010
5.1: Facility Staff Required to assist with the Study	Yes		NO
white blody	How many:		-V
	Doctors:		
	Other, please specify:		
5.2: Patient Records/Files	Yes		X NO
5.3: Interviewing Patient at Facilities	Yes		X NO
5.4: Interviewing Patients at Home	Yes	Yes	
5.5: Resource Flow (Are there benefits to Patients/community)	Yes		X NO
5.6: Resource Flow (Are there	Please list:		^
benefits to Facility/District)	Please list:		NO
6 Availability of Required Clearance	a set of a set of a set of a set of a	A STATE OF LAND	A CONTRACTOR OF
6.1: Ethical Clearance	Yes	Pending	NO
	Clearance Number:	$\neg \times$	
6.2: Clinical Trial	Yes	Pending	XNO
60.1/	Clearance Number:		
6.3: Vaccine That	Yes	Pending	XNO
6.4: Budget	Jearance Number:		
o.4. budget	Source of fundial stational data	1	NO
eclaration by Applicant: Mr/Ms/Dr/Prof/Adv. <u>CAEAEGES</u> DE ack to the CEO/Institution/District.	INERS agree to submi	Upresent the rest	It of this study
omment by CEGIPMIBIL: Under taking of Sugar deal.	DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SUP FHITTURE AN POPAGSEC Results & be 5 true 2011 POP DOH .	ported / Not But	ported dy is builth
ame: DMDLUL	DERSON STREET NELSPRUIT 1200	Stamp/Date	i facti

Please note that this letter is not an approval to undertake a study, but a support letter from identified facility/district. i.e. the CEO/District Manager acknowledges to have been consulted on the study

Mpumalanga Department of Health extension



No.3, Government Boulevard, Riverside Park, Ext. 2. Mbombela, 1200, Mpumalanga Province Private Bag X11285, Mbombela, 1200, Mpumalanga Province Tel I: +27 (13) 766 3429, Fax: +27 (13) 766 3458

Litiko Letemphilo

Departement van Gesondheid

UmNyango WezeMaphilo

Enquiries: Themba Mulungo (013) 766 3511

Dr. Xavier Gomez-Olive P.O Box 02 Acornhoek 1360

Dear Dr. Xavier Gomez-Olive

APPLICATION FOR RESEARCH & ETHICS APPROVAL: HIV PATIENT OUTCOMES AFTER INITIATING HIV CARE AND TREATMENT IN AGINCOURT

The provincial health research committee has approved your research proposal in the latest format you sent.

- Approval Ref Number: MP_MP_201709_12
- e Approval period: 01/10/2017 31/07/2018, Extension: 20/11/2018 To 31/07/2019
- Facilities: Agincourt CHC, Belfast Clinic and Lillydale CHC, Kildare A Clinic, Xanthia Clinic Justicia Clinic, Cunningmoore A Clinic and Rolle Clinic.

Kindly ensure that the study is conducted with minimal disruption and impact on our staff, and also ensure that you provide us with the soft or hard copy of the report once your research project has been completed.

Kind regards

1

MS. T.Z MADONSELA MPUMALANGA PHRC

2018/11/20

MPUMALANGA

11.3. Fieldwork tools11.3.1. Record review and tracing Visual Basic data entry forms

😑 Tier_Net			
ID		What is the patient's treatment status?	~
Patient ID		Outcome date	
File Number		Transfer type	~
Health Facility		What clinic did the patient transfer to?	~
First name		Other facility (Specify)	
Last name		Tracing done	~
Date of HIV diagnosis		Tracing outcome	~
Date of ART initiation		Other outcome (Specify)	
Reason for ART initiation		Tracing date	
Clinic link last visit date			
First CD4	Date of first		
result	CD4	Comments	
Last CD4 result	Date of last CD4		
First Viral load result	Date of first viral load		
Last Viral load result	Date of last viral load		
😇 Patient file			
📃 Patient file			
Patient file		What is the patient's treatment status?	~
D Patient ID		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date	~
D Patient ID File Number		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date	~
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to?	× ×
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility	× ×
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name Last name		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility Tracing done	> > >
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name Last name Date of HIV diagnosis		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility Tracing done	× × ×
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name Last name Date of HIV diagnosis Date of ART initiation		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility Tracing done Tracing outcome	> > > >
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name Last name Date of HIV diagnosis Date of ART initiation Reason for ART initiation		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility Tracing done Tracing outcome Other outcome (specify)	> > > >
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name Last name Date of HIV diagnosis Date of ART initiation Reason for ART initiation Clinic link last visit date		What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility Tracing done Tracing outcome Other outcome (specify) Tracing date	
Patient file ID Patient ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name Last name Date of HIV diagnosis Date of ART initiation Reason for ART initiation Clinic link last visit date First CD4 result	Date of first CD4	What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility Tracing done Tracing outcome Other outcome (specify) Tracing date	
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name Last name Date of HIV diagnosis Date of ART initiation Reason for ART initiation Clinic link last visit date First CD4 result	Date of first CD4 Date of last CD4	What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility Tracing done Tracing outcome Other outcome (specify) Tracing date Comments	
Patient file ID Patient ID File Number Health Facility First name Last name Date of HIV diagnosis Date of ART initiation Reason for ART initiation Clinic link last visit date First CD4 result Last CD4 result First Viral load result	Date of first CD4 Date of last CD4 Date of last CD4 Date of first viral load	What is the patient's treatment status? Outcome date Transfer type What clinic did the patient transfer to? Other facility Tracing done Tracing outcome Other outcome (specify) Tracing date Comments	

😑 Right to care	
ID	Tracing done
Patient ID	Reason why tracing was
File Number	not done
Health Facility	Tracing outcome 🗸 🗸
First name	Other outcome (Specify)
Last name	What facility did the
Date of HIV diagnosis	patient transfer to?
Date of ART initiation	Other facility (Specify)
Reason for ART initiation	Return date
Clinic link last visit date	Tracing date
	Comments

📃 Home based ca	rers		
		1	
ID		Tracing done	~
Patient ID		Tracing outcome	~
File Number		Other outcome (Specify)	
Health Facility		What clinic did the patient transfer to?	~
First name		Other facility (Specify)	
Last name		Tracing date	
Date of HIV diagnosis		Who provided the tracing information?	~
Date of ART initiation		Was the patient alive at	
Reason for ART initiation		the time of tracing?	
Clinic link last visit date		Was the patient on treatment at the time of	~
		tracing?	
		Comments	
		L	

11.3.2. IDI consent form

English version



Thank you for considering taking part in this research. The person organising the research must explain the project to you before you agree to take part. If you have any questions arising from the information sheet above or the explanation given to you please ask the researcher before you decide to take part. You will be given a copy of the information sheet to keep.

Informed consent:

- I have been informed by the researcher of the purpose and procedures of the study, and of the possible benefits and drawbacks of my participation.
- Any questions I had about my participation in this study have been answered to my satisfaction. I will receive a copy of the document I have signed.
- I was given enough time to make my decision.
- I am participating in this study on a voluntary basis. I may withdraw at any time without giving a reason and my decision not to take part will not affect my care as a patient, my position or reputation as a community member, or the services that I receive in any way.
- I agree to allow the researchers, and the Ethics Commissions to see my <u>anonymised</u> data, with the understanding that this data will remain confidential.
- I agree for my <u>anonymised</u> data to be stored for a period of up to 7 years and shared with other researchers on request, with the understanding that any personal information or data will remain confidential and all data shared will be untraceable back to me as an individual.

I,	consent voluntarily to being a participant of
this study	
I consent to this interview being recorded	
Signed	Date

Signature of the researcher: _____ Date _____

Shangaan version







MRQ/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit School of Public Health, Education Campus, 27 St. Andrew's Road, Parlitown 2193, South Africa Telephone: +27 11 717 2085 (Johannesburg) +27 13 795 5076 (Acornhoek) www.agincourt.co.za

PAPILA RA MPFUMELELANO RA VANGHENELERI

Hi khensa ku va mi tekile xiboho xo nghenelela eka ndzavisiso lowu. Munhu loyi a lulamisaka ndzavisiso lowu u fanele ku hlamusela ndzavisiso lowu eka n'wina mi nga si pfumela ku nghenela. Loko mi ri na swivutiso swo karhi leswi humaka eka papila ra vuxokoxoko leri nga laha henhla kumbe nhlamuselo leyi mi nyikiweke yona hi kombela mi vutisa mulavisisi mi nga si teka xiboho xo nghenela. Mi ta nyikia khopi ya papila ra vuxokoxoko leswaku mi ri hlayisa.

Papila ra mpfumelelano

- Ndzi byeriwile hi mulavisisi xikongomelo na maendlelo ya ndzavisiso, xikan'we na ku vuyeriwa loku nga vaka kona xikan'we na ku tihumesa ka mina eka ndzavisiso.
- Swivutiso hinkwaswo leswi a ndzi ri na swona mayelana na ku nghenela ka mina eka ndzavisiso lowu swi hlamuriwile hi ku enela. Ndzi ta kuma khopi ya papila leri ndzi nga ri sayina.
- Ndzi nyikiwile nkarhi wo ringanela ku va ndzi teka xiboho
- Ndzi nghenela eka ndzavisiso lowu hi ku tinyikela. Ndzi nga tihumesa eka nkarhi wun'wana na wun'wana handle ko nyika xivangelo naswona xiboho xa mina xo nghenela a xi nga khumbi mpfuno wa mina tanihi mungheneleri, xiyimo xa mina tanihi muaka-tiko, kumbe vukorhokeri lebyi ndzi byi kumaka hi ndlela yihi kumbe yihi.
- Ndza pfumela ku pfumelela valavisisi, na Khomixini ya Swamilawu ku vona vuxokoxoko bya mina lebyi nga ndzi humelerisiki, hi ku twisisa leswaku vuxokoxoko lebyi byi ta va xihundla.

Mina,	ndzi pfume	la hi ku tinyikela ku va mungheneleri
eka ndzavisiso lowu.		
Ndza pfumela leswaku mbhurisano lov	vu wu kandziyisiwa	
Ku sayiniwile	Siku	
Nsayino wa mulavisisi:	s	šiku

11.3.3. IDI information sheet

English version



HIV PATIENT OUTCOMES AFTER INITIATING HIV CARE AND TREATMENT IN AGINCOURT.

INFORMATION SHEET FOR PARTICIPANTS

The University of Witswatersrand along with the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and International Epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS (IeDEA) are carrying out a study investigating people's experience with health services in Agincourt, aiming to understand how particular health conditions may be managed. These health services and health conditions may include HIV, pregnancy, and family planning among others.

Purpose of the research

The purpose of this study is to learn about people's views and experiences with medical services and with managing health conditions. From this, we hope to be able to make recommendations about how services might be improved in the future. As someone who lives in Agincourt and who uses health facilities here, you have been invited to take part in this study to share your views on the study topic so that we can learn from your experiences using these services. We are inviting you to participate in this study by undergoing one interview, which will last about one hour. If any of the information given here is not clear or incomplete. If anything is not clear, you need more information or if you have any questions please feel free to ask.

Benefit and potential risk for the individual and the community

There will be no direct benefit to you from taking part in the study. However, the information you share will help us understand how patient support and health services might be improved in South Africa. Participating in interviews has no direct risk for you as a participant.

Voluntary participation

Your participation is voluntary. You may stop the interview at any time without giving reason and you can choose not to answer certain questions or discuss certain topics if you do not wish to. If you decide not to participate, it will not affect the services you receive either now or in the future, and it will not result in any loss of benefits regarding medical treatment.

There are no right or wrong answers to any of the questions. For example, we would like to hear about your views about the health services, regardless of whether they are positive or negative.

To ensure we capture everything, we would like to record the interviews if you consent to this.

Confidentiality

The information given in the interviews will be accessible only to those in the study team. They are all qualified researchers who understand the importance of confidentiality and follow a professional code of conduct. This means they will not discuss what you say with anyone outside the study. The audio recording will not include your name, and it will only be heard by the research team. The recorded

Information Sheet - Page 1 of 2

conversation will be typed onto paper, without your name on it, and the original recording and written documents will be kept securely and destroyed after the conclusion of the study

At the end of this study, an anonymized transcript of this conversation will be made available to other scientists through a public data repository. This means that we will first delete your name and other information that could be used to identify you before sharing it with others. Anonymized quotes from this interview may be used in publications and reports.

As a participant in the study, you have the right to access your recorded interviews if you wish. The researchers will make every effort to ensure everything you share remains confidential. Your identity will not be revealed in any publications, presentations or reports resulting from this study.

Should you have questions regarding your rights as a participant in the study please contact the Scientific and Ethics Committee of the Department of Health (Office 14, Jaspis St, Aeorand, Middelburg, 1050, South Africa. Tel: +27-13-766-3429). In case you have any further queries about the study, you may contact: Dr. F. Xavier Gómez-Olivé, P.O. Box 2 Acornhoek, 1360, South Africa Tel: +27-13-795-5076.

Information Sheet - Page 2 of 2

Shangaan version







MRQ/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit School of Public Health, Education Campus, 27 St. Andrew's Road, Parktown 2193, South Africa Telephone: +27 11 717 2085 (Johannesburg) +27 13 795 5076 (Acomhoel) www.agincourt.co.za

LESWI ENDLEKEKE EKA VAVABYI LAVA NGA NA HIV ENDZHAKU KA LOKO VA NGHENISIWILE EKA MPFUNO NA VUTSHUNGURI E AGINCOURT

Yunivhesiti ya Witwatersrand xikan'we na London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine n ava International Epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS (IeDEA) va endla ndzavisiso ku kuma ntokoto wa vanhu mayelana na vukorhokeri bya swarihanyu e Agincourt, laha va kongomeke ku twisisa ndlela leyi swiyimo swo karhi swarihanyo swi nga lawuriwaka ha kona. Vukorhokeri lebyi bya rihanyo xikan'we na swiyimo swa rihanyo swi nga katsa HIV, vuyimani na nkunguhato eka van'wana.

Xikongomelo xa ndzavisiso

Xikongomelo xa ndzavisiso lowu I ku dyondza mayelana na mavonelo ya vanhu xikan'we na ntokoto wa vona eka vukorhokeri bya swarihanyo xikan'we na malawulelo ya swiyimo swarihanyo. Ku suka eka leswi, hi tshemba leswaku hi ta endla swibumabumelo mayelana na ndlela leyi vukorhokeri byi nga antswisiwaka ha kona eka nkarhi lowu taka. Tanihi munhu loyi a hanyaka e Agincourt no tirhisa tindzhawu ta swarihanyo laha, mi rhambiwile ku va mi nghenela eka ndzavisiso lowu k uvula mavonelo ya n'wina eka nhloko-mhaka ya ndzavisiso ku va hi ta dyondza ku suka eka ntokoto wa n'wina wo tirhisa vukorhokeri lebyi. Hi mi rhamba ku nghenela eka ndzavisiso lowu hi ku endla mbhurisano wun'we, lowu nga ta teka awara yin'we. Loko swi nga endleka leswaku vuxokoxoko lebyi nyikiweke laha byi nga ri erivaleni kumbe byi nga helelanga. Loko swin'wana swi nga ri erivaleni, mi lava vuxokoxoko hi xitalo kumbe loko mi ri na swivutiso swo karhi hi kombela mi tshunxeka ku va mi vutisa.

Mbuyelo na makhombo lawa ya nga vaka kona eka munhu na muganga

A ku nga vi na ku vuyeriwa loku kongomeke eka n'wina hi ku va mi nghenerile eka ndzavisiso lowu. Kambe, vuxokoxoko lebyi mi nga ta byi vula byi ta hi pfuna ku va hi twisisa ndlela leyi nseketelo wa vavabyi xikan'we na vukorhokeri bya swarihanyo swi nga antswisiwaka ha kona e Afrika Dzonga. Ku nghenela eka mimbhurisano a ku na makhombo lawa ya mi kongomeke tanihi mungheneleri.

Ku nghenela hi ku tinyikela

Ku nghenela ka n'wina I ku tinyikela. Mi nga tshika mbhurisano eka nkarhi wun'wana na wun'wana handle ko nyika xivangelo naswona mi nga hlawula ku va mi nga hlamuli swin'wana swa swivutiso kumbe vulavula hi tinhloko-mhaka to karhi loko mi nga swi tsakeli. Loko mi nga teka xiboho xo ka mi nga ngheneli, a swi nga khumbi vukorhokeri lebyi mi byi kumaka sweswi kumbe eka nkarhi lowu taka, naswona a swi nga yisi eka ku lahlekeriwa hi ku vuyeriwa mayelana na vutshunguri bya swarihanyo.







MRC/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit School of Public Health, Education Campus, 27 St Andrew's Road, Parltown 2193, South Africa Telephone: +27 11 717 2065 (Johannesburg) +27 13 795 5076 (Acomhoek) www.agincourt.co.za

A ku na nhlamulo ya ntiyiso kumbe yo ka yi nga ri ntiyiso eka swivutiso swihi kumbe swihi. Xikombiso, hi tsakela ku twa mayelana na mavonelo ya n'wina hi vukorhokeri bya swarihanyo, hambi byi ngava byi ri kahle kumbe byi nga ri kahle.

Ku tiyisisa leswaku hi kuma swilo hinkwaswi, hi ta tsakela ku kandziyisa mimbhurisano loko mi pfumela.

Xihundla

Vuxokoxoko lebyi nyikiweke eka mimbhurisano leyi byi ta fikeleriwa ntsena hi lava va nga le ka ntlawa wa ndzavisiso. Hinkwavo I valavisisi lava tokoteke lava twisisaka nkoka wa xihundla no landzela matirhelo ya ntokoto. Leswi swi vula leswaku a va nga buli hi leswi mi swi vuleke na munhu un'wana loyi a nga riki wa ndzavisiso. Nkandziyiso a wu nga katsi vito ra n'wina, naswona wu ta twiwa ntsena hi ntlawa wa valavisisi. Vuxokoxoko lebyi kandziyisiweke byi ta tsariwa ephepheni , byi nga ri na vito ra n'wina, naswona minkandziyiso hinkwayo xikan'we na mapapila lawa ya tsariweke swi ta hlayisiwa kahle na ku herisiwa endzhaku ka loko ndzavisiso wu fikile emakumu.

Emakumu ka ndzavisiso lowu, mahungu lawa ya tsariweke ya ri hava vito ra munhu wo karhi ya ta va kona eka vativi va sayense van'wana hi ku tirhisa vuhlayiselo bya vuxokoxoko lebyi nga bya mani na mani. Leswi swi vula leswaku hi ta rhanga hi susa vito ra n'wina na vuxokoxoko byin'wana lebyi byi nga tirhisiwaka ku mi humelerisa hi nga si nyika van'wana vuxokoxoko lebyi. Swihungwana leswi mi swi vuleke leswi nga ta va kona eka mbhurisano lowu swi ta tirhisiwa eka swihangalasa-mahungu na swiviko.

Tanihi mungheneleri eka ndzavisiso, mi na mfanelo your fikelela nkandziyiso wa mbhurisano wa n'wina loko mi swi tsakela. Valavisisi va ta tirha hi matimba swinene ku tiyisisa leswaku hinkwaswo leswi mi swi vulaka swi tshama swi ri xihundla. A mi nga humelerisiwi eka swihangalasa-mahungu, mahungu kumbe swiviko swihi kumbe swihi leswi nga ta huma eka ndzavisiso lowu.

Loko mi nga tshuka mi va na swivutiso mayelana na timfanelo ta n'wina tanihi mungheneleri eka ndzavisiso hi kombela mi tihlanganisa na Komiti ya Swamilawu na Sayense ya le ka Ndzawulo ya Rihanyo (Office 14, Jaspis St, Aeorand, Middelburg, 1050, South Africa, nomboro ya riqingho: +27 13 766 3429). Loko mi nga tshuka mi va na swivutiso swo karhi ku yisa emahlweni mayelana na ndzavisiso, mi nga tihlanganisa na Dr F. Xavier Gomez-Olive, P.O. Box 2, Acornhoek, 1360, South Africa, nomboro ya riqingho: +27 13 795 5076.

11.3.4. IDI topic guide

English version



HIV PATIENT OUTCOMES AFTER INITIATING HIV CARE AND TREATMENT IN AGINCOURT.

QUALITATIVE INTERVIEW TOPIC GUIDE

This is an outline of areas to include in the interviews; they are examples of potential questions and should not be followed rigidly. As much as possible the interview should be led by the respondent's account, the interviewer should endeavour to probe (even silently) and encourage elaboration.

Make sure that they are aware that we have not come to try to force them back in to care, we want to have a conversation with them just to understand their experiences.

Life history:

Could you tell me about a typical day for you? What do you usually do?

- Area or community you live in
 - o What is the area you live in like?
 - o Where do you live now?
 - o What is the community like?
 - o How do your family fit into this community?
- Family structure
 - o What is your family structure like? Who do you live with (at homestead)?
 - Do you have any children (both men and women)? Are you currently pregnant (women)? Have you lost any children?
 - Do you want any (more) children? (Both men and women)
- Relationship views and experiences
 - o Could you tell me about your relationships growing up until now?
 - o What were these relationships like?
 - If in current relationship, could you describe what your relationship is like/tell me about it?
 - What does your partner do for you?
 - What do you do for [him/her]?
 - > What is important for you in the relationship?
 - o If not in current relationship, what do you want for the future?
 - Probe relationship expectations versus reality
 - > Probe what is important versus unacceptable in a relationship

Testing experience:

- Health seeking and general health management
 - Views and experiences with health services, access...management of health HIV testing experience
 - Could you tell me in your own words your experiences when you tested for HIV from the beginning?



- For women who started ART because they were pregnant, probe motivation to test: were they given sufficient information, were they coerced in any way e.g. with refusal of other services if they did not test?
- HIV health seeking and management
 What did you know about HIV before you were diagnosed?
- ART initiation decision making Experience being offered ART, what health care worker said, what happened, what they thought about it (coercion? especially for PMTCT)
- Any lifestyle changes since diagnosis
 Anything they used to do that they do not do now, anything that they changed after they
 initiated ART?

ART treatment follow-up:

- Treatment taking experience Challenges, motivation, times when it was difficult to go for refills or take treatment? How did you cope with these?
- Living with HIV and on ART Health maintenance, any changes e.g. physical or other, relationships and sexual practices

Loss to follow-up:

Have you ever experienced a time when you stopped taking treatment?

- Can you tell me about one of those times?
- o What happened?
- o What was going through your mind at that time?
- o What were the reasons why? Can you tell me about another time you stopped...
- were the reasons you stopped similar? (Any different reasons?)
- · Major reasons for stopping treatment
 - o Tell me in your own words about when you stopped taking treatment?
 - o How did you feel about your decision?
 - o How do you feel about that decision now?
- Living with HIV after ART stoppage

Any perceived or real changes e.g. deteriorating health..., how is health now

Re-engagement in care:

Have you ever experienced a time when you stopped taking treatment and started taking treatment again?

- o Can you tell me about one of those times?
- o What happened?
- o What prompted you to start again?
- o Were there any other times you stopped taking treatment and started again?
- Did you restart for similar reasons or were there different reasons?
- Major reasons for restarting treatment

Challenges, motivation

Treatment interruption



How long did it last, had they interrupted HIV care before?

Health system obstacles

Were health care workers helpful in the process, were there hindrances

Infant testing: (Only ask women who were on ART while pregnant or who started ART for PMTCT)

Health system experience

Could you tell me everything the health care worker told you about testing your infant for HIV?

When did this happen? (Near the end of pregnancy, right after HIV diagnosis) Who spoke to you about it? What did you think of this?

Knowledge

What did you know about infant testing before this?

Practice

Was infant tested? What were motivations for testing or not testing the infant? Is the child alive? Did the child receive any treatment (prophylaxis or ART)?

Shangaan version







MRQWits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit School of Public Health, Education Campus, 27 St Andrew's Road, Parktown 2193, South Africa Telephone: +27 11 717 2065 (Johannesburg) +27 13 795 5076 (Acomhoel) www.agincourt.co.ra

Papila ra tinhloko-mhaka ta mbhurisano

Lowu I nkomiso wa tindzhawu leti ti faneleke ku katsiwa eka mimbhurisano; I swikombiso swa swivutiso leswi nga vutisiwaka naswona a swi fanelanga ku landzeleriwa hi ku landzelelana ka swona. Mbhurisano wu fanele ku rhangeriwa hi ku ya hi muhlamuri, muburisani u fanele a ringeta ku vutisisa ku ya emahlweni (hambi a nga swi humelerisi) naswona a hlohletela ku nghenelela.

Tiyisisa leswaku va swi twisisa leswaku a hi telanga ku ringeta ku va sindzisa ku va eka mpfuno, hi lava ku burisana na vona ku va hi twisisa ntsena ntokoto wa vona.

Endzhaku ka xiyenge-nkulu xin'wana na xin'wana, nyika nkomiso wa swilo swa nkoka eka mungheneleri (nyika mungheneleri nkarhi loko swi nga endleka leswaku a tsundzuka swin'wana kumbe a lava ku basisa swin'wana) kutani u hlamusela nhloko-mhaka leyi landzelaka na swivangelo swo lava ku vulavula hi swona.

Ha khensa ku va mi pfumerile ku nghenela eka mbhurisano lowu. Ndzi khensa ku va mi tekile nkarhi ku hlamula swivutiso swa mina. Loko eka nkarhi wun'wana mi nga twa ongeti hi fanele ku yima hikwalaho ka swivangelo swo karhi xikombiso loko mi lava ku vutisa xivutiso, mi nga kanakani k uvula tano. Loko mi twa ongeti kun a xivutiso lexi mi nga khomekiki kahle ku va mi vutisiwa, ndzi kombela leswaku mi ndzi byela naswona ndzi ta hundzela eka xin'wana.

Swivutiso swo endla ku va munhu a tshunxeka

Xo sungula ndzi ta tsakela ku vulavula na n'wina mayelana na n'wina ku endlela leswaku ndzi ta twisisa ku antswa leswaku hi n'wina mani. Xana leswi swa amukeleka eka n'wina? Hi nga sungula?

[Xiyenge lexi a xa n'wina xo va mi pima xiyimo xa mbhurisano, loko mi twa ongeti muhlamuri u tshunxekile naswona u lulamerile ku hlamula swivutiso leswi nga le ka xiyenge lexi landzelaka mi nga teki nkarhi wo leha laha kambe loko swi nga ri tano n'wi vutiseni swivutiso leswi ku endlela leswaku a titwa a tshunxekile tanihileswi leswi swi nga ta tlakusa ku tsakela ka yena ku hlamula hi ntiyiso]

- Mi nga ndzi byela hi n'wina?
- Xana siku ra ntolovelo ri va njhani eka n'wina? Xana mi endla yini hi xitalo?
- Xana mi na vana? Loko ku ri INA ma ha lava van'wana?
- Xana mi ngava mi ri eka vuxaka? Loko ku ri INA mi nga ndzi hlamusela leswaku vuxaka bya n'wina byi njhani/ndzi byeleni ha byona?

Ndza khensa ku va mi ndzi byerile vutomi bya n'wina bya siku rin'wana na rin'wana....

Ndzi ta tsakela ku burisana na n'wina mayelana na ntokoto wa n'wina na maendlelo eka mpfuno wa swarihanyo ku sukela loko mi ta va mi kumile leswaku mi na HIV. Ndzi tsakela ku kuma ku twisisa ko antswa ndlela leyi mi swi koteke ha yona eka siku rin'wana na rin'wana ku sukela loko mi ta va mi byeriwile.







MRQ/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit School of Public Health, Education Campus, 27 St Andrew's Road, Parktown 2193, South Africa Telephone: +27 11 717 2065 (Johannesburg) +27 13 795 5076 (Acomhoek) www.agincourt.co.za

Hi ntolovelo, loko munhu a kumiwile a ri na HIV, u sungula ku teka vutshunguri. Sweswi ndzi ta tsakela ku mi vutisa swivutiso swi nga ri swingani mayelana na ntokoto lowu eka n'wina ku endlela leswaku ndzi ta twisisa ku antswa leswi swi nga xiswona eka n'wina ku va mi teka vutshunguri.

Ku vuyela nakambe eka mpfuno:

Ha swi tiva leswaku eka vanhu vo tala lava va tekaka ART, ku na ku tikeriwa ku tshamela ku teka vutshunguri naswona hi ta tsakela ku twisisa swivangelo swo tshika. Ndzi byeleni hi marito ya n'wina mayelana na nkarhi lowu mi tshikeke ku teka vutshunguri?

[Xana mi ngava mi tshame mi tokota nkarhi lowu mi tshikeke ku teka vutshunguri?]

- Swivangelo-nkulu swo tshika vutshunguri
 - o Mi nga ndzi byela hi wun'we wa minkarhi yoleyo?
 - Loko mi hleketa endzhaku hi wun'we wa minkarhi leyi, swi ta pfuna swinene ku twisisa leswi a mi swi hleketa hi nkarhi wolowo?
 - Xana a ku ri swihi swivangelo swo va mi tshika?

Ku vutisisa ku ya emahlweni loku nga vaka kona:

- Ndzi kombela mi ndzi byela ndlela leyi mi nga kumeka mi ya eku kambeleni?
- Xana mi ngava mi titwe ongeti a mi fanele mi arile ku kuma nkambelo?
- Xana a ku ta va ku humelele yini loko a mi arile ku kuma nkambelo?
- Xana mi titwile mi lulamerile ku sungula vutshunguri loko mi ta sungula?
- Mi nga ndzi byela leswaku mi sungurile vutshunguri hi ndlela yihi?
- Xana leswi hinkwaswo swi ngava swi humelerile rini/ mi ngava mi sungule (hi siku rero, endzhaku ka vhiki, ka n'hweti)?
- Xana mi ngava mi hlanganile na ku tikeriwa ku va mi teka vutshunguri?
- Xana a mi byi kumisa ku yini vutshunguri bya n'wina?
 - Xana vatirhi va swarihanyo va mi pfunile hi nkarhi lowu?
- Xana a mi kuma nseketelo ku suka eka un'wana (munghana kumbe minkarhi yin'wana ndyangu)?
- Xana xiboho xa n'wina xi ngava xi hlohletele hi un'wana kumbe swin'wana leswi nga humelela?
- Xana mi vulavurile na un'wana mi nga si teka xiboho?
- o Xana ku vile na minkarhi yin'wana laha mi nga tshika ku teka vutshunguri?
 - Xana swivangelo swo va mi tshika swi ngava swi fana? (Swivangelo swin'wana na swin'wana leswi hambaneke?)

[Twisisa swivangelo-nkulu swo sungula vutshunguri nakambe: Vuyimani byintshwa? Ku tlhelela ekaya na ku vuyela nakambe eka maendlelo? Ku vuya eka mpfuno wa ricece? -> hlanganisa na EID]









MRC/Wts Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit School of Public Health, Education Campus, 27 St Andrew's Road, Parlitown 2193, South Africa Telephone: +2711 717 2005 (Johannesburg) +2713 795 5076 (Acomhoek) www.agincourt.co.za

Ndza khensa ku va mi hlamuserile leswi nga humelela loko mi ta tshika mu teka ART, endzhaku ka sweswo [yana eka leswi va swi vuleke endzhaku] xana mi ngava mi sungurile ku teka ARTnakambe? Loko ku ri INA – hi kombela mi hi hlamusela leswaku ku humelele yini leswi swi nga endla leswaku mi tlhela mi sungula ku teka ART nakambe?

- o Xana mi ngava mi lo teka nkarhi wo karhi mi nga tirhisi vutshunguri kumbe a mi teka vutshunguri kun'wana? Xana ku humelele yini hi nkarhi lowu a mi yimile ku teka vutshunguri?
- o Xana mi vulavurile na un'wana mi nga si teka xiboho xo sungula nakambe?
- Xana vatirhi va le ka swarihanyo va mi pfunile hi nkarhi lowu wo teka vutshunguri nakambe?

Naswona swi nga endleka endzhaku ka [nghenisa vuxokoxoko bya nkarhi wun'wana lowu va nga tshika] mi ngava mi sungurile ku teka ART nakambe? Loko ku ri INA – hi kombela leswaku mi hlamusela leswi swi humeleleke leswi endleke leswaku mi sungula ART nakambe? Xana mi tshame mi tokota nkarhi lowu mi tshikeke ku teka vutshunguri naswona mi tlhela mi sungula vutshunguri nakambe?

- Xana mi ngava mi tlhele mi sungula hikwalaho ka swivangelo leswi fanaka kumbe a ku ri na swivangelo swin'wana?
- Ku kavanyetiwa ka vutshunguri
 - Ndzi ta tsakela ku tiva swo tala mayelana na nkarhi lowu mi tshikeke ku teka vutshunguri, swi teke nkarhi wo fika kwihi, xana mi tshame mi kavanyeta mpfuno wa HIV?
 - o Xana mi endlise ku yini hi mpfuno wa n'wina hi nkarhi lowu wa nkavanyeto?
- Swiphiqo swa maendlelo ya swarihanyo
 - [Xana ku va mi rhumeriwile/ndlela yo mi rhumela ku ya kuma mpfuno yi ngava yi pfunile?]
 - Xana swi olova ku fika kwihi ku cinca ku ya eka ndzhawu yin'wana ya swarihanyo?

Ku kamberiwa ka ticence: (Vutisa ntsena vavasati lava va tekeke ART hi nkarhi wa vuyimani kumbe lava va sunguleke ART ya PMTCT)

Hi vulavurile ngopfu sweswi mayelana na n'wina na ntokoto wa n'wina hi HIV, ART na vukorhokeri bya swarihanyo. Sweswi ndzi ta tsakela ku tiva swotala mayelana na mpfuno wa n'wana wa n'wina.

Ndzi kombela mi ndzi byela leswi vuyimani bya n'wina byi fambiseke xiswona? Xana n'wana u njhani?







MRC/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit School of Public Health, Education Campus, 27 St Andrew's Road, Parlitown 2193, South Africa Telephone: +27 11 717 2065 (Johannesburg) +27 13 795 5076 (Acornhoek) www.agincourt.co.za

[Tsundzuka ku komba ku twela vusiwana loko n'wana a lovile; nyika muhlamuri nkarhi loko a fanele ku tihlengeleta kumbe loko a lava ku wisanyana]

Ntokoto wa maendlelo ya swarihanyo

- Ndzi kombela mi ndzi byela hinkwaswo leswi mutirhi wa swarihanyo a mi byeleke swona mayelana na ku kambela ricece ra n'wina HIV?
- Xana swi sungurile rini? (Ekusuhi na nkarhi wo hetelela wa vuyimani, endzhaku ka ku kumiwa ka HIV) I mani loyi a vulavuleke na n'wina hi swilo leswi? Xana mi hleketile yini hi swilo leswi?
- Vutivi
 - o Xana a mi tiva yini mayelana na ku kamberiwa ka ticence mi nga si endla leswi?
- Maendlelo
 - Xana ricece ri kamberiwile? Xana nkambelo lowu wu humelerile rini? Xana a ku ri yihi minhlohletelo yo kamberisa kumbe ku ka mi nga kamberisi ricece? Xana n'wana wa hanya? Xana n'wana u kumile vutshunguri byo karhi? (prophylaxis kumbe ART)
 - Loko n'wana a ha hanya Xana n'wana wa ha mama vele?
 - Loko ku ri EE Xana n'wana a ngava a kamberiwile nakambe endzhaku ko n'wi tshikisa ku mama? Xana a ku ri yihi minhlohletelo yo n'wi kamberisa endzhaku ko tshika ku mama?
 - Loko ku ri INA -Xana hi wahi makungu ya n'wina mayelana no kamberisa n'wana endzhaku ka loko a tshikile ku mama?